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0CS LANDS ACT AMENDMENTS AND COASTAL ZONE
MANAGEMENT ACT AMENDMENTS

TUESDAY, APRIL 8, 1975

U.S. SENATE,
CoMMITTEE ON INTERIOR AND INSULAR AFFAIRS,
AND THE COMMITTEE 0N COMMERCE,
Washington, D.C.

The committees met, pursuant to recess, at 10 a.m. in room 3110,
Dirksen Office Building, Hon. Richard Stone, presiding.

Present : Senators Stone, Johnston, Haskell, Hollings and Mathias.

Also present: Grenville, Garside, special counsel and staff director;
and D. Michael Harvey, deputy chief counsel.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. RICHARD STONE, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Senator StoNe. Good morning ladies and gentlemen. This is the
fourth of 5 days of hearings on legislation to review the OCS Lands
Act. Senator Mathias will Chair this morning’s hearings, but I am
opening for him.

I have a statement by Senator Bentsen that will be included in the
record at this point.

[ The statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF HoN. LLoyp BENTSEN, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. BENTSEN. Mr. Chairman, I appreciate this opportunity to testify on behalf
of 8. 1383, a bill to amend the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act. I was pleased
to appear before this Committee during the last Congress in support of a similar
measure, S. 3185. The bill we are discussing today is essentially the same, with the
exception of an additional provision for the return of a portion of offshore
revenue to the affected Coastal State.

The bill is patterned after a production sharing arrangement first adopted in
Indonesia and now in use in eleven countries around the world. Very briefly, the
bill would increase from 16%; percent to 36 percent the amount which an oil
company is required to pay the Government from production revenues, prior to
initial exploration costs being recovered. After the initial cost recovery, that
payment would increase to 60 percent of production revenues minus actual ongoing
operating costs. The bill would apply to all leases awarded after the date of its
enactment.

I believe the adoption of this measure will accomplish four things:

First, it would allow the American citizen to receive a substantial benefit from
the higher prices being paid for oil produced on his lands.

‘Second, it will encourage faster development of offshore oil and gas resources
by permitting more rapid leasing of Federal offshore lands.

Third, it will increase competition within the petroleum industry, by enabling
the smaller oil companies to participate in offshore leasing.

(697)
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Fourth, it will generate additional Federal revenue so that a portion of such
revenues may be returned to the several coastal states without loss to the Federal
Treasury. Financial assistance is needed by the Coastal States to encourage de-
velopment and to compensate them for the adverse impact of Outer Continental
Shelf development.

The present leasing system runs counter to all of these objectives.

Under the present system an oil company operating on Federal offshore lands
pays the Government a royalty of 1624 percent of the oil and gas produced.
However, the Government’s principal compensation comes from the large cash
bonuses which the companies pay in bids for the right to drill on these tracts.
Only the very largest oil companies have been able to afford to take full advantage
of this type of proposal.

While the present system results in a large initial cash payment, the American
citizen receives very little from what may be an extremely-valuable oil and gas
discovery on his lands. If the lease proves to be undervalued by the companies
who bid on the tract, the Government has no way to share in what may be a
bonanza. This becomes far more important today than it has been in the past
due to higher oil prices and the President’s desire to greatly increase the sched-
ule of lease sales. As 8. David Freeman of the ¥ord Foundation’s energy project
noted in the Washington Post in April of 1974, since the Government does not
know the value of what it is selling until wells are drilled, a rapid acceleration
of leases under the present system could result in leases going for prices which
do not protect the interest of the American taxpayer. I believe my bill increasing
the share of the proceeds from the sale of the oil and gas once found and pro-
duced would insure that the taxpayer received a fair compensation for these
valuable minerals regardless what was paid in initial bonuses. In addition, by
taking the bulk of the Governinent’s compensation from the sale of these minerals
the Government’s revenue will increase with oil prices—allowing the American
taxpayer to share in the higher oil prices he is being asked to pay.

Since the high initial bonus payments are presently the Government’s principle
means of compensation, the concern for maintaining those high payments has
been one of the principal restraints to faster leasing schedules.

This became painfully obvious on February 5 of this year when the Interior
Department opened bids for 515 tracts off south Texas, but found offers for only
143 of the tracts. Industry officials blamed the high cost of bonus bids and the
“capital crunch” for the failure of the lease offering.

Heretofore, lease sales have been timed to maximize bonus bids rather than
to maximize the exploration and development of offshore lands. And the recent
Texas situation points to the folly c¢f continuing this set of priorities.

Increasing the number and size of these sales is one of the fastest ways of
making our Nation more energy self-sufficient. Less than 3 percent of the 186
million acres in the Federal Outer Continental Shelf is presently under lease yet
we are producing more than a million barrels of oil a2 day from these leases. The
Secretary of Interior has testified that the potential recoverable petroleum
resources remaining on the Quter Continental Shelf is estimated to be 200 million
barrels of crude oil and natural gas liquids and about 850 trillion cubic feet of
natural gas.

Just the oil and liquids alone would increase our present reserves six times
over. We must accelerate our leasing of these tracts but we must do so in a
manner which insures the American taxpayer gets his fair share of the value of
that production. As leasing is accelerated there is sincere and justified concern that
the bonus bids will continue to decrease in size as greater number of bids are
required. Thus there is a need to move away from bonus bidding in order to
protect Federal revenue. I believe my bill substantially increasing the amount
paid once production is found will meet this need.

Mr. Chairman, a rapid acceleration of lease sales under the present system
would not only endanger the taxpayers interest, it would award leases to those
who could raise the most money the fastest rather than those who could best
evaluate and develop our natural resources., One of the worst features of the
present system’s reliance on high initial cash payments is the advantage it gives
the Jarge companies over the smaller ones—the major over the independents.
In an offshore lease sale last year one tract went for a record $211 million—
$100 million over the next highest bid. If more independent producers and
more smaller companies are going to play an active role in the development of
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offshore lands, these bonuses must be brought down. Not only are larger com-
panies in a better position to raise the high initial bonus, they can better afford
to lose it if they guess wrong on a lease and the lease does not prove as
productive as was hoped. Under my measure providing the principle Govern-
ment payment out of production after it is found, the smaller company’s loss will
not be so severe if the lease turns out to have been overvalued. In addition, these
bonuses are unproductive capital being expended before one drop of oil is found.
The present high initial payments out of cash badly needed for exploration and
low Government participation once production is found makes no sense if we
want to increase demestic oil and gas production and if we want to enhance
competition within the petroleum industry.

My legislation would retain the bonus bids as an impartial means of determin-
ing who would be awarded the right to drill on the lease. However, the measure
would so increase the amount to be paid to the Government once production
is obtained that these bonuses would be greatly de-emphasized.

Payments out of production of the magnitude required in this bill would force
lower initial bonus bids thus allowing greater participation by smaller com-
panies while still protecting the American taxpayers’ interest. One independent
producer has estimated that initial bonuses would be reduced to one quarter
of the current expenditure. But in the long run, the Government would receive:
more revenue from the production on its lands. And it would get that production
sooner than it will under the present system, due to accelerated lease sales.
And again it would help avoid lease sale failures like the one which occurred
in February of this year.

Mr. Chairman, since I originally urged this change in the offshore leasing
system, the concept has been endorsed by the Joint Economic Committee in an
annual report, the President of the Coastal States Organization and by the
Executive Committee of 'Texas Independent Producer and Royalty Owners, a
group representing smaller producers. In fairness, I would add that it has
been criticized by some members of the industry, particularly major oil com-
panies. But my proposal only requires the operating company to give the
United States the same type of arrangement being used in eleven countries
around the world. My bill requires them to give the American taxpayer the same
deal they are giving foreign governments.

Mr. Chairman, I would add, that while this legislation requires the Secretary
of Interior to lease future oil and gas tracts on the basis of production sharing,
he has the authority to do so under existing law. I would urge the Secretary not
to wait for a legislative requirement but to act now to increase the share of pro-
duction which the American taxpayers receive on future lease sales.

Mr. Chairman, as I mentioned earlier, my amendment would also allow Outer
Continental Shelf revenue to go to the several Coastal States to compensate for
the environmental, social and economic impact of offshore drilling. Because the
measure greatly increases Federal revenues, it is not anticipated that this por-
tion of the bill would reduce Federal revenue from today’s levels.

The Senate recognized that there is a need to compensate the several Coastal
States for the impact of outer Continental Shelf development when it passed
S. 3221 last year. However, it has become evident that the Coastal States Fund set
up by 8. 3221 would be woefully inadequate to meet the State’s actual needs.

The Coastal States Organization, which represents all the various Coastal
States has conducted a careful survey to determine the actual financial needs of
the several states in regards to Outer Continental Shelf development. The Organ-
ization’s able President, Texas State Senator A. R. Swartz has testified that the
Coastal States need between $800 million and $1.2 billion annually to cope with
energy resource development and related facility siting. The average of this
range, or one billion dollars is roughly 159% of the $6.7 billion that the Federal
Government earned from Quter Continental Shelf leasing in 1974. For that reason,
my amendment would allocate 15¢% of the Federal revenue from offshore oil
and gas production to the Coastal States in the following manner:

-—24 of that amount would be paid into a special fund to be known as the

Coastal States Fund, and

—14 of the amount would be paid directly to the several Coastal States in pro-

portion to the amount of oil and gas produced off the coast of each such State.

The Coastal States Fund would be administered by the Secretary of Commerce
and would be administered to the States in the form of impact grants. The grants
would be approved by a formula which would take into consideration the actual
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or anticipated environmental, social or economic impact of the energy develop-
ment of the Outer Continental Shelf. The formula would also take into consid-
eration the amount of energy production off the State’s coast and would be de-
veloped in coordination with the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972. There is
precedence for the development of such a formula in the form of the Texas input-
output model which demonstrated that the development of the Outer Continental
Shelf off Texas’ coast has resulted in a net cost to the State of $62.1 million a
year. A similar study for the State of Louisiana has indicated a yearly net loss
to that State of $40 million.

Thus actual impact figures for offshore energy development are available, and
establishing a fund to meet these costs will fairly distribute the Federal funds
that are needed by the several States. And combining this impact formula with
direct payments will greatly reduce the Coastal State hesitancy to develop the
energy that can be obtained off their coasts.

But to be effective the funds going to the States must be sufficient to meet the
States’ needs. Other legislation on this topic now before the Senate all contain
the intent of fully compensating the several States for the adverse impact of off-
shore oil and gas development. However, in each case, arbitrary numbers are
used to set the levels of funds available, and this has proven to be inadequate.
It is for that reason that I have gone to the Coastal States Organization to
obtain the actual State estimates of impact need. In setting the compensation at
the level that the States estimate they need, and combining the compensation
with an offshore payment system that will substantially increase Federal reve-
nues, I feel confident that this is a logical package to meet this portion of the
challenge of offshore energy development.

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate this opportunity to present testimony on behalf
of ‘this proposal. To aid in your consideration, I offer a brief summary of the
bill to be entered in the hearing Record at this point.

Thank you.

SUMMARY OF THE PROVISIONS OF AMENDMENT T0 OUTER CONTINENTAL SHELF
LAaNDs AcCT :

1. The present method of awarding leases on the basis of impartial bonus bids
is retained.

2. In place of the present royalty payment a production sharing concept is
adopted under which the following division is made :

(a) Up'to 409 total production will be assigned to the operating company
for recovery of actual costs as long as those costs justify a 409 share and
if not, whatever lesser percentage of production is necessary to fully recover
actual costs. In the later stages of production the Secretary may approve a
payment for actual costs in excess of 40% of total production, if the Secre-
tary finds that such expenditures are necessary to obtain the maximum
recovery of oil and gas.

(b) The remaining 60% of total production or whatever amount in excess
of the production being devoted to costs in Subsection ('a) will be divided be-
tween the Government and the operating company. The Government will re-
ceive 609% of the proceeds from the sale of this production and the operating
company will receive 409%, unless the Secretary prescribes a lower percentage
for the Government prior to the time of the notice for bids on the lease.
However, in no instance can the Secretary prescribe a Government share
less than 50%.

3. All actual costs on offshore lands will be submitted and justified to the
Secretary of Interior under such regulations he may prescribe.

4. The Government will be authorized to take up 16249 of total production
(out of its share) in oil and natural gas, i.e. “in kind”, as they can under present
payment procedures. This provision will insure that small business refiners who
currently have first call on this production continue to have it available,

5. Present system for the number of acres to be offered for lease would remain
the same as today’s.

6. To compensate for the adverse impact of offshore energy development, 159,
of the Federal revenue obtained from offshore leasing and energy production
will be divided in the following manner:
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(1) 24 shall be paid into a fund to be administered by the Secretary of
Commerce. The Secretary shall make grants from this fund to the various
Coastal States according to an impaect formula, and in accordance with the
Coastal Zone Management Fund.

(2) % shall be paid directly to the several Coastal States in proportion
to the amount of oil and gas produced off the coast of each such State.

In essence, the effect of this legislation would be to provide the Government
with a firm 369 of the proceeds from the sale of oil and gas produced from Fed-
eral lands before the operating company recovers initial costs. (LE. 609 of 609%
under the normal 60—40 split.) This would be over twice the 16249, share of pro-
duction presently being received by the Government. After the operating company
recovers initial costs the Government's share would increase from 369, to
609 of total production, minus the operator’s on-going actual production costs.
‘While bonus bidding will be continued as a means of awarding leases, the size
of the bids will be reduced due to the higher participation payments being re-
quired. The reduction in these bonuses will allow greater participation by smaller
operators in offshore exploration and development while still insuring the
American taxpayer receives substantial compensation for the sale of his re-
sources. The increased revenue to the Federal Government would allow the
Coastal States to be compensated for the adverse effect of offshore energy de-
velopment without a net loss occurring for the Federal Treasury.

Senator StoNe. The first witness will be Mr. Seymour Orlofsky,

President, Columbia Gas Development Association. Mr. Orlofsky.

STATEMENT OF SEYMOUR ORLOFSKY, PRESIDENT, COLUMBIA GAS
DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION

Mr. Orcorsxy. I thank you, Senator Stone, for the opportunity
to testify and appear before the Committees on Interior and Insular
Affairs and Commerce.

I am appearing today on behalf of the American Gas Association
which represents over 300 natural gas transmission and distribution
companies, serving 160 million consumers. Columbia Gas Develop-
ment Corporation is a subsidiary of the Columbia Gas System. The
sytem is engaged in all phases of the natural gas business. Columbia
Gas Development Corporation is a producing company with exten-
sive operations in Southern Louisiana and in the Gulf of Mexico.
Current, it has an interest in 111 producing wells in the Gulf of
Mexico.

As we approach the problems being considered at this proceeding,
the recent release of data on the nation’s proven gas reserves is most
pertinent. On April 1, the Association announced that proven re-
serves in the U.S. 1nc]udu1<r Alaska as of December 31, 1974, were
937 trillion cubic feet a decline of 13 trillion cubic feet from the 250
trillion cubic feet reported as of December 31, 1973. Production of
gas in 1974 was 21.3 trillion cubic feet, a decline of 1.3 trillion cubie
feet from the 22.6 trillion cubic feet produced in 1973.

This nation has had a decline in proven reserves since the hlgh
point of 293 trillion cubic feet at the end of 1967. Over the last 7
consecutive years, the reserves decline has totaled about 56 trillion
cubic feet.

Thus, the importance of opening the Outer Continental Shelf—
partlcularly the Atlantic—assumes greater and greater importance.
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My presentation before you today is to explore how this vast gas
potential can be made available to the American people.

" The gas industry is caught in the jaws of a vise in its attempt to
acquire critically needed gas reserves on the Outer Continental Shelf.

One jaw of the vise is the inability to move ahead to explore for
gas and develop discovered gas reserves in the new off-shore frontier
areas. This lack of progress is because of the possibility of adverse
environmental and industrial effects which oil development is
claimed by some to have on the States’ coastal zone. These same
claims do not pertain to natural gas. There are no oil spill risks
associated with gas production. Besides the charges of an oil spill
resulting from exploration and development drilling have been
greatly overplayed.

The other jaw of the vise is the major deficiency in present Outer
Continental Shelf leasing procedures which require astronomical
front-end bonus payments to obtain a lease.

Several points should be clarified at the outset.

No one knows what hydrocarbons exist or where they exist in the
Atlantic Outer Continental Shelf. Until exploratory drilling is done,
there will be no definitive information as to what is involved. Con-
sequently, the first order of business is to find out what the facts are.

We believe the first step should proceed as promptly as possible.
The Department of Interior should accept bids for tracts, with the
understanding that it will only issue permits for exploration.

If exploration proves commercial quantities of oil and/or gas
exist, development plans must be formulated. At that point, the
orderly development of such resources, will take into account the
impact of the coastal zones of the Atlantic states. In the case of oil,
hearings would be held by the Department of Interior to explore
all aspects of the development plan, including an environmental
impact assessment. Only after such examination, would a develop-
ment permit be issued.

In the case of gas, the Department of Interior would examine the
. development plan and proposed transportation system. If satisfied,
it would authorize development of the gas reserves.

The FPC, as well as state agencies, would be involved in authoriz-
ing the pipeline delivery system.

No legislation is required as to this second step.

The details of the foregoing proposal are specifically spelled out
as follows:

1. Following its usual procedures as to nominations and bidding,
Department of Interior would put up for bid and award Atlantic
OCS leases.

2. After award of leases, the Department would issue permits only
for exploration thereon.

3. When and if commercial quantities of hydrocarbons are found,
applications would be made to Interior for permits for development.
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(a) The application for natural gas must include a plan for de-
velopment of the lease and an outline of the proposed delivery sys-
tem. Since no facilities can be constructed without an FPC certificate,
the Department would issue the permit for development if satisfied
with the plans. The application for an FPC certificate will include a
report, as the basis for an Environmental Impact Statement, of the
impact of the pipeline on the coastal area. Notice of and hearings
on such application are required.

(b) The application for oil must include a plan for development
of the leases and an outline of the proposed delivery system and the
onshore facilities where the oil would be processed. A report to be
the basis for an Environmental Tmpact Statement developed by the
Department, and take appropriate action upon the application.

The foregoing plan, which can be permitted under the Outer Con-
tinental Shelf Lands Act of 1953, would allow for the early ex-
ploration of oil and gas and would provide for all interested parties
to participate in the orderly resolution of environmental and socio-
economic concern on the basis of better information.

As part of awarding leases, legislation is requested to provide
leasing procedures that will markedly reduce the financial strain on
many companies such as the smaller oil and gas companies.

Total bonuses received from outer continental shelf lease sales to
date amount to about $15 billion. Over $10 billion alone has been
received from the nine most recent Federal sales held since Septem-
ber 1972. A large shore of these front-end bonus payments need to
t1>e redirected to pay for exploration and development costs of the
eases.

American Gas Association recommends a fundamental revision to
the Federal leasing procedures aimed at eliminating the staggering
initial capital requirements needed to secure a lease. The American
Gas Association’s proposal contains the following principal elements:

1. In conjunction with competitive bidding for Federal leases, the
bidder would submit, along with its bid, a certified check for 10
percent of the bonus offered for the lease. The Bureau of Land
Management would award the lease to that bidder offering the
largest bonus. In the event that a bonus bid of $1 million or more
is submitted for a lease, the Bureau of Land Management could not
reject the bid on the grounds of insufficiency.

2. The successful purchaser of each tract would provide a bond,
within 20 days to the Bureau of Land Management, in a satisfactory
form to assure the purchaser’s performance of his obligations, in-
cluding eventual payment of the balance of the bonus, under the
purchase conditions outlined below.

3. At the end of each 12-month period from the date of the award
of the lease, a payment of an additional 10 percent on the lease
bonus, less expenditures made on the lease during the during the
preceding 12 months, would be required. The amount of this annual

51-748 O - 75 - 2
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payment would be credited against the balance of the total bonus
obligation. Such yearly payments would cease under one of the
following three conditions:

First, on any lease where commercial production has been estab-
lished within 5 years from the date of the granting of the lease;
The balance of the bonus would be paid, commencing with the date
of first commercial production, in annual amounts equal to the
greater of (a) 25 percent of the annual revenues, after payment of
royalties, derived from the hydrocarbons produced from the lease,
or (b) an amount equal to one-fifth of the bonus payment as of the
date of the commercial production or the end of the fifth year, until
the balance is paid in full.

Second, on any lease where commercial production has not been
established within 5 years from the date of the awarding of the
lease: The balance of the bonus would be paid in five equal annual
installments starting on the fifth anniversary of the lease award.

Third, on any lease where it is determined that the lease is not
commercially productive and the lease is surrendered within 5 years
from the date of the awarding of the lease: The balance of the bonus
remaining when the lease is surrendered would be canceled and no
further payments required of the purchaser.

By adopting the proposed leasing procedure, the payment of the
lease bonus has been spread over a number of years, reducing the
initial outlay of capital prior to the time production starts on a
lease. The capital saved can then be used in exploration and develop-
ment of a lease. Your endorsement of the proposed leasing plan is
strongly urged.

The environment and economic arguments used by the states
should not be permitted to further delay exploration for oil and
gas. American (Gas Association believes that during the next 2 years
while the first phase—exploration of OCS leases—takes place, the
Federal Government and Atlantic States should develop an accept-
able plan so that the Atlantic States would be spared any costs
resulting from the development of the Outer Continental Shelf.
American Gas Association does not deem itself competent to make
recommendations as to the percentage of revenues that should flow
to states and the percentage retained by the Federal Government.

The American Gas Association also supports the concept of a
fund to cover liability resulting from oil spills, both for cleanup
operations and for potential damages. The burden of absolute lia-
bility upon a producer for potential oil spill damages is an intolerable
one. Perhaps most important, it would discourage independent pro-
ducers, and natural gas companies from undertaking exploration
and development efforts. We note that various bills before your
Committee provide for raising of revenues from the Outer Conti-
nental Shelf. These bills would propose, for example, that the oil
spill liability fund be financed from an excise tax on production
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revenues. We would oppose this additional excise tax. Any OCS
revenue sharing plan with the states and revenues financing the oil
liability fund should be derived solely from OCS lease bonus and
royalty payments.

The American Gas Association proposal separating exploration
and development provides the most efficient, least costly, and appro-
priate means to evaluate the oil and gas resources in the Outer Con-
tinental Shelf before development is permitted.

The plan would permit industry to conduct the exploration phase,
and not the Government. We are opposed to the Federal Govern-
ment’s engagement in exploration or development activities.

By entering the oil and gas business, the results will most likely
be a frustrating collision of interests between Government and in-
dustry.

We have suggested a method for proceeding forthwith for the
exploration of both natural gas and oil and for proceeding separately
with oil and gas development programs. We have also outlined a
leasing method that will eliminate the need for high capital outlays
for securing leases and still provide the Federal Government its
fair market value for the leases. In view of the urgency of acquiring
new gas reserves, we believe these suggestions are 1n the public
interest.

By permitting the States to share in Outer Continental Shelf
revenues, there would be no need for any special Federal appropria-
tion of funds to be paid to the States for the so-called adverse en-
vironmental effect and costly economic impact caused by Federal
energy resource development. We do not believe that the Outer
Continental Shelf oil and gas development conducted with existing
technology and safety procedures will have any adverse effects on
the coastal zone. Quite to the contrary, Outer Continental Shelf
development will prove to be an economic asset to the States and
the Nation.

Exploration drilling that commenced for the first time on Septem-
ber 1, 1974, on the Outer Continental Shelf of Mississippi, Alabama,
and Florida has progressed without terrifying results. A total of 10
exploration wells have been drilled to date with 4 drilling. The
heavy equipment, supplies and service, such as logging tools, ce-
menting materials, drilling mud and chemicals, and rental tools and
casing to support this Outer Continental Shelf exploratory drilling
are from a relatively few ports situated on the Florida Panhandle
and Southeastern Alabama where existing warehouses, ship berths,
and storage yards have been converted for use. Also, one of the
permanent bases in Louisiana is being used. There will be no perma-
nent bases established until oil and/or gas is discovered, which has
not occurred thus far. The same practice would be followed for
Atlantic offshore exploration. However, the Atlantic coast has far
greater flexibility in providing numerous locations for permanent
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offshore operations that already exist in industrial port areas such
as the Brooklyn Navy Yard, in Baltimore, Boston, Philadelphia,
and New Portneus to name a few. It is of interest to note that
Panama City, Florida, which prides itself as a vacation community
with beautiful beaches, in a March 8, 1975, “0Oil and Gas Journal”
advertisement, made the following statement:

Shortest Run to the Rigs—Oil industries and support companies requiring
onshore bases to service the Destin Dome are invited to investigate Port
Panama City. You'll find Panama City the nearest deepwater port facility to
most of the tracts in the eastern Gulf. You'll also find a cooperative community
searchi_ng for new industry and believing in the importance of economic
expansion.

This 94th Congress needs to adopt the democratic principle of
allowing companies who know how to do the job and who grapple
with the problem every hour of the day to proceed to achieve na-
tional objectives as defined by the Federal Government.

Mr. Orrvorsky. Mr. Chairman, that concludes my presentation
and I thank you.

Senator MatHias. Thank you very much, Mr. Orlofsky. T have one
question.

In your statement you detailed your plan for separating explora-
tion and development. Now I am wondering if you can envision a
situation where the exploring would not necessarily also be the
development company ¢ :

Mr. Orrorsky. No, if T understand present practices I do not see
where that would occur because the successful bidder would aquire
the lease and the rights to hydrocarbons under those leases. So he
would go through the exploratory phase.

Senator Matuias. And he would own the information that he
developed as in the exploratory phase?

Mr. Orrorsky. Yes. I do not see how there would be another com-
pany moved in except that would dispose of the lease, farm it out
or sell it.

Senator Matuias. So that essentially the present practice would
prevail, a single company operating from the initial steps through
the production phase?

Mr. Orrorsky. Yes, yes or a group of companies that might pur-
chase the lease through a single operator, yes.

Senator Mara1as. Senator Johnston.

Senator Jornston. Mr. Orlofsky, under this proposal, as soon as
you determine that there was no oil in commercial quantities, then
the leasee would be released from his obligations, is that correct?

Mr. Orrorsky. Yes, any further obligations whatever the 10 per-
cent bonus that he paid 1initially, plus any exploration costs or any
additional bonus payments that he made up to that time.

Senator JornsToN. The 10 percent less exploration costs?

Mr. Orrorsky. Yes. He pays the 10 percent initially, that is paid
initially, then the credit.
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Senator Maru1as. That is the first 10 percent?

Mr. OrLorsky. Yes, that is the first 10.

Senator Jomnsron. That is not subject to any later reduction?

Mr. Orrorsky. No, the credits count against the 10 percent that
ensue in the following years.

Senator Jomnsion. Who is to determine that the area is con-
demned ?

Mr. Orrorsky. That it has no commercial value?

Senator Jomnston. Right.

Mr. Orrorsky. Well, the owners of the lease would determine that.

Senator Jounston. At their discretion?

Mr. Orrorsky. Yes, it would be at their discretion. Of course all
of the information, as you know, has to be made available to the
USGS within 30 days after the suspension of drilling or the com-
pletion of a well. The USGS would also have all the information
on the lease.

Senator Jornston. Well would this—would this not or I should
say would this encourage leases to want to make a cheap look-see?
They pay their original 10 percent and they go maybe hoping to
sink one or two holes out there for the easiest formation to get to
and then when they do not produce, they do not find it in commercial
quantities, they just walk away from it and pay only 30 percent of
their bonus on it. In other words, just a fraction of it. Would it not
encourage that kind of thing as opposed to the full search in ex-
ploration out there?

Mr. OrLorsky. Yes, this point has been brought up that you have
framed in your statement. I do not really believe, myself, that that
would occur because the cost of doing business on the Outer Con-
tinental Shelf is so great today that any company that secures a
lease and what he has to pay for it initially and what is involved is
going to utilize all of the means at his disposal to determine whether
or not hydrocarbons, exist.

Senator JomxsToN. Well that is the point though. He would not
be paying that much under this proposal that he is now?

Mr. Orrorsky. Well of course 10 percent on substantial bonus is
a considerable amount of money, plus the cost of drilling explora-
tory wells.

Senator Jomnsron. It is not plus the cost though, is it ?

Mr. OrLorsky. No, he is paying 10 percent and then that 10 per-
cent is paid to the Government, and then any cost that he spends for
explorations is out of his pocket. The only thing he is credited
against would be the 10 percent bonus obligation that he has in the
second year and the third year and the fourth year.

Senator Jouxsrton. In effect about all he would have to pay if he
did not find the oil is the 10 percent plus whatever his exploration
and development costs are, is that not right?

Mr. Orrorsky. That would be the minimum if he was that type of
operator which I do not believe really exists today in the Gulf.
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Senator JomnsTon. Why would he have to pay more than that?
Is that not only the minimum but the real sum he would have to
pay unless his bid was so low that exploration and development costs
exceeded the aggregate of the 10 percent per year?

Mr. Orrorsgy. Well, let us take an example. Say he spends $20
million for a bonus. He has to pay $2 million of that down. So-then
he makes allocation and he drills an exploratory well. Say that ex-
ploratory well cost him $.5 million. Is highly unlikely that he
would give up the lease at that point on just the drilling of one dry
hole because one well is not going to give you enough information
on a 5,000-acre block. So the chances are that he will drill a number
of wells. Say he drills three or four wells. Well then he has another
2.5, about another $2 million involved. Well on that block there are
other structural features. He has drilled the best structure sup-
posedly. On that block there are other structures, or other entrap-
ments that he is going to want to investigate, so he will move over
and may test a number of these, and it may take a number of
years

Senator Jornston. I understand that

Mr. Orrorsky. [continuing]. Before he has determined whether
the entire tract has any value.

Senator Jomxston. I understand that. T am just concerned that
since his costs are so low compared to today, in other words only the
first 10 percent is down the drain and after that he is operating really
with just his exploration and development cost. And I am just afraid
he will go in and stick the first hole in the best structure, condemn
that one structure and then say well it is just not worth it, it is best
to collect your losses than to be spending these big sums. That is my
only concern. I share with you that we need more capital for the
Outer Continental Shelf. Tt is going to take more not less than we
have now. I think we are going to have to find a way to take it away
from bonus and put it the development outlay. Bonus obviously does
not produce any oil and gas. That is srtictly to the exploration
activity. T am just concerned about what the best way to do it is.

Mr. Orrorsky. I would like to further comment.

We have been in the Gulf of Mexico I guess nearly 20 years, nearly
since the time it started or beyond that. We have never seen any
instance, either through ours or our partners where this occurs. And
in the early days the leases were bought rather inexpensively as you
know, and these leases were fully explored to my knowledge.

Senator Jomxston. It was a lot cheaper then too.

Mr. Orrorsky. Before they were released. It is the same thing
today. There are some leases that are being purchased for $1 million
or $2 million and they are still being fully explored. I think it
would be an oddity, really, for the situation to occur that you are
describing. The oil companies that are out there need that crude oil
so badly, and the gas companies that are out there are in the same
shape or even in worse shape. So you really explore the total lease.
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The other thing is that once a lease is given up, it can be reoffered
and there are a number of locations where leases have been given
up, repurchased and hydrocarbon finds have been made, have been
made after the producer thought he had fully explored the lease
on the basis of later technology and the interpretation of seismic
data as an example.

Senator JornsTon. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man.

Senator Marmras. Mr. Orlofsky, you referred to the impact of sale
on the coastal areas. Do you feel that we can presently judge the
impact of sale on coastal areas since they are in fact, as far as the
Atlantic coast is concerned, been no discoveries made yet?

Mr. Orrorsky. Yes, I think we have enough information on the
basis of what has taken place in the Gulf of Mexico and what has
recently taken place off of Florida, Mississippi, and Alabama. First,
nobody is going to put in a permanent facility in—rather until we
know that there are commercial hydrocarbons out there, and there
have been some evaluations made. But it is our conclusion that
existing facilities will be used. They will be converted on a pertinent
basis. A lot of these facilities are not even being used to date. So we
don’t see where there is going to be any proliferation of a lot of new
types of installations.

Senator Marmias. But in your statement it is referenced to
MAFLA, and T believe there have been no discoveries?

Mr. Orrorsey. That has been a most dissapointing situation to
date.

Senator Marrras. So it might not be a typical situation in which
to make a judgment?

Mr. Orcorsky. We would hope that it would not because there was
about $1.5 billion spent for leases off of that area with the potential
of about 36 trillion cubic feet, and nothing has been discovered to
date. So it has been very discouraging. We do not know whether that
situation will exist offshore Atlantic or not until some exploration.
Hopefully, it will not, for the Nation’s sake, and hopefully the
Florida, Mississippi, Alabama area will essentially prove productive.
But in our estimation, it would not prove as productive as the earlier
expectations.

Senator Marrras. Just one final question.

Under your proposal for separating exploration from develop-
ment and production, what would happen in the case of a company
which submitted an unacceptable development or where there was
an assessment that indicated that there were dangers militating
against development ?

Mr. Orvorsxy. Well, that would be a risk, of course, but under
the existing procedures as you know, when you aquire a lease you
have no insurance that you are going to be permitted to develop it
under today’s procedure. Your issue that an exploration permit and
then a drilling permit and then you have to go back for a develop-
ment permit and then a drilling permit. So that really exists today.
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Senator Matnias. You feel this risk pattern would fall in the
same lines?

Mr. Orrorsky. Yes, yes. The reason I say that is that I believe
that the coastal States want to see exploration occur and develop-
ment occur. Their problem is that they do not understand the final
relationship between the Federal Government and the States. And
once this understanding can be developed, I believe that the States
will encourage exploration and development and allow for the de-
velopment.

Senator MartH1as. Well, as a representative of one of the coastal
States, I would say that our problems are a little more substantive
than that. We have difficulties that go beyond just understanding the
relationship of the Federal Government to the whole proposal, that
problems that have not been settled by the Supreme Court, it’s
latest statements. But I suppose what it comes to is other than the
difference in the payment of the bonus which Senator Johnston has
referred to in his question, what differences are between your pro-
posal and the existing practice?

Mr. Orrorsgy. Well in' the existing proposal there is no need to
provide USGS with the delivery system plan as part of the develop-
ment. We do not have to really show the transportation system at
that point in time, and once the gas and oil reach these east shores
you do not have to show where it moves.

Senator Matrias. They are supposed to submit an offshore plan
are they not?

Mr. Orcorskgy. Not for the development permit. No, it is not nec-
essary as part of the development permit, either for o1l or gas.

Now the delivery system, I think if you will read the regulations
you will find that this is so. Now as far as gas is concerned, once you
have enough gas reserves and contracts you then have to go to the
Federal Power Commission with the delivery system and approval
for the delivery system. In the case of oil, when you want to build
the delivery system, you again go to Department of Interior for the
right of way and to the Corps of Engineers to construct the line.
We are saying that the Department of Interior would hold hearings
on the deliveries system. So that is the difference.

Senator MaTHIAs. I regret to say those five bells mean that it is
time to jog for the floor to make a vote. So the committee will stand
in recess.

Mr. Orlofsky, we appreciate you being here, the fact that you
keep my house warm in winter gives your words special weight with
me.

At this time I will introduce the record my own statement for
this morning and the analysis of pending legislation relating to
Outer Continental Shelf o1l and gas resources prepared by Mr.
Thomas B. Lewis.

[The statement and document referred to follow:]
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I welcome this opportunity to comment on oil and
yas leasing and production on the Outer Continental Shelf. For some
time now, the GCS has been the subject of an historic legal dispute.

The states and the Federal Government, in U.S. v. iHaine et al.,

have tested the very foundations of federalism. The serious guestions
posed by U.S. v. llaine are now, of course, settled in favor of the

Federal government.

Drilling for oil and gas in virgin areaé, particularly in the
Atlantic, can no longer be considered a futuristic vision. soon it may
well be a reality. I aﬁ concerned with this whole process, both as a
Senator from a coastal state which is vulnerable to hasty, ill-planned
0CS development, and as one concerned with the wider issues of future
energy supply and consumption in the United States. I must say that I
am heartened by the swift and strong action taken in the United States
Senate to enact comprehensive and responsive legislation to govern the
CCS. The Court decision settles the issue of ownership of certain
parts of the 0OCS, but it in no way ensures the sound management of
these resources. This can only be done by state and Federal legislators
and administrators, working in close cooperation ané with an under-

standing of each others problems and concerans.

iy study of the OCS indicates that there are certain key elements
upon which any reform of the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act of 1953
wust be based. First, all plans and decisions must be founded on an

adequate informational base. Before leasing is undertaken in geologically
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unknown areas, the Federal government must conduct studies necessary
toe ascertain the nature and extent of resources involved. In this
regard, I note that the draft report by the Cffice of Technology
Assesslaent on OCS development indicates that a program of government
exploration would be not only feasibkle, but desirable. Prasent
procedures ermnit public resources to pass into private hands at
prices fixed only by guesses and speculation. Those procedures are
irreconcilieadble with the principle that such limited resources are
neld in trust for the public, whose interests are served only by the
disposition of those resources in an informed manner, calculated to
guarantee a fair return to the public. Furthermore, this data is
necessary to protect tlie manner in which variocus areas will be developed
and the probable onshore effects which nust be intelligently assessed
ana anticipated.

This brings us to the question of whether we can permit leasing
in unexplored areas even for the period necessary to implement a
program of government-directed exploration. 7This is a question posed
Jdirectly by the two wajor OCS bills that we are considering, 8. 521
and 5. 425. The former describes a gradual implementation of the
exploration program and would gpermit continual leasing without prior
exploration until January 1, 1973, while the latter would iandate a
moratorium on all future leasing in "frontier areas® prior to implemen-
tation of the exgloration prograw and other statutory greiequisites.
I believe it is critically important that OCS exploration start on the
best footing in virgin areas, consequently, I strongly support the
approach taken by S. 426, declaring a moratorium until a Federal

exploration proyram is implemented.
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ur cuincerns must be broacer taan the adeyuacy of governiment
reveades. Our public trusteeship extends to carefully monitoring
environnental elfects of OCS development so that every proper precaution
is taken. %o fulfill this responsibility, reform of the present Interior
prograw nusk cake ylace: I an therefore pleased that Loth bills provide
for Laseline stadles as well as continuous monitoring of environmental
Guality. This approach will not only provide data needed for initial
planning of OCS development, wut will also provide feedback which will
srovide aid in revising the program in the future to assure adeguate
~rotection for the environuent.

viile the U.S8. Suprene Court has decided that the Atlantic Coastal
States do not nave jurisdiction beyond the three-wmile limit, this does
not in any way affect their need to be eyual partners as OCS activities
srocead. The states which will necessarily be affected by OCS activities
are in varying stages of preparation to accoriodate what nay occur. Close
consultation must be uwandated by law and by established procedures
rather tnan fouaded on the whinm of successive Secretaries of the Interior
under changing administrations. 3oth S. 426 and 5. 521 would pernit a
governor to rejguest a reasonable postponencnt of leasing activities
ans koth raeguire a mechanisn to determine whether the Secretary of the
Interior aas adeguately responded to the governor. §. 521 would pro-
viue adainistrative review of thes Secretary's decision by a "Wational

coascal Resources Appeals Board', osad of colleagues of the

fecretary of the Interior who have particular responsibility for CCE
activities. 5. 426,on the other hand, lodges review responsibility in
thr Conqrass by pernitting either body to overrule the Secretary's

determination to go forward witi leasing in a particular area. The
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apgproaci empodied in S. 426 is, I believe, to be preferred over S. 521.

I cay tihils as the auathor of the language contained in §. 521 Lecause

I an persuaded that 5. 426 constitutes a refinement of this critical
»rovision, The final point that I would make responds to criticism
leveled by tae Ldministration to the affect that such an appeal provision
will cause unnecessary delay. It is my view that allowing governors

o coastal states participation in OCS Gecisions is the best way to

pring on additional suppliés of energy in a reasonable time period.

It is anti~productive to short-cut evaluation and review procedures;

to exclude valuable centers of knovledge from making a contribution.

In short, the surest and quickest way of providing additional supply

is to work in close contact with all wno nave concerns and can contribute
to tune process. Then, and only tiaen, will a consensus develop that

will permit the responsible development of the OCS.

Congress must not only provide for the careful monitoring of the
water, the estuaries, the beaches, and marshes for environmental
effects, but also closely inspect energy facilities themselves to see
that every precaution is taken to protect the safety and health of
workers and to prevent the discharge of any substance into the water
oxr air which would tend to degrade the environment. Preventive medicine
is the least costly for all concerned. At the present time, respon-
sibilities in this area rest solely with the Department of the Interior.
There has been some concern that this regulation of OCS ac¢tivity should
not be delegated to the same Department as is responsible for promoting
development. S. 426 responds to this concern by assigning the duties

of inspection and enforcement of regulations to the Secretary of the
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Department in which the Coast Guard is operating. The Coast Guard
is peculiarly gqualified to enforce Federal laws in our coastal waters,
and its new duties under this program are much the same as those required
under the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Anendments of 1972, the
Deepwater Port Act of 1974, the Federal measures affecting the territorial
seas and contiguous zone. I think that this would ¢o much to restore the
public's confidence that every effort is being nade to control pollution.
An area of increasing concern to the Congress is the level of
conpetition in energy markets. Of critical importance to this question
is what we o with the OCS. There are a number of factors that tend
to wmake OCS o0il and gas exploration and production the province of
the major oil companies. Congress must work to create a climate
where smaller independents can thrive. In the past, small companies
have been deterred by the high initial cost of the lease, attributable
to the present bonus bid system, and the financial risk inherent in
such a venture. I am not convinced that we have all the answers
neaded to adopt a new system of bidding, but I am certain that every
effort must be wmade to find better ways of transferring public lands
to private control. For this reason, I favor the approach enbodied in
S. 426. It provides the Secretary of the Interior with the greatest
flexibility to adopt different systems of bidding. I would hope that
if legislation along the lines of S. 426 is finally enacted by the
Congress. that the Secretary would take that opportunity to be
innovative in responding to the wishes of Congress. '
Finally, I would like to discuss how the Congress is going to

assist the states as they respond to changes in the character of
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their lands and waters. The ilational Ocean Policy Study has held

rany days of hearings on just this particular issue. I think the
reccrd clearly shows that energy development can be a tremendous burden
to coastal states. U.S. v. laine clearly establishes Congressional
responsikility to extend a generous hand to the coastal states.

The QOc2an Policy Study has examined what must take place to fully
develop offshore arzas. We have sought to develop an uncderstanding

of the cuaracter and nagnitude of onshore facilities to serve this

.

a llave Leard testimony about the needs of workers for

T4
t

new ruads and schnocls and about the many facilities which must be
located onsinore to service offshore rigs. We have heard testimony
anout the ¢rowth of encrygy complexes in areas that are proximate to
producing wells. .iy greatest concern is that in the past the discovery
of rich wmineral deposits has meant “koom and bust” economies and the
rape of our srecious land and water resources. Conseguently, it is
entirely appropriate that revenues generated from oil and gas production
be partially devoted to ensure proper planning and provision for the
necessary facilities. There are two basic agproaches to parcelling

out OCS revenues towards this end. Revenues can be accumulated in a
Fund ana grants then made to the states according to an evaluation of
their needs. This is the approach taken in £. 5321 and in S. 586.

These two bills raise three basic questions. Who will administer the
funé, what states will be eligible for grants, and what factors will
determine the amount of each grant? Since I favor full integration of
this grant prograwm into existing coastal zone management mechanisms,
and since I pelieve there is much to be ¢ained Ly dividing responsi-

bilities among the appropriate Federal departients as opposed to
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concentrating everytiaing in the Department of the Interior, I favor

iz aporoach taken in . 330, waich places the fund under the aegis of

ric and eeaaographic administration by ammending

cuw aticnal Atnosp.
the Cvastal done .lanagenent acc.

Lnother approach is ewbodied in Senator Steveu's S. 130, which
voulu =stallish a revenue sharing arrangernent with the states. Under

tais leciszlation, 23% of all revenues now payable to tie Yreasury

e assigned to the adjacent coastal states, another 23% woula go
t¢ states other than adjacent ccastal states, and the remaining 50%
would e retalned in tue U.S. Trzasurey. I awx a co-sponsor of this
legisliacion, tavush I recognize tiiat it does not represent the whole
solation and wust be integrated into a discretionary grant prograia as
is grogused in &. 5Z1 and 5. 333. .y hope and recommendation is that
Congress woula comdine discretiviary grants and revenue sharing so
that eacii cuastal state adjacent to OCE development is givea a base
sdninag. through revenue sharing, but can receive additional funds
througsa tie discretionary grant prograi. to coupensate that state for
developnent. Such a program would necessarily nean

siiare envisionel wy S. 130.

)
¢ Clzirmain, S?,,_,fm’
I would like to conclude by couplimenting ,gga,ﬁ9”3i7>/

on the Intericr and Coiserce Coumittee, as well as

Policy Stuly. The work of these coumittess has

Ve are dealiny here with a critical national resource
of the Senate has been botlh responsive and responsible.

Ve aave thoughtful progosals and the major Lills that are

Leing counsideral tolay represent a great step forward.
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ANALYSIS OF U.S. SENATE LEGISLATION

RELATING TO OUTER CONTINENTAL SHELF OIL AND GAS RESQURCES

Prepared by Thomas B. Lewis
At the Request Of

SENATOR CHARLES McC. MATHIAS, JR.

A. Introduction

The Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act (0.C.S.L.A.) has stood
unamended since its passage in 1953.7 It established the basic
statutory framework within which the United States has conducted the
leasing of tracts on the outer continental shelf (0.C.S.) for the
recovery of mineral resources, principally oil and natural gas. Since
1953 the importance of these mineral reserves has increased dramatically
with the increased energy needs of the nation and the dncreased uncer-
tainty of various supply sources. In response to this need, areas of

. the 0.C.S. which have never been tapped may be subjected to large scale
oil and gas development. Residents of states adjacent to such “frontier"
0.C.S. areas are justifiably concerned over the adequacy of administra-
tive safeguards from the sundry environmental and economic misfgrtunes
which have resulted from past offshore oil and-gas development.

Present leasing procedures require the payment of huge cash bonuses
which are prohibitive expenses to small, independent operators and
which effectively limit participation and competition in the 0.C.S.
arena. Present procedures also allow the leasing of Federal lands
which are as yet unexplored; as a result, the United States has no
effective way of assuring the public of a fair return from lease sales,
nor can the extent of field development be estimated for purposes of
assessing.environfiental impacts and stateside development likely to
result.

For these and other reasons a reexamination and revision of the
0.C.S8.L.A. has become imperative. Two legislative packages have been
introduced in the Senate to deal with this “issue, each reflecting a
different compromise of interests and priorities. During the last
session, Senator Jackson introduced the “Energy Supply Act of '1974",
(S. 3221) whicn he has reintroduced with changes as the "Energy Supply
Act of 1975", (S. 521).3 An alternative approach to the situation has

1 43 U.S.C.A. sections 1331-1342.

2 See House Report No. 93-1396, "Our Threatened Environment: Florida and
the Gulf of iexico,"” Committee on  Government Operations, October 1,
1974, pp. 38-9, 12-13.

3 Congressional Record, February 3, 1975, at p. S1341

51-748 O - 75 - 3
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been offered by Senator liollings in "The Outer Continental Shelf Lands
Act Amendments of 1975“, (S. 426).4 The purpose of this paper is to
compare and contrast the central provisions of these bills as they
modify and supplement the original 0.C.S.L.A.

B. Exeloration6

Both bills authorize and direct the Secretary of the Interior to
conduct a program of exploration calculated to provide information about
the location, extent and characteristics of 0.C.S. coil and gas resources.
Both bills explicitly recognize a need for this data for informed
decision-making concerning 0.C.S. leasing. There the similarity ends.
Whereas S§. 521 prescribes a gradual implementation of the exploration
program which permits continual leasing without prior exploration until
January 1, 1978, S. 426 mandates a moratorium on all future leasing in
“frontier areas" prior to implementation of the exploration program and
other statutory prerequisites.’ Thus, the two bills offer a critical
choice as to the data base prerequisite to the leasing of tracts off
the Atlantic Coast, off southern California, and in the Gulf of Alaska
during the period between the resolution of U.S. v. HMaine et al. and
January 1, 1978 1, 1978.8 During that period leasing pursuant to S. 521
would be undertaken notwithstanding the recognized inadequacy of the
geological information available to the government.

C. 0.C.S. Leasing and Developnhent Planslo

Leasing and development planning is accomplished in two stages in
each bill. The first stage reqguires the Secretary to prepare and main-
tain a broad program designed to make available 0.C.S. lands where
leasing is feasible. Generally this program must schedule the time,
location and extent of leasing activities to best meet national energy
needs over the next ten years. While the considerations to be integrated
in this program are given different priority or emphasis in each version,
both bills require coordination with affected states, and the prepara-
tion of environmental impact statements. Note, however, that while
S. 426 requires that leasing of frontier areas be delayed until this
program is prepared (and other steps taken), S. 521 would permit leasing
to continue under present procedures until January 1, 1973, unless the
Secretary prepares the program prior to that date. At this stage of
planning, no explicit approval by Congress is required by either version.

The divergence of the two bills occurs at the stage when the leasing
of a specific tract is contemplated by the Department of Interior.

4 Congressional Record, January 27, 1975, at p. S903.

5 liote: TFor the sake of brevity, descriptions of various provisions are
necessarily brief and impressionistic. Refer to cited provisions
for details and clarification if needed.

6 8. 521, section 202, "Sec. 19"; S. 426, section 209, "Sec. 19".

7 S. 426, section 203, “"Sec. 13".

8 The Dept. of Interior suspended leasing preparations until state claims

on the Atlantic OCS were adjudicated, but called for tract nomina-
tions within hours following the decision in U.S. v, Maine et al.

9 Hearings, Committee on Interior and Insular affairs, "Oversight on Outer
Continental Shelf Lands act, " ser.no. 92-27, 1972, pp. 122-126,629-630.

10 See generally S. 521 section 202, "Sec. 18%; and 5.426, section 209, "Sec. 18%.
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S. 426 prescribes tnat the Secretary submit to Congress and nearby states

a leasing and development plan relating to the particular tract describing
in detail the extent of the resources involved, the anticipated number
and location of production units, pipelines, onshore facilities and
infrastructure required and a certification of consistency with affected
states' coastal zone management programs. A governor of an affected
coastal state may request up to a three year postponement if he deter-
mines that the proposed lease will affect his state adversely. Such a
request may be granted in whole or part, or denied entirely by the
Secretary. Whe particular leasing and development plan and a report

on any state requests for delays and the action taken must be submitted
to Congress 9C days prior to the lease bid invitation. The lease sale
can only proceed if the plan is "“approved" by the acquiescence of both
Hdouses of Congress. lio individual lease may issue unless its terms are
consistent with such an approved plan and provide for termination for
aon~compliance.

The corresponding provisions of S. 521 require that notice be
given to the goyernor of any state adjacent to an area where lease sales
are proposed. 1 The governor may request up to a three year delay and
the Secretary may grant all, part, or none of the relief requested.

His decision may then be appealed to the “National Coastal Resources
Appeals Board," consisting of the Vice President, Secretary of the
Interior, Administrator of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Admin-
istration (W.O0.A.A.), Administrator of the Environmental Protection
Agency (E.P.A.) and the chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality
(C.£.Q.). This review process reguires a maximum of 100 days, at which
time the lease sale may be held if the delay is denied.

No site-specific leasing and develogment plan similar to that
reviewed by Congress in S. 426 is envisioned by S. 521. Instead, lease
issuance is predicated upon submission of a plan by a prospective lessee
for approval by the Secretary. The lease must contain a term that
failure to comply with that approved plan will terminate the lease.l2

In this area, the bills differ in these respects:

(1) While S.521 places the approval of leasing and development
plans in the hands of the Secretary, S.426 permits a Congressional
veto of unsatisfactory plans for specific tracts.

(2) S. 521 creates an administrative review of denials of state
reqguests for delays, whereas S5.426 permits, in effect, a Congression-
al review of the Secretary's action.

(3) S$.42¢ would halt leasing in frontier areas pending the
coupletion of leasing and development plans, while 5.521 would
permit present leasing procedures to continue as late as January 1,
1978.

11 S.321, section 210.
12 S.521, section 206(d).
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D. Safety Regulations for 0il and Gas Development; Inspections and
Laforcement

The first line of defense of both human safety and environuental
guality lies in the close regulation of equipment and techniques used
in 0.C.S. operations. The Secretary is directed in $.521 to establish
safety regulations for 0.C.S. operations (with the concurrence of E.P.A.
and the Coast Guard) aimed at minimizing cdangers to the environment,
property or human safety. The Secretary is also directed to establish
requirements with respect to oil spill contingency plans and equipment
(with the concurrence of the Coast Guard, review by E.P.A. and N.O.A.A.
and coordinated with the uational 0il and Hazardous Substances Pollution
Contingency Plan). The responsibility for inspections and the enforce-
nent of these regulations is committed jointly to the Secretary and the
Coast Guard, and the Secretary is required to make annual reports and
recommendations to Congress on these activities.

$.426 takes a different approach to the problem of regulating the
0.C.S5, programs wiich are promoted and administered by the Department
of Interior. Regulations are to be established by the Secretary of
the department in which the Coast Guard is operating, with the con-
currence of L.DP.A. and H.0.A.A.1%4 f$he Coast Guard is also charged
withh inspection and enforcement of such regulations, a function similar
to ics duties under certain other Federal statutes regulating coastal
waters.l® whis high visibility division of tne functions of promotion
and regulation may help restore the credibility of Federal assurances
concerning huaan and environmental safety of 6.C.S. oil and gas opera-
tions éespite the past record of haphazard regulation, and will assign
to the Coast Guard duties which are consistent with those required of
it by other Federal programs.:t®

The ever present spector of the possible recurrence of a major oil
sp111 such as the infamous Santa Barbara spill is dealt with in both
bills. ‘“he theory is the same in each version: (a) require certain
oil spill contingency equiprent and plans, and (b) get assurance of
substantial financial responsibility of each operator, (c) create strict
liability for spills, and (4) assign an agency as the Erincipal back-up
assistance should an operator fail to contain a spill.l7 As a supplement

$.321, section 202, “Sec. 23", "Sec. 21" and “Sec. 22".
5.426, section 203, "Sec. 22",
See 14 U.S.C. section 2.
nouse Report :do. 93-139¢, op. cit., p.9; see also "OCS 0il and Gas

An ZInvironmental Assessment”, Report to the President by the Council
on Environmeatal Quality, April 1974, p. 179.
Compare $5.521, section 202, “Sec. 23" to S.426, section 205,

“Sec. 22",

I b b
[N G2 I SN N

~]

f
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to individual financial responsibility, both bills would establish an
"Offshore Oil Pollution Settlements Fund", a non-profit corporate entity
funded by a 2% cent per barrel fee collected on 0.C.S. producing wells
until the fund reaches its $100,000,000 maximum. Once established,

the responsible operator pays the first $7,000,000 toward damages.
Beyond that amount the fund is liable up to its maximum.

The responding agency in the event that an operator cannot contain
a spill is "the Secretary, in cooperation with other Federal, State or
local agencies" according to S$.521, and in S.426 the Coast Guard has
this duty.

E. Assessments of Data on Environmental Quality

Minimum environmental safeguards are routine inclusions for most
comprehensive Federal legislative packages. Accordingly, both bills
provide for the preparation of environmental impact statements prior
to lease sales, in compliance witggsection 102(2) (¢) of the National
Environmental Policy Act of 1969. However, such short term studies
are by their nature but fragmentary descriptions of ever-changing
marine and coastal environmental systems. The information produced
by the various impact statements is seldom correlated, often duplicated
and does not produce a yardstick against which the continuing impact
of the activity under scrutiny can be assessed.

S.426 addresses this problem by designating one agency, N.C.A.A.,
as the “"lead agency" for the purpose of N.E.P.A. requirements, and
by requiring thorough baseline studies prior to the formulation of local
leasing and development plans and continuous monitoring of leased
areas to provide time~series data and trend information. This section
also provides for the designation of states eligible to request lease
postponements because of the likelihood of adverse stateside effects.
A provision such as this should result in more effective, efficient
evaluation of all the environmental data relating to the leasing program.

A similar provision has been adopted by S.521, with such studies
to be undertaken by the Secretary, " in consultation" with N.O.A.A.

F. Promotion of Competition

At the present time, participation in 0.C.S. o0il and gas leasing
prograis has heen dominated overwhelmingly by the major oil companies.<
Anong the factcrs contributing to the limitation of participation by
smaller, independent operators are the high initial cost of a lease

18 42 U.S.C.A. section 4321 et seq., note that S.426 alone requires an
impact statement prior to exploratory drilling during the Federal
exploration of 0.C.S. lands.

19 Compare 5.426, section 209, "Sec. 21" to S.521, section 202, "Sec. 30%.

26 Hearings (cited above at footnote 9), p. 6l.
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attributable to the present bonus bid system, and the financial risk
inherent in such a venture.

With respect to the bidding system, S. 421, section 203, allows
the Secretary three alternative methods for setting the price structure
prior to the lease bidding. In addition to the present option ({(cash
bonus plus a minimum 12% per cent royalty), $.521 would permit a sale
on the basis of a cash bonus plus a minimum 30 per cent share of net
profits from operations on the tract reserved to the United States,
or on the basis of a fixed cash bonus with the net profit share
reserved as the bid variable.

S.426 would permit greater flexibility yet in setting the price
structure by providing the following options in the discretion of the
Secretary:

(1) cash bonus bid plus a 16 2/3 per cent royalty;

(2) fixed cash bonus plus variable royalty bid;

(3) cash bonus bid with diminishing or sliding royalty;

(4) cash bonus bid plus at least 30 per cent of net profits
reserved to the U.S.;

(5) fixed cash bonus with net profit share as bid variable;

(6) cash bonus, plus minimum 16 2/3 royalty, plus a net profit
share reserved; or

(7) competitive performance based on work program submitted
by bidders.

Obviously, S.426 gives the Secretary the greater nwaber of options
to consider in an effort to encourage independent operators to partici-
pate in larger numbers. While it cannot be determined with certainty
which formula will prove most successful, both bills remedy the basic
problem with the original O.C.S.L.A. that the only permissable price
systen resulted in prohibitively high initial costs to the prospective
0.C.5. operator.

Further concern is shown for independent refiners by both bills:
both versions permit the Secretary to limit participation in sales of
royalty oil where necessary to assure "adequate supplies of oil at
equitable prices to independent refiners."

The uncertainty in the search for o0il in geologically unknown
areas is recognized as substantial. For example, the actual reserves
discovered as a result of the 1968 Texas 0.C.S. sale were previously
overestimated by the Department of the Interior by a factor of 2, and
by industry by a factor of 10. Prior to drilling, estimations of
recoverable petroleum reserves are not reliable: the structure can
appear very promising, based on geophysics, but not have adequate
reservoirs or have the reservoirs mostly filled with water.2 This
area of risk would be reduced considerably by the exploration programs
described earlier, which in turia would enable participation by smaller
operators less capable of sustaining such losses.

2l llearings (cited at footnote 9), p. 124.
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A second area of risk which may affect participation relates to
requirenents under each bill for demonstrated financial responsibility
in anticipation of substantial oil spill damage. When new regulations
were enacted following the Santa Barbara spill imposing absolute
liability for oil pollution in the Santa Barbara channel, Pauley Petro-
leun, .Inc., and five other operators brought suit against the Federal
Government claiming that these requlations made exploitation of their
holdings economically and practically impossible. The group stated
that it would not have bid for the leases in the face of unlimited
liability for spills.

Both bills include provisions which would ameliorate this risk to
the operator. The operator remains liable for uncontained oil spill
damages up to the amocunt of $7,000,000- When containment costs or
damages excecd that amount, the Offshore 0il Pollution Settlements
Fund becones liable up to its maximum of $100,000,000. Thus, the OCS
operator need only insure a risk of $7,000,000. (Note: one estimate
of costs resulting from the Santa Barbara spill was approximately
£16,400,000).23

Certainly, the difficulty in promoting competition in the O.C.S.
arena cannot be alleviated until appropriate information becomes
available andé in-depth studies are conducted. Such stidues are
mandated by S. 426 section 303 and by S. 521 section 128, in substan-
tially identical language.

C. Consideration of State Interests

The original C.C.S.L.A. reflects little concern over the interests
of states in minimizing the coastal zone side effects of the Federal
leasing progran, nor does it provide in any manner that states receive
any portion of the revenues generated. Since 1953, Federal policy has
shifted toward a position which recoynizes the need for coordinated,
cooperative management of the coastal zones of the states with a
heightened goncern for the accomodation of state as well as Federal
interests.? Doth S.426 and S.521 have addressed the problem of Federal-
state jurisdictional disputes, but this_issue will be largely mooted
by the decision in U.S. v. Maine et al.

S5.426 section 101 states as a purpose of the bill that affected
states be provided an opportunity to participate in policy and planning
decisions relating to management of 0.C.S. resources. This purpose
would be accomplished in several ways:

22 Ibid, p. 1293.

23 Ibid, p. 1303.

24 See generally "Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972", 16 U.S.C.
sections 1451 et seq.

25 The problein of boundary disputes with Canada or ilexico is treated
by $.426, section 209, "Sec. 28" and §.521, section 202, "Sec. 24".
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(1} by requiring that the overall leasing program, the
implewentation of the exploration program, the leasing of specific
tracts and the environmental assessment and monitoring all conform
to state coastal zone management programs and policies, as far as
is possible consistent with the national interest;

(2) by allowing the governor of a state likely to be affected
to reguest a delay of nearby leasing activities for up to three
years;

(3) by not preeupting state rules-.of liability for oil spill
danage, and

(4) Ly reguiring exploration prior to leasing so that the
onsicre impacts along “frontier areas” can be more accurately
estimated and assessed by those states.

5.521 considers state interests in the following ways:

(1) by allowing review by state and local governments of
decisions as to which areas will be offered for leasing and by
regquiring coordination of lease offerings with state coastal
zone managerent pPrograms;

(2) Dby allowing the governor of an “adjacent state" (not
defined) to request a delay of nearby leasing activities for up
to three years;

(3) by not preempting state rules of liability for oil spills;

(4} by eventually requiring exploration prior to leasing such
that states can appraise likely onshore effects: and

(3) by sroviding financial assistance to impacted states from

a "Coastal State FMund* pursuant to regulations passed by the
Secretary, in coordination with coastal zone management progranis.
(Programs relating to grants to states will be considered
separately.)

It is readily apparent taat under either bill the states have two
principal means of participating in Federal decision-making with respect
to offshore cil and gas ceveloprent:

(1) by Geveloping state management programs which qualify under
the C.Z....n.4° and

{(2) by gubernatorial rejguests for leasing delays prior to lease
bid invitations.

Hote tinat C.:s.d.A., section 307, requires that once a state coast
zone wanayeiment programn ls approved, Federal agency actions which
might affect that zone rust be consistent with the plan or neces-
sary in the interest of national security.
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Thus, the nost significant distinction in the consideration of
state policies and interests by these two bills may well be the manner
of review available to the state i1f its reyuest for a leasing delay is
denled by the Secretary. As noted previously, $.521 provides for an
administrative appeal to the "Kational Coastal Resources Appeals
Zoard”, whereas uncer S.425 the action of the Secretary is reviewed
by Congress and his conclusions may be overturned by a resolution of
elither House.

iH. rinancial Assistance to States

In recognition of the economic impacts to states which result from
0.C.S. o0il and gas developrment, these legislative proposals have been
offered to provide direct grants to the states affected: S. 130, S.521
and 66. In any such prograum, three basic questions arise: who will
acuniinister the fund, what states will be eligible for grants, and what
factors will determine the amount of each grant?

5. 130 would awmend Section 9 of the 0.C.S.L.A. to provide for a
suaring of those 0.C.S. revenues “attributable to the portion of the
Cuter Continental Shelf adjacent to any state", according to the
foliowing formula:

" (1) 25 per centum shall be paiG by the Secretary of the
Treasury to such adjacent state,

(2) 25 per centwa shall be paid...in equal amounts, to each of
the several states other than such adjacent state, and

(3) 30 per centun_snall be deposited in the Treasury of the
United States...."2

AS written, this bill has two critical weaknesses. First, no
attewpt is made to define the geographical area of the 0.C.S. which
is “adjacent to any state.” Since the sites of Fecderal oil leases are
all beyond the three mile belt of state submerged lands, no demarcation
exists at present separating 0.C.S. lands into areas which can be
consldered adjacent to individual states. Second, the bill is not
responsive to true economic needs of coastal states. If one state
vecoues the site of refineries, tank farms and numerous pipeline
corridors, and incurs related expenses for added roads, expanded water
and sewer capacity andé other services, it would nevertheless receive
10 greater a share of revenues than would be received by a neighkoring
coastal state which totally excluded energy facility construction. On
the other hand, this bill assures a winimuy cumpensation to coastal
states (assuming that "adjacency” can be defined) in recognition of the
fact that sowe level of adverse iimpact is inevitable because of the
regional scope of the 0.C.S5. program.29 Pinally, no justification is

27 S. 130, section 2.
23 See generally C.E.Q. Report (cited above at footnote 168), Chapter 7.
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bCth&;ﬂaQ;O as to wihy states cther than "adjacent ccastal
states” should participate in 8.C.5. ravenuses, or why the 25:25:50
formula is \Lhteluulo to any ot

er aruitrary allocation,

@3 a different tack b establishing a “Coastal
1< to Le administered by tary of the Interior. Ten
2at of Federal r;venues (or £¢ ner bparrel, whichever 1"

er) frorm G.C.£. leasecs wenld i¢ into the Tund, in
1,1u¢ aspro, rlaLlOﬂ of $1C0,000,000, not to cuceed a total oL
fiscal 1976 ana 1277. Reyuilreaents LoL Vi
isizd by the Secretary of Comnerce, ar 5 yuire,

at a wiaima., (1) that the grants directly relate to the eavircnwental,
social, or economic inpacts of the U.C prograr:, (1) that considera-

tion wust we given to the extent of devel ent off a coastal
stzate, ana (3) that a state estaplisi pollution containiient andé clean-
Up SyStens to respon.e Lo spills from 0il and gas cevelopasnt on state
submwerged lands. Graais arce inten o be paic in amounts egqual to
actual or preilcted enviroanental, social and econolic inpacts, or

in aunounts progortionate to the impact borne. Ly a state relative o
the total of state iupacts vhere the total exceeds $20€,050,000 for

a given year. Ghe grants way be used for planning, construction of
rublic facilities, grovision of public services, and other purposes,
ana are o Le coordinated with Coastal Zone ilanagement Act progranis.

S.506, unlike &.130 and S.521, does not amend the C.C.S5.L.A.
Instead, it modifies the Coastal Cone lanagerment Act in several respects:

(1) it emphasizes the reguirerient that leases, as well as
licenses and permits, niust be administered in a wanner consistent
witli state coastal zone management programs;

2) it encourages state programs to provide for adeguate
ccess o public beaches and preservation of coastal islands;

(3) it extends existiay C.Z.il.A. grant authority until 1280; and
() it creates three new fuads, providing grants for impact
assistanca, interstate coordination prograws, and for state coastal
research prograns

The “Coastal Ispact Fund" woulé be financed by a direct Congressional
appropriation of $2G0,000,000 for each of the .next five years, and would be
adinistered by the Secretary of Coumerce along with the other C.Z.:.A.
srograns. The grants do not require matching state funds and may be
i ates wilch the Secretary deterumines are likely to be
G.C.5. developiment or the siting of related energy facilities
fect the coastal zone, directly, or indirectly. The grants
;/ Le used Tor studying and managing adverse conseqguences or for con-
struction of public facilities and provision of services wade necessary
Ly C.C.5. developnent or energy facility siting. The bill establishes
two basic eligibility reguirements:

(1) tihe state wmust be naking satisfactory progress toward develop-
vent of a coastal zone management program or it must be adminis-
tering such a program; and

(2) the state must demonstrate that the grant wiil be used for
one of the purposes wmentioned above.
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Senator Marrias. Our colleague, Congressman Rogers, will be the
next witness and I will direct counsel to inform the first member
of the committee to return to resume the meeting and request Con-
gressman Rogers to testify.

The committee will stand in recess.

[A short recess was taken.]

Senator Jomxston. The meeting will come back to order.

Our next witness will be Mr. Walter Rogers, president of the
Interstate Natural Gas Association. :

Senator Jomnston. Let me say to you, Mr. Rogers, that in addition
to welcoming you here, and this statement applies to everyone else,
we have got a large number of witnesses and we have got a long
afternoon session so we would like each of the witnesses to try to
summarize your statements within 10 minutes if possible but a maxi-
mum of 15 minutes because that will allow enough time for a few
questions so we will not have to pass over any of the other witnesses.
With that I would like to welcome you.

Mr. Rocers. Thank you, Senator. I intended to do that very thing.
But let me say that with your permission I ask that the statement
be included in the record.

Senator Jomnston. It will be included in the record verbatim.

STATEMENT OF WALTER ROGERS, PRESIDENT, INTERSTATE
NATIONAL GAS ASSOCIATION

Mr. Rocers. And I will undertake to summarize my statement.

First T would like to say the Interstate Gas Association of
America is made up of the principal interstate gas transmission
companies serving all of the lower 48 States, with the exception of
Vermont, through an underground pipeline network now totaling
approximately 225,000 miles. These companies handle 90 percent of
the total interstate sales of natural gas and constitute the vital link
between the wellhead at the gas well and the city gate of the gas
distribution companies. The members of this organization are par-
ticularly sensitive to the declining natural gas supply, for the
simple reason that their existence depends upon it. The interstate
pipelines are fully regulated by the Federal Power Commission.
They do not make any money out of the sale of gas. Their revenue
consists of charges for the transportation of natural gas from the
wellhead to the metropolitan areas and industrial centers of this
Nation. The charges they receive for the transportation of such gas
are fully regulated and determined by the FPC. Their ability to
survive depends upon their success at buying or contracting for
natural gas at the wellhead which they in turn transport and deliver
to the other geographical areas of this Nation. Hence, a supply of
natural gas is the lifeblood of the interstate gas pipeline industry.

It is generally accepted throughout all segments of the industry—
the producer, the transmission company, and the distribution com-
pany—that a substantial portion of the supplies of natural gas
lIocated onshore have already been discovered and are presently being
tapped. The remaining reserves onshore do not appear to be of suf-
ficlent capacity to substantially alter the course of the developing
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energy crisis. Of course, every cubic foot of gas helps and all explora-
tory efforts should be conducted onshore. It appears, however, that
the deposits of natural gas available for the solution of the energy
shortfall will be found offshore in varied water depths. It is in that
general area that the industry expects to find the additional supplies
so vital to this Nation. Now, in the letter that we received asking us
to appear here it was pointed out that in that letter that there were
'Eevei‘lal targets that they wanted us to focus on, and we attempted to
o that.

Now the first one is an improved coordination of Federal OCS
programs with the States.

There must be early action for mandatory or effective voluntary
coordination between the Federal Government and the several
coastal States with relation to Federal OCS exploration and develop-
ment programs. The need for early and expensive development of
offshore energy supplies demands early determination of the course
to be followed in resolving the conflicts between the Federal Gov-
ernment and the several States. The primary determination must be
made as to a time frame within which final decisions must be reached
on all questions and conflicts which could be employed to retard or
delay physical action in exploration and development. Now, we have
pointed out in one particular area here in the center of page 4 and
we say however, the request operates, the request of the Governor to
postpone a sale in both S. 521 and S. 426, the request operates to
postpone the sale or action with relation to a leasing and develop-
ment plan until the Secretary of Interior within 30 days from the
receipt of such request takes certain specific actions with relation
there to.

Now the question is if the Secretary of the Interior does not take
any action, what does it result in? Does it trigger the entire 3-year
period or is it presumed that some action was taken by him which
creates the need for other action by the Department of the Interior.
If that is not so we feel that it ought to be corrected.

We must recognize that the areas of conflict will include matters
of jurisdiction, matters of liability, matters of Federal assistance,
matters of ecology and environmental guidelines, matters of taxes,
matters of revenue sharing, and a host of others which have prob-
ably not yet occurred to either the Federal Government, the States,
the municipal entities, or the industries.

Many of these problems I am sure have been touched on in the
report, and I am sure the Senator is familiar with that, and that is
the one that was provided by the Governor’s Offshore Revenue Shar-
ing Committee by the Gulf South Research Institute of Baton Rouge
which was included incidentally in hearings last year.

Now the second item was increasing the role of the States in the
decisionmaking process and I will sum it up by saying the formula
for making determination on the many questions and problems
referred to in this section next above should include provisions for
participation by the States in the presentation of data, facts, statis-
tics, and arguments related to exploration and development of an
area or tract of the Outer Continental Shelf. However, this is not
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to say that such participation should constitute or contribute to a
means of retarding or delaying the speedy prosecution of the plans
for such an exploration or development program. The property in
question belongs to the Federal Government and it is our position
that the Federal Government should have the final say.

Now, let us skip on down to No. 3. The methods of separating OCS
oil and gas exploration activities from decisions to develop and pro-
duce the oil and gas.

Although there has been a tremendous advance in the methods
and technologies developed through the years to determine the pres-
ence or nonpresence of fossil fuels without actual physical drilling,
these developments are far from being exact. The fact is that the
only way to determine whether or not there is a deposit of oil and/or
gas in commercial quantities is to drill a well or perhaps several
wells. However, it is our position, and I think the Senator would
agree with me, that the only sure way is to sink a hole in the ground
and find out what is in that hole or what comes out of that hole. And
I think that this is a fact of life that we must appreciate.

Since exploration must precede development, there is no reason
why exploratory activities cannot be separated from development
activities on a physical basis. The exploratory activities could be
conducted without undue interference to the ordinary life patterns
in the area being explored, and many of the problems that would
arise in full development could be avoided during the exploratory
period. However, I would vigorously contend against denying the
free enterprise segment of the oil and gas industry the right to con-
duct appropriate exploratory activities and against attempts to sub-
stitute therefore a program by the Federal Government.

Senator JornsToN. Let me ask you a question or two, Mr. Rogers.

I have read your statement and I have some questions on it. You
say that we can separate the decision on exploration and then whether
to produce later on?

Mr. Rocers. Yes, sir.

Senator Jonnsron. Now what kinds of factors would say that you
could explore and then result in a decision later not to produce?

Mr. Roaers. Well, T think that the question is this, as we see it.
What we are after in the final analysis is oil and gas, is fossil fuels,
and I think what we are talking about is a procedural situation in as
far as the many problems that are involved. Let us take for instance,
environmental and ecological problems. OQur position is that if ex-
ploration could be confined in the first instance to where you would
not have chemical and environmental problems, you can determine
where there was a likelihood that oil or gas could be found and then
go into your development.

Senator Jouxsron. I understand that, but once you found it what
would tell not to produce it? Why might you not produce that oil
that you found?

Mr. Rogers. I do not know of any reason why you would not pro-
duce it, Senator, and -I think if there was evidence produced that
you had found it and did not produce it, that ought to be forced to
or you ought to loose the lease. But now there is a development
requirement.
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Senator Jomnston. I am talking about the Federal Government
apparently would be the one to make that decision as to whether to
produce or not. T am just wondering what kind of fact—you say you
want to separate this question of exploration from production. The
idea being that after you go to all the expense to find the oil, then you
might not produce it—I am wondering why you would not produce it
and if those factors were determinable prior to the time you spent
" several million dollars making a lease bid and going and finding the
oil?

Mr. Rocers. Well, I do not think there would be any reason not
to produce it. I think it ought to be required that it be produced if
you found it. Maybe I do not understand your question.

Senator Jomwston. Well you say, let us see where is it here
methods of separating OCS oil and gas exploration activities from
decision to develop and produce the oil and gas.

Mr. Rocers. Yes.

Senator JomnsTon. What you are saying is it can be done, to
separate exploration ?

Mr. RocErs. Yes.

Senator Jornsron. From the decision to produce?

Mr. Rogers. Well, maybe the word decision is wrong. You can
separate the exploration from the production. Really the decision
to produce, the word decision probably should not have been put in
the statement because I am referring to the general development or
production of oil and gas and the decision.

Senator Jounsron. Well T want to develop that issue also with
other witnesses. I think our environmental friends can give us some
ideas on why you would not produce after you found. But I think
we ought to, if we are going to separate those decisions, we ought
to take as much of the decision—make as much of that decision in
advance before we spend the money. Maybe some of these things
we cannot decide in advance. We do not want to waste a lot of
money finding the oil and deciding not to produce when factors on
which to make the decision not to produce were available to us
before we spend the money.

Now second, you say it is a little premature now to make the
decision on whether to have a coastal State’s fund?

Mr. Rocers. Yes, sir.

Senator JornsTon. Do I understand that correctly ¢ Do you know
how long they have been drilling off the Louisiana coast?

Mr. RocErs. Yes.

Senator JornsTON. Over 25 years?

Mr. RogErs. Yes.

Senator Jomnsron. Do you know how many holes we have out
there? Do you know the Gulf South Research Center in which you
refer in your statement has made an impact survey to the effect of
an OCS drilling indicating a net cost of States for the OCS drilling
and indicating some other environmental effects not measurable in
terms of money to the State. Are you familiar with that report?

Mr. Rocers. Yes, my point is this. T am not debating on either
side of this but as I point out in my statement there are two schools
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of thought. Once that you do suffer damage, that you are entitled to
compensation for it. The other is that you gain more benefits than
you do detriments by the offshore drilling.

Senator Jornston. Most of the northeastern governors say they
suffer more detriments. :

Mr. Rogers. My point is simply this. It is a matter that we can
determine, and that we can settle subsequently. T am simply saying
that we should not hold the development of the Outer Continental
Shelf for fossil fuels depending on questions like this, and that if
we set up a coastal States fund now you are going to cause a con-
troversy that if that overlap is the developmental program then we
are going to suffer in getting the fossil fuels we need. As far as I
am personally concerned, you can set up a coastal rates fund and
collect the interest off it. What I am trying to avoid is the con-
troversy.

Senator Jounston. I would suggest to you the controversy is al-
ready there and the coastal States fund would help reserve the
controversy. I would suggest 25 years ought to be enough experience
in all the multitude of studies we have had to tell you that there is
an impact and to tell you what the impact is and that the Congress
ought now to have sufficient facts in our hands to resolve the con-
troversy.

Mr. Rogers. I have the same problems with relation to the State
of Texas and I certainly agree with you that there is a great deal
of argument on both sides, but Louisiana and Texas have never
been given any remedy on this that I know of to date.

Senator Jomnston. Well, that is what we are searching for, an
equitable remedy.

We appreciate your testimony so much, Mr. Rogers and thank you
for yourself and for you Interstate National Gas Assn.

Mr. Rocers. Senator, just one thing in conclusion. For whatever
is done, the need for this fossil fuel is so urgent that nothing would
be thrown in the way, in the way of an obstacle or a difficulty in
moving far with it.

Senator Jouxston. I agree with you. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Rogers follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF WALTER E. ROGERS, PRESIDENT,
INTERSTATE NATURAL GAS ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA

The principal bills for discussion are the following: $.426, $.521, $.586 and
S.740 (Sections 202 and 404). Other bills before the joint session of the Com-
mittees are 8.81 8.130, S.470, S8.825 and S.826.

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee— The following statement is
presented on behalf of the Interstate Natural Gas Association of America. My
name is Walter E. Rogers and I serve as President of that Association. I appear
here today representing such Association.

Our appearance here today is in response to the letter of March 5, 1975,
addressed to me over the signature of the Honorable Henry M. Jackson, Chair-
man of the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, and the Honorable
Warren G. Magnuson, Chairman of the Committee on Commerce, which letter
contained certain instructions and guidelines with reference to the specific
issues to be treated. We have attempted to pursue these instructions.

The Interstate Natural Gas Association of America is made up of the
principal interstate gas transmission companies serving all of the lower 48
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states, with the exception of Vermont, through an underground pipeline network
now totaling approximately 225,000 miles. These companies handle 90 percent
of the total interstate sales of natural gas and constitute the vital link betwgen
the wellhead at the gas well and the city gate of the gas distribution companies.
The members of this organization are particularly sensitive to the declining
natural gas supply, for the simple reason that their existence depends upon it.
The interstate pipelines are fully regulated by the Federal Power Commission.
They do not make any money out of the sale of gas. Their revenue consists of
charges for the transportation of natural gas from the wellhead to the metro-
politan areas and industrial centers of this Nation. The charges they receive
for the transportation of such gas are fully regulated and determined by the
FPC. Their ability to survive depends upon their success at buying or contract-
ing for natural gas at the wellhead which they in turn transport and deliver
to the other geographical areas of this Nation. Hence, a supply of natural gas
is the lifeblood of the interstate gas pipeline industry.

It is generally accepted throughout all segments of the industry—the pro-
ducer, the transmission company, and the distribution company—that a sub-
stantial portion of the supplies of natural gas located onshore have already
been discovered and are presently being tapped. The remaining reserves onshore
do not appear to be of sufficient capacity to substantially alter the course of the
developing energy crisis. Of course, every cubic foot of gas helps and all
exploratory efforts should be conducted onshore. It appears however, that the
deposits of natural gas available for the solution of the energy shortfall will be
found offshore in varied water depths. It is in that general area that the
industry expects to find the additional supplies so vital to this Nation. Hence,
any legislation concerning, affecting, or associated with offshore exploration
and development is of primary and top priority interest to the interstate natural
gas pipeline companies.

In keeping with your observations and instructions in your letter of March
5, 1975, 1 will attempt to focus our testimony on the specific issues raised by
the pending bills as they relate to our own areas of interest, and as listed in
your letter.

1. IMPROVED COORDINATION OF FEDERAL OCS PROGRAMS WITH THE STATES

There must be early action for mandatory or effective voluntary coordination
between the Federal government and the several coastal states with relation
to Federal OCS exploration and development programs. The need for early and
expansive development of offshore energy supplies demands early determination
of the coarse to be followed in resolving the conflicts between the Federal
government and the several states, The primary determination must be made
as to a time frame within which final decisions must be reached on all questions
and conflicts which could be employed to retard or delay physical action in
exploration and development. In both 8.521 and $.426 there are provisions for
notice to be given to the governor or governors of each state adjacent to pro-
posed OCS leases or development plans. In both bills, the maximum time period
for which delay can be requested in three years. However the request operates
to postpone the sale or action with relation to a leasing and development plan
until the Secretary of Interior within 30 days from the receipt of such request
takes certain specific actions with relation thereto. The question that immedi-
ately occurs is, “What happens should the Secretary, for some reason or for no
reason, fail to take any of the actions specified within the 30-day period?. Would
such inaction operate to provide a delay of the full three years?' If so, there
should be a corrective amendment.

We must recognize that the areas of conflict will include matters of jurisdic-
tion, matters of liability, matters of Federal assistance, matters of ecology and
envirnomental guidelines, matters of taxes matters of revenue sharing, and a
host of others which have probably not yet occurred to either the Federal
government, the states, the municipal entities, or industries which will be
associated with the exploration and the development of the Outer Continental
Shelf. Many of these problems have been touched upon in a report prepared
for the Governors’ Offshore Revenue Sharing Committee by the Gulf South
Research Institute of Baton Rouge, Louisiana. This report is included in the
hearings that were conducted last year by the Subcommittee on Minerals,
Materials and Fuels of the Interior and Insular Affairs Committee of the
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United States Senate. This analysis pinpoints many of the problems which will
not be easy to solve. Endless delays on any of them could seriously jeopardize
the energy posture of this Nation within the next ten years. Hence, we would
recommend that there be some definitive formula for requiring coordination as
between the states and the Federal government toward the earliest possible
action for the exploration and development of oil and gas on the QOuter Con-
tinental Shelf.

2. INCREASING THE ROLE OF THE STATES IN THE DECISIONMAKING PROCESS

The development of a program, a plan, or a formula for making determina-
tions on the many questions and problems referred to in the section next above
should include provisions for participation by the states in the presentation
of data, facts, statistics, and arguments related to exploration and development
of an area or tract of the Outer Continental Shelf directly affecting the par-
ticular state. However, this is not to say that such participation should cou-
stitute or contribute to a means of retarding or delaying the speedy prosecution
of plans for such exploration or development program. The property in question
belongs to the Federal government which is charged with, and should be re-
sponsible for, the final determination of the issues involved. Hence we would
feel that any and all provisions in S.426 and 8.521 which could be interpreted
to enable a state, coastal or otherwise, to directly or indirectly dictate or delay
the final determination of the problem or problems at issue, would be wholly
inappropriate. .

It should also be pointed out that Section 210 of $.521 gives preference to
an “adjacent” state relative to the rights and privileges applicable to offshore
development.

Although this may appear on the surface to be equitable, I would repeat
that the property involved, to wit, the Outer Continental Shelf, is Federal
domain owned by all of the United States. Hence, such preference provisions
could constitute discrimination that might appear unfair to the inland states
and constitute the basis for controversies that could jeopardize the early ex-
ploration and development needed.

Section 210 of 8.521 also creates another board or bureau with certain powers
and procedural requirements in connection therewith that could also operate
to further delay exploration and development. It {s our position that there
must come a time for decision in all of these matters; that the gravity of the
energy crisis should dictate the avoidance of every possible delay; legislation
enacted to cope with energy problems should be designed to remove rather than
to create obstacles, difficulties and impediments.

3. METHODS OF SEPARATING OCS OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES
FROM DECISIONS TO DEVELOP AND PRODUCE THE OIL AND GAS

Although there has been a tremendous advance in the methods and tech-
nologies developed through the years to determine the presence or nonpresence
of fossil fuels without actual physical drilling, these developments are far
from being exact. The fact is that the only way to determine whether or not
there is a deposit of oil and/or gas in commercial quantities is to drill a well
or perhaps several wells.

Since exploration must precede development, there is no reason why explora-
tory activities cannot be separated from development activities on a physical
basis. The exploratory activities could be conducted without undue interference
to the ordinary life patterns in the area being explored, and many of the
problems that would arise in full development could be avoided during the
exploratory period. However, I would vigorously contend against denying the
free enterprise segment of the oil and gas industry the right to conduct ap-
propriate exploratory activities and against attempts to substitute therefore
a program by the Federal government. I think the history of the oil and gas
industry in this Nation would conclusively support the proposition that there
must be a direct association between exploratory and developmental activities.
Exploration and development have always gone hand in hand. Certainly, infor-
mation, statistics, geological information, ete. can be gathered by the Federal
government to be carefully weighed with relation to the existence of deposits
in a certain area. However, I would point out that this is being done at the
present time. To commence a separate and different survey program by the

51-748 O - 75 - 4
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Federal government would, in my opinion, create an expensive overlapping
effort that would not provide much additional information. The Federal gov-
ernment does not have the facilities or the expertise to engage in the actual
physieal exploratory effort. Private enterprise does have and has proven many
times that they can accomplish the task if they are permitted the opportunity.

Section 19 (h) of 8.521 provides for the Secretary to obtain any existing
data about oil or gas resources in the area subject to the lease, from the lease
holder. Provision is made for proprietary data or information so obtained to
be confidential. From a legal standpoint, this may appear sufficient, but from
a practical standpoint, everyone familiar with Washington knows that con-
fidentiality with regard to information held by government agencies is next to
impossible. Private property, to wit proprietary information, should not be
taken from any citizen of the United States except in accordance with the laws
already on the books with regard thereto.

4. ALTERNATE LEASING SYSTEMS OF OTHER METHODS OF ALLOWING PRIVATE
INDUSTRY TO DEVELOP OCS OIL AND GAS

The leasing procedures of the Federal government with regard to oil and gas
have been controversial for a number of years. This has been especially true
with relation to offshore leasing. The leasing for offshore activities entails an
economic problem because of the extremely high costs involved. Many have felt
that Federal government leasing activities in offshore areas have resulted in a
battle of the financial giants rather than an equitable program in which all of
the people interested might be able to participate. This, of course, has to do
with the cash bonus bidding system procedure that has long been employed
by the Federal government. It is the position of INGAA that new systems
should be explored that would encourage wider participation, a more expansive
exploration and development program, and an earlier production availability
of both oil and gas.

INGAA’s position was expressed by Mr. Richard L. O’Shields, chief executive
officer of the Panhandle Esatern Pipe Line Company, on behalf of INGAA at
the Project Independence hearings on September 17, 1974, at Houston, Texas.
INGAA’s position was documented as follows: The cash bonus bidding system
should be modified to reduce the high initial cash payment so as to permit the
maximum amount of available dollars to be used in actual drilling for oil and
gas offshore, yet insure the Federal Treasury of fair value for the leases
sold. It was recommended that the payment of the bonus for the lease be per-
mitted on an installment basis, with a ten percent payment due upon award
of the lease and the balance payable in installments. It was also suggested
that the present policy with respect to the acceptance of bids be modified to
make the award of a standard 5,000-acre lease mandatory to any responsible
bidder whose bid is in excess of one million dollars. The following is a docu-
mentation of the Federal leasing procedure recommended by INGAA :

a. In connection with competitive bidding for Federal leases, the bidder shall
submit with its bid a certified check for 10 percent of the bonus offered for the
lease. The Bureau of Land Management shall award the lease to that bidder
offering the largest bonus. In the event that a bonus bid of $1 million or more
is submitted for a lease, the Bureau of Land Management cannot reject the
bid on the ground of insufficiency.

b. The purchaser of each tract shall provide within 20 days to the Bureau
of Land Management a bond in form satisfactory to assure purchaser’s per-
formance of his obligations, including payment of the balance of the bonus,
under the purchase conditions outlined below.

c. At the end of each 10-month period from the date of award of the lease,
a payment of an additional ten percent, less expenditures made on the lease
during the preceding 12 months, will be paid. The amount of the payment made
shall be credited against the balance of the bonus obligation. Such yearly
payments will cease:

(1) On any lease on which commercial production has been established
within five years from the date of the granting of the lease: The balance of
the bonus shall be paid, commencing with the first date of commercial produc-
tion in annual amounts equal to the greater of (a) 25 percent of the annual
revenues, after payment of royalties, from the hydrocarbon reserves produced
from the lease, or (b) an amount equal to 1/5 of the bonus balance as of the
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date of the commercial production or the end of the fifth year until the balance
is paid in full.

(2) On any lease on which commercial production has not been established
within five years from the date of the awarding of the lease: The balance of
the bonus shall be paid in five equal annual installments commencing on the
fifth anniversary of the lease award.

(3) On any lease on which it is determined that the lease is not commercially
productive and the lease is surrendered within five years from the date of the
awarding of the lease: The bonus balance as of the date of the lease is sur-
rendered shall be cancelled and no further payments required of the purchaser
of the lease.

INGAA’s recommendation as hereinbefore set out is not to say that there
might not be other methods or systems that svould accomplish the end result
sought. We do feel that this proposal would more adequately serve the people.
Should others be proposed that would better serve the need, we would welcome
an opportunity to review them.

With relation to the proposed changes in Section 8 of the Outer Continental
Shelf Lands Act we would call to your attention the fact that the proposed
amendment of subsection (b) thereof, as proposed in both 8.521 and S.426,
makes no reference to the 1214 per centum royalty requirement now present
in existing law. The absence of this provision raises a question as to the
possibility for a method of payment by the lessee other than on a royalty basis.
It is our feeling that the United States should reserve the royalty interest as
such in all oil and gas leases of deposits owned by the Federal government.

5. IMPROVEMENTS IN THE PLANNING AND EXECUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL BASELINE
STUDIES, MONITORING STUDIES, AND PREPARATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT
STATEMENTS

There should be a continuing and active study with relation to improving
the planning and execution of environmental baseline studies, monitoring
studies, and preparation of environmental impact statements. The Federal gov-
ernment already has the machinery and the facilities to do this. Several
agencies of the Federal government serve as the constant watchdog with
relation to environmental and ecological problems offshore. In considering im-
provements in environmental protection for the Outer Continental Shelf, we
believe it is imperative that the Congress review and amend the National En-
vironmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA). While INGAA is completely in accord
with the goals and objectives of NEFPA, this Act, as interpreted by the courts.
unfortunately has created what has been aptly described as a procedural night-
mare, The preparation and filing of environmental impact statements and the
requirements that every conceivable alternative to a proposed action be con-
sidered has been a major obstacle to the timely implementation of much-needed
energy projects. Without going into a detailed discussion of the imperfections
of NEPA, we would point out several areas where modification is definitely
needed :

1. Impact Statements should be required only to consider in detail those
alternatives to the proposed action which are realistic both in concept and
achievement. Alternatives not reasonably available within the time frame
during which the agency finds action is required by the national interest or
not reasonably achievable with acceptable cost-benefit dimensions or not within
the power of the ageney or the applicant to achieve are not deemed realistic.

2. It should be made clear that a new environmental evaluation of alterna-
tives is not required every time an agency acts on identical matters seriatim.
For example, an Environmental Tmpact Statement is required by the Depart-
ment of Interior when it proposes to lease tracts on the Outer Continental
Shelf, but why must it prepare such a statement for each and every sale
covering basically the same areas and using identical data. This is costly and
time consuming and serves no useful purpose. Certainly, once the Department
of Interior analyzes the environmental aspects of leasing tracts in the Outer
Continental Shelf, it should not be necessary for the agency to be subject to
the procedural burden of re-evaluating the same issues each time it acts on an
increment to an overall plan.

3. NEPA should also be modified to remove the duplication and overlap that
exists in the law as presently interpreted and the multi-agency involvement in
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preparing impact statements. The “lead agency” concept should be required by
law i.e., the principal agency involved in the proposed action should have the
principal responsibility for the preparation and issuance of the impact state-
ment.

Certainly, new and recurring problems will require new and innovative ap-
proaches. It is our position that primary attention should be focused on trying
to streamline the baseline studies, the monitoring studies, and especially the
preparation of environmental impact statements, to the end that a definitive
time frame can be established within which appropriate information can be
gathered, studies made, and proper requirements designed. There should be no
suspension of exploratory or developmental activities in the OCS, for the
simple reason that such studies and research can continue side by side with
exploration and development, and be measurably aided thereby.

6. IMPROVEMENTS IN REGULATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT OF OCS OPERATING
PRACTICES FOR SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

It is our understanding that the laws generally existing on the statute books
are adequate to provide the regulation for enforcement of Quter Continental
Shelf operating practices for safety and environmental protection. It is our
further understanding that the department and agencies charged with these
responsibilities have appropriate rulemaking powers and enforcement powers
to provide proper policing of any activities on the Outer Continental Shelf.

In this connection, we should also consider the section of the bill entitled
“Liability for Oil Spills,” to wit, Section 23. Certainly, the liability without
fault up to the sum of $7 million would be a deterrent on any operator in the
Outer Continental Shelf, especially, the smaller independents. The only way
to avoid such liability would be to meet the burden of proof that the damage
was caused by an act of war. In a great many instances, this would be an
utter impossibility. Also the lessee must assume the burden of proving that
the damage was caused by the negligence of the United States or other gov-
ernmental agencies, or prove the negligence or intentional act by the person
claiming the damage. In all of these instances, the requirements to escape
liability are so burdensome that there is virtual liability without fault to the
tune of $7 million.

The proposal to create the Offshore Pollution Settlements Fund is a good
one. It provides an equitable and fair method of dealing with some very difficult
problems that could arise without anyone being at fault. It is a tremendous
improvement over the proposals that eame forward in the 93rd Congress simply
by creating an absolute liability without fault. Those proposals would have
seriously deterred leasing activities. This new approach, if properly adminis-
tered, would answer many of the problems of the lessee.

7. THE NEED FOR AN APPROPRIATE FORM OF FEDERAL ASSISTANCE
TO AFFECTED COASTAL STATES

There are several schools of thought with relation to the effect of offshore
oil and gas activities on the adjacent coastal states. The states themselves
have argued that the effect is highly detrimental and that they should be
compensated by the Federal government by direct assistance payments, by a
revenue sharing program, a combination of both, or by some other means that
will remedy the damage caused, whether it be economie, environmental, or
otherwise. Others argue with equal vigor that the effect of such offshore
operations is highly beneficial to the adjacent coastal state and that the benefits
owing into the coastal state far outweigh any detrimental effects. It is my
understanding that the coastal states presently adjacent to offshore oil and
gas activities have not been afforded any unusual rights, Federal grants, or
other emoluments now being sought. Whether or not the effects of such develop-
ment are detrimental or beneficial is an open question. For that reason, it is
our position that the creation of a Coastal State Fund at this time would
be premature. Certainly, the creation of a Coastal State Fund in this legislation
presupposes that the effect upon the adjacent coastal states will be detrimental
rather than beneficial, a fact that is yet to be determined. Under the circum-
stances, it would seem the most practicable approach is to suspend the creation
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of a Coastal State Fund until some conclusion has been reached as to its
need. In any event the exploration and development of the Outer Continental
Shelf should not be delayed pending the resolution of such an argument. It
would seem that this is an area in which a great deal more information and
data are needed, preferably on an experience table which we do not now have.

Should it be determined finally that Federal assistance is justified and in
order for the adjacent coastal states, a Coastal State Fund from the revenues
of offshore activities would certainly seem to be appropriate.

CONCLUSLON

In conclusion, I would stress as strongly as possible the urgency of the need
for additional energy supplies in our country. I fully appreciate that under
our form of government, in the ordinary trend of events, it is not possible to
act with the speed that can be generated under governments having full,
complete and absolute control of the citizenry. However, I have full and com-
plete confidence in the patriotism of every American when the time comes for
us to meet a challenge. In my opinion, we are today faced with a challenge
that may require the exercise of extreme emergency powers as would be
required should a state of war or other national disaster exist. The state of
the modern world as it exists today demands that we as a Nation move with
the speed of a crash program to become as nearly self-sufficient as possible in
our energy needs.

Senator Jounston. The next witness would be Mr. Charles Neu-
meyer for the Associated Gas Distributors.

It is nice to have you, Mr. Neumeyer. You have heard the comments
about the need to telescope as much as we can.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES NEUMEYER, ASSOCIATED GAS
DISTRIBUTORS

Mr. NeumEYER. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank you for the
opportunity to appear here and I will attempt to shorten my state-
ment as much as possible. ‘

My name is Charles L. Neumeyer. T am senior vice president of the
Brooklyn Union Gas Co. and chairman of the Executive Committee
of the Associated Gas Distributors (AGD), on whose behalf T am
here today. Associated Gas Distributors is a group composed of the
major east coast gas distribution companies, who provide gas service
to approximately 11 million gas consumers in the eastern portion of
the United States. We have a list of our members attached to the
statement. These eastern gas utilities that make up the AGD member-
ship are faced with ever increasing difficulties in obtaining gas
supplies and are, therefore, very keenly interested in S. 521, S. 426
and the other bills which are under consideration to amend the Outer
Continental Shelf Lands Act. Any changes in that legislation which
would increase gas supplies to east coast consumers would be of
inestimable value and help in providing adequate clean supplies of
energy at reasonable costs to this region that has been seriously
affected by relatively recent changes in the U.S. energy situation. I
will skip over some of the detailed comments which we have in here
with respect to the east coast situation because I am sure that you
are familiar with the crisis which the east coast distributors are
facing in terms of their gas supply. One comment I might make is
that the major supplier to the east coast has been curtailing from it’s
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contract volumes in the order of 30 percent and is projecting for the
next year that the increase to be over 40 percent and as we look down
the line to 1980 and 1985, the defficiencies of gas supply to the east
coast will be in the order of 35, 40 percent and mounting.

As I say, T will skip over some of the details and point out as a
result of the crucial gas supply sitnation for the east coast and the
adverse impacts that are associated with it, no group of consumers
is more concerned with increasing gas supplies than those served by
AGD companies. We strongly support the efforts of the Senate to
modify the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act in such a way as to
improve the near-term supplies of natural gas and oil. Although
AGD is most interested in the Atlantic offshore, since any gas or oil
found there will find a natural market in the States in which AGD
operates, we are convinced that improvements in the OCS Lands
Act will also be of great benefit to the Nation as a whole. If oil and
gas are found it could improve the Nation’s balance of payments,
enhance domestic security and provide desperately needed clean fuel
supplies to those regions which are most adversely affected by fuel
shortages.

Senator Jounsron. Mr. Neumeyer, let me stop you at this point. I
read your statement and I will ask you a few questions if I may.

Mr. NEUMEYER. Yes.

Senator Jounston. You state that the affected States should have
a part in the decisionmaking process. I agree with that statement,
but how would you propose that they be involved in the decision-
making process? Would you give the details?

Mr. Neomever. We believe the proposals spelled out in S. 521
whereby when any leasing plan is presented by Interior that it be
made or presented to the Governors of the States and that they have
the opportunity to ask for some consideration with respect to the
plan. We believe that the proposal as set out in S. 521 is a procedure
which could be followed which would give the States an opportunity
to participate in the development of the OCS.

Senator Jomnston. Let us see 521; that is where we are involved.
You would not give a veto?

Mr. NeumEeYER. No, sir.

Senator Jomnsron. And another one of these bills, T think it is
the Hollings bill, would provide for certain delays. Would you?

Mr. NeumEeyEer. No, we are here, and one of the main purposes of
our testimony here is to try to convince these Senators that we should
not have any delay, that expedition is most important in the devel-
opment of the OCS. And our position is that we believe that under
the present rules and regulations and what have you, that the activ-
ity on the OCS can move ahead pending any of the changes that are
spelled out in various bills and in particular S. 521.

Senator Jounston. I am glad to see that AGD supports the con-
cept of revenue sharing with the States. I think the sooner we get
behind that, the sooner you are going to see more activity out there
on the Atlantic OCS. I keep hearing these arguments time after time
that everybody ought to welcome development on the OCS. Those
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States that have it show the figures it costs them money. Those that
do not have it say we do not want it. Please do not give it to us.

Mr. Neumeyver. The concern that we have, Senator, is that the pro-
visions for the revenue sharing be so vague as to lead to disputes or
long-term negotiations which may impede the development of OCS.
Our hope is that the revenue sharing would be spelled out specif-
ically to the satisfaction of the Federal Government and the States
so that it is as unambiguous as it can possibly be.

Senator Jounston. I would invite your attention to S. 1269. It is
a really inspired piece of legislation.

Mr. Neumever. I would have to guess at the author of that
legislation.

Senator Jounston. Now, you state that you feel like you ought to
gﬁt t};e Federal Government into drilling stratographic wells off-
shore?

Mr. NeuMmeyer. Yes sir. We believe that that is the step that should
be taken immediately while it is not as good as- having exploratory
wells drilled, it is a step in the right direction toward a further or
better appreciation of the resources which may or may not be out
there.

Senator Jounston. There is a real difference of opinion on this
committee, I think it is fair to say as to whether you ought to have
drilling by the Federal Government. I fall on the part of the com-
mittee that feels that it would offer no advantage whatsoever, would
delay matters, would be a tremendous cost to the Government and
would be the activity of the Government that I can think of that at
least be capable of doing successfully. The Office of Technology As-
sessment I believe concurs with that. They were asked to undertake
a study for this committee and for the Commerce Committee to de-
termine what would be the advantage of Federal involvement in ex-
ploration and they said none but great costs and I will urge you to
consider that.

Mr. Neumeyer. Mr. Chairman, may I make a comment on that
because I do make a sharp distinction between stratographic drill-
ing and exploratory drilling. I do not think that they are in the
same area and I feel as strongly about it as you and I believe I did
point out in the statement that we do not believe the Federal Govern-
ment should participate in the exploratory drilling. However, the
stratographic drilling does represent a gathering of data. As I say,
just a step beyond the seismic work.

Senator JomnstoN. There is a considerable step beyond the seis-
mic work.

Mr. NgumEeyer. Oh, yes, it is.

Senator JormnsTon. What is the difference between a stratographic
well and an exploratory well ?

Mr. NeuMEYER. A stratographic well’s main purpose is just to de-
termine—and I am not a geologist, I cannot use the correct terms—
the pathology of the rocks down there as to whether or not they are
capable of holding accumulations of hydrocarbons.
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Senator Jounsron. Don’t they pretty well know from the shoots
out there?

Mr. Neumeyer. No, sir. As a nongeologist I say no, sir. I under-
stand that a proposal has been made to the Interior for a license for a
certain amount of stratographic drilling off the Atlantic coast. And
the geologists and those people who are informed have determined
that so many stratographic wells would have to be drilled to give
them the additional information they need to have a better guess as
to what is down there. And as I say, whether this is done by the Sec-
retary of the Interior or whether it is done by private parties, I think
1t should be done. Of course, the advantage of having it done by the
Interior is that that information would then be made available to the
public—so that everyone can assess the data and make their own
determinations.

Senator Jorxston. I take it then you would do your stratographic
drilling first, complete that, print the information, and then invite
the bid ?

Mr. NEUMEYER. Yes, sir.

Senator Jornston. And that would speed things up, you think?

Mr. NeuMmEYER. Yes sir. The stratographic drilling would not only
speed things up, it would give a clearer indication than we now have
as to the opportunities for hydrocarbon accumulations offshore.

Senator Jornsron. Let us deal with the issue of speed. Why would
it. be faster to use stratographic drilling first before you put out the
bids, before you put out for bids?

Mr. NeumEYER. I should not say it should speed things up. It would
not slow things down.

Senator Jounsron. Would you explain that?

Mr. NeuMeYER. I think the stratographic drilling can go on right
now, that a license can be granted and stratographic drilling can be
accomplished. Between now and when the leases are offered for bid-
ding. And here I am not capable of giving you a precise timeframe.
This is not my area of expertise, but I would expect that even if it
were not available for this particular lease sale or when the Atlantic

“OCS comes up for lease that this information could be obtained fairly
quickly. As I understand for the Atlantic offshore, the proposal was
for six stratographic wells to be drilled, two in each of the major,
assumed to be potential areas—the south Georgia enbankment, Balti-
more Canyon, and George’s Bank—and this information could be ob-
tained by the drilling of six wells. This information would be avail-
able should be go ahead right now. Then the Interior and the parties
who are interested in the offshore would have some additional infor-
mation on which to make their guesses as to what is out there.

Se@nator Jomnstox. How long would it take to drill a stratographic
well ?

Mr. NEuMEYER. I am sorry, I am not capable of giving you that
information.

Senator JounsTon. Not the stratographic wells, how long would it
take to put this out for lease?
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Mr. Neumeyer. To put it out for

Senator Jounston. For lease? .

Mr. NEUMEYER. Are you saying put the stratographic wells?

Senator Jomnston. Now, you put the areas, Baltimore Canyon,
what have you, out for lease?

Mr. NeumEyER. I have no idea.
hSen@ator JonnsToN. Well have they not asked for nominations out
there?

Mr. NeuMEYER. Yes, they have asked for nominations and I pre-
sume that as soon as they have received the nominations, they will set
out an area for leasing. One of the things that I do not know is the
progress which has been made in the evaluation of the Atlantic off-
shore by those parties who might be interested in the bidding. I
would imagine that in anticipation of the Atlantic offshore leasing
that certain groups have been formed and there is some activity go-
ing on.

Senator Jounston. Let me interrupt you to say I am referred to
the Office of Technology Assessment report and I said it showed no
advantage. I am advised that is not correct. Their findings were that
they were at a disadvantage of cost, disadvantage of efficiency, and
disadvantages of delay. On the other hand there were advantages of
knowledge of the resource, control of the rate of development, greater
competition in bidding, and better assessment of returns to the treas-
ury. So the results were not exactly unequivocal although they did
(sia{ it would delay matters, and to me it is very clear that it would

elay.

Mr. NEuMEYER. I have no question at all about that.

Senator Jornston. If you waited for the first stratographic wells
to be completed and I think we should have some further investiga-
tion as to that time because there is a difference of opinion as to how
long the stratographic wells would take.

You state that a broader range of bidding and methods should be
provided. Have you looked into the S. 521 as to its alternative method
of drilling and leasing?

Mr. NeuMmEYER. Yes, sir, we have.

Senator JounstoN. I mean of leasing and would that be consistent
with the kind of broader range that you have in mind?

Mr. Neomeyer. Yes, our feeling, though, is that perhaps it should
be even broader. The AGA and the INGAA proposal which was
mentioned here, which provides for installment payments of the cash
bonus bid, is perhaps another method which might be considered. It
is very difficult to spell out and limit the leasing method to certain
specific ways it can be done. It would seem to us that the Secretary
should have the flexibility, as new methods perhaps are developed
or they get experience with some of these methods, to use the methods
which he thinks will best accomplish the purpose that they are trying
to accomplish at that particular point in time. This would get more
revenues to the Treasury to improve our opportunities to get addi-
tional resources flowing. We think that the Secretary should have
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maximum flexibility. We think also, however, and we feel rather
strongly about this, that the method should be such that it does en-
able people like gas distributors to participate in the offshore activity.
This is one of the reasons that, in our statement, we are opposed to
setting up a straight cash bonus method. We think that this really
shuts out people like gas distributors and, to some extent, gas pipe-
lines, and we think that the distributors and those people who have
an interest in the commodities, as gas distibutors do, should have an
opportunity to bid under some method other than the cash bonus
method.

Senator Jounston. Well we have had a lot of conversations, a good
bit on it in this committee to the effect that to control more than one
part of the production distribution or exploration process is wrong
because it is anticompetitive. Do you think the distributors ought to
be able to get into the drilling business, production business?

Mr. Neumever. They ought to be able to participate in it, and I
make that distinction because I do not think the distributors should
be out on their own—that is, any distributor on his own, participat-
ing and having control or drilling rigs or what have you. But I think,
and I have heard time and time again that one of the impediments to
the development of our domestic resources is the lack of capital. We
have heard this, and we think that the distributors should have the
opportunity to supplement the activities of the production and of the
business.

Senator Jomunston. Is that because they have a lot of excess cap-
ital, the distributors?

Mr. Neumever. No, sir. We certainly do not have any excess cap-
ital. But the point we have been trying to make is that the consumer
would eventually pay. And the proposal we have been attempting to
put forth to the regulatory people—and I believe Louisiana has done
it—is to allow a surcharge on the customers bills, and it is through
the surcharge that the capital would be raised to enable the distribu-
tion company to participate in the exploration activity. Now the sur-
charge is a two-way street and we think that this kind of participa-
tion by the distribution companies, by the consumer, is an effective
way for the consumers to participate. Not only in getting the gas,
but also in sharing in the rewards, if there are any rewards forth-
coming, in some successful activity. The provisions that we have been
working on would be a two-way street. Consumers pay the money
and thelr moneys are put into exploration activities, if their bidder
is successful, and the benefit flows through and follows the street
right back to the consumer. In this way the consumer is sharing in
the benefits because he is putting up the risk.

Senator JounsToN. I agree for the need to get more capital into the
exploration business.

Mr. Neumeyer, we appreciate your testimony. Thank you very
much, for being here.

Mr. Neumever. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Neumeyer follows:]
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TESTIMONY CF CHARLES L. NEUMEYER
CHALINAN OF FXECULIVE COHGITTEE
TED GAS DISTRIDUTONRS
BEFORE 4 JOINT SESSTON OF WHE
SENATE INTERIOR AND INSULAR ATFAIRS
AND SENATE COMMERCE COMMITIEES
APRIL 8, 1975

My name is Charles L. Neumeyex. I am Senior Vice
President of Tho Brooklyn Union Gas Company and Chairman of
the Lxecutive Committee of the Associated Gas Distributors
(AGD), on whose behalf I am here today. AGD is a group compoced
of the major Last Coast gas distribution companies, who provide
gas scrvice to approximately 11 million gas consumers in the

eastern portion of the United States. These eastern gas
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which are under consideration to amend the Quter Continenta
Shelf Lands Act. Any changes in that legislation which would
increase gas supplies to East Coast consuaers would be of in-
estimable help in providing adequate clean supplies of energy
at rcasonable costs to this region that has been seriously
affected by relatively recent changes in the United States
energy situation. .

The requirements of the gas distributors on the Atlantic

Seaboard are of a substantially rent nature thrm thnne of
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the country as a whole. Unlike other regions, industrial and
power plant sales of gas -- markets that often can also be
scerved by other fuels -- do not predominate. In 1973, the in-
dustrial and cleetric utility wexkets (for both {irm and intcr-
ruptible supplies) for the rest of the nation were about 60 por-
cent of total sales while for the East Coast they were only 40
percent.

Curtailments of gas deliveries by the major pipelines
serving AGD companics started as carly as 1971 when Transco,
the largest East Coast supplier, and Texas Eastern both announced
cutbacks in deliveries below the contract amount. By the Spring
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estimating a 43 percent curtailment and Texas Eastern 27 percent.
I am submitting for the record an cstimate prepared by

AGD of the supply demand requirements for the eastern states based
on thc‘projections of the Future Requirements Committee (FRC) of
Gas Industry Committee. In‘preparing this estimate of East Coast
requirements, we have reduced the FRC requirements for the East
Coast by one-half because gas shortages have already occurred and

have offccted East Coast consumers to a much greater extent than
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those in other states. As the attached toble shows, even at
this greatly reduced growth rate, there will be a yearly deficit
of 32.9 percent of gas for the East Coast consumers by 1980 unless
new supplics can be found. In future years the deficit will be
even larger -- 38.5 percent by 1985 and ncarly 50 percent by 1990,
On the basis of what has already happened, these estimates may
prove to be very optimistic and the shortages could be even more
severe than that projected.

The cconomic and other impacts of natural gas shortages
on the region and on consumers within it manifests itself in many
ways. First, if new gas supplies to meet these large deficits are
not found, the Tast Coast censumers will be forced to opoy an in

cres > price for

beczuvee the cepital chay on the §$10 Lillicn of dnves
1 )

transmission equipment and storage and distribution facilitics
will be spread over a diminishing amount of marketed gas so that
each cubic foot sold will pay a proportionally higher share of
thesce fixed charges. Second, these consumers who are forced to
switch will pay higher prices both for the new fuel they will use
and for the new equipment they must purchase to use these

other fuels. - Third, the unavailability of gas

will have a depressing effect on the gas consuming industries which

will eventually be translated into a reduced tax base and to increased
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uncmployment in the vepien. If alternative fuels are not available,
curtailed operations or cven a complete shutdown could occur and

the economic results could be severe, JYven if alternatives are
available, the higher costs involved and the higher averagcvprices
of fuels purchased by industry in the East compared to other regions
could result in régional shifts both in the industrial base and

in population. Finally, the shift toward other fuels that are
not as clean as natural gas, particularly for use in the resi-~
dential and swmall cowmercial markets, will increase the adverse
environmental effects in a region in which the pollution problem

is already more scvere than for other regions of the country.

- - 8 3 wivat oA reas s .
As n roeult of the crucial pac cupply

P S S S PR
SLCUGCRGHL KON wiie

Bact Coast and

Lmpacis thai

no group of consumens 1s moxe covncexnad

than those seived by AGD companies. We strongly cupport the efforts
of the Senate to modify the OQuter Continental Shelf Lands Act in’
such a way as to improve the near-term supplies of natural gas and
oil. Although AGD is most interested in the Atlantic offshore,
since any gas or oil found there will find a natural market in

the states in which AGD operates, we are convinced that improvements
in the 0CS Lands Act will also be of great benefit to the nation as

a whole. 1If oil and gas are found it could improve the nation's

balance of payments, enhance domestic security and provide desperately
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needed clean fucl supplies to those regions which are most
adversely affected by fuel shortages.

Industry and govermment now have had 22 ycars of experience
operating under the existing 0CS legislation and this experience
should be valuable in selecting the provisions of the new legislation.
The Bills that you are considering today contain many features that
the AGD companies believe will attain the_ dual objéctive of increasing
domestcic clean fuel supplics in an environmentally acceptable
way and increasing the competition for federal 0CS leases. As a
result AGD endorses the goals of these Bills and urges that the Dill
that is reported out contain the following provisions:

1. An oproria

tor the states that would he aff~gted

by 0CS developmenis to have a part in the decision making procegs.

1

ated states should be pessilbiie both in the soelection

Joput {fron inter

of tracts for leasing and in finalizing plans for development.

2. Because of the need for the states adjacent to the
0CS to participate in extensive plamning activities in connection
with 0CS development and to provide capital intensive onshore
facilities and the related infrastructure to support those faci-
lities, AGD strongly supports the concept of revenue sharing with

the states.
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mene

3. The legislation shouid provide the federal gov
and potential bidders as wuch resource information as possible
about the tract vhich is being offered for cale. 7This additional

resource information would pemnit the govexrnment to sel a more

realistic refusal price and would reduce the rigks to the bidders

since they would have a better understanding of the potential value
of the tract being offered. The Rills under considerafion have
provisions to permit the Secretary to either conduct or contract
for geophysical and other related yesovree asgescwent work. Ve
would also suggest that the Sceretary, as a condition for granting

a permit for seismic work on the 0CS, receive all seismic data

shered,

Ve urge that any new legislaotion pro

and funds Jow & styeng (ove WOSCUSGe gssesuaent capah

including drilling of stratigraphic wells offstructure. I should
cmphasize at this point the urgency of the nced for bette? and
more comprchensive publicly availlable data regarding the probable
extent and location of OCS resexves. As the gas shortage becomes
more and more acute, there is a growing need for those of us rec-
sponsible for mointaining gas service to make arrangements for
alternative supplies. The sooner we can learn more about the

reserves likely to be available from frontier areas such as the
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Atlantic Shelf, the better we will be able to plan for our long-term
supply commitments, either in that area or in others. We therefore
urge expedition in the "0CS Survey' authorized by S.521. Ve do
not beljeve it is appropriate, however, to assign or require
participation in exploratory, onstructure drilling to the federal
government. We believe that private énterprise should be given
the responsibilit& for exploratory drilling and that this apprcach’
would best serve the interest of carly development and production
of the recources,

4. A broader range of bidding or leasing methods sheould
be provided. ﬁnder existing law the Secretary may only use a cash

bonus bid with a fixed royality in excess of 12-1/2 percent or a

S BT PN
ihoa ALwed bonus, Leeses

royuliy 1

2 welatively
offercd on an experimentzal basis in the Cetiobox 1974 leare sele
in the Gulf of Mexico which Qsed royalty bidding, all leases have
been offered using the bonus bidding system with a fixed royalty
of 16-2/3 percent. ‘

The experiment with royalty bidding, which does not require
large "front end" expenditures, during the October 1974 lease sale
resulted in bids being received from a number of companies who had

not previously participated in OCS lease sales. In fact, the

51-748 O - 175 -5
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successiul bidders were largely companics other thon the wmajor
oil companies who now hold most of the 0CS leases.

Other Jlecasing methods are also available that reduce or
eliminate "front end" cxpenditurcs for the 1e§sc, and these would
permit participation in the exploration and development by the
largest numbesr of intevested parties. Not only would this increase
competition in lease sales, but it would permit those who are
responsible for providing essential utility gas services to con-
suners to be able to cngage in lease expleoraticn and development,

We believe it is ﬁarticularly important that the leasing
method be designed to enable gas companies-pipelines and distributons-

the

to narticinnte iy )
to particinate iy b, wa re

whrae
rhaose.

Cominedl iterior ba authorized and direcicd

to offen or sale wnder dif
bidding methods. TFor example, it should be made possible to offexr

a 50 percent undivided interest in agiven tract for lease to the
highest bonus bidder and a 50 percent undivided interest in the

same tract for lease on a net profit-sharing basis with a fixed
Aéash bonus, This "approach to the bidding would enable those without
large capital resources to take part in the exploration effort and

would preserve the competition and high government revenue yield

inherent in the bonus system. We think there are unique advantages
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in thié not-previsusly-considered approcch and that the Sceretany
should be given the option to employ it.
$.426 permits a much greater variety of leasing mcthods
than S.521, including both methods currently in use, the methods
provided in §.521 as well as a number of other leasing methods.
AGDH believes that giving the Secrctary the widest choice of leasing
methods would result in the most rapid development of the resources,

increase competition and permit the most efficient resource recovery.

Thece benefits would flow from the flewibility that the Secretary
wauld then have to select the leasing method that meets the most

pressing national goals, whether it be maximizing income to the

Treasuxy or accclex

e v«luy;:!{‘.nt «

5. whe Jepgislation should conts

n provisions that will

Lz owould t take place at the engmznse

asgure nnt

of the environment, AGD is in favor of cnactmeﬁt of strict en-
vironmental and safety regulations and the diligent enforcement

of these regulations in OCS operations. ’Bascd on our understanding
of 0CS operations, both $.426 and S$.521 should assure that the 0CS
development will take pliace with an absolute minimum risk to the

environment.
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6. The provisions of the new OCS Leasing Act should refl&ct
the enexgy supply situation that is expccted to exist in the future
in the United States. Indigenous gas has been in short supply for
about five years and there appears to be no way in wvhich supplies
of natural gas can be developéd that would meet the future reguire-
ments for this clean convenient fuel, zlthough the most promicing

arens to be cxplored are the frontier areas on the 0CS. Comscquently,

the existence of the gap between supply and demand ¥ ogas and
the potential for the O0CS to provide some relief should be an

important ccensideration in all decision making with regaxrd to the

0CS, with the policies being pursued that will serve to ming

gram Lorw

leasing pro

gas rosourees s ropidly oc po

Nowever, 005 gus prod
has almost no serious environmental implications and the 0CS Act
and the regulations for implementing it should be designed to
refleet this important difference hetween oil and gas prodgction.
We are providing for the record a number of other specific
comments, points of needed clarification and recommendations of

AGD with reference to the various sections of 5.426 and S$.521. We

believe these suggestions will aid in achieving the Bills' objectives.
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In closing, AGD wishes to applaud the efforts of the Scnate
Committees in pfeparing legislation which will increase domestic »
supplies of clean fuclﬁ, enhance competition of 0CS leases, provide
an improved resource assessment to the bidders and to the federal
government and will assure that the 0CS deveclopment takes place with
minimum environmental risks. With the modifications we have suggested,

we believe these important objectives can be attained.
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FORECAST SUPPLY-DEMAND BALANCE FOR VBASTERI STATES
_Requirements, Share of Domestic Froduction and Possible

Supplemental Sources
1973, 1920, 1%85 and 1990

(Volumes in Trillions of Cubic Feet at
1,000 Btu per Cubic Foot)

1973 1280 1985 1990

1. Regquirements? 2.87 3.13 3.43 3.80
2, Share of Domestic

Production’® 2.86 2.10 2.11 1.97
3, Balance to Be HMHet

by Supplenental

Sources (line 1-

line 2) 0.01 1.03 1.32 1.83
4. Percent of Balance

to Be—Met by Sup-

PlLemgiital dSources .

(line 3 + Yinc 1) * 32.9% 38.5% 48.2%

and, the castern portions of New Yor) and Pennsylvania,
ey, Delaware, Maryland, District of Columbia, Virginia,

North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia and Alabama.

Excluding field use.

Based on a declining share of domestic production available to

the Eastern States. The Bastern States' proportion started
declining in 1972 and the decline accelerated in 1973. We assume
the last year's rate of decline will continue to 1980 (from

1973's 13.6 percent to 10.6 percent) and will stabilize there:-

! Kew Lngl
New Jer
2
3
after.
y

Source: Pr

Less than 0.05 percent.

oject Independence and the Gas Distribution Industry,

Assoclated Gas Distributors, Washington, D.C. - July 1974.
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ASSOCIATED GAS DISTRIBUTORS

Atlanta Gas Light Company"

Bay State Gas Company, The Berkshire Gas Company, Boston Gas
Company, Bristol and Warren Gas Company, Cape Cod Gas Company,
City of Holyoke, Massachusetts,‘Gas and Electric Department,
City of Westfield Gas and ‘Electric Light Department, Common-
wealth Gas Company, Concord Natural Gas Corporation, The Con-
necticut Gas Company, Connecticut Natural Gas Corporation,
Fall River Gas Company, Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light
Company, Gas Service, Inc., The Hartford Electric Light Com-
pany, Haverhill Gas Company, Lawrence Gas Company, Lowell
Gas Company, Manchester Gas Company, New Bedford Gas and
Edison Light Company, North
Attleboro Gas Company, Northern Utilities, Inc., The Pequot
Gas Company, Providence Gas Company, South County Gas Company,
Southern Connecticut Gas Company, Tiverton Gas Company and
Valley Gas Company (jointly)

The Brooklyn Union Gas Company

Central Hudson Gas and Electric Corporation

Consolidated Edison Company or New York, 1Inc.

Llizabethtown Gas Company

Long Island Lighting Company

New Jersey Natural Gas Company

New York State Electric & Gas Corporation

North Carolina Natural Gas Corporation

Philadelphia Electric Company )

Philadelphia Gas Works

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.

Public Service Company of North Carolina, Inc.

Public Service Electric and Gas Company

Rochester Gas and Electric Corporation

UGI Corporation

Washington Gas Light Company
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APPENDIX TO STATEMENT OF
CHARLES NEUMEYER
. ON BEHALF OF THE
ASSOCIATED GAS DISTRIBUTORS

The following is a section by section analysis
of the principle portions of S.426 and S.521 setting forth

the AGD views and comments thereto.

Overall OCS Leasing Program

The S.521 proposal at Section 18 (page 6) and the
- 8.426 Section 18 (page 15), direct that the Outer Continental
Shelf Lands Act be amended to provide for the preparation of
an "Outer Continental Shelf ﬂnnﬂing Program.'" . AGD supports
this concept of establishing a 10 year leasing program in
which an overall plan for OCS leasing is established
taking into consideration the overall energy needs, an
assegssment of the natural resources underlying the OCS,
the environmental and social impact of the recovery of
the natural resources on the coastal states and an evaluation
of the resources so as to insure a fair return for public
resources.

The establishment of a 10 year leasing plan,
however, should in no way delay the orderly progression
of presently scheduled lease sales in the Gulf of Mexico
and the frontier areas such as the Atlantic offshore

area. The existing procedures for OCS operations provide.
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adequate safeguards for the environment and thus any delay
in the overall development of the OCS will only tend to
worsen the already criticai natural gas supply program.

We therefore recommend that a provision be added to Section
18 of $.521 to make clear that nothing there is intended
to delay the leasing of tracts presently scheduled to be

sold.

Federal OCS 0il and Gas Survey Program

Section 19 of $.521 authorizes and directs the
Seeretary of Interior to conduct a "survey program' to
provide information on the probable location and extent
of 0C5 oil and gas reserves. This jis a cfucial provision
in the bill; from the standpoint of the east coast gas
industry, it is essential that we be in a position to assess
the reserve potential of the Atlantic Shelf within reasonable
limits, as soon as possible. We therefore support this
provision and urge that it be strengthened (a) by inserting
the words and directed after "authorized" in Section 19(b),
line 16 of page 11, S.521 and (b) by inserting the following
sentence at thé conclusion of Section 19(d), line 18,

page 12 of S.521: In preparing this plan, the Secretary shall

give highest priority to survey and mapping of areas having

the least amount of exploration and development history.
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These provisions would serve to mandate the govermment's
direct involvement in any offstructure stratigraphic
drilling not undertaken by ﬁrivate ipdustry and would place
appropriate emphasis on the gatﬁering of information in
areas where relatively little resource data are now in

the public domain.

Authority of Coastal States

Both proposals (S.521 §210, page 40, S.426 §20,

page 27) grant specific authority to the Governors of the
"adjacent'" end states to delay the lessing of acreage
bordering their respective states. The bills would provide,
in general, that any leasing proposal would be submitted

to the Governors of the Coastal States and that tﬂey would
have the right, within certain limitations, to delay the
holding of the sale. Each bill includes language which

- requires prompt action an any request for withholding

lease sales aﬁd thus appear to proteét against undue
delays. §.521 seems preferable to S.426 because it contains
the right of appeal to the Maj;f Coastal Resources Appeals
Board by the Governor of a state that is aggrieved by any
action of the Secretary. This appeal procedure is

additional assurance of full consideration of the states'
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environmental concerns. We suggest the adoption of 5.521
with the following amendment taken from S.426: The
Secretary shall be required to submit the leasing plan to

the "governors of the affected coastal states and adjacent

coastal states."

Clarification of Scope of Development Plan

Section 18(b)(2) of the S.521 proposal should
be expanded to provide for.the consideration in the overall
0CS "leasing program' of,in addition to the factors set forth,
. the ultimate consumption of the reserves. <The term ultimate

consumption would be added at page 6, line 24 of S.521.

Amendments in Lease Term

$.521 (§203, page 35) provides for an allowance
of a primary lease term up to 10 years. This expansion of
the primary lease term from 5 to 10 years is opposed by AGD,
A?D recommends a pgpvision‘bé’added requiring that should the
Secretary deem it appropriate to provide for a 10-year primary
lease term, public hearings should be held in connectioh with

this matter.

Shut-in Wéll Reports

Both §.521 and §.426 at Sections 302 respectively,

provide for a review of shut-in or flare-in wells. This
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provision should be amended so as to require a report on
a semi-annual basis and that there be public disclosure

of any extensions granted beyond the primary lease term.

Coastal State Fund

Section 26(d) provides no ceiling on this fund
after the fiscal year 1977. Given the compensatory goals
of this fund, it would seem appropriate to continue the
fund with some reasonable ceiling on it in subsequent
years. Section 26(e) authorizes en appropriation of
$100 million but does not make clesr whether this amount
is in addition to the $2C0 million mentioned in Section

26(d).

Boundary Disputes

The U.S. Supreme Court has decided the U.S. v. Maine
et al. case in connection with the jurisdiction of the United
States on thé Outer Continental Shelf. AGD is aware of the
fact that there may be various boundary disputes among the
Coastal States and would requeét that the legislative
history of this Act reflect the Congressional intent and
that the individual boundary disputes among the states in
no way delay the development of the OCS area. AGD would
suggest that the escrow arrangements adopted in the State
of Lnﬁisiana, v. United States dispute be utilized pending a

final resolution of any boundary disputes.
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Bidding Systems Study

5303 of 5.426 and §28 of S5.521 direct the
Secretary of Interior to undertake a study of possible
amendments to the existing bidding system that would (1)
increase the number of competitors for offshore leases aﬁd
increase the supply to independents. We believe greater
emphasis is needed on the desirability of having a leasing
_ system in which gas companies can participate. AGD there-
fore recommends that item (3) in Section 28 be expanded

to read: measures to eacc entry of new competitors including

conpanics engsged primarily in the naiural eas business.
258 . )

Item (4) of this section should likewise be expanded to

read: measures to increase supply to independent refiners,

distributors and natural gas utilities.

Revisions to Leasing Methods

S.426 at §202 and S.521 at §203 relate to proposed
alternatives to the present fixed royalty and bonus bid
approachf AGD recommends that Section 202 of S.426 be
adopted in lieu of Section 203 of S$.521 as it would authorize
the Secretary to utilize a broader range of bidding
alternatives to the present fixed cash bonus system,
including such methods as net profit sharing and royalty

bidding. We also recommend that some specific criteria
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be included in the legislation to guide the Secretary's
choice of bidding methods. In AGD's judgﬁent, there should
be a provision which precludes exclusive reliance on the
cash bonus system of bidding. Such a provision would
free up capital needed in the exploration and developﬁent
effort and would ease the entry of gas companies in the
exploration activity, thus enhancing competition. The
specific provision we recommend would be inserted after the
“word "bidders'" in Section 202(a) of S.426 (line 21, page

8) and would read as follows: In selecting the bidding

wetliod o) weinods For a given lease sale, the Secretary

shall choose that method or methods most consistent with

(a) the efficient and early production of the nation's

resources and (b) a fair return to the U.S. Treasugzrand,

in no event, shall offer more than 50 percent of the leases

on the cash bonus, fixed royalty method.
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Senator JonnsToN. Our next witness will be Mr. Charles Marciante,
president of the New Jersey chapter of the AFL-CIO. We are very
glad to have, Mr. Marciante and look forward to your testimony.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES MARCIANTE, PRESIDENT, NEW JERSEY
STATE AFL-CIO

Mr. Marciante. I appear here as a representative of organized
labor to sort of point out some of the difficulties we have in New Jer-
sey and that being that 90 percent of the oil that we get into our
State comes to us by ship. Approximately 50 percent of that supply
comes to us from the Middle East. During the oil embargo last year
our State was subjected to a cutback, more so probably than any other
State in the United States. And with that cutback we had a loss of
plant operation and with plant operation of course the commensurate
loss of jobs. -

We have in New Jersey, at the present time, 11 percent unemploy-
ment. Part of that unemployment figure is due immediately to the
shortage of natural gas that we do not have in our State. Polls have
been taken with regard to the feeling of the citizens of New Jersey..
It has been found that many, the majority of these people are inter-
ested in and want offshore drilling. One of our great problems is that
we feel there is a real lack of interest on the part of the people here
in Washington. We have a great concern with regard to having an
immediate supply of energy available to us. We felt so strongly about
this that we were told that there would not be a decision on United
States v. Maine until June of this year. And we, our executive board
at our general council meeting adopted a resolution which is affixed
to the statement that you have in your hand. And that resolution
called for an immediate decision by the U.S. Supreme Court on the
expedition of the United States v. Maine. Now that resolution was
adopted on May 12 and sent off immediately from our meeting and
on the 15th the Court made a decision. We would like to believe that
that was because of our resolution, but we happen to know that the
President of the United States supposedly talked to the Supreme
Court and asked that they make an early disposition of the matter.

You gentlemen more than any of the more than 200 million other
Americans have the opportunity to seize the initiative away from
thie pressure we are being subjected to by the Middle East Sheiks.
You can do that by passing legislation that will bring home the bil-
lions of dollars that we are now exporting for high cost foreign oil,
bring jobs to workers in New Jersey and other coastal States and
bring more secure oil and natural gas to millions of American homes
and factories.

We are particularly concerned with bill S. 826 which is titled
“Coastal Zone Management Act Amendments.” Though there are
delay, detours, and most of the other bills as well, S. 826 as I read it
says that the exploratory and production drilling of offshore should
be prohibited until a coastal zone and management program has been
approved which should be as far away as mid-1977. That.is 2 years
from now, yes: and I must reemphasize that fact that we have a
great concern in our State for a supply of oil and natural gas.
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In our gas supply alone in New Jersey they have subjected to a
cutback because of the inability of Transco to get the supply into our
State. We were fortunately “saved” and I put saved in quotes be-
cause our power companies were able to bail out, T might say, the gas
companies by providing to them liquid nitro gas at a price of nearly
$5 per 1,000 cubic feet as opposed to the 52 cents they were paying
for the gas from Transco.

Senator Jounsron. $5¢

Mr. Marcrante. Nearly $5 for 1,000 cubic feet.

This has the tendency to greatly jeopardize the competitiveness of
the industries in our State, and that is why we feel the urgency of
providing us with the opportunity of the exploration of our coasts
to save these particular industries and the some 15,000 to 20,000 im-
mediate jobs connected with the gas industry.

Senator Jounston. Glass really cannot use any alternative fuel if
I understand it for most of the manufacturing process. It is pretty
well got to be natural gas?

Mr. MarcianTE. Yes; it is immediately, but they do have engines
that are being developed that can be used, that can be fired by
electricity.

Senator Jounsron. But when the glass comes out and you got to
keep it hot, that flame has got to be gas, does it not?

Mr. MarcianTe. In some stages, but they have found by using elec-
tricity they can also keep it at a flow point for putting into differ-
ent forms. But it is prohibitive and it would place them at a distinct
competitive disadvantage and they would have to really close the
operation.

The one thing that sort of disturbs us is the fact that they are pay-
ing $12 a barrel and our good friendly neighbors to the south in
Venezuela and other areas where we get our oil are charging us now
some $11.42 a barrel while the standard American price 1s still $5.50
or $6 a barrel. The thing that is most disturbing is that the cost that
we pay of $12 a barrel and using 6 million barrels of oil a day adds
up to $72 million a day in cost and if we go between now and 1982
when these rigs will hopefully be installed and fully operatable off-
shore, that comes to some 2,500 days, and that translates into a figure
of $180 billion on the cost that we will pay in a one-way flow of money
to the Middle East. And that kind of money from this country to
those bandits in my opinion is outrageous when we have right off our
shoreline these huge pools of crude oil and natural gas.

The United States Geological Survey estimates that there is more
oil and natural gas still to be found oft the coast than has been pro-
duced in the last 100 years or more. Specifically, I understand from
figures I read there is as much as 130 billion barrels of oil and 790
feet of natural gas waiting to be discovered and produced from the
Nation’s Outer Continental Shelf.

New Jersey is the most industrialized States in the Nation and we
are proud of that, but the declining production of oil and natural gas
from existing fields in the United States is a cause of exceptional
alarm in our State, whose vast industrial base depends on secure and
adequate supplies of oil and gas. New Jersey has, unfortunately, the
highest most persistent unemployment rate in the nation, 11 percent.
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We are distressed by that. Any shortages or curtailments in natural
gas and oil supplies can only make the unemployment rate grow
worse.

Senator JorxsToN. Wait a minute. You skipped over that part of
your statement that I thought was particularly good. I was sort of
waiting for you to read it. It is there on page 4.

Mr. Marciante. I will go over it. What section is that?

Senator Jor~sron. Well, the middle paragraph and the last para-
graph on page 4 T thought were very well done. ‘

Mr. MarciaxTe. In my judgment there is something weird about
proposals to put the Government into the business of oil and natural
gas just to find out whether any oil or gas that is found is needed.

- Senator Jorunston. Yes.

Mr. MarcianTe. Yes, I like that one too.

Senator Jounsron. Your first paragraph on page 5 is very good too.

Mr. Marciante. I like that one also. Do you want me to read it?

Senator JounsTon. Yes, read it.

Mr. Marciante. When was the tried and true concept repealed—
that the function of Government is to govern and the function of
private business and labor is to produce? When did it become a first
principle that someone with no experience in exploring for oil and
natural gas is getter able to do that job than an industry—through it’s
skilled workers—with more than 100 years of experience.

Senator Jorxsron. That is very good, Mr. Marciante.

I have read your entire statement and I must say I found it to be
outstanding and it is a message I think that needs to be told.

We talk about energey independence in this country, but the fact
of the matter is that we are not getting energy independent we are
getting dependent.

Mr. MarcianTe. Right.

Senator Jounston. We are about a million barrels a day further
in the hole than we were when the October War started. A million
barrels a day with all of this time to adjust and to find additional
sources and take steps to get energy independent. We are doing pre-
cisely the opposite, and much of the reason that you have detailed so
well is because we talk and we delay and we study and we say well
let us go out and get the Government and the drilling business to tell
us whether we need the oil. We know we need the oil and we need to
get on to the process of drilling, by environmentally sound methods
to be sure. But delay and environmental soundness are not neces-
sarily the same thing and usually work counterproductively with
one another.

I hope you will continue to tell your story, Mr. Marciante because
I think as I said, it needs telling. We need to get on with this busi-
ness of finding energy in a much more rapid way and in ways that
we know how to do it and that we can do without damage to the
environment.

I appreciate very much your testimony, Mr. Marciante. Your full
statement with all the good quotes will go into the record and I hope
will be read there as well as appreciated.

Mr. Marcrante. Thank you for the opportunity, sir.

Senator JounstoN. Thank you so much.

/[The prepared statement of Mr. Marciante follows:]

51-748 O - 75 -6
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STATEMENT
of
NEW JERSEY STATE AFL-CIO
before
JOINT COMMERCE & INTERIOR INSULAR AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
WASHINGTON, D.C.
APRIL 8, 1975

My name is Charles lMarciante, President of the New Jersey
State AFL-CIO. I appear here today as a representative of
organized labor in the State of New Jersey. But I believe
I can also express the views of the unvoiced--and often unheeded
-- feelings of many other New-Jersey residents outside the labor
movement. Increasingly, people in New Jersey are beginning to
see the question of offshore drilling more as a pocketbook issue
and less as a political issue.

For example, a recent poll by the Eagieton Institute of
Rutgers University found that 67% of New Jersey respondents
favo;ed offshore oil drillihq\as one way of increasing domestic
energy. sources, with 60% favéringﬁdrilling off the New Jersey
coast. More recently, the voters of Ventnor -- a cormunity near
the resort area of Atlantic City -- voted 3 to 2 in favor of
offshore drilling, in a non-binding referendum.

These public polls in support of offshore drilling should
be a clear message to each of us in this room -- a message from

the man in the street, the woman at the supermarket check-out

counter, and the worker behind the lathe. The message, as I read
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it, is concern about economic recovery, employment and a decent
way of life -- all of which can only be achieved through
sufficient, secure and reasonably priced energy supplies.

People in New Jersey are also becoming more frustrated with
the "Washington waffle” ~- the tendency down here to hesitate
to make the hard decision, to dilly, dally and delay. Above all,
people in New Jersey can count -- both the dwindling dollars in
their wallets and the months of inaction by government in
solving the nation's energy problem. We have attached to this
statement a copy of the resolution our Executive Board and
General Council recently adopted which indicates their concern
over this matter.

They know it's almost 48 months -- four long years -~
since the U.S. Senate resolved to develop a national fuels and
energy policy. We d& not yet have that policy.

They know it's been 18 months since the Arab cartel imposed
its embargo on oil to the United States. We are now as heavily
dependent on foreign oil as we were before the embargo was
imposed. The only thing that's changed is that foreign oil --
which cost less than U.S. produced oil before the embargo -~ now
costs more than twice as much as most of the oil procduced in this
country.

You gentlemen -~ more than any of the more than 200 million
other Americans -- have the opportunity to seize the initiative
away from the Middle East sheiks. You can do that by passing
legislation that will bring home the billions of dollars we are
now exporting for high-cost foreign oil, bring jobs to workers in

New Jersey and other coastal states, and bring more secure oil
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and natural gas to millions of American homes and factories.

You can do that simply by deleting the delaying mechanisms
in the various bills introduced for consideration at these
hearings.

I am particularly concerned with bill number S. 826 --
which is titled, "Coastal Zone Management Act Amendments" --
though there are delay detours in most of the other bills as
well. 5.826, as I read it, says that exploratory and production
drilling offshore should be prohibited until a coastal zone
management program has been approved, which chould be as far
away as mid-1977. Gentlemen, that's more than two years from
now, and would be nearly five years after passage of the
Coastal Zone Management Act itself.

Between now and then, we will be sending billions of
additicnal dollars con a one-way trip to the Middle East. And
that's only to take care of the cost to this country of the
red tape employed in S. 826 -- and other bills before you -- to
tie up cffshore drilling into legislative and regulatory knots.
Quite frankly, we cannot afford that luxury.

I am no expert on offshore exploration and production.

But I do know that it fakes anywhere from three to ten years

to bring in a new offshore c¢il or natural gas field to the point
where it's producing fully, even after the exploratory work has,
hopefully, been successful, Let's take an average of five years
as the time it would take to bring in this new o0il or natural
gas. That would then take us to mid-1982 -~ more than seven

years from now.
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You should recognize that every day we delay producing
0il from our own offshore areas in the Atlantic means we need
to import some six million barrels of oil from foreign sources —-
at an average cost of about $12 a barrel. If my arithmetic is
correct -- and I think it is -- that adds up to $72 million
a day. For the 2500 days between now and mid-1982, even if
our oil requirements do not increase by one barrel daily -- a
highly unlikely and undesirable hypothesis if we are to turn
around our economy -- we will have spent $180 billion on foreign
0il at current prices. $180 billion! That's about one-half
‘of the federal government's total budget for this year!

These are staggering sums of money for oil we need just to
keep the machines turning in this recessionary period. How
strange it is,_then, that another of the bills you are consider-
ing -- S§. 426 -- proposes that the federal government take over
control of offshore oil and gas exploration in the Atlantic
Ocean to determine, among other things, whether the oil that
may be out in the Atlantic is actually needed.

At $72 million a day in costs for foreign oil, and
$180 billion over a seven-year period, I can tell you that
offshore o0il is needed today!

In my judgment, there is something weird about proposals
to put the government into the busineés of exploring for oil
and natural gas just to find out whether any oil or gas that's
found is needed. It's like a worker saying he wants a certain
job -- he's never done before -- just so he can find out if

the product he'll be making is really needed.
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When was the tried and true concept repealed -- that the
function of government is to govern and the function of private
business and labor is to produce? When did it become a first
principle that someone with no experience in exploring for oil
and natural gas is better able to do that job than an industry --
through its skilled workeré -- with more than 100 years of
experience?

Returning to reality, the U.S. Geological Survey-estimates
that there is more oil and natural gas still to be found off our
coasts than has been produced in the United States in the last
100 years or more. Specifically, I understand from figures
I've read that there may be as much as 130 billion barrels of
oil and 790 trillion cubic feet of natural gas waiting to be
discovered and produced from the nation's Outer Continental Shelf.
A substantial part of that vast amount is thought to lie beneath
the ocean floor 30-40-50 miles beyond the shoreline of the
East Coast.

It's time we citizens and residents of the East Coast de-
clared our own energy independence, and put an end to both
our heavy dependence on foreign o0il and our substantial reliance
on oil and gas produced from the Louisiana and Texas offshore
areas.

New Jersey is the most industrialized state in the nation.
We're proud of that. But the declining production of oil
and natural gas from existing fields in the U.S is a cause of
exceptional alarm in our staﬁe, whose vast industrial base

depends on secure and adequate supplies of oil and gas.
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:;New Jersey has, unﬁortunately, the highest most persistant
unemployment rate in the nation (11%). We're distressed by
that. Any shortages or curtailments in natural gas and oil
supplies can only make the unemployment rate grow worse.

Thousands upon thousands of New Jersey workers and their
families should not be made to worfy and fret about their next
payday while endless congressional debate and delay develop
on the oil and natural gas offshore of the mid-Atlantic states.
For that oil and gas could assure New Jersey worke;s of the
power to keep the factories, plants and construction sites
operating, and to get other New Jersey residents off the
unemployment lines through the ancillary industries and
businesses that will come into being with the development and
assurance of offshore petroleum activities.

During the last Arab oil embargo this nation suffered a
$20 billion tax loss revenue thru the idling of industry aﬁd
construction. With the slow down was a commensurate loss of
jobs and income. Please don't subject us to a repeat thru delay
of getting the o0il and natural gas from the ocean shelf to
our refineries ashore.

In summary, the New Jersey AFL-CIO endorses and urges the
prompt and orderly development of the billions of barrels of oil
and trillions of cubic feet of natural gas that are.thought to
lie offshore in the Atlantic Ocean. We favor a program that

calls upon the federal government to share with states the
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billions of decllars of revenue that would come from leasing
offshore Atlantic areas and producing oil and gas from those
areas. And we endorse a program to establish one overall fund
to pay for any daméges that may result should an accidental
0il spill occur during offshore development.

Beyond that, the New Jersey AFL-CIO advocates that we put
an end to amendments to laws that are already on the books ~--
including the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972 -~ that will
work for the benefit of the states and their residents, if
these laws are allowed to work. We need not play the "which
came first, the chicken or the egg" game as regards development
of coastal zone management plans and develooment of the
much-needed offshore oil and gas supplies. We need to move
forward simultaneously and swiftly to initiate and implement
both goals -~ good sound management of the coastal zones;
secure, sizable, supplies of oil and gas from the Atlantic Outer
Continental Shelf.

You must begin to listen to the pulse of the workers
and their wives -~ as exemplified in the polls I menticned at
the beginning of my statement. You must not let that pulse
beat be drowned out any longer by the negative shouting of the
offshore drilling naysayers and doomsdayers. Toco much is at
stake -- the economic and diplomatic security of this nation,
and the jobs and well-being of countless numbers of American
workers.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Respectfully submitted,
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NEW JERSEY STATE AFL-CIO

MARCH 1975 - EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING

UNITED STATES v. MAINE

WHEREAS, our Nation is in the midét of an energy c#isis
of unparalleled proportions threatening the economic health
and welfare of every citizen, and

WHEREAS, the energy crisis is a prime determinant 'in
:the grim spectre of unemployment and inflation which presently
.pervades our land, and
. . WHEREAS, recent.evénts have conclusively demonstrated
this Country's vulnerability to economic disaster occasioned
by an increasing dependence'upon foreign energy sources, and

WHEREAS, the Congress and the President of the United
Statés have committed the Nation to the necessary goal of energy
#elf—sufficiency by 1985, and

WHEREAS, off-shore exploration and drilling for‘energy
sources is a vital and necessary component in. the struggle
to attain the goal of energy self~sﬁfficiency, and

WHEREAS , ghe goal of energy self-sufficiency is‘threatened
by a dispute which has arisen between the several Atlantic
Coastal Stateé and the United States regarding the paramount
right to natural resources in the seabed of the Atlantic outer
contihental.shelf, which dispute is presently'ﬁendiég before
the United States  Supreme Court in the case of'United States

~v. Maine, Docket No. 35 Orig.
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Néw, THEREFORE, .be it RESOLVED that the Executive _Boérd ’
of the New Jersey State AFL-CIO assembled this 12th day 9f:'
’ March, 1975 does hereby call upon Chief Justice Burger'and
.the Associate Justices of the Supreme Court to render an early,
expeditious and final determination of the issues.presented in

the United States v. Mainé.
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Senator JornsToN. That is all of the testimony for this morning,
except I understand Mr. Skelton is here. If he would like to testify,
would you like to go ahead? We will go ahead and take your testi-
mony before Iunch.

Mr. Daniel Skelton, the Society of Exploration Geophysicists.

STATEMENT OF DANIEL SKELTON, PRESIDENT, SOCIETY OF
EXPLORATION GEOPHYSICISTS

Mr. Skecron. I will highlight my statement also. You have my
entire statement there also, but I will highlight it.

I am J. Dan Skelton, president of the Society of Exploration Geo-
physicists, and T am speaking for them. The Society of Exploration
Geophysicists, or SEG, is a professional and scientific organization
of 9,000 geophysicists from 100 countries. Two-thirds of our members
reside in the United States. We have 24 affiliated sections, 20 of these
are in this country. I think it is most important to note for this hear-
ing our members are probably this countries’ main source and re-
source of manpower and technology which is needed for offshore
exploration. Twenty percent of our members are private geophysical
contractors, 20 percent with mining and engineering companies, and
20 percent hold academic and governmental positions.

I think it is interesting to note that nearly all of the geophysical
data gathered on the U.S. OCS is collected by the geophysical con-
tractors, while nearly all the management of the company and inter-
pretation of the data is by oil company geophysicists.

Now the SEG strongly endorses the objectives of the three main
bills being discussed in these hearings—S. 426, S. 521, and S. 740.
The purpose of these are to increase the production of oil and natural
gas in order to assure material prosperity and national security.

We are not going to testify on the areas outside the—rather out-
side of our technical expertise. We are a technical organization and
do not feel we can speak on coastal State and Federal regulations,
safety regulations, outside of geophysical exploration.

I should say that geophysics is clean. It does not hurt the environ-
ment at all. There are two matters in the bills, 426, 521, and 740,
which concern our profession. The first is an exploration by the Gov-
ernment and the second is the confidentiality of propriety geophysical
data. Let me speak specifically to Government exploration.

Present laws provide good incentives for private industry com-
mitment to a highly efficient and effective OCS exploration. For ex-
ample, since the first emergence of our current energy crisis in 1970,
the United States offshore geophysical exploration has been increased
four-fold. This illustrates the inherent effectievness of our competi-
tive free enterprise system and the incentives that the present regula-
tions are giving us to find massive amounts of oil and gas in the
offshore.
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However, exploration in the future frontier by some Federal Gov-
ernment agencles has proposed in all three of those bills would seri-
ously affect our profession. Most geophysical data interpretation is
done by oil company geophysicists as I mentioned. One claim that
worries our profession, it would appear that exploration by the Gov-
ernment would require transferring back numbers of geophysicists
from oil company employment to the Government payrokk
. Senator Jornston. Let me stop you right there if I may, Mr. Skel-
;onl. I have read your statement in full and it will go in the record in

ull,

You say that it will require a vast number of your professionals to
go into the Government employ. Do you have an estimate of what
kind of wages you pay or what kind of salaries you get?

Mr. Skerron. I Imagine we pay more than the Government does.

Senator JounsToN. Some of your top analysts, geophysicists for
the OCS?

Mr. SkerTon. This is very hard to say and I guess we do not keep
salaries in our society’s record and I think you can look in your jour-
nal and see that the starting salary for a starting graduate geophys-
icist is $12,000 or $15,000 and they go up to $30, $40, $50,000 for man-
agement positions.

Senator Jornston. Well, the kind of people who give the technical
data on which to base the decisions to drill or not to drill or further
drill or what have you, what kind of wages are we talking about for
those people?

Mr. SxerTON. Again, it is a personal guess.

Senator JouwnstoN. Right.

Mr. Sxecron. I would say from $25,000 to $30,000 is what an ex-
perienced, quite experienced, interpreter might make. Does that
answer your question?

Senator JorNsTON. Yes.

Mr. Skecrox. I may be low or high. T am not speaking for my
society because we are not in the wage business.

Senator Jounsron. Now, you say the Government should not get
into the business of exploring out there. Now T have heard the argu-
ment made that it takes about a year from the time that you invite
nominations to the time where you have your lease sale. That is about
the right time, is it not? :

Mr. Skevton. That is what it has been historically T think, I am
not sure, they are scientific and technical.

Senator Jorinston. You think it could be sped up a bit?

Mr. Skevron. I think it could be speeded up terrifically. I think
the time we call for nominations the contractors have made geophys-
ical surveys and are all ready to make the nominations. They must
have an idea of what they are interested in and have made inter-
pretations to concentrate, after the nominations, on to more detailed
exploration of those areas. It might come up.
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Senator Jounsron. Have you heard the proposals to drill strato-
graphic wells from the Atlantic OCA, two, I think, in each of the
major areas. How long would this take to do?

Mr. Skrrron. This would probably take—it would depend on the
area. One thing I would caution against is too much drilling without
© prior geophysics, because geophysics gives you an idea of where the
synclines are and some idea of the mythology and the pressuring and
the subsurface. So blind drilling can be dangerous without the proper
geophysics ahead of it.

Senator JorNsToN. In other words, you may hit high pressures?

Mr. SkerLron. You could have a blowout and the more knowledge
you have prior to the drilling, you do it more safely and do it more
effectively.

Senator Jor~srton. Is it your testimony that that is a significant
and real danger to have stratographic drilling just sort of done
right away?

Mr. Sgecrox. I think T would say so. I think the time—I do not
know, that would depend upon the areas. Some places drill fast and .
some drill slow. This is somewhere out of my expertise. I am not a
driller. Deep wells go from 6 months to 2 or 3 years to drill them.

Senator Jomxsron. I have heard said you can drill the strato-
graphic wells in a couple of months?

Mr. Skerron. In good sand shale drilling you can. If it is not too
deep maybe a 10,000-foot well probably can be done in 2 months.

Senator Jornston. Well the stratographic out there in the Atlantic
that is thought to be producing. Do you know how deep that is?

Mr. SkrrToN. I cannot comment on that, I am not familiar with
that side. And my formal business I am a data processer, not an inter-
preter, I am sorry. It is quite varied, I am sure from the North to the
South.

Senator Jounston. Would the stratographic wells be useful infor-
mation? Of how much use would they be?

Mr. SkerLron. They are always of some use as it has been said
earlier. You have to put the drilling there to find out exactly what is
there. Unfortunately, us geophysicists cannot tell you exactly.

I would remind you that one 3-inch hole, two 3-inch samples will
not give you much information. I think this is illustrated by the fact
that we do have 16 of those wells in the offshore Louisiana and we are
still finding major fields that we did not know were there. So I think
two luckily placed holes could show oil shale in Louisiana and we
might write 1t off. We might just drill in the wrong places. You have
to work in between and it takes a lot of drilling, lots of geophysics.
And it takes several cycles and several ideas to go at it.

Senator JounsTon. What do you say for the argument for those
who say we do not want to put the Government in exploration, we do
not want to put the Government in production. All we want to do is,
during this period of time where you have delay anyway, to go out
there and just put a couple of holes in the key areas. It would not
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cost too much money, and it would not delay matters at all. But it
will give us some useful information. It would not either condemn an
area or prove it up. But it will be useful information. What would
you have to say to that argument?

Mr. Skerron. Well, I cannot deny it would give some information.
I think it goes against our whole approach as the first step toward
government exploration and T think that is one thing we are strongly
opposed to. I think there have been group strat holes drilled by in-
dustry for this very purpose and therefore, they must be productive
to some extent. But they are still far from the total answer. I think
as I made a point in my statement having the USGS drilling a few
strat holes either in the structure or in the synclines in between it is
not going to evaluate an area as you would with the company diverse
approach with the people going out with many ideas testing their
concepts of the variations.in bidding shows the variability of the
drilling offshore. It is not simple, it is not simple layers where you
can drill here and be sure everything is the same thing everywhere
around it. As I am sure you are aware, you can drill close to a soft
dome hundreds of times and not come up with the well because it is
so subtlely located in the ground. In my statement. T also make the
point that in the Alberta basin—which is a prolific basin—33 holes
were drilled before we had the first oil there. Strat holes will give
vou the information, but they will not tell you what is in the bank
there.

Senator Jounsron. All right. You are concerned about public dis-
closure of propriety and geophysical data?

Mr. SkerToN. Right.

Senator JomnsTon. Your objections seem to be that this is property
and you force someone to give up his property ?

Mr. Skrrron. I am not a lawyer but it seems like it is property
and your ideas and your concepts are in that interpreted data, right?

Senator JornsToN. Right.

Mr. SkeLton. Much as patent is a person’s property, it is an idea
it is a concept.

Senator Jomnston. All right, is it sort of that objection on prin-
ciple that furnishes the basis of your objection or is it a practical
reason ?

Mr. Sgrerton. That plus economic factors, Senator. Geophysical
contractors will not go out and gather data to be sold to industry or
industry will not go out and get data for their own determination if
they know it is going to be disclosed publicly before it is going to be
used for the ends and means it was recorded.

Senator Jom~sToN. Suppose it just requires them to disclose the
information on an area they have a lease.

Mr. SkeLtown. I think they already have to in the present regula-
tions. What concerns us is a public disclosure of it.

Senator Jounston. What is wrong with it ¢

Mr. SkeLTON. Pardon me, maybe I misunderstand you.

Senator JornsTon. On the area as soon as they get a lease they
have to disclose it publicly. What is wrong with that?
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Mr. Skerron. Well, you would be forcing, if that lease contained
the structure perfectly and wholly so that then they had to look into
the future development, very often the information on that lease very
dramatically affects what is going to be happening on many of these
leases and the adjacent leases nearby.

Senator Jornston. Right, but the reason not to require it as you
said was because private enterprise would not pay for it but if they
had the interest in developing their own lease and you know they are
going to do it anyway, why not require the public disclosure of it
since the guy who might get the adjacent lease might bid more for
it once he is in possession of the information. Do you follow what I
am saying ?

Mr. SkerTon. I am not quite sure that I do.

Senator Jounston. We started off with a proposition that you
should not require disclosure because people would not go to the ex-
pense of getting this information paying for these opinions if it had
to be disclosed publicly. But I say suppose you required them to dis-
close it publicly only where they had a lease and you say well, the
data might be useful information to the adjacent lease.

Mr. SkertoN. Right. You have to look at the whole framework.

Senator Jounston. It would be useful to the adjacent leasee? But
you would also have the interest of the initial leasee in developing
that information so you would not be discouraging him from develop-
ing the data. You would simply make it useful data to the adjacent
lessee’s, is that right?

Mr. Skerron. I do not think that is right and this is data just like
the data in the adjacent lease. If the company gathers that data and
has those ideas and interprets that data, it seems like that is his prop-
erty and as soon as the data on the lease——

Senator JounsTton. But if you can over that hurdle on principle.

Mr. Skevron. I have a hard time with it.

Senator Jomnstox. I am with Mr. Marciante about the need to
develop these things as fast as we can, if we can, off some of these
principles.

Mr. Skerton. The fact we disclosed data to the USGS does insure
the development of the USGS and Interior development is in pos-
session of basic data.

Senator Jouxston. Suppose you lease the entire structure state-
ment. Would that take care of your objection

Mr. SkerTon. I think that would go a long way of taking care of
it, yes, because then you have it locked in and the data is still as of
much economic value to the people who gathered it. On the first
lease, on to the second lease and I am trying to preserve their invest-
ment. Many times we will make case history disclosures in our tech-
nical journals when we have got the field explored and drilled. At
certain times it becomes no longer proprietary. We want to keep the
proprietary data, confidential.

Senator JounsToNn. Mr. Skelton, we appreciate your testimony very
much. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Skelton follows:]
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Statement of J. Dan Skelton

April 8, 1975

Mr. Chairman and Honorable Members of the Senate Committees on Interior and
Insular Affairs and Commerce. | appreciate the opportunity to appear before you

to discuss the important issues involved in these hearings.

| am J. Dan Skelton, President of the Society of Exploration Geophysicists. The
Society of Exploration Geophysicists, or SEG, is a professional and scienfifi.c
organization of 9,000 geophysicists from 100 countries. Two-thirds of our members
reside in the United States. We have 24 affiliated sections, 20 of these are in this

country.

Members of the SEG carry out, worldwide, $1 billion of geophysical exploration
annually. Forty percent of this effort is in the United States. Two-thirds of our
work in this country concerns the highly important offshore areas. Qur members
are this country's main manpower onfi technology resource so vital in our se;lrch

~ for new energy sources.

Qur Sociery.is the primary international professional organization of geophysicists.
Geophysical exploration involves the examination and measurement of the earth's

* structure and composition in the search for minerals and energy. In carrying out
this work, the full scope of physical sciences is involved, and our members have
technicol expertise ranging from geology to physics, mathematics, and most branches
of engineering. Forty percent of our membership are associated with petroleum
companies, 20 percent with private geophysical contractors, 20 percent with mining

and engineering companies, and 20 percent hold academic and governmental positions.

51-748 O - 75 - 7
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Statement -2~ April 8, 1975

Nearly all of the geophysical data gathered on the U.S. OCS is collected by the
geophysical contractors, while nearly all the management of the surveys and

interpretation of the data is by oil company geophysicists.

Let me begin by saying that the SEG strongly endorses the objectives of the three
main bills being discussed in these hearings--5-426, S-521, and 5-740. Section 102
of S-521 summarizes these goals:
"The erposes of this act are to increase the production of oil and
natural gos in order to assure material prosperity and national
security, reduce dependence on unreliable foreign sources, and
assist in maintaining a favorable balance of payments;"”

We agree with these fine objectives.

N

Because of our rather specialized technical expertise, it would not be appropriate for
the SEG to comment on many facets of the bills under consideration such as environ-
mental problems, Coastal States/Federal relations, safety regulations, leasing
economics, efc. However, since ge0physi;:a| methods are the primary exploration
tools for the offshore, it is appropriate that we comment on portions of the proposed

bills touching on geophysical exploration.

A study of $-426, 5-521, and 5-740 reveals two matters of concern to our profession.

The first is exploration by the government, and the second is the confidentiality of

proprietary geophysical data.
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Statement -3- April 8, 1975

GOVERNMENT EXPLORATION

Current laws and regulations provide for competitive private industry exploration
for oil and gas in the OCS. This private enterprise_approach has served our country
well and mossive petroleum reserves have been found in those regions we have been

1
allowed to explore. Present laws provide good incentives for private industry
commitment to a highly efficient and effective QCS e)gploroﬁon. For example,
since the first emergence of our current energy crisis in 1970, United States offshore
geophysical exploration has increased fourfold. Last year private industry collected
an all-time record of 550,000 miles of geophysical dafa. Two-thirds was in offshore
areas. Furthermore, petroleum companies and geophysical contractors have conducted
some 80,000 miles of exploration off the U.S. East Coast and some 75,000 miles in the
Gulf of Alaska preparing for future OCS sales. Such statistics attest to the effective-

ness of current incentives for OCS exploration. They illustrate the inherent effective~

ness of our competitive free-enterprise system.

On the other hand, 5-426, $S-521, and $-740 all propose the e‘xploral'ion of future
frontier OCS areos by some arm of the Federal Government. Such action would
seriously affect the geophysical professio;l. As indicated chove, most geophysical
data interpretation is done by oil company geophysicists, even though most data
collection is by contractors. It would appear that exploration by the government
would require transferring vast numbers of geophysicists from oif company employment

to the government payroll. This is neither desirable nor practical.
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Statement -4 Aprii 8, 1975

More importantly, we do not believe the assignment of OCS exploration to a single
government agency or even a single private company will achieve the objectives of
expeditious and complete exploration of the Quter Continental Shelf. No single
group, company, or government unit has all the technology and the diversity of

ideas required to effectively detect the hidden oil and gas in the OCS. The variable,
subtle, and complex nature of petroleum occurrence requires a multiple-idea approach.
Diverse technology and strategy is necessary to comprehensively explore a new area.
Under the present system many companies and many contractors approach the explora-
tion of a particular area, each in a different manner. A more effective and thorough

" petroleum search inherently results.

The multi~company, diverse idea approach to exploration is graphically evidenced by
the wide variance in past bidding in OCS lease sales. Different companies have

different ideas, and therefore, evaluate their bids differently.

The approach of using the USGS, as suggested in $-426 and S-521, to conduct o
brief period of geophysical exploration followed by a limited number of test wells
on large features will not effécfively evaluate a frontier area. This is evident from
the continuing discovery of major new petroleum reserves in the mature Gulf of
Mexico, even though hundreds of thousands of miles of geophysical survey have

been made and over 16,000 exploratory wells have been drilled.

OCS exploration by a single government agency will, of necessity, be dedicated to a
narrow course of action limited by narrow concepts and technical approaches. A

single government agency exploration program will find reserves more slowly and less
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completely than will a multi-company, diverse approach. The time and cost necessary
to duplicate the many large exploration teams of experienced geophysicists and
geologists now effectively working in private industry will limit any government effort,
Certainly geophysical exploration ocﬁv.ity and technology can expand more readily

from this base in private industry.

Government actions are inherently slow and inflexible. The diversity of ideas and
methods of coping with the uncertainty and with the unexpected needed in exploration
are not compatible with government regulations and inflexible planning or frequent
audits and detailed accountability. A government agency environment is just not
conducive to a fast-changing, uncertain business such as petroleum e)éplorofion. This
is demonstrated by the fact that 133 dry holes were drilled in the Alberta Basin prior
to discovery of the Leduc field. It is difficult to visualize a federal bureau being able
to have this type of required persistency in face of the inevitable close scrutiny of

Congress. Locating wildcat wells is just too much of a gamble.

We can look at the Soviet Unién to see the ultimate results of exclusive government
exploration. Statistics show that United States geophysical crews can gather data
eight times more efficiently than can USSR crews, It takes the Soviets eight times
more manpower to survey a mile of line as it does a free-world crew. Furthermore,
as a result of our free enterprise technical atmosphere, free-world geophysicists have
developed virtually all the new exploration technology used by the free world and by

the government-controlled Soviets.
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Certainly geophysical exploration activity and technology will expand more readily

in a private industry environment.
The second area of concern to our Society is:

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF PROPRIETARY GEQPHYSICAL DATA

The confidentiality of proprietary geophysical data is the only protection for the extensive
capital investment made by private industry to acquire such data, In order to encourage
industry to maoke geophysical exploration commitments, the proprietary nature of such
data must be protected by stringent, concise regulations. Otherwise, private sector data
acquisition will nof be conducted if subject to possible publication or distribution. The
consequence of this will be a very marked slowdown of vitally needed geophysicaj data

collection by industry contractors and petroleum companies.

Both $-426 and 5-521 would require private companies to furnish the government with
copies of all geophysical data taken in the OCS. Section 11 of 5-426 reads:
"....require the permittee to furnish the Secretary with copies of
all data (including geological, geophysical, and geochemical data,
well logs, and drill core analyses) obtained during such exploration.”
No assurance is given that proprietary data will be kept confidential. The exploring

company actually owns its proprietary data as it would a piece of real property. Firm

guarantees are needed to prevent its loss by public disclosure.
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Section 19 (h) of 5~521 states that lease holders:
"....shall provide the Secretary with any existing data (excluding

interpretation of such data) about the oil or gas resources in the

area subject to the lease. The Secretary shall maintain the

confidentiality of all proprietary data or information until such

time as he deems that public availability of such proprietary data

or information would not damage the competitive position of the

lessee.”
This statement has two troublesome points. First, it is extremely difficult to distinguish
"interpreted data" from other data collected. Virtually all data, except for the raw
data originally recorded, has some degree of “interpretation" in it. Second,
proprietary data submitted to the government may be publicly disclosed in a unilateral

action by the Secretary of the Interior. The real owner of the data evidently has no

say=so in the decision to release,

On the other hand, some statements in the bills clearly respect the confidentiality of
industry's private data, For example in $S-426, Section 19 (d) the statement is made:
"....the Secretary shall maintain the confidentiality of all proprietary

data or information purchased from commercial sources while not

under contract with the United States Government for such a period

of time as is agreed to by the parties."
Section 18 (i) of S~521 has an almost identical statement regarding confidentiality of
government purchased commercial data. Fortunately, these statements respect the
basic ownership of purchased data from private commercial sources. We would hope
that in any bills passed, similar sanctity of proprietary data confidentiality would be

clearly guaranteed for all other data which we may be required to submit to the

Government under the proposed bilis.
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CONCLUSIONS
The implementation of the sections of the bills under consideration which authorize
government exploration in the OCS and which do not clearly protect the confidentiality
of proprietary data will:
| 1. Seriously delay the development of petroleum reserves in the OCS.
2. Reduce the amount of oil ‘and gas ultimately found in frontier OCS
areas,
3. Remove incentives for continuation of a strong U.S.A., geophysical
P indush"y with the aﬂerzaonf retarding of technical advancements in

geophysical exploration that have been provided by our profession.

The SEG, therefore, respectfully urges the modification of the bills under consideration
to eliminate government exploration and proprietary data disclosure. Instead, strong
incentives for private sector exploration should be provided, thereby facilitating an

efficient, timely exploration of our nation's offshore petroleum reserves.
: y exp pe

Thank you again for allowing me to participate in these hearings, The Society of
Exploration Geophysicists is willing and ready to assist your Committees and their

staffs in areas of our technical expertise,
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Senator Joruxston. The committee will commence at 2 p.m. and we
will hear, at that time, from Mr. Murphy from Murphy Oil Cor-
poration. We will recess until 2 p.m.

[Whereupon a recess was taken, to reconvene at 2 p.m.]

AFTERNOON SESSION

Senator Haskerr [presiding]. The hearing on the Outer Con-
tinental Shelf Lands Act Amendments, and related Coastal Zone
Management Acts Amendment will reconvene.

The first witness is Mr. Charles Murphy, Chairman of the Board,
Murphy Oil Corporation, and Member of the Board of the American
Petroleum Institute, testifying on behalf of API.

Mr. Murphy.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES H. MURPHY, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD,
MURPHY OIL CORP., AND MEMBER OF THE BOARD, AMERICAN
PETROLEUM INSTITUTE, ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN PETRO-
LEUM INSTITUTE

Mr. Mureay. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am pleased to be here
today, Mr. Chairman. I am representing the American Petroleum
Institute, which, as you know, is a trade association encompassing
everyone from small operators to the very largest firms.

Now, we acknowledge the questions in your letter from your Chair-
man, and we will be dealing with them in the course of this testimony,
but for your convenience, we have attached some more specific re-
sponses, just to shorten your proceedings.

We realize that you have already heard a great deal of testimony
and that you have been carrying on these hearings for a great while
and perhaps I can serve your purpose best today by offering an over-
view from my perspective and that of the American Petroleum
Institute.

It might, however, be a good idea to set forth what obviously is a
mutual objective of the Congress and the petroleum industry and the
public, and that is to reduce our dependence on foreign oil, and we
share the concern that comes through loud and clear in the stated
purpose of these bills, that we have got to get on with the job of lo-
cating the resources on the Continental Shelf, and we have got to do
it, of course, while protecting the priceless environment.

And we certainly acknowledge that the coastal States, who will
largely be the beneficiaries of industrial development here, should
be heard from.

Yet we need to be very keenly aware, Mr. Chairman, that with these
objectives, the public interest is best going to be served if we shorten
the time required to do the job, and without making, without adopt-
ing a haste-makes-waste approach at all. That is the way we are
going to serve the public interest.

Now, certainly all of this is unarguable. The real question is what
is the best way to get there from here. We need to look very care-
fully to the effects that the bills before you are going to have on at-
taining this overall objective. So, we would like to consider with you
three broad areas.
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The delay mechanisms that are built into this legislation, and the
calls for an active Federal role, in exploration of the OCS, and,
lastly, revenue sharing.

Now, it is of vital importance that this Joint Committee under the
potential consequences of the delay mechanisms that we think are
inherent in the legislation as it stands now, it is going to have an
eﬁ”eict on consumers, taxpayers, and workers in a word to the country
at large.

Now, what is the price of that delay? For a number of years, this
country has consumed more oil and gas than we can find. But this
has not always been the case. Until 1967, the oil component of our
energy mix was made up, as it were, in three streams.

First, a broad stream from the materially developed interior of
the lower 48 States. Next, a smaller stream of imports, and third, a
growing rivulet from our Outer Continental Shelf.

Now, the first of these not only was the largest, but it stemmed
from a resource base sufficiently developed to provide a backup
capacity, should either the import stream be throttled back, or should
the growing rivulet from our OCS be subjected to delays for any
reason. This was the optimum posture.

But strictures of both kinds did occur, and they occurred almost
concurrently.

We had a 6-day war in 1967, which closed the Suez Canal and the
1969 moratorium on Santa Barbara, for reasons thought sufficient
at the time. I am not arguing whether the delay should have oc-
curred, but the fact is that they did occur.

The North Slope was held up by the controversy over the pipe-
line in the early 1970’s. A couple of spectacular spills in the Gulf,
which did no permanent damage, did cause the Department of In-
t(;;ior to defer to the public outcry, and a moratorium was put in
eftect,

And last of all, the Yom Kippur War and the subsequent Arab oil
embargo.

Today backup capacity is gone. Now, consider in retrospect, if you
will, what might have happened when the Arabs imposed the em-
bargo, had the Alaska field been developed at that time and had the
pipeline been in service, would the OPEC cartel been as successful
as they were in raising their price?

Now, I do not pretend to know the precise answer. No one does.
But T firmly believe that we could better have resisted it, the price
increase, and forestalled at least part of it.

You see, this is a 45-million-barrel-a-day free world market, and
1 million or 2 million barrels a day at the margin can have a pro-
found effect on the market, and that 1 or 2 million barrels a day from
Alaska was not available.

I mention this to emphasize the delay simply is not without its
costs. Tt does have a price, and this Nation is paying it right now.
You can be sure that the OPEC cartel is carefully watching our
actions.

My company and many others are engaged with negotiations with
OPEC nations right now, and we can plainly discern that they are
very carefully observing the actions that our own Government is
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taking in all of these matters, and any move in the Congress or on the
part of the administration to hold back the development of our re-
sources, does nothing but strengthen the bargaining power of the
OPEC cartel.

So we are under observation here at this moment.

Now, as I said earlier, our backup capacity on the lower 48 is gone.
And, as a matter of fact, our production is declining at about one-half
of a million barrels per day per year. Now, this could, if production
declined further, simply compound the problem.

Let me interject here a thought that might be helpful to you in
your deliberations. We at the present time are getting about 17 per-
cent of all of the oil and natural gas from wells in the Gulf of Mex-
ico, 17 percent.

Now, let us look at what that production means to the consumer
and worker just right here on the gulf coast. Now, members of the
committee are from all over the country, but temporarily, you are
residents of Washington, almost prisoners, here. So you see, the east
coast, and let us think only about it.

Now, we cannot account for every single barrel. No one can in this
vast and complicated supply system that we have in the country.
But on the average, out of every 6 barrels of gasoline—or gallons of
gasoline—let us think as a consumer, and 1 out of 3 cubic feet of
natural gas that are burned at a housewife’s stove, comes from off-
shore Louisiana and Texas.

Now my point is simply this. Much of the area already leased in
the Gulf of Mexico has been explored, has been developed, and it is
already in production. Now, we are carrying on a continuing effort
in the gulf to find more oil, but production in many of those tracts
is already declining and we think that probably the largest and
most obvious fields in the Gulf of Mexico, certainly out to the 400- or
500-foot water depth, have already been found, and we simply cannot
see where the new oil is going to come from, except from the frontier
areas of the Outer Continental Shelf and from Alaska.

We simply cannot see it. Perhaps we are blind, but we do not
know any place else within our Nation where we are likely to find
oil and gas in quantities that our economy requires.

So let us return, if we may, to this question of delays that could
result from the legislation that is before your committee, and let us
examine what it might mean in the terms of cost to our country.

First, granting the States, themselves, the power to delay OCS
development. There are several proposals in your legislation here
that would grant the coastal States, the governors, the power to delay
for up to 3 years exploration of their coasts.

Now, this is subject to stipulated review procedures, to be sure,
but I submit, gentlemen, that to grant a State or any lesser political
jurisdiction this power, the power to delay the orderly development
process, is inconsistent with the interests of the Nation as a whole,
however reasonable their position may seem from a purely parochial
point of view.

We are thinking of the national interest here, and I might add that
the granting of such a power was not even considered in connection
with the 17 percent of the domestic production now coming from off-
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shore Louisiana and Texas. And isn’t it a bit inconsistent to sug-
gest that a different set of rules be applied now?

What would happen, for example, if Texas and Louisiana were
to request that further production be delayed in order to assess the
full impact to their coastal areas? What posture would we be in
right here on the eastern seaboard today with that position suddenly
taken by Governor Edwards of Louisiana and Governor Briscoe of
Texas?

Now, let us look at the potential effects of the 3-year delay in terms
of the economic impact it would have on the balance of payments.

For discussion’s sake, we might assume that the incremental pro-
duction of 100,000 barrels a day is delayed for a year because of each
State’s objections. Now, this translates into, it almost follows, by def-
inition into a 100,000 barrels a day of imported oil.

Now, if we also assume that the cost of OPEC oil holds firm for
3 vears, by a simple multiplication, it tells us that the impact of this
delay would amount to over $1.3 billion of additional funds flowing
out.

Now, this means a transfer—a massive transfer of wealth from our
society to theirs. Now, I do not imply that the OPEC price is going
to stay the same. They do not know themselves. This is a cartel. They
are not immune to the forces that traditionally destroy cartels. Ad-
mittedly, they are governments and they are more likely to be re-
sistent to these centrifugal forces that destroy cartels but they are
not immune and they know it. The important thing is that we sim-
ply have to be able to make our own decisions in this country and
the consequences of the delay is just as I have spelled it out here
in simplistic terms. I admit it is an oversimplification. Nevertheless,
the loss of those funds would be inaddition to those spent on in-
creased dependence on imports because of increased demand over cur-
rent projects and this sort of thing. Of course this would pull down
our proven reserves at a faster rate. :

Now we recognize that the Governor’s power to delay OCS develop-
ment could be procedurally limited under the legislation, and it ap-
pears to be reasonable on its face. The Secretary of the Interior and
the National Coastal Resources Appeals Board, after a specified
period of deliberation, have the power to overrule the Governer
completely, or to shorten his period, or they might agree with him.
And on the face of that it would appear reasonable and it would
seem the BLM would be allowed to go ahead. But the practical pol-
itics of the thing very likely would be that if a Governor is faced
with a highly organized and well orchestrated campaign by a minor-
ity group in a coastal State, it would be very difficult for the Secre-
tary and the coastal zone management fully to resist that pressure be-
cause as a practical matter we have seen that kind of pressure in
Santa Barbara and we saw it in Louisiana and in Mississippi after
the two spills in 1970 so we think that those provisions, reasonable
enough on their face, do have seeds of extremely serious delay writ-
ten between every line. And then there are the delays that are pro-
posed until environmental protection is perfected.
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Now, I submit, gentlemen, that the record abundantly demonstrates
that environmental protection can be assured and it can be accom-
plished while orderly development is proceeding. Now, here is a seven
column article from the Washington Post of a few weeks ago. I will
find it in a minute. It quotes a Mr. Nick Fornaro who is the head of
the AFL-CIO in the State of Maryland. He is a Baltimore steel-
worker. '

He said:

Anything that is going to produce work I am for it. What good are all these
seagulls on the Eastern shore if people don’t have jobs?

Well, I think anybody in this room, as we are rising toward 9 per-
cent unemployment, if really forced to make the hard decision be-
tween gulls and jobs, would take the jobs. But we do have to make
that choice. We can have the gulls, and the jobs. Our experience in
the Gulf of Mexico and in the North Sea, clearly demonstrates that
offshore activity is needed compatible with the wildlife itself and it
is compatible with commercial and sport fisheries.

Now, over 15,000 wells have been drilled in the Gulf of Mexico.
There have been major spills there. But not one of these, and for
that matter not even a highly publicized spill in Santa Barbara, has
given any evidence of permanent ecological damage. Now for fish-
ing, a look at the National Marine Fisheries service records is reveal-
ing in this case and, of course these are (Government statistics, it shows
that the commercial catch in the gulf in both tonnage and value has
risen is then markedly over the past 20 years. Now we do not make
any claim that we are responsible for the increase. Rather that it was
unaffected one way or the other. There is evidence that the sport
fishing has actually benefited from the offshore platforms because a
biological cycle begins to take place there.

Now some of the environmentalists and ecologists say, “Well all
right, but the gulf is a warm water sea and the east coast is a cold
water sea.” So the American Petroleum Institute, under a committee
that I have the honor to chair is taking the national leaders in the
environmental movement at the end of May to the North Sea to
demonstrate to them and let them see with their own eyes in a deep
cold water sea that the oil activity is just as compatible with wildlife
and commercial fishing as in the Gulf of Mexico. The big objection
there is not to the activity. They are simply having their own argu-
ment that would remind you gentlemen of the suits that the Gov-
ernors have filed against the Federal Government. Scotland is now
saying, “we want the oil development, but we think it is Scotland’s,
we do not think it belongs to the United Kingdom.” As a matter of
fact the Scottish Nationalist Party elected about 10 additional mem-
bers to the Parliament in the last election. This is State’s rights all
over again.

So, I would like then to point out that all of these operations in the
OCS from preliminary seismic surface on through exploration drill-
ing, development drilling and into production and movement of the
oil from the platforms into shore are continually monitored now by
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various Federal authorities and we are submitting to these regula-
tions cheerfully. We are cooperating in every respect and we greatly
doubt whether any more power is needed there because we have never
seen any lack of authority on the part of several responsible Govern-
ment agencies and certainly no hesitation on their part to evoke their
authority. In fact, advanced technology that we Americans have de-
veloped, is responsible for the development around the world. This
is American technology and it is American technology that is pretty
well carrying on development all over the world now.

So there simply is no reasonable justification for delaying explora-
tion and development of our OCS frontier areas on the grounds that
more time is needed to perfect their knowledge. Industry has proved
its ability to develop these resources and to make further advances
in technology simultaneously. I am speaking of such things as sea
floor well completions and that sort of thing. And the thecretical base
line studies and the resource development can be conducted simul-
taneously in our offshore areas.

So we suggest to you that it is in the best interest to the consumer,
the taxpayer, the worker, if the Congress, in its wisdom, build on
these accomplishments rather than putting yet another delaying
blanket on OCS exploration. And then the third possible delay, and
this is a most serious one in our view, is the proposal that strategic
energy reserves be established. I am truly dismayed by this one by
the moratorium on leasing by the requirement we block out strategic
reserves.

Now possibly our experience with the naval petroleum reserves
would be instructive at this point. One of them, in Wyoming, is a
small one that the Navy produced, as a practical matter, from day
to day. Another, Elk Hills, is sizable but the Navy could not or at
least did not make any important use of it in World War II, the
Korean conflict or the Southeast Asian war. Nor was it used during
the 1973-74 Arab embargo a year or so ago. NPR~4 on the north
slope was and remains today simply an exciting exploration idea.

Now, my point is this: while they are called naval reserves, they
have been utterly useless to the Navy or to anyone else during 50
years of war and peace. So can we expect that naming a prime area
of the OCS a “strategic reserve,” with or without exploring it, and
blocking it off maps would make it so?

The ability to make practical use of these resources depends on
thorough exploration. And it will take many years. Now those who
advocate this type of strategic reserve fail to recognize the long lead
time necessary between exploration and full production from the oil
that is found. Nor do they understand the need for those resources
to be continually flowing into the economy of the country. The only
useful strategic reserve is oil that is produced and placed in storage
which I will try to develop in a minute.

All of the major consuming nations of the Free World, except the
United States, have petroleum emergency storage programs. Their
experience, as well as most private and public studies clearly demon-
strate that storage of produced oil, not shut-in reserves of unexplored
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structures, is the only logical and practical approach. This varies
from country to country. Sweden has one of the most sophisticated,
but its storage of the o1l itself is either in caverns or in assembly of
petroleum depots that gives us the practical effect.

Lastly, there are delays built in here through citizens suits. It is
understandable and desirable that any person who is directly affected .
by OCS activities have proper recourse if they sustain any damage.
But they have that recourse now. However, to throw the door open
to some self-appointed advocate of the public interest is to guarantee
nondevelopment, not to speak of the administrative, judicial and
economic costs that will be paid for by the taxpaying consumer. And
I for one believe that the public should be represented not by self-
appointed persons, but by duly constituted public authority. Now if
we may, let us turn to the oil compensation effect.

Mr. Haskerr. Do you think it would be possible, Mr. Murphy, we
have three more witnesses after you, to hit the highlights and submit
your full statement for the record?

Mr. Murery. Surely. As far as the compensation fund, I will sim-
ply say, Senator, that it is needed. We believe that this would be a
single, super fund. We have done a good deal of work on it and I am
prepared to submit for the study of your stafl the API recommenda-
tions.

Mr. Haskerr. Fine, delighted to have them.

Mr. Mureny. Then, the thing that concerns us most greatly here,
I suppose it is the direct government exploration and I will merely
say here that quite apart from the totalitarian states, Brazil has an
outright government monopoly. There are mixed economies in other
countries such as Italy and France. Canada has a smaller govern-
ment participation. I am personally familiar with all of those. My
company is a partner with some of those government companies. No
objective observer can say that any of those can approach what we
are already doing in this country. I would simply ask the question,
why should we change a winning system ?

So I might simply move on to a conclusion here and this really
deals with whether we advance more rapidly by a government pro-
gram. Now, Professor Schumpeter, who was a sound conservative
economist, felt nevertheless the move toward socialism was absolutely
irresistable. Now, even if he was right about that, I am not going
to sulk in my tent, I will try to work under any kind of system that
we have. But, even if 1 were philosophically persuaded that there
should be an acceleration of government activity in the petroleum
industry, as a practical matter, I would say that the need for devel-
opment on the OCS is so great that it should not be done during the
1970s insofar as OCS development is concerned. So I can simply close
with that note and I would be pleased of course to engage in any sort
of discussion that the committee might feel appropriate.

Senator HaskerL. I thank you very much, Mr. Murphy.

I really just have one question that goes with government explora-
tion. Would you feel it would be inappropriate, for instance for the
government to do seismic work on what they consider nongeological
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structures in order to determine what the value or the bidding value
might be? Where do you draw the line? Right now as you know in
public lands the government does certain work. Do you draw the
line before seismic work and just surface geology ?

Mr. Mureny. I think, Senator, you draw the line after seismic
work. Frankly, T do not think it is necessary for the government to
do even seismic work itself because you have 40 or 50 companies out
there doing it now, but I believe that the retired Secretary of the
Interior testified to you fairly recently that the USGS has more and
better geophysical data than does any single oil company. And he
testified, if I read it correctly, that they had gained this through a
combination of purchasing what is called speculative data that the
geophysical companies have, and then hiring crews to go out. So, T
think you draw the line where it is right now.

MSen}a:tor Haskerr. 1 just wanted to get your position on that, Mr.
urphy.

Senator Stone [presiding]. Mr. Murphy, if these bills do not pass,
what can the industry forecast in the absence of these bills which
you have testified you would delay the OCS exploration and develop-
ment in the way of production for the next 5 years or so?

Mr. MurpHY. Senator, we can not make a forecast.

Senator Stone. Well how about a percentage forecast of without
the bills and with the bills?

Mr. Mureuy. Well the problem is that neither we nor anyone else
except God Almighty who put it there, if he did, knows how much
oil is there. The compelling thing is that we desperately need to
find out.

Senator Stone. My point is and what T am trying to elicit from
you as an expert is that if the bills are on the books what would the
production be on the order of, you pick a percentage, and if the bills
are not on the books, what would the oil production be in percent
compared to each other? In other words, the two situations, one with
these bills, one without them. What would the circumstances be in
terms of your building produced rapidly?

Mr. Mureray. We certainly would not be able to proceed as rapidly
if this legislation passed.

Senator Stone. How much less rapidly ? Let us take it away from
production and put it in terms of time?

Mr. Mureny. I can see 5 years delay here.

Senator Sto~NE. You think that you would be set back 5 full years?

Mr. Mureny. T can see as much as 5 years delay. I can conjure up
a scenario that can build in as much as 5 years delay and having
let us say 500,000 barrels a day production from either the eastern
shelf or the Gulf of Alaska. This is, the scenario of some public
outery such as we had at Santa Barbara.

Senator Stonk. Mr. Murphy, you realize that what promotes some
of these bills is the desire to speed up production?

Mr. Murpuy. 1 am aware of that.

Senator Stone. And in fact what T have heard since I have been
here only a little while is that some of these authors and those par-
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ticipating in these bills do want “business as usual.” They want more,
they want faster. What different things can we do apart from these
bills that would make, that would assist and foster faster production
as opposed to just leaving the ground rules as they now are? What
could we do that would make it faster?

Mr. MureaY. You could enact legislation regulating the Secretary
to lease the land faster. Frankly, I think that the 10-million-acre-
per-year schedule is too fast. But you could require that this thing
be speeded up by shortening nomination procedures.

Senator Stoxe. How could we shorten the nomination procedures
and still maintain safety to the taxpayer of proper revenues and bids?
What specifics could we do in shortening?

Mr. Mureny. Well I do not remember the exact time period now,
but most companies go out in advance and I think that we usually are
ready. My memory of the various sales is we have been ready, as a
rule, 90 days before the sale takes place. Everybody gets nervous
and they go out and do a little more shooting just because the time
is there. It is almost like Parkinson’s Law for it to occupy all the

Senator StoNE. You think we could shorten the procedure 2 or 3
months?

Mr. Mureny. I think you could. I would like to consult some of
my own exploration executives on that, but I think you could. And
certainly the time required for the environmental impact study could
be shortened. As I understand it now, a separate impact study and
statement has to be made for each sale, and there is a great deal of
duplication in this regard, Senator.

Senator Strone. What about the idea of leasing the entire structural
traps instead of 5,000-acre tracts?

Mr. MureHy. I think that would be constructive.

Senator Stone. Do you think that would produce more faster?

Mr. Mureny. I think it would make for faster orderly development
if you put up an entire structure as a parcel rather than following
the present practice of 5,000-acre blocks regardless of the fact that
three or four of them might be required to cover this.

Senator Stone. In looking at these provisions for repayment of oil
spill damage, do you think that the funds both coastal and otherwise
are sufficient in their amounts to take care of those foreseeable
damages?

Mr. Murery. I will ask you to help me now. I believe there is a
$100 million fund.

Senator Stone. That is one now.

Mr. Mureny. That should be sufficient. But again our big problem
here is that we have had such a proliferation of funds, the States
have them, and we have done a good deal of work on a recommenda-
tion for the superfund. And we would like to submit that for your
consideration,

Senator Stone. And that could be put into whatever the committee
product is that comes out of all of these hearings.

Mr. Murrny. Yes, sir.

51-748 O - 75 - 8
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Senator StonE. Do you submit that with the appropriate amount
of financing that should be sufficient to take care of the concerns of
the coastal States and that instead of delays the repayment of possible
or foreseeable spills would take care of that damage?

Mr. Mureuy. Senator, I think it would, because it is my conci-
encious belief that no permanent damage from any oil spill has
occured.

Senator Stone. Even in Santa Barbara?

Mr. Murery. Even in Santa Barbara. I was just there. I have a
daughter who is living in Santa Barbara. I was just there and I
walked down the beach myself and there is simply no discernable
evidence now of that oil spill. So the damage was limited to what we
all saw on our TV screens at the time of the spill.

Senator StoNE. Right.

Mr. MurrHy. So certainly the amount of money you are discussing
would be more than adequate to cover that sort of thing.

Senator StoNe. So what you are suggesting then is that with a
financial repayment capability we do not need delays as well?

Mr. Murery. Absolutely.

Senator StoNe. On either the National or the State level?

Mr. Murrny. That is correct, Senator.

Senator Stone. Now, one of the other concerns that T have heard
expressed by those who have some of these bills in, is as to the
acertainability of whether the taxpayer is getting a fair shake ulti-
mately from the payments, whether advanced payments or payments
as'they go. And that has to do as much with the seismic and geologic
information which is proprietary to a greater extent at this point
and not disclosed, as it does to the dollars itself. It is a suspicion
there is something there that we do not know. I would not be sur-
prised if that suspicion was not fostered in the early days of Rock
Canyon and the rest by drilling outside of the dispense line and
outward into the other guy’s land. T heard that here.

What about that? What can we do about that—worry ¢

Mr. MurpaY. Senator, my company is very active in offshore bid-
ding and our observation is that we consistently overbid. We get too
excited with these prospects. There is something about the impulse
of an auction to go really further than you can really justify. And
we have got a good discovery record offshore but the fields that we
have sufficiently developed, we now realize we paid too much for
them.

Senator Stone. Well if you did, would you think that it would
assist your image and reputation and that of the industry with the
press and with the taxpayer if a more complete disclosure of that
situation would be routinely made? I am not only convinced that
sunshine is good for government. I happen to think it is good for
industry, and I happen to think that the “hit the oil industry mys-
tique” which we are all faced with right now is as much caused by
this secrecy. I will give you an example.

I met with one of the government officials in Florida over the
weekend, and he told me, had it on authority, that the oil companies
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had discovered oil off of Panama City and I asked some oil people
and they absolutely said no, and here is what a government official
is saying, that they really had. That is the kind of thing.
Mr. Murenuy. I know it. You know the old story: “Every farmer
that had a dry hole drilled on his land said oh I know they found it.”
Senator Stone. They capped it; they were waiting for me to
cave in.

Mr. Murpay. What you do about that kind of psychology, I do
not know.

Senator Stone. Here we are on the OCS with seismic and other
proprietory information. Is there not some way that that can be
more fully disclosed without damaging each company’s position so
that the suspicion which breeds on lack of disclosure can be allayed?
Because it is the suspicion that creates the kind of beaurocracy that
would slow down the development, I think.

Mr. Murpuy. The release of the seismic data would not allay the
suspicion that you so rightly detect. The well data would be required
to allay the suspicion. We fortunately did not bid the $200 maillion.
We only bid $16 million on that dry tract but I think if we were
in the posture of the operators we would have there, now answered
the very questions you have posed, we would release the well data
on 1t.

Senator Stoxe. I am personally looking for ways to speed up, in
a safe way, the offshore development of 0il because I feel like we
cannot talk the language of relative independence and pass bills
which create dependence. We cannot do that. Nevertheless, there are
some genuine emotions of distrust.

Mr. Mureny. There is no question about it.

Senator Stone. And the only way to proceed to accomplish the one
goal in my view is to try to allay these suspicions of distrust as we
go. And I would ask not only you, Mr. Murphy, but the API to
provide this committee and specifically me with whatever amend-
ments or draft proposals, either the cancellation or these bills or in
lieu of the bills or in amendment of the bills, which at one and the
same time would assist you in speeding up the development and allay
these suspicions that keep cropping up like fog.

Mr. Murpay. We will go to work on that this afternoon Senator.

Senator StoNe. You answered a previous question about bidding
by entire tracts and opposed to the individual tracts, and that you
felt that might assist. Would that not also assist in more full dis-
closure of better data if we proceeded that way?

Mr. Mureny. It probably would. If we had the whole of the
structure T am sure we would do more work faster than if we just
had a fragment of it.

Senator Stone. I appreciate your testimony, Mr. Murphy. Thank
you very much.

Mr. Mureny. It has been a pleasure, sir. .

[The prepared statement of Mr. Murphy, report from American
Petroleum Institute and articles mentioned by Mr. Murphy follow :|
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Mr. Chairman, I am Charles Murphy of Murphy 0il
Corporation, El Dorado, Arkansas. I am pleased to be here today
on behalf of the American Petroleum Institute, a trade association
representing all segments of the petroleum industry -- from small
operators to the largest firms.

We acknowledge the questions in your letter, and we'll
be dealing with them in the course of this testimony. But, for
your convenience, we have attached some more specific responses
in the accompanying supplement to this statement.

You have already heard a great deal of testimony con-
cerning the several bills before you. Therefore, I believe I
can serve best here today by offering an overview from my perspec-
tive. You gentlemen, I know, are experienced in weighing views
of witnesses based on where they stand and speak from.

My own views are offered to you from my standpoint of
a citizen, the head of a medium-size o0il company, and as a member
of a trade association representing many oil companies.

It might be well, however, to first set forth what I
feel is our mutual objective, that is, to reduce our dependence
as a nation, on foreign oil. We also share a mutual concern that
our Outer Continental Shelf petroleum resources should be located
and developed with all deliberate speed, and with the care reguired

to protect our priceless environment.
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And, certainly, we recognize that the public and the
states ~- as the beneficiaries of such development -- should be
heard from. Yet, while we need to be keenly aware of these mutual
objectives, I suggest that the public interest would best be
served by shortening the time required to identify actual reserves,
as distinguished from potential resources, to develop those re-
serves, and to make them available to the economy of this nation.

I believe that there would be general agreement on
these objectives. The qguestion is: What's the best way to get
there from here?

We need to examine carefully the effect that the bills
before you could have on attaining our overall objective. And we
need to examine how these bills might affect the interests of
America's consumers, workers and taxpayers.

Let's look at these bills within three broad areas:

1. Delay mechanisms built into the proposals;

2. Calls for Federal exploration of the 0OCS; and

3. Revenue sharing.

First, the delay mechanisms.
DRLAY MECHANISMS

It is important for this Committee to understand the
potential consequences of the delay mechanisms incorporated in
these bills, in terms of our energy supply, and its effect on
consumers, taxpayers and workers -- in a word, the nation as a

whole. What is the price of delay? Let's examine that question.



805

For a number of years, this country has consumed more
0il and gas than it has been finding. But this has not always
been the case. Until 1967, the oil component of our energy mix
was delivered, as it were, first, in a large stream from the in-
terior of the lower-48 states; second, in a smaller stream from
abroad; and, third, in a growing rivulet from our Outer Continental
Shelf.

Not only was the first of these the largest, it also
stemmed from a resource base sufficiently developed to provide
backup capacity, should either the import stream be curtailed by
the actions of other countries, or the development of our frontier
resources be delayed Sy impediments of our own government. This
was the optimum posture,

Unfortunately, strictures of both kinds did, in fact,
occur:

® In 1967, the Six Day War closed the Suez Canal;

® In 1969, a moratorium was placed on drilling and

production in the Santa Barbara Channel, following

the oil spill there -~ a moratorium still in effect;
From early 1970 through mid-November 1973, development
of Alaska's North Slope was suspended because of the
postponement of the trans-Alaska pipeline -- and oil,
which could have been flowing to U.S. consumers during

the Arab embargo, is still underground at Prudhoe Bay:
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* In the early 1970's, a number of scheduled lease sales
were postponed, following two offshore accidents, although
neither accident more than temporarily affected the en;
vironment; and

® The Yom Kippur War -- and the subsequent Arab oil embargo
of Winter 1973-74 -- seriously affected the availability

of fuel in the United States.
These events -- plus the discouraging effects that price
controls and added tax burdens have had on the incentive to find
new oil and natural gas deposits -~ have combined to erode our

spare productive capacity. Today, that backup capacity is gone.

Effects of delay

Consider in retrospect, for example, what the result
would have been had we had one million barrels per day of Alaskan
oil flowing to the lower-48 states, when the Arab embargo was
imposed. Would the OPEC cartel then have been as successful as
they were in raising prices? I don't pretend to know the precise
answer, but I firmly believe we could have resisted -- and
forestalled -~ at least some of the price increase.

I mention this to emphasize that delay is not without
cost. It has a price, and this nation is now paying it. You can
be sure the OPEC cartel is carefully watching our actions for
evidence of further delay, which will permit them to continue

collecting their present price.
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As I stated earlier, our bacgup productive capacity is gone,
We find that production from the maturely developed lower-48, on-
shore portion of our resource base is actually declining at a
rate of about one-half million barrels per day per year. Delays
in turning around the decline in domestic production -- which
could be the consequence of a number of bills before you =--
threaten to retard'recovery from the recession, as energy shortages
cause some factories to close, and others to curtail production.

This has already occurred in the case of natural gas.
It could occur in other fuels, if delays further widen the breach
between domestic supply and demand. Imports may not be available
to fill the gap.

Let me interject here one thought that might be helpful
to you in your deliberations. We are currently getting about 17
per cent of all the o0il and natural gas produced in this country
from wells in the Gulf of Mexico. SeQenteen per cent.

Now, let's look at what that production means in terms
of the consumer and worker on the East Coast, for example. And
I'm talking about averages. Obviously, no one can account for
each barrel of oil or cubic foot of natural gas in the vast
delivery mix of our national supply system. But, on the average,
one out of every six gallons of gasoline, and one out of every
three cubic feet of natural gas, consumed on the East Coast today,
originated in a well offshore Louisiana or Texas.

My point is this, gentlemen. Much of the area already
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leased in the Gulf of Mexico has been explored, developed and
placed in production. And, despite continuing efforts to find
new petroleum deposits there, production in many of the tracts
has matured, and is declining. And I ask: Where -- aside from
increased imports -- will the o0il and gas come from, if we don't
get on with the job of exploring the frontier areas of the 0CS

and Alaska?

T™vpes of delay

But, let's return to the matter of delays which could
result from this legislation. And let's examine what they could
mean and how much they could cost this nation.

First, granting the states the power to delay OCS de-

vélogment. Several of the proposals would grant to the Governors
of the adjacent coastal states the power to delay -- for up to
three years -- exploration and drilling off their coasts, subject
to various stipulated review procedures. I submit, gentlemen,
that to grant a state or lesser political jurisdiction this power
to delay the orderly process of OCS lease sales is inconsistent
with the interests of the nation as a whole. )

Permit me to make an analogy. The Supreme Court --
three weeks ago -~ affirmed Federal ownership of the Outer Con-
tinental Shelf of the Atlantic, beyond the three-mile limit

established by the Congress. A similar ruling had already decided

the extent of state ownership many years ago for those coastal
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states where o0il and gas are now being produced. We'can liken the
Federal government to "Farmer Brown," who has a large farm and an
exceptionally large family. Now, Mr., Brown operates that farm for
the benefit of all his family, including a daughter or two who have
moved to town. Would it be logical ~- or right -~ for him to grant
to one member of his family the right to hold up the development of
the cattle and crops that all the others need to sustain themselves?

I think you'll agree that it would be an inequitable
distribution of power. Yet, in the family of states, granting one
Governor -- who is subject to varying political pressures -- the
right to delay substantially offshore development could, just as
surely, deprive the other states of their right to energy-sustaining
offshore oil and gas. And the American consumer, taxpayer and
worker would have to bear the consequences of such a misguided
policy.

I might add that the granting of such a power was not
even considered with respect to the 17 per cent of domestic pro-
ducticn now coming from offshore areas —— mainly from the Gulf of
Mexico. Doesn't it seem inconsistent to suggest that a different
set of rules should be applied now?

What would happen, for example, if Texas and Louisiana
were to request that further production be delayed to assess the
full impact of offshore operations on those states? What posture
would the Eastern states be placed in, if such actions were taken?

Next, let's look at the potential effects of a three-year

"delay in terms of the economic impact it could have on the balance
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of payménts problem. Obviously, such a delay would cause a post-
ponement of the development of offshore petroleum resources which,
otherwise, might sooner arrest our present production decline,

For discussion's sake, let's assume that an incremental
production of one hundred thousand barrels per day per year is
postponed because of a state's objection, This translates into
an increased one hundred thousand barrels per day of imported
0il needed to meet domestic demand. If we also assume {(and there
is no guarantee that the present cost of foreign oil will either
rise or fall significantly) that the cost of OPEC oil holds firm
for three years, simple multiplication tells us that the impact
©of one such delay could amount to over one point three billion
dollars of additional funds flowing overseas...not to mention the
loss of jobs which wéuld have been created by the development of
domestic reserves.

To be sure, this example is an oversimplification.
Nevertheless, the loss of such funds would be in addition to those
spent on increased dependence on imports because of increased
demand over current projections, or because of a more rapid de-
cline than has been projected for domestic production.

I recognize that a Governor's power to delay OCS de-
velopment would be procedurally limited under this legislation.
The Secretary of the Interior and the National Coastal Resources
Appeals Board, after a specified period of deliberation, would

have the power to overrule the Governor and authorize the
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government to proceed with the lease sale. Nevertheless, faced
with a highly organized and well-orchestrated campaign by a
minority of coastal state residents against OCS development, the
Secretary and/or the Board would be under severe political
pregsure to yield to local demands and delay development. To the
extent that this occurs, the rest of the nation will be deprived
of needed energy supplies. 1In addition, this procedure would
provide one more focal point for additional litigation.

Second, delays proposed until environmental protection

is perfected. I submit that the record amply demonstrates that
environmental protection can be assured -- and accomplished -~
while orderly development is proceeding.

Gentlemen, I display to you a seven-column article from
the Washington Post on the subject of drilling off the East Coast.
The story quotes Nick Fornaro, a Baltimore steel worker, who heads
the Maryland AFL-CIO. He said: "Anything that's going to produce
work, I'm for it, What good are all the seagulls on the Eastern

Shore if people don't have jobs?"

Fortunately, we don't have to choose!

Experience in the Gulf of Mexico and the North Sea

clearly demonstrates that we can have both the jobs and the gulls.

And, I might add, we can also have the fish -- which has been a
matter of great concern to Atlantic coastal states. Let me,

briefly, cite the record in the Gulf of Mexico concerning operations

there, and their effect on the environment.
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Over 15,000 wells have been drilled in the Gulf. While
several major spills have occurred during operations there, not
one of these -- and, for that matter, not even the much-publiEized
spill at Santa Barbara -- has evidenced permanent ecological
damage.

As for fishing, a look at the National Marine Fisheries
service records is revealing. It shows that the commercial catch
in the Gulf -- both in tonnage and value -~ has risen markedly
over the past two decades. We make no claim that the commercial
fish catch has improved because of the presence of petroleum
operations, rather that it was simply unaffected one way or the
_other. There is strong evidence, however, to indicate that sport
fishing has greatly improved in the area around the drilling and
production platforms in the Gulf.

I might point out that all operations in the 0CS -- from
preliminary seismic surveys through exploration, development, pro-
duction and transportation -~ are continually monitored by the
Federal government under directives, regulations, standards and
guidelines already established and enforced. These are now im-
plemented and complied.with by all oil companies operating there.

In fact, the advanced technology developed, tested and
used by American oil companies is recognized throughout the world.
It is American technelogy, manpower, expertise and équipment that,
for the most part, is exploring and developing the petroleum re-

sources of the North Sea, Africa and Southeast Asia. And it was
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American enterprise ~- not a government corporation -- which
located the largest petroleum field in the Western Hemisphere,
under the tundra of northern Alaska. And it has been American
enterprise which has developed the oil and gas fields off
Louisiana and Texas.

There is no justification for delaying exploration and
development of our OCS frontier areas on the grounds that more
time is needed to perfect technology. Industry has proven its
ability to develop our resources and our technology simultaneously.
Theoretical environmental baseline studies and resource de-
velopment are being conducted at the same time in our offshore
areas. And I suggest it would be in the best interest of the
consumer, the taxpayer and the worker, if the Congress -- in its
wisdom -~ would build on these accomplishments, rather than put
another delaying blanket on 0CS exploration.

Third, delays inherent in establishing "strateqic

energy reserves." We are dismayed at provisions in some of the
bills, which call for delays -- such as moratoriums on leasing,
or the withdrawal of prime areas into so-called "strategic
energy reserves." In this respect, our experience with the Naval
Petroleum Reserves (NPR's) is illuminating.

One of them, in Wyoming, is so small that the Navy has
simply produced it from day to day. Another -- Elk Hills -~ is
sizable, but the Navy couldn't (or, at least, didn't) make any

important use of it in World War II, the Korean conflict or the



814

Southeast Asia War, Nor was it used during the 1973-74 Arab oil
embargo; NPR~4, on the North Slope, was -~ and remains ~- simply
an exciting exploration idea.

Tﬁe point is this: Wwhile they are called naval reserves,
they have been utterly useless to the Navy -- or to anyone else --
during 50 years of war and peace. Can we expect that naming a
prime area of the OCS a "strategic reserve,” with or without
exploring it, and blocking it off maps, would make it so?

The ability to make practical use of these resources depends
on thorough exploration. And it will take many years. Those who ad-
vocate the creation of this type of strategic reserves fail to recognize
the long lead timé necessary between exploration and full proéuction.
Nor do they understand the need for these resources to be made available
to the consumer, the worker and the taxpayer as soon as possible,

All of the major consuming nations of the Free World, except
the United States, have a petroleum emergency storage program. Their
experience, as well as most private and public studies, clearly
demonstrates that storage of produced oil -- not shut-in reserves of
unexplored structures -- is the only logical and practical approach.

Fourth, dajays built in the proposals through citizen

suits provisions. Another provision of these bills would signifi-
cantly deter timely development of OCS resources by allowing any
person to file a citizen's suit -~ whether or noé that person is
directly involved with the 0CS. It is understandable and desirable
that persons direct}y affected by OCS activities have proper recourse,
if they sustain real damage. They have such recourse now.

However, to throw the door open to any and all self-
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appointed guardians of the public interest is to guarantee
non-development —-- not to speak of administrative, judicial and
economic costs, which will be paid for by the taxpaying consumer.
I, for one, believe the publié should be represented, not by self-
appointed persons, but by public authority,lgranted by and re-

sponsible to the people.

0il spill compensation fund

In the matter of oil spills from offshore operations,
the American Petroleum Institute strongly supports the establishment
of a single, domestic oil spill compensation fund covering all oil
spills from any source. Once again, however, the legislative
proposals before you reflect some confusion with respect to 0CS-
related activities. I do not intend to be critical., Senator
Metcalf observed to me three weeks ago that one of the purposes
of first-draft legislation is to smoke out defects and inconsis-
tencies.

However, the proposals take no account of the many other
funds relating to oil spills that are being contemplated -- or
are being established -- principally by coastal states. It can
be readily seen that the total amount the industry and, ultimately,
the consumer will have to pay for this overlapping protection will
be large indeed.

API believes that a single fund -- a superfund, if you

will ~- should be established to provide for a coordinated plan
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of protection among the various states and the Federal government
for all sources of oil spills. Such a proposal would be bet;er
accomplished through separate legislation, and does nét require
amending the OCS Lands Act of 1953. For the record, I will file
with the Committee a paper which details the API position on

this fund.

FEDERAL EXPLORATION

The second major component of the array of propoéals
before you concerns the creation and implementation of a Federal
exploratory effort. Such a step, if adopted, would compound the
detrimental effect of the built-in mechanisms.

There are countries which produce, refine and market
oil as a state monopoly. Quite apart from the outright totali-
tarian states, Brazil and Mexico do it that way. Others, notably
Italy and France, have a mixture of government and private en-
terprise, with government dominating. Still others, Canada for
example, have had for some years both -- with government playing
a minor role.

I am familiar with all of these. And I believe that
any objective observer will certify that none of these systems
employed by other countries can approach, much lesslriVal, the
American way. Where else, even after the recent price increases,

is the consumer price or the social cost so low?
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No need to change

why, then, must we change?

The U.S. petroleum industry -- as currently structured --
is responsible for the discovery, development and production of
most of the Free World's petroleum reserves. And it's not a
closed shop.

No franchise is required to enter the oil business. No
permit is required to leave the industry. New entrants appear
regularly. Drilling funds proliferated o§er the 1960's, and are
still going strong. Independent firms at either extremity of the
business are constantly integrating forward or backward, as the
case may be.

Drilling contractors see opportunities to become pro-
ducers, and they do. And to quit the game all you have to do is
to get discouraged and sell out, or go broke. That, too, is
happening every day.

This dynamic process, even under costly new regulations,
still has one thing going for it: Our U.S. petroleum system offers
the nation the best alternative to increased dependence on foreign
oil.

So I am compelled to ask again: Why is it deemed necessary
that the Federal government preempt the task? What facts suggest
the Federal government can do a better job? Does the Federal
government have better trained personnel, or greater expertise in

exploration for oil and natural gas? Does the government have a
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better record in protecting the environment? And can it do the job
at a lower cost to the taxpayer and consumer?

The simple answer to all these questions is a resounding

The “"dip-stick"” syndrome

Proponents of a Federal exploration program succumb to
a "dip-stick” syndrome. They seem to think that -- like checking
the oil in their car's crankcase -- one only has to drill one hole
to find oil or gas. It then magically appears at the service
station or at the burner-tip of the home range.

Indeed, there seems to be an idea in the minds of some
that the government could simply hire a drilling contractor, and
say to him: "There's a five hundred thousand acre tract out there
off the coast. Go out there, drill a hole or two, and tell us
how much o0il and gas there is in the Atlantic Ocean.”

Well, gentlemen, as one who's been in the drilling
business all my adult life, I can assure you that isn't the way
it works in the very real world of exploratory drilling. If it
were, there wouldn't be any need for this hearing today.

In real life, many months are spent in time-consuming
surveys and geophysical studies before any drilling is done. And
many more months are spent agoniéing over the data before the
company determines if a potential exists, which tract of those
offered presents the "best" potential, whether its limited funds

and resources should be risked in exploring that tract, and where
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on that tract the drill bit should be placed.

And you can be sure that the drill bit -- and only the
bit —- can determine whether or not the "educated guess" was,
indeed, correct.

But, in any case, Mr. Chairman and gentlemen of the
Committee, the "dip stick" theory, while perhaps easy to
visualize, is an illusion. Neither government nor industry can
determine the amount of oil available in a large area ~=- and
we're talking about hundreds of millions of OCS acres -- with a
few, scattered wells.

I didn't coin the phrase (but I wish I had): "0il is
found in the minds of men." The drill only confirms the
correctness of the mind's idea. The more "ideas," the greater
the chance for discovery.

Let's look at some facts.

During the period 1969 through 1973, nearly 26,000
wildcat wells were drilled onshore and offshore in the U.S., in
search for new oil and natural gas fields. Of these, only one
in 50 found as much as a million barrels of oil or six billion
cubic feet of natural gas -- that is, a commercially significant

find.

Drilling substantial numbers of wildcat wells would not
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make the Federal government any more knowledgeable about the
resource potential of the 0CS. They could only reveal the
potential of the immediate area of the drill bit, in those
particular horizons penetrated.

Witness the fact that -- after 25 years of exploring
the near-shore central Gulf of Mexico ~-- oil companies are still
searching there, and finding a new field now and then. Aand,
if a Federal agency were the sole operator, who is to say that
it would adequately explore even one prospect, when it would be
required constantly -~ and necessarily -- to justify its
expenditures to the OMB, and to submit to oversight by an

understandably critical Congress?

The o0il companies -~ motivated by the profit factor,
and I'1ll be the first to admit it -~ have shown the persistence
and the vision to drill that "one more hole."” I'm sure there

were some members on their boards of directors who opposed it,
but -- fortunately -- they were outvoted. Occasionally, that
"one more hole” was the lucky one. And it's that dream that Xkeeps
an oil company =-- large or small -- in the drilling business. As
I said, sometimes -- just sometimes -- it pays.

For instance, it is part of the folklore that one giant

salt dome in the Gulf of Mexico -- Bay Marchand -- was drilled
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12 times before a discovery was made. Another, Grand Isle
Block 16, was explored for over 10 years, before it was known

to be a commercial success. Still another, Eugene Island

Block 126, was dropped by one company after extensive drilling,
only to be picked up by another company and proved to be a major
accumulation.

I can't help but wonder whether a government exploratory
effort would have ventured to drill that "one more hole" at
Prudhoe Bay, and found the nearly 10 billion barrels of crude
o0il and 26 trillion cubic feet_of natural gas.

There are three other points regarding a government
exploratory effort I'd like to examine. One, the separation
of exploration from development. Two, the question of
confidentiality of da#a. aAnd, three, the need for preserving

competitive balance in the industry.

Separation of exploration from development

Exploration and development are, in reality, a
single integrated effort, in both physical and economic terms.
Drilling one successful hole in a petroleum deposit does not --
and cannot -- provide you with information needed to determine
either how much o0il and natural gas may be there, or the size

and boundaries of the field. For example, every time a company
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listed on a stock exchange makes a discovery, it's required
under SEC rules to announce it as a "material fact." Then

it invariably feels compelled to add the shopworn phrase:
"Further drilling will be required to determine the commercial
significance of the find."

At some point in the overlap between exploration and
development, there will have been sufficient exploration to confirm
that a commercial dis~overy had, in fact, been made. At that time,
the operator makes his plans for further drilling —- both exploratory
and development -- and orders and installs the permanent facilities
to conduct future operations. Under existing procedures, plans
for these activities are submitted to the USGS.

As I indicated earlier, a number of sizable reservoirs --
onshore and offshore -- have been discovered after one company
had given up trying after a number of dry holes, only to have a
competitor strike oil or gas on the same tract. Had the
exploration ended with the dry-hole experience -- as might well be
likely under a government exploration effort -- consumers would
have been denied availability of these later-discovered reservoirs,
perhaps forever.

An exploring company could not justify spending of the

capital needed for drilling, if investors knew the company had
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no claim to the oil and gas discovered. And, of course, the
monies received from pre-exploration bonus bids would sharply
decline, if a guarantee to the right to develop any petroleum

discovered were not inherent in the lease sale contract.

Confidentiality of information

On the matter of confidentiality of information, Mr.
Chairman, it seems to me that a great deal of misinformation has
been generated. One senses a belief that the government doesn't
get the data it needs; and that public release of data would help
the exploration effort. Neither is true.

Permit me to quote the former Secretary of Interior,
Mr. Morton. He testified just recently before this Committee
that: "Through purchase of data on the open market and receipt
of data from leases, the U.S. Geological Survey has built up an
inventory of geophysical information that equals or surpasses
that of any firm or group of firms bidding for OCS leases."”

While we are not privy to USGS information, we accept
the Secretary's word. And we are led to ask: What, then, is
the need for legislation allowing the release of company-gathered
data, when the government, by its own admission, has been able
to gather a greater inventory of information on the 0OCS than has
any competitor within the industry?

Would the public benefit from premature release of

company data? I think not, and here's why.
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Based on past experience in OCS leasing, the public has
benefited directly from the highly competitive bidding at offshore
lease sales, Here are some striking numbers which reinforce that
statement:

From September 1972 through May 1974, the aggregate high
bids at OCS lease sales were eight point nine billion dollars. The
aggregate runner-up bids were five billion dollars. The three
point nine billion dollars left on the table is equivalent to more
than 40 per cent of the total profits during 1973 of the 25 largest
oil companies -- nine and a half billion dollars.

Last year, alone, companies paid bonuses and first-year
rentals to the Federal government of more than five billion dollars.
And, from 1954 through last year, companies paid a total, in
bonuses and first-year rentals, in excess of fourteen billion
dollars -~ just for the right to look for oil and gas.

No guarantee for the exploring companies. No risk to
the government and taxpayers. Fourteen billion dollars in revenues,
so that the o0il companies can gamble that "one more hole" will
strike commercially significant gquantities of crude oil or natural
gas!

If we were to substitute a government effort for that
of private enterprise, would a Federal agency -~ indeed, should
a Federal agency -- take similar risks with taxpayers' money?

Our form of government, responsible through a legislature to its

people, is just not organized to apply multiple working hypotheses



825

to locate oil and gas in subtly expressed geologic situations.
Industry -- with many different companies, and many different,
experienced teams to gather and analyze data -~ is equipped for
such ventures.

To turn this effort over to the Federal government would
be the same as asking one company (with plenty of money and no
experience) to do-the job. And we can be sure that the job would
go haltingly. Once more, the consumer, the worker and the tax-
payer would become the fall-guys. You'd think the recent fiasco
of law and regulations which led to the catalytic muffler systems
on 1975 autos would have sufficiently demonstrated the price the
consumer must pay for Cloud Nine edicts from the ivory tower. The
Federal government has proved a failure at designing automobiles,
running railroads and delivering the mail. Why should we assume

it would be a success at exploring for oil and natural gas?

Competitive balance

On the third point, that of preserving the present com-
petitive balance in the industry, it should be remembered that,
while there are seven or eight giant firms in our business, there
are also thousands more medium and smaller size companies -- of
which my own is one -- ranging down in size to the individual
proprietor. We like to think that much of the real, competitive
balance in our business is supplied by these medium and smaller

size companies.
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What would be the effect of the government entering
this business as a super-competitor? Would you agree with me that
this effect could well be to weaken the non-government sector of
the business as a whole?

Assuming this to be true, which of us will suffer the
most? The answer is obvious: Those who have the least amount of
economic staying power. Put in the words of an old Slavic proverb,
"When the fat grow lean, the lean are dead."

Government intervention in this business, then -- which
has the effect of weakening all competitors -~ will drive the
smaller ones from the business first, resulting in a greater con-
centration of the business in the hands of a few large companies.
We really don't believe that such is the intent of the Congress.
Nor do we think it would be in the best interests of the nation.

Yet it is a plausible result.
REVENUE SHARING

A matter that is in some of the pending legislation --
and one that has frequently been cited at recent hearings on 0OCS
development -- concerns sharing with the states any revenues
generated from leasing and developing the petroleum potential of

Federal OCS lands.

The American Petroleum Institute has been on record for
two years in favor of establishing an equitable sharing of such

revenues with appropriate levels of state and local government.
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Exactly how those revenues might be allocated, however, is not our
province to say.
We hope, as we have said, that the Federal government will

see the wisdom of implementing a rational revenue sharing program,
CONCLUSION

Let me close with this personal note, if I may.
If Professor Schumpeter was right when he said -~ in
his monumental work, "Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy"” -- that
capitalism will eventually give way to socialism, I am one free
enterpriser who will not sulk in his tent. I will cheerfully do
my level best, no matter what the system. But the wherewithal to
do the job today -- right now -- is in the private sector. I
believe that I can conscientiously say, even were I philosophically
persuaded that the government should accelerate its intrusion into
private business, it should not, as a purely practical matter, do so
on the Outer Continental Shelf in the 1970's.
Mr. Chairman, I'm not a go&ernment official with the
" resources of the United States Treasury behind me. I am a business-
man. More specifically, I am a businessman engaged in that distinct
creation of the free enterprise system -- the petroleum business.
In the course of my day-to-day life, I serve consumers
who need secure and adequate natural gas and oil supplies. I deal
with taxpayers, who must bear any increased costs of government

ventures. And, along the way, I've collected millions of their
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dollars every year, as an "excise tax collector" for Federal, state
and foreign governments. I've labored with workers who despe;ately
need the fuel that will keep the mills of America rolling, and
their own employment intact. And I've employed thousands of
workers in my own company.

I can tell you this, gentlemen. The consumers, the
workers, the taxpayers of this nation are sincerely worried -—-
about fuel supplies, sky-rocketing government expenditures, and
their weekly paychecks. Any legislation that does not work
toward solution of these problems...or which delays their solution...
fails America in this difficult time.

That concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman.

I'1ll be happy to answer any questions you may have on

my testimony and the proposals before you.

# # #
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SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT TO THE CHARLES H. MURPHY TESTIMONY BEFORE
THE JOINT HEARINGS OF THE U.S. SENATE INTERIOR AND INSULAR
AFFAIRS AND COMMERCE COMMITTEES, WASHINGTON D.C., APRIL 8, 1975

Although a number of the gquestions asked in the Senate
Committees' letter of March 11, 1975, concerning these hearings
have been covered in the original statement, the American Petroleum
Institute submits the following additional comments on the specific
questions asked by Senators Jackson and Magnuson.

We ask that the Committees bear in mind our general
statement that we feel existing legislation has the flexibility
to accommodate any updating that may be necessary in regulations
governing the leasing and monitoring of offshore operations, and
the protection of both offshore and onshore environments. The
Institute strongly believes that unnecessary delays -- both de-
liperate and inherent in some of the proposals -- are unwarranted
and in conflict with the energy and economic interests of the
American people. We urge that government encourage the private
sector to move expeditiously -- with its proven technology --
toward the development of the nation's offshore petroleum, in keep-
ing with the provisions of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of
1970. That Act clearly states that: "It is in the national interest
to foster and encourage private enterprise in the orderly and
economic development of domestic mineral resources."

1. Improved coordination of Federal OCS programs with the states.

There is undoubtedly a need to improve coordination of
Federal OCS programs with the states, recognizing that the interests
of all the states must be accommodated. It is the belief of the
Institute that parochial views must give way to national interests,
and that duplication of efforts by states and the Federal govern-—
ment is costly, time-consuming and, in many cases, counterproductive.
Time is the one element we do not have in abundance.

An example of such duplication can be seen in the oil
spill contigency funds required by several states, and the adoption
of a Federal indemnity requirement to cover the costs of cleaning
up spilled oil. The industry believes that one "superfund" should
be established to finance cleanup and to compensate injured parties
for any actuwal damage suffered as a direct result of petroleum
operations. Such a fund would eliminate the need for establishing
state-by-state agencies, and implementing regulations, reducing costs
to the consumer and the taxpayer.

2. Increasing the role of the states in the decision-making process.

State input into the decision-making process is a vital
function. It should not, however, be available as a means for de-
laying decision-making. And, while the need for such input is



830

recognized, the decision-making process should be so timed as to
minimize delay and expedite the orderly development of the OCS re-
sources in keeping with national energy needs and industry capability
to explore for and develop the OCS petroleum potential.

There is a need for each state to designate one agency
to deal with all matters pertaining to 0CS developments, both on-
shore and offshore. Such agencies could provide ample represen-
tation on and planning input at both the regional and Federal levels.

3. Methods of separating OCS oil and gas exploration activities
from decisions to develop and produce ¢il and gas.

Exploration and development are, in reality, a single
integrated effort, in both physical and economic terms. Drilling
one successful hole in a petroleum deposit does not -- and cannot
-- provide information needed to determine either how much o0il and
gas may be there, or the size and boundaries of the field.

At some point in the overlap between exploration and-develop-
ment, there will have been sufficient exploration to confirm that
a commercial discovery had been made. At that time, the operator
makes his plans for further drilling -- both exploratory and develop-
ment -- and orders and installs the permanent facilities to conduct
future operations. Under existing procedures, plans for these activities
are submitted to the USGS.

A number of sizable reservoirs have been discovered after
one company had given up trying after a number of dry holes, only
to have a competitor strike oil or gas on the same tract. Had the
exploration ended with the dry-hole experience -- as might well be
likely under a government exploration effort -- consumers would have
been denied availability of these later-discovered reservoirs, per-
haps forever.

An exploring company could not justify spending of the
capital needed for drilling, if investors knew the company had no
claim to the oil and gas discovered. Monies received from pre-
exploration bonus bids would sharply decline, if a guarantee to the
right to develop any petroleum discovered were not inherent in the
lease sale contract.

4. Alternative leasing systems or other methods of allowing private
industry to develop OCS oil and gas.

Because of varying views among members of the Institute,
API does not wish to comment on specific leasing methods, or to suggest
that one method may be better than another. ’

In general, however, it would appear than any leasing
arrangement should strive to ensure a maximization of the ex-
ploration effort, and the expeditious recovery of any oil and
natural gas discovered. 1In so doing, such an arrangement should
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recognize that, while the public should garner its fair share of
revenues from the OCS, the industry must be allowed a reasonable
return that will generate future capital for investment in ex-
ploration and development, as well as the ability to attract -
other capital from the financial markets and permit a reasonable
return to stockholders.

Moreover, it is essential that all conditions regarding
the entire lease sale be fully set forth prior to the sale, so
that there will be no question concerning later development and
production, should petroleum be discovered, either large or small
quantities.

5. Improvements in the planning and execution of environmental
baseline studies, monitoring studies, and preparation of
environmental impact statements.

The petroleum industry recognizes the need to improve
environmental studies, and to reduce the risks of damage from
its operations on land and offshore. To this end, the American
Petroleum Institute and the individual oil companies have funded --
and are funding -- numerous studies on the fate of o0il in the
environment.l (Baseline studies in the marine environment cannot
be made on a short-term basis, because of the magnitude of the
oceans, and the many variables which change with time.) aAnd in-
dustry has an ongoing program of research and development of many
phases of petroleum technology.

It has been clearly demonstrated that offshore operations
can continue while further studies are conducted, and new tech-
nology is applied as conditions warrant. Aand, indeed, the safety
and environmental aspects of offshore operations are presently
covered by stringent laws and regulations, and monitored by agencies
of the Federal government.

We stress, therefore, that there is no need to delay
offshore exploration, development and production operations in
frontier areas until there is a foolproof state of the art.
Nothing dealing with human endeavor can ever be foolproof. To
wait for such unachievable perfection would be tantamount to
permanently precluding any further development of our offshore
resources, and jeopardizing the economic structure of this nation.

Attached are: "Statement of Edward W. Mertens, API Committee
on the Fate and Effects of 0il on the Environment before the
U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Land Management
Hearing on February 6-8, 1975," and “"Environmental Research
Sponsored by the API, Annual Report, January 1975."

51-748 O - 75 - 10
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6. Improvements in requlation and enforcement of OCS operating
practices for safety and environmental protection.

The petroleum industry has complied -- and will continue
to comply -- with all regulations and enforcement of offshore
operations. The current OCS Lands Act and the National Environ-
mental Protection Act have the flexibility necessary to bring about
desired safety and environmental ends, without the need for addi-
tional legislation or oversight.

Indeed, increasing regulation -- for regulation's sake,
and without proven need -~ could seriously hamper the development
of our offshore resources. The implication of greater regulation
suggests that it could be counterproductive, rather than beneficial,
in providing the energy the nation and its workers need to ensure
recovery from the present economic situation.

7. The need for an appropriate form of federal assistance to
affected coastal states.

The American Petroleum Institute has been on record for
more than two years in favor of the adoption and implementation
of a revenue sharing formula that would give to the appropriate
levels of government of the several states some part of the
revenues generated from resource development in the Federal 0CS.
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STATEMENT OF
EDWARD W. MERTENS, CHAIRMAN
AMERICAN PETROLEUM INSTITUTE COMMITTEE ON
FATE AND EFFECTS OF OIL IN THE ENVIRONMENT
BEFORE
THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR
BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT HEARING
‘ " on
PROPOSED INCREASE IN ACREAGE TO BE OFFERED
FOR OIL AND GAS. LEASING
ON THE OUTER CONTINENTAL SHELF
FEBRUARY 6-8, 1975
BEVERLY HILLS, CALIFORNTIA
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Mr. Chairman:

My name is Edward Mertens. I am a chemist employed
by Chevron Reseéréh Company, a research subsidiary of the
Standard 0il Company of California. During my careér, which
extends back to the close of World War II, I have held a
Anumber of scientific and research management assignments con-
cerned with research work on the heavier fractions of crude
0il and the many products derived from these fractions.

) Ten years ago my work began to involve the environ-
mental and health aspects of these prqducts. For the past
six years, I have devoted full time to work on environmental
problems.” As the pgimary duty of my current assignment, I
am Chairman of the American Petroleum Institute's Committee
on Fate and Effects of 0il ;n the Environmeﬁt, a privilege
and a pleasure that I have enjoyed since the inception of
this committeé more thap four years.ago. In Novembér 1973
at.a_similar hearing held by the Bureau of Land Management
in New Orleans, I presented testimony that described in

' detai} the scope and objectives.of our Committee's research

énddpow we operate as a committee. I amvsubmitting a copy

of this tespimony for the recofd of this hearing. -
Critics of the pétroleum industry have maintained

that once marine organisms are exposed to an oil spill,

" these organisms will become c&ntaminated and once contami-

nated, they will retain more or less permanently the oil

fractions they have taken up. Further, the critics contend
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that once these o0il fractions are accumulated by a marine -
organism, the oil fractiﬁns become more and more concentrated
"as they move up the food ghain. These oil fractions méy con-
tain trace amounts--only a very few parts per million at
most--of compounds 1dentifieq as polynuclear aromatic hydro-
carbons. Some of these are regarded as potential carcinogens.
Thus, the critics contend that ultimately this fraction poses
a threat to human health when an organism contaminated in
this manner becomes part of a person's diet.

This hypothetical syndrome has been articulated
best by Blumer.l*2? Pollowing a spill of No. 2 fuel oil
néar West Falmouth, Massachusetts, in September 1969, Blumer
analyzed oysters, scallops, and other marine organisms and
found that they had taken uﬁ oil fractions. He kept three
oysters in flow;ng sea water in his laboratory. He analyzed

- one oyster after it had Eeen kept 1& this manner for 72 days,
thé other two after 180 days. 'According'to his analyses,
none of thesé three oysters had depurated; that 1s, purged.
themselves, of any of the oll they contailned priér to tﬁe
begipninglof the experiment. He concludes, "Thus, once con-
taminéted,‘shellfish cannot cleanse thgmselves of oil
pollution."!

Qur Committee has sponsored extenslve research on
this problem at seQeral universities and independent research
institutions.' Based on their results and those of other
investigators, we are in complete agrecement that vhen marine

life is exposed to oil, it will take up o0il and become
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contaminated. However, In my extensive review of the litera-
ture, Ilhave not found’a single reference to any other
investigator who confirms Blumer's findings that once con-
taminated, marine organisms retain all of the oil they have
accumulated. ‘ ’

On the contrary, a vast amount of evidence has been
.reported in the last year or two that, without exception,
leads to the opposite conclusion. This evidence constituted
the major part of my testimony presented at the hearing held
4by the Bureau of Land Managehent in September at Corpus Christi.
A copy of this testimony is beiné submitted fpr the record of
this hearing also. However, this question and its implica-
tions are so important that-I must summarize these results
ﬁriefly today. - ' .

‘ Battelle-Northwest Laboratories, in work sponcsored
by API, found that sttérs quickly’purged_themsélves of oil
when placed in oil-free sea water.?® Their work involved tﬁe
’ anal&ses of a few hundred oysters exposed to several dif-
ferent oils. R. D. Andersog of Texas A & M University,
'whosé research was also.sponsored by API, confirmed these
resaits in his work invélving well over a thousand
oysters;“ In work where shrimp, clams, and o&sters Qere
exposed to No. 2 fuel oil under‘field conditions and'then
pléced in the laboratory in oil-free séa water, Cox of Texas
A& M-University also found rapid-depuration.5 His work
involved a minimum of several dozen organisms.' J: .

Anderson, alsoc of Texas A & M Unlversity and funded by API,
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provided further corroboration in his study of several dif-
ferent olls on such diverse harine organisms as clams,®
brown shrimp,7 sheepshead minnows,’ brine shrimp,® and
killifish.® His work.involved several hundred marine
organism Individuals.

Similarly, other investigators report that marine
organisms depprate 0il quickly once their exposure to oil has
terminated. Within three weeks after being exposed to an oil
spill, mussels no longer contained detectable am&unts of oil
in their tissues, accorﬁing to Lee and Benson at Scripps '
Institution of Oceanography near San Diego.l!? Lee and
coworkers!l! found substantial depuration had occurred within
two weeks after mussel specimens had been exposéd to
fadioactive—tagged hydrocarﬁons. In still other work, Lee
and coworkers.exposed sculpin, sand dabs, and mudsuckers to
gadioactive—tagged-naphéhalene and‘radioacti?e—tégged
3,4-benz~a-pyrene, a polynuclear aromatic;hydrocarbon.

iTheée compounds were metabol;zed by the fish in their livers,
and the metabolized products were excreted in their urine.12
'Accqfding to Corner and his associates in England, haphthalene
ié quickly metabolized and excreted by spider crabs.l®
Teal'andVStegeman observed tﬁat_oil¥contaminéted
oystersAdepufated about 90% of the hydrocarbons wifhin
two weeks after being placed in'flowing sea water.l% They
observed some persistent oil contamination contributed by
thelr equipment. This observation probably explains why

the depuration they obtained was not as complete as reported
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by others, who fouhd that in most cases the contamination had
either returned to, or closely approximated, the oriéinal
,backgfound level. )

Altogether, these researchers have exposed thousands
of individual marine organisms of several different kinds to
"several crude oils and petroleum 5roducts. These exposures
have been conducted under both laboratory and field co;ditions.
Moreover, these experiments have taken place in several 4if-
ferent laboratories around our country and England. Without
exception, their results overwhelmingly refute the findings
and conclusions obtaiﬁed by Blumer from his s;hgle experiment
involving a total of only three qysters.‘

) These ?esults which I have just summarized strongly
refute the previously mentioned hypothesis which has been
adopted widely by the critics of our industry. It is now
well established that once an oil sbill ep;sode_has passed,
organisms cleanse themselves quickly of essentially all the

" 01l éontamination they may have incurred. Indeed, this con-
“clusion is shared by the Energy Policy Project of the

Ford foundation,ls the National Academy of Sciences,!® and the
'Mar;ne Technology Society.!? Since marine organisms sub-
jected to an oil spill do not retain oil permahently, we feeli
that it is highly unlikely that such contamination becomes
concentrated by transfer from one trophic level to the next
through the focd chain. Thus, the possibility of transfer

of potentiai.carcinogens by this mechanism so that they
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become a threat to human health becomes extremely‘remote or,
more likely, non-existent. 1

_These latter concluslons are supported by research'
conducted both in the;laboratory and in the field.

The question -of magnifiéation of hydrocarbon con-
centrations occurring'from fransfer up the food chain was
investigatedwby Cox> and J;'W. Anderson.® Neither investi—
gator found any evidence of magnification. -Their observations>
agree with those of Straughan, who found no evidence in her
recently completed two-year study of the marine cohmunity
exposed to the natural oil seep near Santa Barbara.!® Burns
and Teal found no relation between the hydrocérbon content
.of an organism and ifs position in the food chain’in their
"study of the Sargasso Sea c'ommunity.19 Thus, neither labora-
tory work nor field studies support the contention of the
industry's eritics thatjthe concentration of oil increases
as itAprogresﬁes through the food chain. :

APIAresearch concerning the potential carcinogenic
aspects has failed so far to show that any oil fraction has
‘causeéd cahcer in marine organisms.3:!8 fThis part of our
;fdgram is discuésed more extensively in my testiﬁony'pfg-
sented in Corpus.Cﬁfisti last September.2% Nevertheless,

we are continuing to fund work on this compléx and.éfitically
important problem, i '
Exposure at sub-lethal concentrations of oill has

shown no effect on growth rate of marine organisms. .This

conclusion was reached by R. D. Anderson® and Cox5 in %their
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research on oysters and‘shrimp, respectively. Their conclu-
sions aéree-with those obtained by Mackin and Hopkins2! who

"found no difference in the growth rate between oysters grow-
ing in an area subjected to 0il contamination and that of
control oysters in an uhcontaminated area. Nor dida Straughan,

°in_her work supported by API, find that the natural oil seep

near Santa Barbara affected the growth rate of mérine organ-~
4sms living in the akea.l® More recently, these results are
confirmed by Battelle-Northwest studles at Lake Maracaivo,
Venezuela, where lisa, a fish native to that area, were

. exposed for 11 weeks to Tia Juana Medium crude'oilizz_ No
effect on growth rate .was observed. Since growth rate inte-
g;ates many life processes and physiological factors, we are
éncouraged by those resulfs; Part of our reééarch program
is directed towards studying more e*tensively the potential
effecés of éxposure to sub—lethal‘céncentra?ions.

. A concern is often expressed thaﬁ during ¢rilling
operations in offshoré areas, the discharge of spent drilling
nmuds méy be toxic to marine life. Drilling muds are complex
ﬁixtuges confaining manf different components. The éoxicity
of these compOﬂents varies w1dely when tested ind1V¢oua11y
However, fortunately the most toxic components are used only
sparingly in the formulation of phe drilling muds. Their
léﬁ concentrations in the muds are reflected in the high
concentrations of mud in the recéiving watefs that are needed

to produce a-toxic effect.
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- This conclusion is il;ustrated by the work ruported
by Logan, Sprague, and Hicks oflthe University of Guelph
in Ontario, Canada?3 and summarized by Falk and Lawrence.?“
Logan'and coworkers determined by laboratory methods the LC50
(the lethal concentration of.drilling mud in water needed to
.kill half of their test organismé) after an exposure of
96 hours. Their test organisms were lake chub énd rainbow
trout. The LC50's for a 96—h6ur exposure périod ranged from
0.83% to 12.0%. Thus, dilution of only 8~ to about 120-fold,
depending on thg drilling mud being used, would be needed to
render the mud non-toxic even for a 96-hour exposure period.
The currents that normally exist around a platform would
achieve this degree of dilution within a few feet of the
point of discharge and within an elapsed time of only a few
minutes. Thué, the effect of disch?rging drilling muds upon
the health of a marine ééosystem can be considered negligible.

. It is widely believed by the public that whenever‘
an oil spiil of any reasonably large magnitude occurs, the
aftermath is a major devastation of marine life. Further,
.fhe pﬁblic is.coqditioned to believe that this devastation
wiliupersist for an extended period of time. .

A comprehensive survey of more than-a hundred majof
spills that occurred throughcut the world over a l2-year
period (1960-1971) was made by Ottway.25 An analysis of
‘the data from this survey revealed that birds represented the

.type of marine life most often significantly aflfected. In

over 75% of the spills less than 50 blrds were involved.
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For other forms of marine life where damage could be;
described'as extensive: the incidence was even less.éé
These.levels are probably low because some of the spills

may nbt have been adequately reported. Nevertheless, only

a small number of spills, most notably the West Falmouth

and the Tampico Maru spills, resulted in significant damage
lasting a year or more. The latter spill, incidentally,
occurred near Baja California in Mexico in 1957} Comparéble
damage resulted ffom the Torrey Canyon spill, but it is
genera;ly acknowledged that this damage resulted primarily
from the use éf improperly formulated dispersants applied

in an imbroper manner rather than from the effect_of'the oil
‘itself. All three of these spills occurred near shore.

.On the other hand, spills'from offshore platforms
have been relétivély rare. Of the .18,000 wells drilled in
our continental waters éver the past 25 years, only one spill -
evén,reached the beach in a quantity that required extensivé
cleanup. Its effect on marine life was slight .and temporary.2?’
Onlylth other significant platform spills have occurred,28,29
Coincidentally, both of these were in the Gulf of Mexico in
1970. One of these was studied extensively to assess 1tsg
environmental impact. Its damage to marine life was incon-
sequential.za‘ By all standards, this record of the offshore
industry is impressive, A .

Thg factors that are résponsible for the wide
varlations in the énvironmental effects of oil spillé are

identified and discussed in detail by Straughan.3? The
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) factofs she 1dentifies as determining the extent of biological
damage are: ’ I
. The type of o0l1l spill-d.
. The dosé of oil;
- . The physiography of the area.

. Weather conditions.

1
2
3
]
5., -The-type -of looal bilota.
6.. The season.
7.  Previous exposure of the area to oll.
8. Exposuré to other pollutants.
9. The tféatment of the spiil.
However, McAuliffe observes that three conditions
are especially crifibal; and for a spill to have signifiéant
'.enivronmental damage, all fsree conditions must exist simul-
taneously.3! fThese éonditions are£
1. The voluﬁe of o1l spilled must be large with
respect to the body of water being impacted.
2. The oil should be a refined 0il, such as a
No. 2 fuel oil.
3. Storms or heavy surf must éause the’spilied oil
td be churned into the bottom sediments. )
Indeed, éll_three conditions did exist in the case
of the two spills, the West Falmouth and the'Tamgico Maru
spills, in which significant damage atfributed to the oil
itself persisted Beyond a year or two. In each case, the

oil spi1ll iInvolved a No. 2 fuel oil, which was confined in a

small area of shallow water for several days. Storms and/or
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heavy surf caused the oil to be churned into th¢ bottom
sediment. . ‘ .

“In contrast, offshore platforms are almost without
vexception located in ﬁnconfined areas and in reasonably deep
Qaters. Thus, the first conditlion outlined by McAuliffe can
* rarely be met. Moreover, é platform produces crude oil,
which 1s substantially less toxic than most refined oils.
Thus, the absence of at least two factors minimlze the risk to
the marine ecosystem. - '

Moreover, it must be remembered that since platforms
are usually located well offshére, substantial changes 1n the
character of the crude oil once it is spilled-will éccur_before
it reached the nearshore zépe, which is the mosf biologically
.vulnerable area. Once oiliis spillled, there is time for
the lighter §il fractions to evaporate. Within a matter of
hours, components of_cr#de 0il as heavy as gasoline have )
escape& into the atmosphére.32 These fraations are gen-
'eraily'acknowiedged as thé most toxic fracﬁions. This con-
élusion is confirmed by_work conducted by Battelle-Northwest
"at Lake Maracaibo, Venezuela. They demohstrated that after
Qﬁiy two hours Qeathering, the toxicity of the oil to shrimp

had dropped substantially.?2

This drop correlated closely
with an attendant drop”in concentration of light aromatics
in the water column.

.There ié time alsé for man& of the components of

the crude oll to be dispersed or, for some components, to be

dissolved in the water column. Subsequent dilution rapidly
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reduces their concentration to Far below toxic levels.
Further, their presence in the water column is oftenlshdrt-
lived  because many components partition readily from the water
into the atmosphere.35 And finally, if a spili should
threaten a nearshore zone of shoreline, there is time for
" cleanup equipment to be placed ih operation to combat the
spill effectively. ' A

All sectors of our nation badly need the oil that
will be obtained from.additional offshore production. Our
industry needs this oil to opérate‘its.refineries. However,
far more importantly; the consumer needs the products and
energy this oil will provide. Without questian, our nation
desperately needs this oil for its self—sufficiency‘and'
économic independence. In.view of the excellent record of .
the offshore industry, our Committee is convinced that addi-
tional offshore production is the aﬁternative'that can provide

‘

the energy we need with the least envirdnmental risk.

1-23.75
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INTRODUCTION

A continuing concern of the petroleum industry is the
protection and improvement of the environment. For this reason,
the American Petroleum Institute sponsors -- in whole or in part
-- a substantial number of scientific research projects in the
environmental area. Additionally, the petroleum companies in
the United States independently sponsor such research.

In 1975, API budgeted $2.3 million for its environ-
mental research program. API has sponsored such research programs
for a number of years, with some funding going to projects
sponsored directly by API through its Environmental Affairs
unit and some going to research and activities of the Air
Pollution Research Advisory Committee (APRAC) of the Coordinating
Research Council (CRC). The APRAC program -- now in its eighth
year -~ concentrates on the study of automotive air pollution.

The program is supported jointly by API and the Motor Vehicles
Manufacturers Association (MVMA).

This report summarizes completed API research and
completed APRAC research, as well as on-going API projects.

Extra copies of this report are available from
Publication Services, American Petroleum Institute, 1801 K
Street, NW, Washington, DC 20006.

Additional information on any of the research projects
described in this report can be obtained from the Committee on
Environmental Affairs, at the same address.

APRAC projects, both completed and on-going, are
reported in the APRAC Annual Status Report {(January 1975),
which can be obtained from the Coordinating Research Council,
30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, NY 10020.
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COMPLETED PROJECTS
SPONSORED DIRECTLY BY THE
AMERICAN PETROLEUM INSTITUTE

OIL SPILLS (0S)

TITLE: Performance Testing of Prototype Systems
and Devices to Remove and Separate Spilled
0il (0S-5a)

OBJECTIVE: To design, construct, and demonstrate

performance in the open sea of two new
types of oil skimmers and an open-center (voraxial) oil-water
separator.

CONTRACTOR: Reynolds Submarine Services Corporation

RESULTS: The final report has been completed and
approved; completion of a documentary
film of the sea tests is pending.

TITLE: Performance Testing of Prototype Systems
and Devices to Remove and Separate

Spilled 0il (0S-5B)

OBJECTIVE: To design, construct, and demonstrate the
performance of an open-sea Dynamic Inclined
Plane (DIP) o0il skimmer.

CONTRACTOR: JBF Scientific Corporation

RESULTS: Construction of the skimmer was completed,

certification by the USCG obtained, and
successful test demonstrations performed in the Boston Harbor
area.

A draft final report is undergoing review,
and a documentary film of the construction of the skimmer (DIP-
4001) and its shakedown, harbor, and sea trials is in preparation

TITLE: Performance Testing of Prototype Systems
and Devices to Remove and Separate Spilled
0il (0S-5C)

OBJECTIVE: Phase I: To design, fabricate, and test

scale models of an articulated, wave-
conforming oil-skimming vessel for operation in the open sea; and
to prepare a preliminary design and cost estimate of a prototype
vessel.
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CONTRACTOR: Shell Pipeline Research & Development
Laboratory

RESULTS: Phase I of this project was initiated

in mid-1973. The fabrication and testing
of the scale model has been completed and reviewed with the
task force.

Phase II, which consists of a full-size
prototype design meeting naval architectural specifications and
including detailed drawings, is complete.

TITLE: Shoreline Protection and Restoration
{0s-17C)

OBJECTIVE: To conduct a feasibility study of methods
for protecting shorelines from oil spills

CONTRACTOR: TRACOR, Inc.

RESULTS: This project covered a nine-month study

on the use of polymeric films to protect
shorelines endangered by spilled oil. Phase I involved the
selection of candidate systems from which 13 resins were chosen
for further study. 1In Phase II, film characteristics of the
candidate systems were analyzed, and two were selected for
simulated beach tests. The actual tests in Phase III demonstrated
that resins should be considered for further development as
a viable procedure for protecting beaches.

A final report is expected to be released

shortly.
TITLE: Sorbent Recovery System (0S-18)
OBJECTIVE: Phase I -- to demonstrate the feasibility

of harvesting oil-soaked sorbents by using
a modified commercial weed-harvesting device.

Phase II -~ to design an effective system
for harvesting oil-soaked absorbents in sheltered waters.

CONTRACTOR: Ocean Design and Engineering Corporation

RESULTS : An effective method for harvesting oil-

soaked sorbents in sheltered waters has
been illustrated through detailed construction drawings that
will be reduced, assembled, and bound for API Publication No.
4235. .
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TITLE: Clinical Studies of Toxicity of 0il in
Water (0S-20C)

OBJECTIVE: To determine the effects of oil on physio-
logic parameters; how aquatic animals become
contaminated with 011 which is in solution, absorbed on particles
(sediment), or in the food chain (ingestion of contaminated
organisms); the extent and rate of accumulation of oil and
the sites of contamination; the retention and turnover of animal
tissue containing oil; and the sequential accumulation of oil in
larger species via the food chain. Test organisms include
oysters, clams, marine worms, shrimp, and fish species.

CONTRACTOR: Texas A&M University (Dr. J.W. Anderson)

RESULTS: A draft summary report has been prepared.
All significant objectives of the project
have been attained, including determination of:

® Comparative toxicities of four
oils to a variety of organisms;

e Rates of exchange of hydro-
carbons between the organisms;

® Levels of hydrocarbon necessary
to elicit an abnormal physiological
response;

® Specific hydrocarbons in tissue
of exposed-test species and their
rate of depuration in oil-free
‘water.

Further field studies that relate to this
completed 0S-20C project are underway under Project 0S-20P.

TITLE: Survey of Sublethal Effects on Biota of
Natural Chronic Exposure to 0il (0S-20D)

OBJECTIVE: To determine, at locations subject to
long term oil seepage (Specifically, Coal

0il Point), whether the incidence of growth irregularities and

abnormalities in marine biota is different from control areas.

CONTRACTOR: University of Southern California, Allan
Hancock Foundation (Dr. Dale Straughan)

RESULTS: During this two-year project beginning in
March 1972, six cruises were conducted at
three-month intervals to sample the benthic organisms at oiled
and unoiled locations. Abalone populations at these sites were
sampled at two-month intervals, weather permitting. Intertidal
areas were sampled at bi-monthly intervals for the first six
months of the second year. Additional samplings of abalone,
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mussels, and lobsters were conducted to permit more extensive
observations of these edible species.

An important observation based on the benthic
work to date is that while the total extractable hydrocarbon
level in benthic sediments in the Coal 0il Point area can be
very high (up to 60,000 milligrams per liter), the amount of
dissolved hydrocarbons in the water is remarkably low (0.4 to
0.5 milligram per liter have been recorded in water samples at
"control" sites.)

Tissue analyses have been conducted on
abalone, lobster, and mussels. While evaluation of these
analyses is not complete, certain trends are emerging:

(1) Presence of oil in tissues
at Coal 0il Point is not uniform;
i.e., while some animals contain
petroleum hydrocarbons, others of
the same species do not.

(2) Petroleum hydrocarbons recorded
to date in abalone and lobster
are predominantly in the viscera
and gonads, and not in the muscle
tissue -- the edible portion
of the animal.

Experimental work on the project was completed
in the spring of 1974. The findings are being reported in a
number of scientific papers which are in preparation. A draft
final report is being prepared.

TITLE: Natural Biodegradation of 0il in Aqueous
Environments 203~75

OBJECTIVE: To determine the rate and mechanisms of
degradation and ultimate fate of oil in

the marine environment through the activity of micro-organisms

naturally present in the environment; identify oil biodegradation

products by generic types; and determine the percentage of oil

components that evidence little or no attack by micro-organisms.

CONTRACTOR: University of Maryland (Professor R.
] Colwell), with a sub-contract to Gulf
Research for analytical support

RESULTS: All microbiological work on this project

has been completed, and all samples have
been submitted to Gulf Research for chemical analysis. The
final report should be completed by March 1, 1975.
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Preliminary results indicate that alkanes
and aromatics are more readily oxidized than asphaltenes and
resins. Microbial oxidations in shake flasks were generally
completed within four weeks.

Oxidation rate curves for various classes
of compounds in the four reference oils are being plotted and
correlated with microbial inoculum from polluted and non-polluted
areas.

TITLE: Oyster Field Studies (0S-20J)

OBJECTIVE: To determine effects of oil upon oysters
under conditions of natural exposure
occurring in the Gulf of Mexico, by observations with regard
to lethal effects, if present; sublethal effects, such as impaired
growth, development, and alteration of selected physiological
parameters; carcinogenesis, mutagenesis and teratogenesis; and
uptake, metabolism, and turnover of oil fractions in oyster
tissues.

CONTRACTOR: Texas A&M University (Dr. J.W. Anderson)

RESULTS: Oysters were collected from West Bay
(Galveston) and placed at Morgans Point and

Trinity Bay locations for oil pick-up. Background levels of the

collected oysters were high, yet depuration of this initial

oil contamination after exposure in an oil-~free location was

demonstrated, as well as oil-pick-up at the o0il exposure site

at Morgans Point. More extensive field studies will be conducted

under 0S-20P, using an offshore platform for both exposure and

depuration. Project 0S-20J has been terminated.

TITLE: Reference Test 0Oil Repository 208-75

OBJECTIVE: To provide a source of standard reference
test oils for biological studies.

CONTRACTOR: Texas A&M University (Professor J.W. Anderson)

RESULTS: Four reference oils have been used extensively
in API-sponsored programs; Kuwait crude,

a South Louisiana crude, a No. 2 fuel oil (38 per cent aromatic),

and a Venezuelan Bunker "C." They have been designated API-

Reference Oils I, II, III, and IV, respectively. A number of

barrels of each are now in storage from which samples may be

obtained at a nominal cost by applying to Dr. J.W. Anderson at

Texas A&M. Analytical information on these o0ils (obtained from

Exxon Research and Engineering Company) is also provided with

the reference oils.
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TITLE: Beneficial Stimulation of Bacterial
Activity in Ground Waters Containing
Petroleum Products (0S-21.2)

OBJECTIVE: To determine methods of promoting bacterial
decomposition of petroleum components
in groundwaters.

CONTRACTOR: Sun Ventures, Inc.

RESULTS: 0S-21.2 has shown that introduction of

air and fertilizer into groundwater was
of value in stimulating and promoting the desired bacterial
activity on gasoline in a field experiment. Of approximately
80,000 gallons of gasoline which reached the groundwater table,
about 40,000 was recovered by pumping numerous shallow wells.
Addition of nitrogen and phosphorus salts in conjunction with
air diffuser pumps to stimulate a bacterial decomposition of the
remaining gasoline resulted in significant disposal of up to
250 gallons of gasoline per day. A report of this project
will also include reference to subsurface water contamination
by gasoline in other areas.

STATIONARY SOURCES (SS)

TITLE: Investigation of the Effect of Combustion
Parameters on Emissions from Residential
and Commercial Heating Equipment SS-5 (Phase III)

OBJECTIVE: To develop reliable emission factors
for residential and commercial heating
equipment.

CONTRACTOR: Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus
Laboratory

NOTE: This project has been jointly supported

by the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency and API.

The Phase III report will be published
by the National Technical Information Service.
TITLE: Odor Evaluation (SS-6)
OBJECTIVE: To develop a case history of refinery
odor problems and their solutions of the

attempt to quantify and identify refinery odors.

CONTRACTOR: Midwest Research Institute
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RESULTS: Interviews were conducted with represen-
tatives of twelve refineries covering
twenty-nine odor sources and nine odor control techniques.

A total of 402 odor samples for SO;,
NH4. and hydrocarbons were collected from five refineries.
Analysis of the samples will be included in the final report,
which is expected by early 1975.

BASIC RESEARCH (BR)

TITLE: Environmental Expenditures of Petroleum
Industry 601-75
OBJECTIVE: To determine the annual environmental

expenditures of the petroleum industry.
CONTRACTOR: Data tabulation by Haskins & Sells
RESULTS: The final report of the 1973 survey was

distributed by API in early November.
A similar study is planned for 1974 expenditures.

WATER QUALITY (W)

TITLE: Effluent Guidelines for Petroleum Industry
(W=7)

OBJECTIVE: To assist in the development of equitable
effluent guidelines.

CONTRACTOR: Crossley, Inc. -- Tabulation; Brown &
Root -- Analysis

RESULTS: This project is now complete. The Brown &

Root report, Analysis of the 1972 API-EPA
Raw Waste Load Survey Data, has been distributed as API Publication
No. 4200. Computer analysis of the data facilitated the develop-
ment of a new math model approach for establishing effluent
flow rates and COD and BOD raw waste loads from a simple calculation
of the "process complexity"” of individual refineries. The math
model approach is being refined and expanded in the W-13 project.

A companion report, Variability of Refinery
Wastewater Effluent, was issued in August 1974 (Interim Report
No. CEA-~7). Further study on this subject is planned.
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COMPLETED PROJECTS SPONSORED
THROUGH THE
AIR POLLUTION RESEARCH ADVISORY COMMITTEE
OF THE
COORDINATING RESEARCH COUNCIL

ENGINEERING _(CAPE)

TITLE: Improved Instrumentation for Determination
of Exhaust Gas Nitrogen Oxides and Oxygenate
Content {(CRC Project CAPE-11-68) -

OBJECTIVE: To develop improved instrumentation for

continuous measurement of exhaust gases
for nitrogen oxides and oxygenate content on a concentration
mass and reactivity basis.

CONTRACTOR: Bureau of Mines

RESULTS: The Bureau of Mines has measured levels

of carbonyl and non-carbonyl oxygenates
in exhaust from three current model automobiles equipped with
emission control devices. Three fuels of varying characteristics
were used in cars equipped with an oxidation catalyst and exhaust
gas recirculation, a lean thermal reactor and exhaust gas
recirculation, and an oxidation and reduction catalyst without
exhaust gas recirculation.

In general, the aldehyde levels were found
to be higher than the other oxygenates that were measured. The
aldehyde levels for the vehicle equipped with the oxidation-
catalyst were slightly less than levels found with the oxidation-
reduction catalyst, and both were much lower than the aldehyde
level of emissions from the lean thermal reactor. Little or
no effect on oxygenate emissions was attributable either to
fuel composition or to ambient temperature. A final report is
scheduled for publication early in 1975.

ATMOSPHERIC (CAPA)

TITLE: Factors Affecting Reactions in Environ-
mental Chambers (CRC Project CAPA-1-69)

OBJECTIVE: To study how various design and operational
variables affect the reactions which occur
in environmental chambers.

CONTRACTOR: Lockheed Missiles and Space Company, Inc.
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RESULTS: An experimental study was conducted on

the effects of various environmental
(smog) chamber designs and operational variables on the photo-
chemical reactions of hydrocarbons and NO,. The effects of
materials, spectra, surface to volume ratio (S/V), and cleaning
techniques on the photochemical reactions observed in an environ-
mental chamber are included in the research. A unique chamber
and lighting -system was used, permitting independent variation
in chamber materials and in light conditions.

The time to NOj maximum occurred fastest
in a chamber of stainless steel, followed in order by aluminum,
Pyrex, and Teflon. Maximum ozone concentration increases in
this order: stainless steel, Pyrex, aluminum, Teflon.

Using a spectrum cutting out energy below
340 nm wavelength strikingly lowers reaction rates compared to
the full spectrum. The presence of this large spectral effect
was not anticipated and cannot be easily explained. S/V was
also found to affect the reactions measurably. Using the two
cleaning techniques indicated little difference in drawing off
the chamber gases in a high-vacuum space chamber or in purging
the chamber with pure air.

A final report will be available early

in 1975.
MEDICAL (CAPM)
TITLE: Effects of Carbon Monoxide on Human
Behavior (CRC Project CAPM-3-68)
OBJECTIVE: To increase knowledge of the effects of

exposures to air pollutants, with special
emphasis on impairment of behavior not preceded by symptoms.

CONTRACTOR: Medical College of Wisconsin

RESULTS: The synergistic effect of CO and two
commonly prescribed drugs, phenacetin and
Benadryl, were evaluated. No synergistic effects were observed
in the study. Three additional observations were made: (1)
the occurrence of CO induced headaches at COHb saturations of
14 per cent; (2) the possible effect of CO exposure on EEG
activity at this level; and (3) the finding that phenactin, as
an analgestic, did not lessen the headaches induced by the
CO exposure.

. The effects of CO and ethyl alcohol on
behavioral test performance were assessed at 24-hour exposure as
compared to a 5 1/2-hour exposure to identical concentrations of CO.
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A dose level of 1.6ml-100 proof alcohol/kg body weight and a
COHb blood level of approximately 14 per cent were chosen.

The data obtained from tests of coordination,
arithmetic, inspection, manual dexterity, time estimation, and
vigilance did not provide evidence to substantiate that a 24-
hour exposure to low levels of CO has deleterious effects on
behavior and that alcohol would potentiate such effects.

The  spontaneous electroencephalogram (EEG)
and the visual evoked cortical electrical activity (visual evoked
response, VER) were studied in young adult males to ascertain
the effects of exposure to carbon monoxide (CO). The EEG was
generally resistant to change during 8 hours of exposure of
50 to 500 parts per million (ppm) CO, and 24 hours of exposure
at the lower CO concentrations (maximum carboxyhemoglobin
saturations of 10 and 22 percent). During the 8-hour exposures,
the VER was generally resistant to change until COHb levels
of 22 per cent were achieved, while with 24 hours of exposure
changes were evident even at the lowest concentrations (COHb =
4-10 per cent). This change, an increase in VER wave amplitude,
suggests that these exposures induced central nervous system
depression. Finally, during three hours of exposure (10 per
cent COHb), the absence of a general CO effect was still evident
when exposure was combined with phenacetin ingestion, Benadryl
ingestion, or cessation of chronic cigarette smoking.

A final report on this project will be
published shortly.

TITLE: Effects of Low Levels of Nitrogen Oxides
upon Humans (CRC Project CAPM-10-71)

OBJECTIVE: To obtain information required to assess
the effects of low levels of NOy upon humans.

CONTRACTORS: Research Triangle Institute

RESULTS: The final report, which summarizes nitrogen

dioxide data collected from September 1972
to December 1973, has been published. 1In addition, the compar-
ability of nine methods for monitoring NOg in ambient air, using
data obtained during the period July 1972 through April 30, 1973,
have been documented. The nine methods include six 24-hour
bubbler methods, two continuous Saltzman methods, and the
chemiluminescent method.

Seasonal and diurnal variations in NOj
concentration were more prominent at sites located near the
point source (TNT plant), as opposed to sites removed from the
"influence of the point source. Nitrogen dioxide concentrations
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observed at sites removed from the point source show character-
istic diurnal patterns that can be related to morning and evening
traffic patterns. Mean NO; concentrations measured in the
Chattanooga area have decreased significantly since the original
1968-1969 Chattanooga Study. During the period September 1972

to December 1973, the ambient air quality standard of 100 ug/m3
was not exceeded nor closely approached at any of the seven

sites. The collection of aerometric and health data is continuing
with support from EPA.

TITLE: Effects of Low Levels of Oxidant upon

Humans (CRC Project CAPM-11-71)

OBJECTIVE: To obtain information required to assess
the effects of low levels of oxidants upon
humans.

CONTRACTOR: Copley International Corporation

RESULTS: In March 1973, Copley International

Corporation began a second year of
participation in a coordinated series of epidemiologic studies
conducted in the Los Angeles Basin. CIC measured selected health
characteristics of persons residing in three communities of the
Los Angeles Basin. The communities reflected an exposure
gradient for ambient oxidant air pollution. Health indicators
which were investigated include frequency of acute respiratory
illness, ventilatory performance of school children, frequency
and severity of ashma attacks in a panel of patients, and pollutant
burden of trace metals. A report has been published. The
collection of aerometric and health data is continuing with
support from EPA.

TITLE: Influence of Carbon Monoxide Levels upon
Incidence of Motor Vehicle Accidents
(CRC Project CAPM-12-69)

OBJECTIVE: To determine if a relationship exists

between the carbon monoxide exposure of
motor vehicle operators and the incidence of motor vehicle
accidents.

CONTRACTOR: Stanford Research Institute

RESULTS: Stanford Research Institute performed a
literature search to determine the state
of knowledge of the degree to which atmospheric carbon monoxide
occurring in the heavy traffic of urban roadways is a
contributing factor to vehicle accidents. Attempts to relate
high levels of atmospheric CO or blood COHb to accidents have

51-748 O - 75 - 12
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suggested that driver fatalities do have higher levels of COHb
(independent of the fact that they also have higher alcohol
levels) than do drivers not involved in an accident. The
contribution of smoking rather than absorption of atmospheric
CO has, however, not been determined.

Stanford Research Institute's literature
review and planning study are available in a final report.

TITLE: Eye Irritation and Lachrymation (CRC
Project CAPM-17-71)

OBJECTIVE: To measure eye irritation threshold response

times, using the atmosphere as the exposure
medium during the smog season and to define the mechanism of the
lachrymation process, with special emphasis on injuries induced
by gaseous and particulate air pollutants.

CONTRACTOR: Copley International Corporation

RESULTS: Copley International Corporation conducted
a critical literature review of eye
irritation and lachrymation in relation to air pollution.

Literature was obtained through an abstract
search performed by the Environmental Protection Agency, Air
Pollution Technical Information Center; a search of journals
in local libraries; and contact with individuals who conducted
eye irritation studies in the past. Sixty-three such individuals
were contacted, and 42 (67 per cent) responded.

Information from all sources was critically
reviewed and summarized in a published report. Gaps in the
present knowledge were identified, and appropriate research was
recommended.
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NEW AND CONTINUING API PROJECTS

ENGINE FUELS (EF)

TITLE: Gasoline Composition and Photochemical
Smog (EF-8)
OBJECTIVE: To determine the effect of gasoline

composition on automotive exhaust composition
and on the development of photochemical smog. Photochemical
smog manifestations of principal interest are: eye irritation,
aerosol formation (visibility reduction), oxidation formation,
and NO conversion.

CONTRACTOR: Battelle, Columbus Laboratories

RESULTS: The experimental work on this project has
been completed. Emphasis is presently
on data analysis.

The results of this study indicate that
fuel composition has no significant effect on eye irritation or
oxidation formation. Visibility reduction was observed under
certain conditions. In other experiments involving synthetic
exhaust mixtures, no change in aerosol formation was observed
as the aromatic concentration increased.

TITLE: Los Angeles Aerometric Analysis 401-75

OBJECTIVE: To determine the trends in atmospheric

pollutants and correlate these trends with
estimates of the inventory of each pollutant, as well as their
environmental effects; and to evaluate the efficacy of control
regulations and the effect of proposed control measures on the
atmosphere.

CONTRACTOR: University of Wisconsin

RESULTS: Data on seven pollutants (hydrocarbon,

carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide, nitric
oxide, nitrogen dioxide, particulate, and oxidant) taken over a
seventeen year period have been analyzed for trends and diurnal
variability to determine the relationships between pollutants
and stations.

The effect of traffic and meteorological
variables on the final pollutant loading and the effect of week-
end-versus-weekday traffic on the concentration of the various
pollutants are being investigated.
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Several reports on this study have been
prepared and are available from the University of Wisconsin.
Papers have also been presented at the Air Pollution Control
Association meetings.

To date, the data have indicated that
oxidant and CO showed a marked reduction in concentration in
the Central, Southern, and Western parts of the Los Angeles Basin.
On the other hand, reductions to the North and East have been
very small.

TITLE: Vehicle Refueling Evaporative Emissions
Control 402-75

OBJECTIVE: To determine the feasibility and cost-

effectiveness of possible methods for control-
ling evaporative emissions during vehicle refueling at the service
station; to determine the status of development of various
commercially available control systems; and to develop and validate
in the field a standardized test procedure, including develop-
ment of a performance standard for design of a nozzle/fillpipe
interface.

CONTRACTORS: Refinery Management Services Co.; Olson
Laboratories, Inc.; Scott Research
Laboratories, Inc.; Stanford Research Institute

RESULTS: A Phase I study of the cost-effectiveness

of various methods of control was completed
by Refinery Management Services. Phase II included an experi-
mental study of control on the vehicle by Olson Laboratories,
using activated carbon and a study under the direction of Scott
Research of the direct displacement system in service stations.
Interim reports have been issued on both studies.

Phase III, an evaluation of the status of
development and performance of various commercially available
control systems and of related control hardware, has been
completed by the contractor, Olson Laboratories. An interim
report has been released.

Phase IV involves the development of a
standardized test procedure which can be universally used to
evaluate control systems of all types, an attempt to develop a
performance standard which may be used by both automotive
manufacturers and nozzle manufacturers for design of mutually
compatible fillpipe and tight-fit nozzles. The nozzle/fillpipe
performance standard is targeted for completion by the end of
1974. The test procedure is targeted for the first quarter
of 1975. And, the temperature survey will be completed in one
year. SRI is assisting with Phase IV.
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TITLE: Fuel Economy of Emission Controlled Cars
(EF-17)

OBJECTIVE: To assess the fuel economy of passenger

cars in the United States, with emphasis
on the effect of emission control modifications.

CONTRACTOR: Runzheimer & Co.

RESULTS: All available data on up to 150,000 fleet
vehicles will be analyzed, with completion
expected early in 1975.

TITLE: Alcohols as Fuels -- a Technical Evaluation
(EF-18)

OBJECTIVE: To complete an evaluation of ethyl and
methyl alcohols as potential sources of fuel.

CONTRACTOR: Dr. William F. Biller

RESULTS: All pertinent literature is being reviewed

and a comprehensive survey of private,
unpublished researches has been completed.

A first draft of the automotive applications
section has been completed and is being reviewed by the task
force. First drafts of the remaining sections are in preparation.

OIL SPILLS (0S)

TITLE: Oiled Waterfowl Rehabilitation 302~75

OBJECTIVE: To perform research, consulting, and
informational functions relating to the
cleaning and rehabilitation of oiled birds.

CONTRACTOR: Wildlifé Rehabilitation Center, Framingham,
Massachusetts (Phillip B. Stanton)

RESULTS: A manual is currently being prepared on

the cleaning program outlined at an Oiled
Bird Workshop held in May at the Patuxent Wildlife Research
Center. Additional work includes continuous studies on seabird
nutrition and establishment of bird rehabilitation centers at
various zoos.

TITLE: Hormone and Electrolyte Therapy for Oiled
Waterfowl 303-75
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OBJECTIVE: To investigate the effects of ingested
crude oil and petroleum products on marine
birds. \

RESULTS: Progress has been made toward elucidation

of the effects of crude oil on the mucosal
transfer rate in ducklings. The Alaska North Slope o0il results
have been verified, and an examination is underway of the
effects of the various distillation fractions derived from this
oil. With regard to long-term effects of ingested oil, mature
salt-water adapted birds are more resistant than young birds
are to Kuwait and Santa Barbara crudes and to No. 2 fuel oil.

TITLE: 1975 Conference on Prevention and Control
of 0il Pollution 304-75

OBJECTIVE: To hold a fourth conference on the prevention
and control of oil pollution.

CONTRACTORS: Courtesy Associates -- Conference Management
Trade Association Inc. -~ Exhibits Manage-
ment

RESULTS: The 1975 Conference is jointly sponsored

by the U.S. Coast Guard, the U.S. Environ-
mental Protection Agency, and the API. It will be held at the
Hyatt Regency Hotel in San Francisco, March 25-27, 1975.

During the three concurrent sessions of
the Conference, there will be an exhibition of oil prevention
and control equipment and materials and a film festival.
Approximately one hundred manuscripts have been accepted for
presentation or inclusion in the Conference proceedings, which
will be published by API.

TITLE: Shoreline Protection and Restoration
. 305-75
OBJECTIVE: To conduct a feasibility study on biological

methods for protecting and restoring shore-
lines from contamination.

CONTRACTOR: Exxon Research and Engineering Company

RESULTS: Experimental evidence indicates that

extracellular products of certain micro-
organisms in various physical forms and several natural plant
polysaccharides are effective in preventing the wetting of
surfaces of dry rocks of various compositions and porosities
by several different types of oils.
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The results of a series of laboratory and
field tests also provide information concerning the required
dosage levels of the protecting agents, the methods necessary
for application, the effects of temperature, the duration of
the protection offered, and the overall efficiency of the micro-
biological and natural product systems.

A supplementary 6-month study to determine
the feasibility of using these microbiological products to
protect and/or restore salt marsh grass from oil spills and
0il contamination ‘has been completed, and a repeat is in
preparation.

TITLE: Shoreline Protection and Restoration 305-75

OBJECTIVE: To conduct a feasibility study on the
applicability and effectiveness of chemical

surfactant substances for the protection of shorelines which

might be in danger of becoming fouled by oil floating on

water and for cleaning and restoration of shorellnes that have

been fouled by oil.

CONTRACTOR: Shell Pipeline Research & Development
Laboratory
RESULTS: |, No reports relating to applicable inorganic

chemicals have been completed. One candidate
organic chemical has been reported. Selection of candidate
chemicals for restoration is nearing completion, with two classes
of compounds selected (silicates and borates). Material
acquisition and design of test facilities are also nearing
completion. The contractor has consulted with Exxon regarding
0S-17A and has procured oil samples and rocks identical to those
used in the 0S-17A tests.

The program will consist of a literature

review and laboratory tests for the selection of chemical
substances to accomplish the objective of the project.

TITLE: Fate of Qils in a Water Environment

(0S-20F)
OBJECTIVE: To make a comprehensive determination of

what happens to oil spilled in a water
environment; to develop mass balance relationships among the
various physical, chemical, and micro-biological factors which
define the partition, distribution, and transport of oil and its
degradation products into the atmosphere, water column, sediments,
and biota.
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CONTRACTOR: USC, Dept. of Geological Sciences (Dr.
R.L. Kolpack)

RESULTS: Publication of the Phase I final report,
comprising an evaluation of the literature
and an annotated bibliography is expected in early 1975.

The contractor has submitted a status
report covering development of a mathematical simulation model
of the fate of an o0il spill. The project has been extended
for another 15 months in order to complete the mathematical model
by the end of 1975. Included in next year's work will be the
improvement of model efficiency and structure, systematic
development of algorithms, testing of model vs. documented
results of three major oil spills, and application of the model
to revise priorities for future research.

TITLE: West Falmouth Follow-Up Studies (0S5-20L)

OBJECTIVE: To determine the state of recovery of the
entire West Falmouth area effected by the
1969 spill.

CONTRACTOR: Dr. Alan Michael, Marine Biological
Laboratory, Woods Hole, Massachusetts

RESULTS: Sampling of numerous stations, including

control sites unaffected by the 1969 oil
spill, have been analyzed for hydrocarbon content and statistics
compiled on the number and types of species found.

The benthic fauna of the area have sub-

stantially recovered, although the number of species in the Wild
Harbor marsh is lower than -at a control marsh including certain
species usually found in stress situations. It is not known
whether lower densities at the control are due to the oil or
natural differences in the productivity of the two marshes.
In the period from March to September 1973, offshore stations
have fewer species but similar densities to control stations.
The offshore area is closer to total recovery than either the
marsh or boat basin. Some stations are completely purged of
oil, according to chemical analysis by Battelle.

TITLE: Chemical Analysis in House 204-75

OBJECTIVE: To analyze occasional samples for which
the industry has special facilities
and to check analytical results obtained by our contractors.

CONTRACTOR: Member Company Laboratories
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RESULTS: A complete characterization by mass spectro-
metric analysis of the four reference oils

being used in the laboratory biological studies sponsored by

API was the principal effort under this project in the past

year. This work was done by Exxon Research and Engineering

Company.

TITLE: Field Study of Effects of 0il on Marine
Animals 206-75

OBJECTIVE: To apply the extensive data and technology
gained in laboratory models to the reality
of the natural marine environment; study various marine organisms
in different levels of oil and effluent contamination from
petroleum operations in Gulf of Mexico and bay waters, with
respect to a number of parameters -- mortality, growth (inhibition
and/or enhancement), altered physiology, carcinogenesis,
reproduction, food-web effects, etc. The findings are to be
related to appropriate measurements of hydrocarbons in the
environment and animal tissues, utilizing newly developed analytical
test procedures.

CONTRACTOR: Texas A&M University (Dr. J.W. Anderson)

RESULTS: Efforts are being made to locate a field
laboratory on an offshore platform for

such studies as depuration, effects of o0il on benthic communities,

effects of oil on sensory mechanisms of various organisms,

effects of o0il on zooplankton, and absorption and retention of

oil in bottom sediments.

Extensive sampling of bottom sediment and
benthos have established hydrocarbon concentration and composition
in Trinity Bay near a separator platform. Arrangements have
been made to use the flowing sea water system at Sea Arama
(Galveston) to pursue the above studies. A field test site,
utilizing the flowing water from the fire main system of an
offshore platform, is also being readied. Finally, the accumula-
tion and toxicity of a #2 Fuel 0il on the manthis shrimp
(Squilla) was determined by Laboratory bioassay.

TITLE: Biodegradation of 0il in Soil (0S-21.3,
0S-21.4)
OBJECTIVE: To develop methods for speeding up bio-

degradation of crude oils and crankcase
0ils; and to determine possible detrimental effects of oil
disposal by the land spreading process.

CONTRACTORS: Sun Ventures, Inc.
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RESULTS: This investigation involves field tests of

techniques for working various oils at
different concentrations into a range of soils under varying
climatic conditions; proper aeration, chemicals, and moisture
for accelerating the rate of microbial decomposition of oil in
soil; rates of different o0il types; types and amounts of re-
fractory oil components that are not readily biodegraded and
toxic leachates, including metals.

The scope of this project now includes
waste lube o0ils, with particular reference to determining the
possible detrimental effects of this disposal process, specifically
regarding volatiles and leachates. Preparation of soil plots
and application of o0il (100 bbls/acre) and fertilizers were
completed in January 1974. After eight months the following
decomposition was noted: heavy Arabian crude, 39 per cent;
service station waste crankcase oils, 57 per cent; diesel truck
waste crankcase oils, 49 per cent; Gulf Coast crude mix, 49
per cent; No. 6 fuel o0il, 39 per cent; No. 2 fuel oil, 70 per
cent; No. 2 fuel o0il, 70 per cent. No lead has been detected
in soil plot water runoff or drainage. ’

TITLE: 0il Spill Cleanup Training School (0S-24)

OBJECTIVES: To provide a comprehensive training course
for cleaning up oil spills under a variety
of conditions.

CONTRACTOR: Texas A&M University

RESULTS: The Texas A&M team is collecting visual

aids for use during the course and has
contacted numerous equipment manufacturers to obtain demonstration
materials. The school should be in operation by April 1975 and
will be held in Galveston, Texas.

TITLE: Prevention of 0il Spills 306-75

OBJECTIVES: To develop a motivational program for the

prevention of oil spills; to develop a
training aid for the prevention of oil spills in barge loading
and unloading operations.

CONTRACTORS: Educational Systems and Designs, Inc.;
National Photographic Laboratories

NOTE: The contractor will be expected to develop
a training aid to promote individual
initiative in preventing spills.
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The Division of Refining Committee on
Training will sponsor development of the barge loading/unloading
prevention training aid. The 0S-25 Task Force is providing
content specialists, who are the source of technical input for
training aid.

TITLE: Analytical Methods for Polynuclear Aromatics
207-75
OBJECTIVE: To develop and demonstrate analytical methods

for determination of polynuclear aromatics
(PNA's) in test oils for biological projects and in marine
animal tissues.

CONTRACTOR: Exxon Research and Engineering Company

RESULTS: The gas chromatographic-ultraviolet technique
of the Exxon Research and Engineering Lab-

oratories is being examined for determination of polynuclear

aromatics at low levels in oils and in marine animal tissues.

This technique could provide information on concentrations of

several five-ring polynuclear aromatics. Simultaneous determination

of three- and four-ring aromatics may assist in ascertaining the

significance of the results and in reducing the cost of

exploratory analyses, provided that some ratio may be found to

exist among the concentrations of higher aromatics.

TITLE: Biological Effects of Pelagic 0il 209-~75

OBJECTIVE: To determine whether pelagic oil (tar
balls) affects the health and population
of intertidal marine organisms.

CONTRACTORS : Bermuda Biological Station (Drs. C.D.
Gebelein and N.E. Maynard)

RESULTS: Equipment has been obtained, field sites
selected, and monthly collection of inter-
tidal organisms from these sites initiated.

Parameters being examined include:

e For macroinvertebrates: species
composition; abundance and diversity;
zonation and motile behavior; size
frequency; larval settling; and hydro-
carbon analyses of tissues.

® For macro- and microalgae: species
composition; abundance and diversity;
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zonation; hydrocarbon analyses
of the macroalgae; and algal biomass.
® Preliminary analyses of tar

globules and weathering effects
thereon.

STATIONARY SOURCES (SS) AND SULFUR (S)

TITLE: Flue Gas Recirculation and Delayed Combustion
Study (Ss-4)

OBJECTIVE: To develop air pollutant emission control
systems for oil- and gas-fired boilers

by application of external flue gas recirculation and/or staged

addition of combustion air.

CONTRACTOR: Ultra Systems, Inc. and Foster Wheeler
Corporation
RESULTS: EPA and API are jointly sponsoring a three-

year project to determine the optimum condi-
tions for operating oil- and gas-fired boilers to minimize the
NOy content of the flue gas.

Phase I included construction of the pilot
furnace and testing to assure that all mechanical and analytical
features were operable. A report on Phase I has been issued.

Phase II consists of a field test of a
commercial boiler to determine the application of flue gas
recirculation and staged combustion as determined by a pilot unit.

TITLE: Community Noise 703-75
OBJECTIVE: To obtain industry information on community

noise and provide up-to-date information
to the industry on state and local regulations.

CONTRACTOR: In-House
NOTE: A questionnaire soliciting data from the

industry on community noise regulations is
currently being prepared.

TITLE: Sulfur Dioxide in Stack Gases 701-75

OBJECTIVE: To review all available processes for the
removal of sulfur dioxide from stack gases
and monitor new developments in this area.
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CONTRACTOR: Battelle Columbus Laboratories
RESULTS: Battelle Columbus has visited numerous

utility installations in the U.S. and has
distributed reports to the sponsoring organizations and individual
companies.

The task force has visited two plants which
demonstrate the industrial applications of sulfur dioxide removal
technology: Purasiv-S process (Union Carbide); Application:

SO removal on a sludge acid plant stack gas; Citrate process
(Arthur G. McKee & Company, Pfizer, Inc., & Peabody Engineered
Systems); Application: Coal-fired industrial boiler flue gas.

OTHER STUDIES

TITLE: Water Re-Use Study (CREC-1)
RESPONSIBILITY: Committee on Refinery Environmental Control
OBJECTIVE: To determine the feasibility and cost of

achieving a refinery water re-use system that
would result in a zero discharge of pollutants in accordance
with the national goal in Federal Water Pollution Control Act
Amendments of 1972.

CONTRACTOR: Cyrus Wm. Rice Division, NUS Corporation

NOTE: Current studies include pilot evaluations

of existing methods and various water process-
ing schemes. Wet coil concentrating cooling towers and brine
concentrations are being evaluated. The work to date has focused
on the water re-use concepts for grass-root refineries. Study of
the economics of retrofit to existing refineries is planned for
1975.

TITLE: Sour-Water Stripper Evaluation (CREC-2)
RESPONSIBILITY: Committee on Refinery Environmental Control
OBJECTIVE: To develop detailed design and operating

data on one or more sour-water strippers
currently operating in a satisfactory manner, including a
comparison of trays versus packing.

CONTRACTOR: Bechtel

RESULTS: This project is one part of a three-part
joint effort. Corrosion studies are being
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directed by the Committee on Refinery Equipment, and the develop-
ment of basic vapor-liquid equilibrium data is under the direction
of the Subcommittee on Technical Data. A survey of refinery
experience with sour-water strippers was published by CREC in
August 1973.

The work sponsored by the subcommittee on
technical data is being conducted by Brigham Young University,
under the direction of Grant Wilson; corrosion studies are being
conducted by Battelle. All three projects are scheduled to
continue into 1975.

TITLE: High-Rate Filtration (CRC-3)
RESPONSIBILITY: Committee on Refinery Environmental Control,

the Division of Refining

OBJECTIVE: To establish a demonstration project

for continuous pilot testing of high-rate
filtration on actual refinery effluent, as well as application to
intermediate refinery waste water streams.

CONTRACTOR: Eimco Envirotech

NOTE: State and Federal regulations will require
more extensive treatment of refinery waste
waters in the future. It will be necessary to remove suspended
contaminants and trace quantities of other pollutants from the
treated effluent in many cases, and there is evidence that high-
rate filtration may be very effective in achieving those objectives.

TITLE: Economic Impact on the Petroleum Industry

of Environmental Regulations 602-75
OBJECTIVES: To survey the impact of promulgated and
proposed environmental requlations on the
industry
CONTRACTOR: Battelle, Columbus Laboratories
NOTE: A questionnaire to be used for gathering
of necessary data is currently under
development.
TITLE: Bioassay of Refinery Effluents 501-75
OBJECTIVE: To develop methodology for evaluating

the biological effects of refinery effluents
on aquatic organisms.
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CONTRACTOR: Virginia Polytechnical Institute and State
j University
RESULTS: A number of macroinvertebrates and fish have

been surveyed, through static bioassays,
to determine their usefulness in subsequent research. The
relative sensitivity of test animals was determined, using
various concentrations, or multiples, of the arbitrary reference
mixture prescribed by the task force. This synthetic refinery
effluent was used to insure control of test variables and to
simplify logistics problems.

The list of candidate organisms was reduced
to five with good potential applicability, plus four possible
alternates. Tests were also run to determine the sensitivity
of selected animals, using different bioassay methods such as
static with and without renewal, and with and without circulation;
the reproductibility of data collection; and the possibility
of behavior as a quick bioassay tool.

The preferred methodology was finalized,
and a workshop was conducted to acquaint representatives of
the member companies with the proceedings using macroinvertebrates.
At this workshop, a series of laboratory sessions were conducted
to train personnel.

Each of the individuals participating in
the workshop was requested to conduct a review of tests on '
refinery effluents during November and December. These data
will be used to verify the application of the test procedure
in actual field operation.

The field test data will be incorporated;
in the final report on the first phase of this study, scheduled
to be completed by March 1975.

1
WATER QUALITY (W)

TITLE: System Model for Defining Petroleum
Refining Effluent Parameters (W-13)

OBJECTIVE: To develop a model based on industry data

which will provide an index of reasonably
achievable effluent discharges for individual facilities with
due consideration for the various factors applicable to each
refinery.

CONTRACTOR: Brown & Root
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RESULTS: A preliminary report of the experimental

model is presently being reviewed to define
better the application of the model in determining the various
guideline parameters of refinery effluents.

The final draft report will be submitted
in early-1975.

TITLE: Toxic Pollutant-Effluent Standards (W-14)

OBJECTIVE: To develop data which may be useful in the
development of toxic pollutant effluent
standards.

CONTRACTOR: Task Force In-House Activity

RESULTS: An industry survey indicates that cadmium

and mercury are not present in any
significant amounts. Further industry survey of toxic substances
in effluents during 1975 is under consideration.

TITLE: Effluent Guidelines for Non-Process
Operations 506-75
OBJECTIVE: To develop recommendations for effluent

guidelines for petroleum activities not
covered by other specific guidelines.

CONTRACTOR: To be selected

RESULTS: The major emphasis of this study is on the
development of effluent standards for

marketing operations. The task force has completed reviews

of National Pollution Discharge Elimination System permits

published by New York and New Jersey, and submitted comments.

An industry survey of 45 terminals has
been completed and an interim report (CEA-19) has been released.
The results of this survey have been reviewed by EPA representatives.

A survey of 150 terminals has been
initiated, and some thirty samples of effluents will be obtained
from each location. O0il and grease analyses will be determined
on each of these samples. The study is scheduled to be completed
by May 1975.

SOLID WASTE (SW)

TITLE: " Solid Waste Surveys (SW-1)
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OBJECTIVE: To cooperate with a solid waste study
conducted by EPA; conduct an API in-house
study of solid-waste handling practices in petroleum industry.

CONTRACTOR: To be selected.

RESULTS: Sixteen refineries have been visited and
samples collected. The task force inter-
faced with EPA and its contractor, Jacobs Engineering, on a
questionnaire describing each solid waste stream and method of
disposal. The in-house survey will be made early in 1975.

51-748 O - 75 - 13
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APPENDICES

A. MEMBERSHIP OF API COMMITTEES RESPONSIBLE
FOR _ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH

B. RECENT API PUBLICATIONS




881

- 29 -

A. MEMBERSHIP OF API COMMITTEES
RESPONSIBLE FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH

GENERAL COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS

W. J. Coppoc, Chairman W. B. Halladay
Seth Abbott Robert Harrison

W. H. Baker L. P. Haxby

H. R. Bruch R. C. Mallatt

G. A. Clark L. A. McReynolds

D. H. Clewell H. H. Meredith, Jr.
C. E. Cowger R. H. Nanz

R. 8. Cramer T. R. Samsell

H. F. Elkin C. B. Scott

R. S. Farrell R. W. Scott

Wayne Gibbens G. W. Weber

C. P. Goforth D. C. Williams

C. E. Golay P. M. Wolkonsky, M.D.
W. J. Grant . W. M. Zarrella
NOTE: Space does not permit inclusion in this

listing of the names of all of the subordinate
task force and panel members, some 300 in
number, without whose dedicated service, at
considerable cost to their companies, the
programs described in this report would be
impossible.
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CRC-APRAC LIAISON COMMITTEE

E. Moser, Chairman W. D. Hoffman
N. Arnold E. D. Kane
E. Bradley E. H. Scott
R. Cecil H. Sorgenti
H. Clewell P. D. Strickler
A. Coit P. C. White
E. Eckardt

PLANNING AND BUDGET ADVISORY COMMITTEE
W. Scott, Chairman D. P. Heath
S. Cramer R. C. Mallatt
F. Elkin L. A. McReynolds
E. Farrell C. E. Moser
B. Halladay C. B. Scott
P. Haxby

GOVERNMENT LIAISON AND
REGULATIONS COMMITTEE
C. Mallatt, Chairman J. A. Evans
H. Baker R. E. Farrell
B. Cluck D. P. Heath
F. Elkin H. H. Meredith, Jr.
ALTERNATE FUELS AND LAND
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

F. Deeter, Chairman R. W. Huye
E. Blower C. R. Moxley
A, Constable H. E. Nissen
J. Fritz. L. W. Pollock
E. Funk W. R. Quanstrom, Jr.
Gorin R. B. Schwendinger
A. R. Guldman F. K. Ward
E. Guziak

DOMBS ENVIRONMENTAL HYGIENE COMMITTEE
M. Wolkonsky, M.D., Chairman C. F. Reinhardt, M.D.
M. Bachman J. A. Spence
K. Daniels W. C. Sussky
Perkins J. J. Thorpe, M.D.
W. Pollock A. S. Todd
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ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS COMMITTEE

W. M. Cooper, Chairman S. D. Lawson
J. Boucher M. J. Owings
E. R. Heydinger R. Piccini

FATE AND EFFECTS OF OIL IN
ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE

E. W. Mertens, Chairman K. Davis, M.D.

R. C. Allred R. E. Eckardt, M.D.
G. P. Canevari A. H. Lasdy

V. F. Coty F. T. Weiss

MOBILE SOURCE EMISSIONS COMMITTEE

R. K. Stone, Chairman
B. S. Bailey

J. H. Freeman
J
R. J. Campion. S
L
A

. L. Keller
. D. Lawson
. J. McCabe
. Plante

C. C. Coyler
W. F. Deeter

STATIONARY SOURCE EMISSIONS COMMITTEE

J. H. Weiland, Chairman C. F. Kay
J. W. Dailey E. Landau
W. E. Engelken C. W. Siegmund

D. E. Glass R. V. Willenbrink

OIL POLLUTION PREVENTION
AND CONTROL COMMITTEE

W. L. Lewis, Chairman G. P. Mulligan
W. L. Berry J. P. Robinson
T. J. Challoner R. W. Scott

J. B. Davis F. M. Smith
W. F. Gusey C. D. Swinson
D. E. Hurst I. T. Tobye

L. J. Kazmierczak R. G. Will
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WATER QUALITY COMMITTEE

G. Drummond, Chairman
D. Blum

T. Denbo

F. Grutsch

F. Kay

Kilpert

SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

Tom Kirby

W.
W.
L.
R.
M.

K.

Lorenz
McBride
Mueller
Simonsen
Wiley

COMMITTEE

E. Blower, Chairman

D. Blum
W. Bruch
A. Buercklin
J. Clark

H. Huguet

K. C. Hunt

H. E. Knowlton
Kress

Loren Pollet
C. Sousa

Ww.
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4202 Program for Upgrading the N07:Instruhéntati6n
Employed in the 1972 Chattanooga NO2 Exposure

Study. Research Triangle Institu;g.l 1973.
CAPM-10. . $3.00. i
4203 A Study of Mandatory Engine MainteLance forh

Reducing Vehicle Exhaust Emissions. 'Volume I.
Executive Summary. TRW/Scott Research . )
Laboratories. July 1973. CAPE-13. $3.00.

4204 A Study of Mandatory Engine Maintenance for
Reducing Vehicle Exhaust Emissions. Volume II.
Mandatory Inspection/Maintenance' Systems Study
TRW/Scott Research Laboratories. July 1973.
CAPE-13. $3.00. i

4205 Improved Instrumentation for Determination of
Exhaust Gas Oxygenate. , Scientific Research
Instrumentation Corporation. September 1972.
CAPE-11. $3.00.

4206 Environmental Research Sponsored by the
American Petroleum Institute. Annual Report.
January 1974. Free. '

4207 Survey of Eye Irritation and Lachrymation
in Relation to Air Pollution. Copley
International Corporation. April 1974.
CAPM-17-71. $3.00. )

4208 Package Boiler Flame Modifications for
Reducing Nitric Oxide Emissions. Phase
II of III. Ultrasystems, Inc. June 1974.
§S5-4. $5.50

4211 Bacterial Activity in Ground Waters Containing
Petroleum Products. Battelle Columbus . !
Laboratories. November 1973. 0S5-21.1. $5.00.

4212 Fate of 0il in a Water Environment. Part I:
A Review and Evaluation of the Literature.
University of Southern California, Department
of Geological Sciences. 0S-20F. :

4213 Fate of Oil in a Water Environment.  Part II:
Bibliography. University of Southegn California,
Department of Geological Sciences. 0S-20F.
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The Use of Panelists as Substitutes for Taxi-
cab Drivers in Carbon Monoxide Exposure.
Columbia University School of Public Health.
July 1973. CAPM-8. $3.00.

Determination of the Formation Mechanisms and
Composition of Photochemical Aerosols. First
Annual Summary Report. Calspan Corporation:
August 31, 1973. CAPA-8. §$3.00.

Foundation of Modeling NOx and Smoke Formation
in Diesel Flames. Final Report for Phase I.

Ultrasystems, Inc. January 1974. CAPE-20 $3.00.

Oxygenates in Automotive Exhausts. Effect of
an Oxidation Catalyst. U.S. Bureau of Mines.
1973. CAPE-1168. §$3.00.

Hydrocarbons in Polluted Air. University of
California, Riverside. June 1973. CAPA~5-68.
$3.00.

Used Lubricating Oil. Its Recovery, Reuse,
and Disposal. April 1974. Free.

Environmental Expenditures of the U.S.
Petroleum Industry, 1966-1973. BR-10.

An Investigation of Three Synthetic Gas
Turbine Lubricants for 0il Aeration and
Foaming Tendencies. June 1974. CRC Report
No. 468. $3.00.

A Sorbent Harvesting Device for Use in
Sheltered Waters - Design _and Detailed
Specifications. Ocean Design Engineering
Coporation. November 1974.

Atmospheric Photochemical Smog Measurements
Over San Francisco Bay. Stanford Research
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Program for Upgrading the NO2 Instrumentation
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Exposure Study. Research Triangle Institute.
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Study of Ultrasonic Vortex Effect and Tracer
Gas Method on Measurement of Automotive Mass
Emissions. Olson Laboratories, Inc. 1974.
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Microbiological Aircraft Fuel Tank Contamination:

A Bibliography. July 1974. CRC Report No. 469.
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Evaluation of Fuel Test Methods for Predicting
the Performance of Filter/Separators and Clay
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Diesel Engine Exhaust Gases. First Annual Report.
Gulf Research & Development Company.

1974. CAPE-24. $3.00.




HING

#‘ rs 51 07 *a'q’)

Ol

i

()

Drban-Rural
Builds /
) By

A classie confrontation be
tween the countryside and
the cities, the beoches and
industries, s sing  in
Maryland, Virginia. and all
along the East Coast as the
federal government push 19
ancad with plans for dril
for oil and natvral gos o..-
shere in (he Atlantic Ocean.

Since there has been no
dvillinz yet. ‘no one knows
yiv cerain whether sign
cant amounts of oil and fas

oven exist beneath ¢
Tantie. although geol s,
stwdying the rock forina.
tions  underwater, bheliove.
ey do.

The twn sides of the ton-
‘roversy, however, ajready
& ch:u)'lv drawn.

“Down in my nek of the
wowds some of Lhe people
1t to take their mashets
i dews 1o
ston than frem
eclared siate Sen.
. Homer White, a Demo-
uu\ wite represcnls Maiy-
iand's lower Easiwern Shove,
nel ail of the siate’s.
aches.
know that‘x
‘Yiite vontinued.

crazy,
Dut they

have 2 right (o keep (heir
vay or life, and ﬂ‘oy want
. “J\"nt'un -

Sram the cities, the

L5 d.fferent to many o
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]0u0 Bast (_,oast

Lawrence Feinberg
Washipkion Post S1Afl Writer
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‘ar more than 25 years. In- put up for bidding.
deed, -last  year, offshore first phase of this
ficids accounted fnr about in which u
17 per cent of domestic U, sked where they woutd like.
“oil preduction and about 19 to drill, was smppul gb,
iper cent of the country’s ruplly last monti.
natural’ gas. Both propor- e deva\‘\mcm agrecd to
tions have risen steadily in withdraw this ¢ “call for nom-
little firm knowledge abcu.u.‘t‘(‘c“t vears as production j.ations” after protests from
it. om oldcr oil fields onshore givarg) states that it had
Indeed. the lack of knowl “'“ declined. ;broken a promise not to go
edge mav well add to the Bevoend the three-mile ahead until after the So-
controversy. Those whose limit. oil and gas procduction preme Court decides a case
beaches may be marred hy hos been controlted by the which the Atlantic states, in-
and whose farmland federal government under cluding Marviand and Vir-
may be replaced by indus the Quler Continental Shell ia, are claiming owner-
u-v use their worst fears as Lands Act ol 1953. Since ship of offshore oil rights.  *
the basis for appeals 10 de-ihen the Interior Depart- - pawyers on both sides say:
¥ toring for oil or not ment has leased aboul 11 qpjyvately thaf the federal
miftien acres to comnanies govoppment will  probably
making the highest hids at win the case, but the co
auctions where the hizh bid-‘decision may not come out
ders win the right both to yntil June. N
erplore for oil and as on Whai will happen thew is

“‘:PQ.’FC tracis and 10 prod- 50 neertain becatise thc
uecl

QJ wé f
Conf

"Bt the!
process.
! compapics were

ronfation

to ¢o . .
O the otl ¢ hand, tiose
whase bomes and buzines:
ace fuel shortages and soa
iny fuel bills mey exagrer
ate the benefits thal a now,
arby oil fleld may bring.

' . B impact of offshore drillinyg
1say about ¢ff-  The companies’ payments gon any state depends on pre-
shere o js conjeclure o 1o (he government over the ciscly where and when and

my part,” viaad's Scere-.
tary of XNatural Re\muu:'
James B. Coulter said in
W,

“Just  about  everything
aboul this prablem is ¢
jecture.” he added. “clesr
down fo whether there is 4
any oil and ras down there”

The sfishore area closcst
to Washington where geolo-
gists belizve there may be
is called the Baltimor
'Caayon tvough—a strateh of
cecan hottom  about 0 tu
10

svears have Lotak;d 514.8 bil- how much oil and pas are
fion. found. .

1n early 1974, afier the According {o the 11.S. Geo-
‘Arab oil embarge and the logical Survi which ovar
quadrupling ol’ prices by the secs dx'llm'Y operalions, it.
oil producers’ cart then probably will take two to
Pr’es'\dem Nixon announced three years of expluration—

hat offshore leasing would, with muny dry holes along
Im speedcd up drastically in the way—lo i sizable
an effort to reduce U.S. de- amounis of oil and gas.
pendence dn oil imports, 1t then probably will
This foreign oil costing three fv five vcars more tu
ahout $11 a barrel compared bring (he wellsinte full pro-
2 a harvel in 1973—now duction.
accounts for aboul 33 per  Thus, even if mdcsplc'\d
cent of all oil used in the leasing takes place within
U.S. ‘the next 12 monlhs it isun-

Nison set a tarzet of leas. kely that lacdeseate pro-
. ik : o tuction will begin off the
ing 10 million acres offshore
in 1975—including tracts off ast Coast until 1980 to

g 985,
the Atlantic and  Alaska ! . .
coasté as well as in the Guif I sizable amounts of oil

nidl

‘u"LL

miles off the Atlanti
Coast that Tuns from \m\
Jersey south to Cepe Ha
teras. N.C.

The bottorn itself slones
craduatly from about 202 1~
00 feet uncerwater, a7 part

the most pecple the R i ific. and gas wre found off Vir-
w2 caid Seynigur Bianne of the guier  contin. uf .\“‘\l_?o a‘Td the _P'wr( . minia and Maryland, there
H L. But data pite wide eriticieM M gye o deast three geberal

aehre) uhie aet mm'm\ ol

Public viee
don't

I3 I

alternat is

izhev costs o

and cleetrieity,
"c ,m\cc (lm\u the
it

e
th\ feat of the
the interests of 2

'l‘\' peopte wha it will
aeanoil eir land—and with
(e teebnology wo have pow,
1 ¢an’y ink unything wil
b dospoiled.”

Despite the emetion that
surroun.ts the issuy, dhere is

du‘!

ceoin Congress and  the  c0asial sorts of impact the discover-
coism d

s wav in:limlost es that, the program is jos mjsht have.
. ihe Dhard bedrock  une -ing too’ quickiy. or that g first is the ,,h\sxcal
nemh the o apts Qo vernment should ex- ofreet the substances them-

~harply in . foirmine atgre for oil itself, the Ford solves might have on fish-

ahat eall @ administration has stuek to jna heackes, air auality, aid
trouzl fhad  this 8 that goal, altbough Interier possibly on ke ba)‘é and
filled soltey seciimeds Necretary Rogers C. B, Mot f'nmluhd across which the
tary rocks, suel lisie .~m hay indicated receNtly oif and gas might hn\cl in
stone ond sundstone. that thad the target date Prova- pipelines or tankors s
Wy coninin vil and gas. Wiy cannot be reached. has boen the main concer:
There ace simijar undX  A\vhat all this means lo of  environmental  groups
Moierd arens of the Allan tand and  Virginia  or” and ressrt-area businessiman.
Ocenn flogr off New «y other ¢pecilic state is A second sort of impact
land. Florida and Geeraia.  uncertain. . concerns the onshore devel

I the Gulf of Mexizo awl  Under the Interior De-opment that might cceur, at
.h(- Pacific Occan, s partment's  original  plan, first to build and assembie

eulepical atiops have parts of the I‘.A.lummc Can- -the giant steel drifling rigs,
hcc" explored  and  haveyon frouzh woere supposed 'then to keep ther supplied,
Deen producing oil and gas 1o be the fivst off<hore aveas and evéntually to refine and

/
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distripvted Whal they pro-theCouro on En"«nmma» o8y theSe arca. vacna

deer. oy Q\/&ln ¢, ‘ S;KLQNBS (‘”“‘\3 “‘"ESL\ Bitantial, the agency
The possibility «of ra " If there were a spill from City Council has Passed. an said. not only from the re-

“development  has  cveked offshore drilling, the danter avdinance karring _ Irom fineries but also from the

fear amony  prosperot. of it reaching the Virginip Jeean City all refireries. peirochemical plants that

mpelines, storade tanks and might follow them,

vihing that mzhi. However, Interior Deart.
c offshore oil and gas.

"farmers and small-town res a

coast would be winintal,
dents on the Eastern Shors 3

'ing o a report dast

Toa

cand in other rural arcas by the Council on E on- ‘ ment and  oil industry
aloniz the East Coast thi tal Quality, bceause of The direct.econemic im- spokesmen sev it is most
they will he swamped by lhe direction vinds and pact of offshore wells de- jikely that any new oil off-
‘new workers and industrics rurrents. However, the don- pends. more than anvthing. chore woull veplace the im-

On the other hand. it hav=cr of oil reaching shorc ont where the drilling ported oii that is being used
prompted hope in seme lese would increase. the are ltabricated and where by refineries in the North
prosperous rural areas. such <tid. farther to the the ail is refined. Once 1he east. These refinories have a
as Somersct County, Md . Wih the greaiest wells are in place. it 1akes capacity of about two mil-
and Cape Charles. Va. on i Long Istand.  + very few men to operate lion barreis a day. To supply

the Eastern shore. that they' 1fowever. by far the most
will get adcitinual dobs and U1 k"“ been spitled by il
economic development. ar crs. il report:
. In existing port and incus. < Q”-he,,l sailing or
. trial centers, such as Balii- Anloading, .
more and Norfolk. there are Since Virginia has only
" hopes that an offshore oil ne small refinery  (near
field will bring more busi- Yorktown) and  sarvland
ness and industry. hias none. large tankers now
A third sort of impact ply  the Chesapeaike Bay
stems fromn the cnergy thas carrying gasoline and fuel
the gas and oil will provide. 91 10 ‘Ba'pmmc and_ Piney
AsiGe from its offcct on for. l0int in St Mary's County
eign policy and the balancc in southern Maryland and

them. them , fuliy wouid ~ require
Accarding to the Ameri- finding an oil field offshore
can Petroleum Institute. the at jeast as large as any vet
vil industry frade associ developed in the U.S., some-
tion. the most likely places thing the Geological Sur-
for building the big ries and veys says is unlikely.
assembling materia for - The oil and natural gas’
them'are ports that have in- probably  would come to
dustrial areas alresdy. In shore through lew biyg
Maryland. this would be Ral- pipelines. These would b;
timore. where Bethlchem-buried hoth underwaier and
Steel already has made i underground  {where  the
ant rigs for offshore drilling water denth is fess than 260
in the Gulf of Mexico. In.fcet) ana eause liltle disrun-

while

a

"of payments. an offshorc a].se sail ‘fpnt,}?)c JR:“ICS Ri% Virginia it would be the-tion.
field might he of particulay @ 0 near Hichmonc. Norfolk-Hampton Ruads There already arve more
“help to industries along the When spilled, these re- area. than 750 miles of big 36-inch

fined products cause more
damage to fish and beaches
han the crude oil, that
woulld come from offshore

Omne other place that may pipeline that crosses Maty-
be bidding for the business land and Virginia carrying*
.is Cape Charles, a small old refined oil products from

“East Coast.
In Baltimore, for example
many plants which regularly

‘used natural  from the railroad town on Virginia's Texas and Louisiana. They
Southwest have had their WEHs because they arc more pacior Shore, where Erown have been in place for over
supplies cuiback this year ¢ than crude and muchig Rgot. of Housion, a giant 10 years with no major Jeaks
hecause of shortages. They slower to break up. construction  firm,  has or incident according to the
have since cwitched to tess  Honry Coulter ‘asslslAanl hought 2,000 acres for as- Maryland Energy Policy Of-

cfiicent. dirtier substitutes, Qirector of the Geologieal gopnyiny i rias, fice.
On the other hand. some SW¥eY. 53’,d tliat finding (,"’1 “Angthing that's going to  In_any any_event. what
envirenmental groups fem: offs‘hm‘e n .,thc Atlantic produce work, I'm for it."happens ohshore is gener
supplies of fue brebably  would  reduce i Niek Fornaro. a Baltioally zoverned by local zon-

that new
will lead to more wasteful
ness, delay conservatin
.measures. and postpone i
needed change in what they
sne as Amcrica’s  extrava
aant way of life.

The possibility
cred bLeaches is worrisome
to many citizeas and those
who fear it often point tou
the large blow-out ol an ofi-
shove oil riz in the Santn
Barbara channel off Cali-
fornia in 1969

Overail, however, the Geo-
logical Survey sai! it
licves the safety record of
offshare oit vigs has ben
‘good. From the 12.00 oil-
producing welis that have
Bbeen drilled off the U.S.. the
‘Survey said there have been
only 12 major oil spi
¢ Since the Santa Barbar-
spill, by far the lardest aid

e
e

most infamous in the U.S
povernment  safety  stend
‘ards  have beceme  much
more stringent,

smore frequent and the nun
her of cven idents
has dreopned.
i SRl

- heaches less

X llcn h

{anker traffic in the Chesa-
peake Bay and lessen the
danzer from oil spills there.
Tt might also reduce tanker
feaflic in the Atlantie. he
said, and make Ocean City's
vulnerable to
0il damage than they are
now.

Coulter added that. untike
Santa Barbara, oil rigs in

(h(‘ Atlantic weuld be so far

uisthore that no
shore could scc
even
dominiuns.

But arduments
have had little
Ocean City's alayor
W. Kelley,

one
them

on-

Harry

“We don't want anything in flowi
that might chanze the image
we have here” Kellev said,

and we don’t want any oil
wells. I vou have oil. you've
zot tu have accidents. and
there’s just no risk that its’

we've put milii

‘more steelworker who heads ing laws,

from the tallest con-

iike this
impact on

inspection: n\)lll\ our while 10 take ...
H

and localities do
AFL-have the power to prevent
they don't

the Marytand State
Cl10. What good are 21l the development
seagulls on  the, Easternwant. .
Shore, if people den’'t have Oil refineries  generally
jobs™" are unwanted although re-

In Cape Charles. the cently city governmeents in
changes would be substan- Baltimore and Portsiouth.
tial. Apparently. these Va.,, have given their up
changes would be welcomed proval for them in order te
by most people in the town 2ain the jobs and tax reve
but are resisted by many in awes they create,
surrounding  Northampton
County, which currently is
going through a heated con-
woversy over whether to
zrant the Brown & Noot re!
zoning .

Whether new  refineries
would be needed once the oil
ing and where they
nt be buiit are matters
of considerable dispute.

The Coureil on Environ
moental Quality report sasys
that heavy offshore produe-
ton probably would lead w
more refineries and {hat the

UliSyressure would be greatl to

o veereation and rolaxa jucate them in rural areas

e, and we want 10 wiere fand is cheap. The im-.
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JANUARY 22, 1975
NATIONAL OIL SPIL COMPENSATION FUMD
INTRODUCT LOK:

THE OBJECTIVE OF THIS PAPER IS TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE U.S.

'NEEDS A SINGLE LARGE DOMESTIC OIL SPILL COMPENSATION FUND -- ONE THAT
WILL ADEQUATELY COMPENSATE DAMAGES FROM OIL SPILLS AND PREEMPT THE
-UNNECESSARY PROLIFERATION OF SUCH FUNDS BY THE FEDERAL AND STATE
GOVERNMENTS,

THE TOPICS DISCUSSED ARE:

1. LIABILITY LAWS FOR OIL SPILLS,

-2, COMPENSATION FUNDS,

3, FUNCTIONING OF A FUND,

4, MeTHODS OF BUILDING A FUND, AND

5. LEGISLATIVE IMPLEMENTATION,

LIABILITY FGR OIL SPILLS
CuART 1 1S A TAZULATIOM OF THE STATUS OF OJL SPIiLL LIABILITY LAWS
R oTuE U.S. AT THIS TIME., THE EXYENT OF LIABILITY IS SHOWN AT THE TOP
AND THE CATEGORIES OF LIABILITY ALOWG THE LEFT SIDE.

THE CATEGORIES OF OIL SPILL LIABILITIES ARE:

1. PorLution crLeanup, _

2. NATURAL RESOURCES INJURTES (INCLUDING FISH, WILDLIFE, PLANT

AND AWIMAL LIFE, EYC.), AND ' '

3.  THIRD PARTY CLAIMS,

THE EXTENT OF THE LIABILITY IS MEASURED BY THE UPPER LIMITS IN
TERMS OF MONEY AND THE DEFENSES ALLOWED THE DEFENDANT. THE WORST CASE
IS URLIWITED, NO-FAULT LIABILITY BECAUSE A VESSEL OR FACILITY OUHER OR
GPERATOR 1S LIARLE FOR ACTS OVER WHICH KE HAS NO CORTROL, AHD THIS

UNLIMITED RISK IS UNINSURABLE.
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THE STATES HAVE PASSED A VARIETY OF ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, SOME ONEROUS TG
THE POINT OF EXCLUDING SOME SHIPOWNERS BY VIRTUE OF UNAVAILABILITY OF INSURANCE.
E1GHT STATES HAVE UNLIMITED, NO-FAULT LIABILITY FOR INJURIES TO NATURAL RESOURCES,
FOLR FOR CLEANUP, AND THREE FOR THIRD PARTY DAMAGES. UNTIL RECENTLY, FLORIDA IMPOSED
UNLIMITED, NO-FAULT LIABILITY IN ALL THREE AREAS., ON Jury 1, 1974 THE FLORIDA LAW
WAS MODIFIED AND THE FORMER UNLIMITED, NO-FAULT PROVISIONS REMOVED. INSTEAD,
FLORIDA HAS BECOME FAULT-LIMITED IN THE CLEANUP CATEGORY (NOT SHOWN HERE) BUT
KEEPS UNLIMITED, FAULT LIABILITY FOR RESOURCES INJURIES AND THIRD PARTY DAMAGES.
IRONICALLY, WHILE FLORIDA FOUND IT NECESSARY TO MODIFY ITS LAW TO ACCEPT THE
FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT LIABILITY LIMITS AND PROVIDE FOR DEFENSES
THAT ALLOM SHIPOWNERS TO PURCHASE INSURANCE, SEVERAL STATES HAVE FOLLOWED HER
ORIGINAL LEAD AND ARE PROPOSING LEGISLATIGN PATTERNED AFTER THE EARLIER FLORIDA °
LA,

AS YOU CAN SEE FROM THE CHART, MORE STATES HAVE PASSED LAWS IN THE
AREA OF RESOURCES INJURIES RESULTING FROM WATER POLLUTION THAN IN THE
AREAS OF EITHER CLEAHUP OR THIRD PARTY DAMAGES. NIMETEEN STATES HAVE
RESOURCES TIJURIES LAWS. THE IKPORTANT FEATURES OF THESE LAHS COME

UNDER THE HEADINGS OF: WHAT RESOURCES AREC COVERED, TYPE AND LIMITS 07
LIABILITY, HOW THE AMOUNT OF AWARD IS DETERMINED, TO WHOM THE MONEY IS
PAID, AND HOW IT MAY BE SPENT. IN SuMdARY, 18 oF THE 19 STATES IMPOSE
UNLIMITED LIABILITY (SPLIT ABOUT EVENLY BETWEEN FAULT AND NO-FAULT) FOR
INJURIES TO FISH, WILDLIFE, AQUATIC PLANT AND ANIMAL LIFE AND OTHER NATURA
RESOURCES«~ THE AMOUNT OF AWARD IS TO BE FINALIZED BY A COURT OF LAMW,

PAID TO THE STATE, AND USED TO RECTIFY SPECIFIC INJURIES- CAUSED BY THE
FOLLUTION INCIDENT. A STATE AGENCY CLOSE TO THE PROBLEM USUALLY SETS

A¥ AMOUNT REQUIKED TO RESTORE THE RESOURCE TO ITS PRIOR CONDITION, BUT

.'“2_
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FINAL DECISION 1S MADE IN COURT.

(:aRT Z IS A MAP WHICH SHOWS THE LOCATIONS OF THE STATES THAT
HAVE ¢ "CTED RESOURCES LIABILITY LAWS. YOU CAN SEE THEY ARE MOST OF
THE C. .TAL STATES AND THOSE STATES IN WHICH MOST INLAND WATERWAYS
OPER/.: 1ONS ARE LOCATED, ' )
COMPEHSATION

THE FIRST COLUMN OF CHART 3 SUMMARIZES THE STATUS OF EXISTING
COMPENSATIOH FUNDS. [T STARTS OFF WITH TWO ACRONYMS THAT REQUIRE SOME
EXPLAINING, TOVALOP 1s SHORT FOR JANKER OWNERS YOLUNTARY AGREEMENT CON-
CERNING LIABILITY FOrR QIL PorLuTion. CRISTAL STANDS FOR A CONTRACT
REGARDING AN INTERIM SUPPLEMENT TO TANKER LIABILITY FOR OIL POLLUTION.

THE sHIPOWNER MEMBERS OF TOVALOP assumMe LIABILITY oF 100 DoLLARS
PER GROSS REGISTERED TON OF THEIR VESSEL OR 10 MILLION DOLLARS, WHICH-
EVER 1S LESSER, FOR GOVERNMENT CLEANUP BUT NOT FOR THIRD PARTY LIABILITY.
THEY ARE REQUIRED YO PROVIDE INSURANCE COVERAGE OF THAT LIABILITY UP
TO THE LIMITING VALUE,

CRISTAL was FORMED BY OIL COMPANIES TO EXTEND COVERAGE UP TO
30 MILLION DOLLARS FOR CLEANUP AND THIRD PARTY DAMAGES, STARTING VIIERE
TOVALOP anp Ex1sTiNG LAW LEAVE OFF, CRISTAL wAS STARTED WITH A 5 MILLION
DOLLAR INITIAL ASSESSMENT, AND PROVISIONS EX1ST FOR ADDITIONAL ASSESS-
MENTS WHEN NEEDED, ASSESSMENTS ARE MADE IN PROPORTION TO A MEMBER'S
CRUDE AND FUEL OIL VOLUMES TRANSPORTED BY SEA. (NO CLAIMS WERE MADE
on CRISTAL IN THE FIRST TWO AND ONE-HALF YEARS OF ITS EXISTENCE.)

The FeEpERAL WATER PoLLUTION CONTROL ACT, WHICH LIMITS THE LIABILITY
ofF sHIPOWNERS TO 100 poiLARS PER GROSS REGISTERED TeN, OR 14 MILLICN
DOLLARS, WHICHEVER 1S LESSER, AND 8 MILLION DOLLARS FOR FACILITIES, FOR
CLEANUP COSTS, ALSO PROVIDES For A HationaL CouTinGeENCY FuMD, WHICH 1S
35 MILLIOH pOLLARS froviped by THE U.S, Treasuny #or ust OF THE CoasT

"GUARD OR EPA IN CLEANING UP SPILLS.
-3
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THESE AGENCIES ALWAYS HAVE THE OPTION OF PERFORMING CLEANUP AND BILL-
ING THE OFFFNIZR TO RECEY¥ER THEIR COSTS OR PERMITTING THE OFFENDER TO
UNDERTAKE CLEAFUP TG THE SATISFACTION OF THE AGENCIES, THUS AVOIDING
HAVING THE EXPEND MONIES FROM THE NATIONAL CONTINGENCY Funp, THE FuND
IS ALSO AVAILABLE FOR USE IN CASES WHERE THE SPILLER IS UNKNOWN OR
UNABLE TO PAY, s

THe Trans-ALAsKA PIPELINE FUND CAME ABOUT THROUGH AN ELEVENTH
HOUR AMENDMENT TO THE PIPELINE RIGHT-OF-WAY BILL THAT WOULD PERMIT
CONSTRUCTION OF THE ALASKAN PIPELINE. IT 1s To BE FUNDED To 100 MiLLion
DOLLARS BY A 5¢/BBL. TAX ON ALL OIL PASSED THROUGH THE VALDEZ TERMINAL.
IT WILL COMPENSATE FOR CLEANUP, RESOURCES INJURIES, AND THIRD PARTY
cLaims up To 100 MILLION DOLLARS PER SPILL, BUT IS EXCLUSIVELY FOR
PROTECTION AGAINST SPILLS FROM THE MARINE LEG OF THE SYSTEM.

RecenTLy iHE DEEPWATER PORT ACT wAS PASSED., [T contalns A 100
MILLION DOLLAR OIL SPILL COMPENSATION FUND TO BE BUILT BY A 2¢/BBL.
TAX OW OIL HANDLED BY ANY DEEPWATER TERMiWAL. VESSEL LIABILITY FOR OIL
SPILLS AT DEEPWATER PORTS WAS SET AT 20 MILLION DOLLARS FOR CLIAHMUP AND
CLAIMS, THIS FUND COMES INTO PLAY ONLY AFTER LIABILITY LIMIT IS EXCEEDEG

THE VARIOUS STATE LIABILITY LAWS WERE OUTLINED ABOVE. THE STATES
LISTED HERE ARE THOSE THAT HAVE LEGISLATED COMPENSATION FUNDS. . FLORIDA
RECENTLY INCREASED ITS FUND FROM 5 MILLION DOLLARS TO A FULLY FUNDED
35 MILLION DOLLARS TO BE BUILT FROM FEES, PENALTIES, OTHER CHARGES,
AND A 2¢/BBL, TAX ON TRANSFERS GF POLLUTANTS (INCLUDING TRANSFERS FROM
OFFSHORE PRODUCTION PIPELINES), THE LAW PROVIDES THAT THE GOVERNOR AND
CABINET CAN INCREASE THE TAX TO A MAXIMUM OF 10¢/BBL. IN THE EQENT A
SPILL OCCURS THAT COSTS MORE THAN 35 MILLION DOLLARS; AND THE TAX CAN

BE COLLECTSN UNTIL IT PAYS OFF WHATEVER THE TOTAL DAMAGES ANOUNT TO.
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MAINE HAS A 4§ MILLION DOLLAR FUND BUILT BY A 1/2¢/BBL. TAX ON OIL
TRANSFERS. MARYLAND HAS A 1/2 MILLION DOLLAR FUND AND NORTH CAROLiNA
5 MILLION DOLLARS. BOTH WASHINGTON AND OREGON HAVE FROVISIONS FOR
FUNDS TO BE BUILT FROM FINES, FEES, AND OTHER CHARGES, BUT NO LIMIT IS
SET ON EITHER FUND. '

THE SECOND COLUMN 1S A LIST OF PROPOSED COMPENSATION FUNDS, AT

THE INTERNATICNAL LEVEL, WE HAVE THE CiviL LiaBiLity CoNvention. I7
REQUIRES SHIPOWNERS TO PROVIDE INSURANCE TO COVER THEIR LIABILITY
PROPOSED IN THE CONVENTION OF 160 DOLLARS PER GRoSss RecISTERED Ton,
OR 16 MILLION DOLLARS, WHICHEVER IS LESSER. THE CLC COVERAGE CAN BE
USED TO PAY CLEANUP COSTS AND THE THIRD PARTY LEGAL LIABILITY FOR SPILLS
oF ONLY PERSISTENT OIL.FROM A SHIP. [T IS INTENDED TO SUPERSEDE THE
TOVALOP AGREEMENT, THE INTERNATIONAL COMPENSATION FUND 1S 36 MILLION
DOLLARS BUILT THROUGH ASSESSMENTS OM RECEIVERS OF IMPORTED OIL. IT IS
FOR CLEANUP AND THIRD PARTY CLAIMS AND AGAIN OHLY FOR SPILLS OF PER-
SISTENT OILS FROM SHIPS. IT witt REPLACE THE CRISTAL AGREEMENT.

THESE TWO CONVENTIONS HAVE NOT BEEN RATIFIED, THE LEGISLATION

TO IMPLEMENT THESE TWO CONVENTIGHS INCLUDES A 100 MILLION DOLLAR
" DOMESTIC SUPPLEMENTARY COMPENSATION FUND FOR INCREASED PROTECTION FROM
PERSISTENT OIL SPILLS FROM TANKERS IN U.S, wATERS. SovE SENATORS
REPORTEDLY FEEL STRONGLY THAT IN ORDER FOR THEM TO FULLY SUPPORT THE
RATIFICATION OF THESE CONVENTIONS, THIS 100 MILLION DOLLAR FUND SHOULD
BE ADDED. THEY cONSIDER 100 MILLION DOLLARS TO BE ACCEPTABLE TO THE
PUBLIC AND DO NOT CONSIDER THE INTERNATIONAL CONVENTIONS TO PROVIDE
ENOUGH COVERAGE.

THe ProPosED EnereY SuppLy AcT oF 1974 viriicH wouLp AMEND THE OUTER
Continentar SueLF Lanns BcT oF 1954 1S EXPECTED TO BE REINTRODUCED THis

51-748 O - 75 - 14
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YEAR. 1T PROPOSES A 100 MILLION DOLLAR FUND TO BE FINANCED BY A 5¢/BBL.
TAX ON ALL PRODUCTION FRoM THE OCS.

THE STATES LISTED IN THE.PROPOSED COLUMN ARE THOSE ACTIVELY PUR-
SUING NEW OR LARGER FUNDS. A STATE SENATOR JUST PREFILED A BILL CALLING
FOR A 50 MILLION DOLLAR COASTAL PROTECTION FUND FOR TEXAS.

WE CAN EXPECT THE FUTURE TO BRING MORE PROPOSALS., ONE U.S. SENATOR

-HAS SUGGESTED THREE 100 MILLION DOLLAR FUNDS, ONE EACH FOR THE ATLANTIC

AND PACIFIC COASTS, AND ONE FOR THE GULF OF MEXICO. INDUSTRY PusLIC
AFFAIRS FIELD MANAGERS WHO MONITOR THE REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSIONS
SAY IT'S ONLY A MATTER OF TIME BEFORE PROPOSALS FOR COMPENSATION FUNDS
ISSUE FROM THOSE BODIES. THE CALIFORNIA CoasTAL Zone COMMISSION, FOR
IstANCE, IS REPORTEDLY CONSIDERING A 100 MILLION DOLLAR FUND FOR THAT
STATE.

ONE OF THE REASONS FUNDS CONTINUE TO BE LEGISLATED 1S THAT CURRENT
FUNDS ARE EITHER SMALL OR LIMITED IN SCOPE. FIGURE 4 ILLUSTRATES THIS
GRAPHICALLY.

FoR DISCUSSION PURPOSES, LET US SAY YHAT OHE FUND FROM HHICH A
maxIMur oF 100 MILLION DOLLARS COULD BE COLLECTED AS A RESULT OF A
SINGLE SPILL 1S ENOUGH TO BOTH PROVIDE ADEQUATE COMPENSATION AND MEET
WITH APPROVAL OF LEGISLATORS AND THE INTERESTED PUBLIC. AND BASED
UPON THE CONSIDERATIONS DISCUSSED ABOVE, A FUND SHOULD PROVIDE COMPEN-
SATION FOR CLEANUP, THIRD PARTY CLAIMS, AND NATURAL RESOURCES INJURIES.
IT SHOULD COVER SPILLS OF BOTH PERSISTENT AND NON-PERSISTENT OILS IN
BOTH INLAND AND COASTAL WATERS, INCLUDING THE CONTIGuous zong, IT
SHOULD ALSO COVER FACILITIES ON THE OCS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE
U.S. THESE LARGE CUBES REPRESENT OUTLINES OF SUCH A FUND. )

WITHIN THE LEFT CURE IS DRAWK THE APPROMIMATE COVERAGE THAT ¥OULD

-6-
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BE PROVIDED BY THE CiviL LIABILITY AND FUND CONVENTIONS IF RATIFIED.
THE RIGHT CUBE REPRESENTS THE TOVALOP-ReQUIRED INSURANCE AND THE CRISTAL
COVERAGE. YOU WILL NOTICE THAT THEY PROVIDE COMPENSATION COVERAGE FOR
CLEANUP AND THIRD PARTY DAMAGES ¥ROM SPILLS OF PERSISTENT OILS FROM
SEAGOING VESSELS ONLY. THEY DO NOT COVER NON-PERSISTENT OILS, INLAND
BARGES, PLATFORMS, REFINERIES, TERMINALS, OR NATURAL RESOURCES INJURIES,
NEITHER ARE THEY OF THE SI1ZE SAID TO BE ACCEPTABLE TO LEGISLATORS AND
THE PUBLIC, -

IT WAS NOTED ABOVE THAT THE PROPOSED IMPLEMENTING LEGISLATION FOR
THE IMCO comnvenTions INCLUDES A 100 MILLION DOLLAR pOMESTIC SUPPLE-
MENTARY FUND. AS PROPOSED, THIS NEW FUND WOULD COVER ONLY THIRD PARTY
CLAIMS FOR SPILLS OF PERSISTENT OILS FROM SHIPS. [N OTHER WORDS, LOOK-
ING AT THE CUBES AGAIN, IT WOULD SIMPLY EXTEND THE THIRD-PARTY COVERAGE
OF PCRSISTENT OIL SPILLS FROM OCEAN VESSELS TO THE 100 MILLION DOLLAR
LEVEL, LEAVING MOST OF THE LARGE CUBE EMPTY.

THE INADEQUACY, FROM A POLITICAL STANDPOINT, OF THE CURRELT COM-
PENSATION PROVISIONS 1S MORE EVIDENT WHEN YOU COMSIDER THAT THE 100
DOLLARS PER GrOSS REGISTERED TON LIMITATION WILL PROVIDE CHLY ABOUT
1.7 MILLION DOLLARS FOR THE LARGEST SHIPS THAT CAN TRADE IN FLORIDA.
CRISTAL INCREASES THIS TO 30 MILLION DOLLARS., CONTRAST THAT WITH THE
FACTS THAT CoNGRESS HAS REQUIRED 100 MILLION DOLLARS EACH FOR ALASKAN
OIL SHIPMENTS AND DEEPWATER PORTS, FLORIDA 1S BUILDING A 35 MILLION
DOLLAR FUND WHICH CAN BE EXPANDED TO PAY FOR ANY SIZE SPILL, AND TEXAS
IS CONSIDERING A 50 MILLION DOLLAR FUND., IT 1S EVIDENT THAT LEGiSLATORS
INTEND TO PROVIDE THE MISSING COVERAGE ON A PATCHWORK BASIS,

Te Harional Contiusency Funp 1s smown 18 CiART 5. As you canl sEg,
IT COVERS CLEALIUP OWLY, RUT WILL COVER ARY oIL 1 any U.S. wavers,

-7-
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THE OUTER CUBE IN EACH OF THESE DRAWINGS REPRESENTS THE TNDUSTRY
PROPOSAL. IT WILL PROVIDE ADEQUATE COMPENSATION FOR ALL THREE CATE-
GORIES OF LIABILITIES. [T WILL COMPENSATE FOR SPILLS IN ANY U.S.
WATERS., IT WILL COVER BOTH PERSISTENT AND NON-PERSISTENT OILS JUST
AS THE FWPCA anp THE 1973 IMCO MarINE PoLtution CONVENTION Do, In
ADDITION TO COVERING SPILLS FROM SHIPS AND BARGES, IT WOULD PROVIDE
COVERAGE FOR SPILLS FROM TERMINALS, PIPELINES, REFINERIES, DRILLING
RIGS, PRODUCTION PLATFORMS, AND DEEPWATER PORTS.

| r'p‘\

CHART b IS INTENDED TO DEMONSTRATE ONE WAY A FUND COULD FUNCTION,
LISTED AT THE TOP ARE THE TYPES OF LIABILITIES THAT WOULD BE COMPENSATED
BY THE FUND. NEXT ARE THE CLAIMANTS. NOTE THAT FEDERAL AND STATE
GOVERNMENTS ARE ELIGIBLE TO MAKE CLAIMS UNDER CLEANUP, NATURAL RESOURCES,
‘OR THIRD PARTY, HOWEVER, INDIVIDUALS OR CORPORATIONS CLAIMS ARE ALWAYS
THIRD PARTY CLAIMS., NEXT ARE THE SETTLEMENT OPTIONS EACH CLATMANT
WOULD HAVE. IT 1S PROPOSED TO PROMOTE AND CONTINUE THE PRACTICE OF
HAVING THE SPILLER CLEAN UP AND RESTORE THE AREA AND THEN SETTLE ALL
CLAIMS OUT OF COURT IF POSSIBLE., THIS PROCEDURE HAS BEEN USED SATIS-
FACTORILY IN MANY SPILL SITUATIONS, IF OUT OF COURT SETTLEMENT IS
IMPOSSIBLE, THE INJURED PARTY CAN TAKE HIS CLAIM TO A SPECIAL COURT
HEARING. , o

THE FIGURE IS DIVIDED BY WHAT HAS CCME TO BE CALLED THE “FRONT
LINE”. IT IS INTENDED TO INDICATE AGAINST WHOM THE LEGAL CLAIM IS
FIRST MADE. CLAIMS SHOULD GO AGAINST THE SPILLER'S FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(INCLUDING THE INSURANCE REGUIRED BY TOVALOP, AND ANY OTHER COMPENSA-
TION FUNDS TO WHISH HE MAY HAVE ACCESS) UNTIL EITHER THE CLAIN IS

-8-
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SATISFIED, THE SPILLER'S FINANCIAL RESOURCES ARE EXHAUSTED, OR THE
LIMITS OF HIS LIABILITY HAVE BEEN REACHED. IF THE CLAIM IS NOT SATIS-
FIED BY THE SPILLER THROUGH TOVALOP-reQuIRED INsurance, CRISTAL, or
THE IMCO FUNDS FOR EITHER OF THESE REASONS, THE LIABILITY WOULD PASS
THROUGH TO THE NATIONAL CONTINGENCY FUND FOR -CLEANUP AND THE PROPOSED
NaT1onAL 01 SpiLt COMPENSATION FUND FOR THIRD PARTY DAMAGES, NATURAL
RESOURCES INJURIES, AND CLEANUP ABOVE 35 MILLION DOLLARS -- THE
NaTioNaL CONTINGENCY FUND LIMIT.

TOTAL PAYMENTS FROM APPLICABLE FUNDS FOR ANY ONE SPILL WOULD BE
LIMITED TO 100 MILLION DOLLARS.

EUNDING METHOD ’ .

_ THERE ARE AVAILABLE MANY METHODS BY WHICH THE MONIES FOR THE FuD
COULD BE ACQUIRED. THESE HAVE BEEN INVESTIGATED WITH THE IDEA THAT THE
METHOD CHOSEN SHOULD BE AS NEARLY EQUITABLE AS POSSIBLE. IT IS DESIR-
ABLE ALSO THAT THE BOOKKEEPING TASK BE SIMPLE IN ORDER THAT NO NEW
BUREAUCRACY BE CREATED. THE COLLECTION OF MONIES COULD BE THROUGH A
TAX OR ASSESSMENT ON CERTAIN CATEGORIES OF OIL. THE MAJOR CATEGORIES
ARt DoresTic InsHoRe PropucTioN, DomesTic OFFSHORE PRODUCTION, IMPORTS,
AND DoMESTIC WATERBORNE SHIPMENTS, INCLUDING EXPORTS.

To BE EQUITABLE, THE TAX OR ASSESSMENT SHOULD APPLY TO POTENTIAL
SPILL SOURCES IN PROPORTION TO THE OIL'S EXPOSURE TO WATER., IN VIEW
OF THIS, IT IS CONSIDERED INEQUITABLE TO TAX DoMESTIC INSHORE PropucTIion
WHICH MAY NEVER BE TRANSPORTED BY WATER, THOUGH THE FUND WOULD COVER A
SPILL FROM THAT SOURCE IF IT POLLUTED U.S. NAVIGABLE WATERS.

CONVERSELY, IT IS THOUGHT THAT ANY SYSTEM OF TAXATION WHICH
OMITTED THE DOMESTIC OIL SHIPPING INDUSTRY WOULD BE INEQUITABLE BECAUSE
OF ITS INTRICATE INVOLVEMENT WITH THE NATION'S MAVIGABLE WATERS.

-9-
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WHICH OF THE REMAINING CATEGOKIES ARE INCLUDED IN THE BASE, AND
THE TAX OR ASSESSMENT RATE USED, WOULD DEPEND UPON THE LEVEL TO WHICH
THE FUND SHOULD BE BACKED BY CASH AND THE SPEED WITH WHICH THE FUND
SHOULD BE BUILT.
THE OILS THAT COULD LOGICALLY BE INCLUDED IN THE BASE, USING THE
DUAL CRITER&A OF EQUITY AND SIMPLICITY, ARE IMPORTS, DoMESTIC OFFSHORE
PRODUCTION BROUGHT ASHORE IN VESSELS OR PIPELINES, AND DOMESTIC
- WATERBORNE MOVEMENTS, INCLUDING EXPORTS. IF IT IS CONCLUDED THAT THE
FUND SHOULD BE FULLY FUNDED To 100 MILLION DOLLARS, CHART 7 INDICATES
THAT A TAX OF 1¢/BBL., ON ALL THREE OF THE ABOVE CATEGORIES WILL BUILD
THAT suM IN 1.4 vears, A 1¢/BBL. TAX ON IMPORTS AND OFFSHORE Probuc-
TION WILL BUILD 100 MILLION DOLLARS IN 2.8 YEARS; AND ON IMPORTS ALONE
IT WOULD TAKE ONLY 3.5 YEARS. ‘
THE PROS AND CONS OF THE VARIOUS FUNDING METHODS BOIL DOWN TO
TWO THINGS: _
' 0 THE METHOD CHOSEN SHOULD BE EQUITABLE AND SHOULD GET THE
BIG VOLUMES WITH MINIMUM NEW BOOKKEEPING. '
¢ THE FUND SHOULD BE BACKED BY CASH AND/OR GUARANTEES TO THE
» LEVEL NECESSARY TO ACCOMPLISH THE OBJECTIVES OF ADEQUATE
COMPENSATION AND PREEMPTION OF OTHER FUNDS. '
THE COST EFFECTIVENESS OF A SINGLE BROAD FUND ARE READILY EVIDENT
WHEN COMPARING THE ABOVE DATA WITH THE ALASKA PIPELINE FUND AT 5¢/BBL.
THE FLORIDA LAW AT 2¢/BBL., WITH PROVISIONS TO INCREASE TO 10¢, iF
NEEDED, THE DEEPWATER PORT FunD WITH 2¢/BBL., THE OCS BILL AT 5¢/BBL.,
OTHER EXISTING FUNDS, AND OTHER FUND PROPOSALS TO COME.

-10-
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LEGISLATIVE IMP!EMENTATION
DURING THE YEAR THAT INDUSTRY HAS BEEN EVOLVING THIS PROPOSAL,
WE HAVE BECOME AWARE THAT THE CEQ 1S WORKING ALONG SIMILAR LINES.
THERE ARE SOME DIFFERENCES IN THE DETAILS OF THE TWO EFFORTS, BUT
THE CONCEPTS AND OBJECTIVES ARE IN HARMONY. WE HAVE MET wITH CEQ -
STAFF ON TWO OCCASIONS. FIRST TO INTRODUCE THE INDUSTRY PROPOSAL,
AND THEN TO AIR DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE TWO PROPOSALS.
WiTH pASSAGE OF THE DEEPWATER PorT AcT, THE ATTORNEY GENERAL -
IS REQUIRED TO CONDUCT A STUDY OF OIL SPILL LIABILITY IN THE UNITED
STATES. WE THINK IT IS IMPORTANT FOR THE CONCEPTS OF LIABILITY AND
COMPENSATION. TO BE CONSIDERED SEPARATELY. WE ARE ANXIOUS TO WORK
WITH THE JusTICE DEPARTMENT OR THE CONGRESS TO MODIFY OIL SPILL
LIABILITY LAWS, IF MEEDED, BUT OUR CURRENT PROPOSAL DEALS ONLY WITH
"PROVIDING COMPLETE AND AMPLE COMPENSATION.

-11-
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LIABILITY & COMPENSATION DIAGRAM
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Senator Stone, The next witness will be Mr. Richard Palmer,

senior vice president for worldwide exploration, Texaco Oil Corp.
Mr. Palmer.

STATEMENT OF RICHARD PALMER, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT FOR
WORLDWIDE EXPLORATION, TEXACO OIL CORP.

Mr. ParmMEr. My name is Richard B. Palmer, and I am a senior
vice president of Texaco in charge of worldwide exploration and
Western Hemisphere production. I appreciate this opportunity to
appear before your joint committee and discuss the proposed Outer
Continental Shelf leasing legislation which you have under con-
sideration.

As some of you may know, Texaco had its beginning with the
successful drilling nearly 75 years ago of a Texas wildcat well. Since
that time, our company has devoted the largest single portion of its
total expenditures and efforts to exploration and production activ-
ities. Last year, for example, Texaco and its subsidiaries drilled 1,890
wells throughout the world. We conducted exploration work in 45
countries, and had oil and gas production in 18 countries spread from
Australia to the North Sea.

It is from such a background of experience that we offer our com-
ments on this proposed legislation.

I assure you that Texaco shares your desire to move the United
States toward less dependent on foreign sources of oil and gas. We,
like you, are dedicated to finding the most effective solution to our
country’s energy problems.

However, as we read them and apply their provisions to the prac-
tical aspects of exploring for and producing oil and natural gas, we
very frankly fail to see how they would contribute positively to the
search for new energy reserves. In fact, in some respects, we believe
their impact would be counterproductive to this objective.

Let me, if T may, direct my remarks to four principal areas: First,
the creation of a Federal exploration program; second, changes in
the bidding procedures; third, separation of exploration from pro-
duction; and fourth, an oil pollution fund.

In our opinion, this is most definitely a move in the wrong direction
and would do serious and lasting damage to the country’s energy
program.

Petroleum exploration and production in the United States today
si a complex, highly technical, and vigorously competitive under-
taking. An objective analysis of the total energy picture leads to
the inescapable conclusion that these functions should be left in the
hands of those most experienced and trained in this area—which in
our opinion means that [J.S. petroleum industry.

The most telling argument against Federal exploration is the
nature of exploration itself. Today, each company explores where it
feels the rewards will be greatest, in a manner it feels will yield the
best return on its investment. But, like people, companies differ. Each
goes its own way testing its own ideas, and no one company is always
right or always wrong.

Senator Stone. I know it is unusual to interrupt, but I would like
to ask you a question right at that point.
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What if the Government oil exploration agency were to be re-
quired to operate not in the areas where the private oil companies
wish to explore and develop but in only in such frontier areas as
there were so risky and so remote and so frontier that the oil industry
would not be prepared to explore the area and what if there was no
exclusivity involved in the exploration situation so the Government
agency, if there were one, would not be ousting private exploration
at the same time. Would that be somewhat more acceptable?

Mr. Parmer. T do not think so, Senator, on the premise that under
those circumstances you are forcing the Federal oil and gas company
to explore in areas which even the experts have decided are not
favorable. You are in effect dooming them to failure.

Senator Stone. Now suppose they were not required to operate in
that type of frontier area but neither were they given the exclusive
right to explore. Would that be of any assistance?

Mr. ParmMERr. In my personal opinion, no. I find that the concept
of a Federal oil and gas company, if you like, in competition with
the private sector resolves itself into an unfair competition. Govern-
ment is setting up an oil and gas company.

Senator Stone. I am not talking about production, I am talking
about exploration.

Mr. ParmEer. But even in that stage of the fuel exploration pro-
duction center, such a Federal corporation cannot be allowed to fail.
Now what this resolves itself into is a set of rules fixed by Govern-
ment, inevitable to assure the success of the venture.

Senator Stoxe. How ?

Mr. Parmer. Because you cannot afford to let it fail.

Senator Stone. I do not know. We seem to be doing pretty well
in Southeast Asia.

Mr. ParvEr. I beg your pardon?

Senator Stone. I think we are doing well in the failure business
elsewhere. We might be very good at it.

Mr. Parmer. I am not an expert in foreign policy, sir.

Senator Stone. What T am suggesting is that the feeling that
everything that we can possible do to find recoverable oil cannot be
done if we do not also try some ourselves. This is a very strong feeling
in the Senate as T have heard it. On the other hand, it makes no sense
to me, in the name of speeding up exploration and development, to
grant exclusivity to anyone. Certainly to an agency that is not yet
1n existence.

Would your feeling that this would be counterproductive be the
same that instead of doing the exploration itself it would be required
to contract out the exploration to private industry? In effect to
subsidize exploration through the private industry?

Mr. Parmer. 1 do not see where the incentive for the private sector
will lie if in fact they are going to be regarded simply as contractor
companies.

Senator Stoxe. Well the incentive would be there; there would be
no risk, your cost plus deal.

Mr. PaLmer. We are accustomed to risk in our business, sir.

Senator Stone. I understand. But suppose there are some areas
where through the great expense of checking the deep waters or
currents, the North Sea type approach in the extreme. That you
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would not be prepared to take such risk, yet there would be the .
Government using taxpayers money prepared to take such risk.
Would that be of assistance? And there certainly are less favorable
areas rather than more favorable structures offshore.

Mr. Parmer. But it is hard to give you a catagorical no answer to
such a proposition. I think that the record of our industry is such
that it is willing to undertake the risk if the rewards are great
enough. We have ventured into the frontier of every corner of this,
literally. We have evolved technology that has lead us through the
difficult areas and permitted us the ability to explore first and then
produce in the most rigorous of natural situations and certainly the
most rigorous political encounters.

Senator StoNE. The point T am trying to make is not that you
have not done this job and not that we do not want it done further.
The question is can we have that and more because we are starved
for more and is it not the case that drilling contractors do not have
quite the same incentive as do the majors when it comes to this type
of risky situation. They do not share in the profit if they hit big.
Yet the Government agency contracting with them might be able to
put some of them out there and low and behold there might be oil
and gas out there to be bid out to the majors or the independents. Is
that not a possibility ?

Mr. Parmer. I do not see where the incentive is materially en-
couraged if we are already as an industry willing to step out and take
the risk that we recognize. It seems to me that the only bar to our
increased activity is the brake the Government regulations put on
us. I would suggest if you turn us loose as in fact we were turned
loose in 1974, the results in terms of an upswinging activity were
simply dramatic. This has happened time and time again when Gov-
ernment-handled regulations were eased.

Senator StoNE. Go ahead with your statement.

Mr. Paumer. I was discussing the multiple approach to the prob-
lems of exploration. Is it realistic to suppose that an inexperienced
company, with one approach, could possibly match, much less out-
perform, the present system ?

A favorite justification for proposing a governmental exploration
program seems to be the thought that the U.S. Geological Survey
1s not involved in exploration and must rely on information given to
it by the oil industry. Secretary Morton’s testimony before your
hearing on March 14 rather effectively destroyed this myth. He indi-
cated, and I second his statement, that the USGS already has more
hard information going into a lease sale than any single bidder.

A second argument given for a Federal OCS exploration agency is
the need to locate and establish the value of OCS oil and gas resources
before leasing. Worthy as such an objective might be, I fear that the
magnitude of the task has escaped those supporting such a proposal.
Reliable resource estimates do not come easily. As has been noted
before, the ultimate resource potential of offshore Louisiana cannot
yet be given, even after 20 years of intense exploration and drilling.
How then, can we seriously ask the USGS to make such a determina-
tion for all Outer Continental Shelf lands? Even more to the point,
how can the country’s energy users be asked to wait until this task
is completed before Outer Continental Shelf leasing and development
1s resumed ?

51-748 O - 75 - 15
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The need to publish scientific maps of tracts being offered for lease
has also been advanced as a justification for Federal exploration.
Again, the practicalities of exploration simply do not support such
a contention. No one planning to invest millions of dollars in an
offshore program would rely on published public maps. I assure you
Texaco would not. We would make such investment decisions on the
basis of our own data and our own interpretations. I suspect most
other knowledgable operations would feel the same. The cost of pre-
drilling exploratory information is a very small fraction of the
ultimate offshore cost and is certainly a sound investment indeed.

Is it really in the public interest to burden the Federal Government
with this critically important major undertaking when it must be
recognized that the Government has neither the experience, the ex-
pertise, nor the procedures to effectively conduct such operations?

In our opinion, this is no time to substitute an untried experiment
in Government bureaucracy at additional taxpayer expense for a
system that has proven its effectiveness in locating tremendous new
sources of oil and gas. These bills suggest changing the cash bonus
bidding. Texaco believes that the present system is the most fair and
equitable method of granting lease rights. It is the plan with the most
integrity built into 1it. Lease offerings are held openly and in public,
and the winning bid is based on an objective standard and is im-
mediately obvious to everyone.

Senator Stoxr. Can I interrupt one brief one.

What about the shortening of the nomination time?

Mr. Parmer. We would favor it.

Senator Stone. Do you think we could knock 30 or 60 days off
and not hurt the bidding?

Mr. Patmer. We would suspect with the background and ex-
perience in environmental investigations, in environmental impact
Investigations, you could know 6 months off the time.

Senator StoNE. Six months?

Mr. Patmer. Yes sir, After all, much of the work that is being
done that is causing the delay is redundant to work already done.

However, in our opinion, a serious flaw has developed in the system
in recent years, in that it has become a vehicle by which excessive
cash resources are transferred to the General Fund, and are thereby
lost to the search for oil and gas. Since 1970, this cash drain has
amounted to over $11% billion. If all or part of future bonuses could
be returned to exploration, it would be an extremely significant boost
in our efforts to achieve an expanded energy base.

Texaco, therefore, proposes that the present bonus bidding system
be modified so that a part, say 50 percent of the successful bonus
bid cash payment, be set aside by the Government as a work refund
account. Each company would have a separate account, funded by its
successful bidding, against which its subsequent exploratory work
would qualify for a refund from the Government. Failure by a
company to perform exploratory work during the primary term of
the lease equal in cost to the unamortized portion of that bonus bid
would result in the Government retaining the remaining portion. The
most desirable utilization of the work refund would be for drilling

wildeats and conducting investigation on the Outer Continental
Shelf.
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A second approach would be to allow work refunds against OCS
bonus payments to be applied in onshore Federal areas, as well as
offshore. This is also very much in the public interest. An argument
can even be made that the public would be served by allowing work
credits anywhere onshore, in that the results of all domestic explora-
tion go into the supply base from which the public is served. In a
larger view of the energy crisis, it would seem appropriate to permit
credit for projects directed toward effective and economical alterna-
tive energy recovery techniques. Such work credits would insure a
strong and continuing commitment to this vital area against the day
when oil and gas resources may no longer be available to supply the
bulk of the Nation’s energy needs.

Cost is an aspect of offshore operations that cannot be ignored. This
is no place for limited funds, or limited expertise. An excellent case
in point is the British experience with the North Sea. The United
Kingdom Government awarded a series of North Sea licenses to
operators who were qualified by the Government and who offered an
acceptable work program. United Kingdom companies with limited
experience and financial backing were created to apply for licenses,
and were awarded a significant share of the tracts. Now, ever after
a number of potentially significant discoveries, many of these North
Sea operations do not have the funds, nor can they find the outside
financing, to drill the additional wells needed for reserve delineation,
conduct followup development drilling or pay for production facil-
ities. These companies are failing in spite of success. How these prob-
lems in the North Sea will ultimately be resolved of course is not
certain, but there is an object lesson here. It is not a operation of size
of the operator, but a matter of finances. Awarding leases to
operators or groups with limited funds does not increase offshore
competition. Only those with experience and financial backing for
the entire exploration-to-production cycle, and the willingness to
risk it, have the staying power to be viable offshore operators.

The legislation also contains suggestions that exploration of the
OCS should be carried out separately from production of discovered
areas of the OCS to be evaluated before development to assure Gov-
ernment against being ripped off.

In our opinion, this procedure not only would result in further
delays in the development of additional energy resources our country
so urgently needs now, but it also would destroy much of the incentive
which companies have today to bid and invest large sums for explora-
tion and production.

The right to produce any oil or gas found in the only inducement
a company has to explore, bid for acreage, and drill wildcats any-
where. Changing this keystone provision of the leasing program
strikes at the entire exploration procedure, with no compensating
advantages that we can determine.

The need for a post-discovery environmental study, cited as one
justification for separating exploration from production, does not
really seem compelling. The pre-leasing environmental impact studies
required by existing law should certainly reveal any hazard great
enough to prohibit production. Any restrictions caused by environ-
mental or other considerations can easily be made public prior to
lease sales.



914

My full statement also contains comments on our proposal to create
an oil pollution fund. We would suggest that if a pollution fund is
to be established, it should be financed by those who are creating
the risk. That is those who are actually engaged in drilling. Alterna-
tively, a fair and reasonable liability limit should be established and
each bidder should demonstrate his ability to meet this permit before.

Gentlemen, T thank you for this opportunity to review with you
some of Texaco’s thoughts on this most important legislation. T urge
you not to act hastily and perhaps create unnecessary delays and
unworkable restrictions that would be counterproductive to the ob-
jectives we all share. The goals of Congress, the people and the oil
industry to reduce our country’s dependence on foreign production,
can be best achieved by recognizing our common purpose and working
together in the critical years ahead. Thank you, sir.

Senator Jounxsron [presiding]. Mr. Palmer, I share your feeling
that the government should not get in the exploration business. What
would be your response to those who say they ought to go out and
drill six stratographic wells in the Atlantic? First they should drill
six, two in each of the most promising areas, that can be done quickly
during the time you are waiting for, during this nomination proced-
ure time, and that it can be done at relatively small expense and
provide you a useful information base. What is your response to that ?

Mr. Parmer. Well my response, Senator, is that the industry has
taken on this chore on their own off the coast of Texas. Tt did not
require government funding. The industry is obviously willing to
take these chances when given the opportunity.

Senator Jomunsrox. How long do yvou think it would take to dig
these stratographic wells?

Mr. ParmEr. T would guess in terms of, we are dealing with an
unknown drilling situation, I would think that a fair guess to fully
evaluate the east coast offshore section, I would suspect perhaps 90
days per well.

Senator Jouxsron. 90 days from now? If T said go out to Texas
and put a stratographic hole in the Baltimore Canyon, 90 days from
now you would have that completed ?

Mr. Parmer. That presumes I can find a rig capable of providing
that operation within 90 days, and T can not guarantee you that in
this point of time.

Senator Jonw~sron. But basically 90 days would be a good estimate
of time?

. ll\lr. Parumer. Generally 90 days would be a good estimate for one
ole.

Senator Joruxsrox. Would that provide you useful information?

Mr. PaLuer. It would give us an insight closer into the area of pre-
sumed prospectiveness, yes. There is exploration off the eastern sea-
board, off of North America as you are well aware. Our Canadian
neighbors have investigated part of their North Shore area, not too
far from the shore of Maine and New Brunswick.

Senator Jounston. Why then not by having the government do
this themselves or contract out for six stratographic holes?

Mr. Parmer. Well, T think—

Senator Jounston. Other than the principle of the thing?

Mr. PaLmer. That is really where it gets hung up. I see no reason
for government to involve itself in a practice which is aimed at an
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existing industry when industry in fact is quite able and willing to
assist itself.

Senator Jounston. Really the real problem, is it not, is that it is
not going to achieve that much. It does not do that much harm, but
it is the nose under the tent really?

Mr. Parmer. That is frankly my fear.

Senator Jounston. If you are talking about six stratographic holes,
in that area?

Mr. PaLmEr. Yes, that is correct.

Senator Jornston. Now we have had some conversation about
separating exploration from the development decision that you first
explore then you make your decision as to whether to develop. And
vou said the phrase I wrote down here is “hazard sufficient to pro-
hibit production”. T think that is the phrase you used. What would
be the possible hazards sufficient to prohibit the production if you
find some oil and gas out there?

Mr. PaLmer. I think as far as the variety of hazard T had in mind
of course refers to the structured offshore basin which is the Santa
Barbara channel.

Senator Jounstox. Is there any other basin like that that you know
of in the world?

Mr. Paumer. I think that perhaps part of the Western Aleutian
Trench may have similar problems. It is an act of seismic zone, not
dissimilar than the Santa Barbara channel. There are certainly none
off the Gulf coast.

Senator Jounston. Well do you feel you fairly well know the
areas that might have that kind of likely situation prior to drilling?

Mr. Paumer. Yes sir, I think that is known to the US GS as well.

Senator Jorn~sron. What you are saying then is that in the entire
Gulf Coast and the entire Atlantic Coast that you know of possible
hazards that could be encountered sufficient to prohibit production ?

Mr. PaLmer. That is correct.

Senator Jorxsrox. Would the name deemed true with the Gulf of
Alaska?

Mr. Parmer. Well the Gulf of Alaska is not dissimilar with the
offshore of southern California. It is adjacent to an active seismic
belt. It is an area of course in which the industry has worked quite
successfully with the single exception of the Santa Barbara blowout.
That was not a situation which was, I think, a mechanical failure
in the face of quite a large number of prior penetrations without
such difficulty. What I am driving at, of course, is that the industry
has been successful in exploring and developing oil and gas resources
and in active seismic zones. It is a matter simply of design and
judicious placement of the structures.

Senator Jou~ston. Well, T would appreciate hearing from you and
from Texaco as to how we might structure a bill that would define
what the areas are, what the geographic areas are and how we de-
termine them, where you can separate this decision as to exploration
and production, and what the definitions might be.

Mr. Paumer. OK.

Senator JounsToN. As to how we proceed to do it, because if there
are possible Santa Barbaras, then we need to know that in advance.
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But if we do not it seems to me want to separate the decisions and
maybe get caught with law suits and more impact statements and
more delay in areas like the Gulf of Mexico. But I think in the other
areas we ought to have that procedure.

The question of bidding you say that net profit bidding would tend
to make speculative bids and that way you might not expect the
development. Could you not concur that by bidding first by determin-
ing what amount of money would be needed to put up the drilling
program and requiring say a bond?

Mr. PaLmEer. Well T think that my problem with net profits bidding
or in royalty bidding is that it is an open invitation to redo the deal
on a unilateral basis. It is an attempt to justify less than the pre-
scribed performance, and T do not think that is fair or equitable to
those operators not equally given the opportunity to do the same
thing. In other words, once awarded a situation which simply does
not add up in the context of a net profit arrangement, any modifica-
tion of the original award which is almost inevitable to come about,
resolves itself in an inequity to those not successful in bidding. The
groundrules have changed. The same thing with the royalty forgive-
ness. In my mind this encourages the speculative element in the
business to get in there, very much like we see in other areas of the
world. Without the ability or even the desire to perform excepting
in the face of a bonanza.

Senator Jomnston. Do you not have a royalty forgiveness in effect
in your proposal here? Only a royalty forgiveness which would be
suitable only to big companies who could afford to take the big risk
on bigger more risky deals? :

Mr. Pacmer. I do not think so, Senator. What we are proposing
here is a system attracting large sums of money back into the business
of exploration. It is our real concern that much of the industry’s
financial structure is being put into nonproductive, productive from
the standpoint of the ongoing program, arrangement under bonus
bidding. We have avoided this as you notice.

Senator Jomnsron. I have got a 5 minute bell. T better go vote.
I will be back.

[ A short recess was taken]

Senator StoNe [presiding]. The quick voters will reconvene this
hearing.

Mr. Palmer, have you concluded your presentation ?

Mr. Parumer. Yes sir, I have.

Senator Stone. You heard my questions to Mr. Murphy about the
provisions that he would suggest that would speed up the production
and development on the Quter Continental Shelf. Do you have any
different or other suggestion than he discussed?

Mr. Paumer. Not really, Senator. I think T expressed our feeling
when I suggested to you that you give us the running room to per-
form, we will perform. And that our records certainly in 1974 given
the incentives to perform clearly demonstrates the capability of the
industry to move.

Senator Stone. Thank you very much, Mr. Palmer.

Mr. Paumzer. Thank you sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Palmer follows:]
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My name is Richard B. Palmer, and I am a Senior Vice
President of Texaco in charge of World-wide Exploration and V
Western Hemisphere Production. I appreciate this opportunity to
appear before your joint Committees and discuss the proposed
Outer Continental Shelf Leasing legislation which you have under
consideration.

As some of you may know, Texaco had its beginning with
the successful drilling nearly 75 years ago of a Texas wildcat
well. Since that time, our Company has devoted the largest

‘single portion of its total expenditures and efforts to exploration
and production activities. Last year, for example, Texaco and
its subsidiaries drilled 1,890 wells throughout the world. We
conducted exploration work in 45 countries, and had oil and gas
production in 18 countries spread from Australia to the North
Sea,

It is from such a background of experience that we offer
our comments on this proposed legislation.

I assure you that Texaco shares your desire to move the
U.S. towards less dependence on foreign sources of oil and gas.
We, like you, are dedicated to finding the most effective solution
to our country's energy problems. .

I am sure that is the intent of the authors and sponsors

of the bills that are being considered here today.
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However, as we read them and apply their provisions to
the practiéal aspects of exploring for and producing oil and
natural gas, we very frankly fail to see how they would contribute
positively to the search fo; new energy reserves. In fact, in
some respects, we believe their impact would be counterproductive
to this objective. Many of the proposals seem to have the flavor
of simply change for change's sake -- and I do not believe either
the Congress or the oil industry endorses that philosophy in
today's critical period.

Other witnesses before these hearings have commented ~--
or I am sure will comment -- on almost every aspect of this
proposed legislation. Let me, if I may, direct my remarks to
four principal areas: (1) the creation of a federal exploration
program; (2) changes in the bidding procedures; (3) separation

of exploration from production; and (4) an oil pollution fund.

FEDERAL EXPLORATION PROGRAM

S.426 and S.521 include provisions to establish a
federal program to conduct exploration work in OCS waters.

In our opinion, this is most definitely a move in the
wrong direction and would do serious and lasting damage to the
country's energy program.

Petrcleum exploration and production in the U.S. today

is a complex, highly technical and vigorously competitive
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undertaking, An objective analysis of the total energy picture
leads to the inescapable conclusion that these functions should be
left in the hands of those most experienced and trained in this
area -- which in our opinion means the U.S. petroleum industry.

-Over the above the Govermment's near-perfect record of
failure when it has ventured into private industry, the most
telling argument against Federal exploration is the nature of
exploration itself. Today, each company explores where it feels
the rewards will be greatest, in a manner it feels will yield
the best return on its investment. But, like people, companies
differ. Each goes its own way testing its own ideas, and no one
company is always right or always wrong. Industry's outstanding
success has been built on this composite =-- this multiple approach
to the same problems. 1Is it realistic to suppose that an
inexperienced company, with one approach, could possibly match,
much less out-perform, the present system?

A favorite justification for proposing a governmental
exploration program seems to be the thought that the U.S.
Geological Survey is not involved in exploration and must rely
on information given to it by the oil industry. Secretafy Morton's
testimony before your hearing on March 14 rather effectively
destroyed this myth. He indicated, and I second his statement,

that the U.S. G.S. already has more hard information going into
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a lease sale than any single bidder.

A second argument given for a Federal OCS exploration
agency is the need to locate and establish the value of OCS oil
and gas resources before leasing. Worthy as such an objective
might be, I fear that the magnitude of the task has escaped those
supporting such a proposal. Reliable resource estimates do not
come easily. As has been noted before, the ultimate resource
potential of offshore Louisiana cannot yet be given, even after
20 years of intense exploration and drilling. How then, can we
seriously ask the U.S. G.S. to make such a determination for all
0CS lands? Even more to the point, how can the country's energy
users be asked to wait until this task is completed before OCS
leasing and development is resumed? -

The need to publish scientific maps of tracts being
offered for lease has also been advanced as a justification for
Federal exploration. Again, the practicalities of exploration
simply do not support such a contention. No one planning to
invest millions of dollars in an offshore program would rely on
published public maps. I assure you Texaco would not. We would
make such investment decisions on the basis of our own data and
our own interpretations. I suspect most other knowledgeable
operators would feel the same, The cost of pre-drilling exploratory

information is a very small fraction of the ultimate offshore cost
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and is a sound investment indeed.

Gentlemen, is it really in the public interest to burden
the Federal Government with this critically importanf major
undertaking when it must be recognized that the government has
neither the experience, the expertise nor the procedures to
effectively conduct such operations?

In our opinion, this is no time to substitute an untried
experiment in government bureaucracy at additional taxpayer expense
for a system that has proven its effectiveness in locating

tremendous new sources of oil and gas.

BIDDING PROCEDURES

Let me turn now to the suggestions in these bills to
change the cash bonus bidding.

One of the largest sources of federal income from oil
and gas activities is the cash bonus bidding for offshore leases.
Texaco believes that the present system is the most fair and
equitable method of granting lease rights. It is the plan with
the most integrity built into it. Lease offerings are held
openly and in public, and the winning bid is based on an objective
standard and is immediately obvious to everyone. However, in our
opinion, a serious flaw has developed in the system in recent
years, in that it has become a vehicle by which excessive cash

resources are transferred to the General Fund, and are thereby
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lost to the search for oil and gas. Since 1970, this cash drain
has amounted to over 11-1/2 billion dollars. If all or part of
future bonuses could be returned to exploration, it would be an
extremely significant boost in our efforts to achieve an expanded
energy base. The energy consumer ultimately must bear the cost of
exploration and development, including the amount paid in bonus
bidding. An arrangement is needed to reduce that component of

cost which otherwise would simply be drained into general government
funds and make no contribution to the development of new energy
supplies.

Texaco, therefore, proposes that the present bonus
bidding system be modified so that a part, say 50%, of the
successful bonus bid cash payment be set aside by the Government
as a Work Refund Account. Each company would have a separate
account, funded by its successful bidding, against which its
subsequent exploratory work would qualify for a refund from the
Government. Failure by a company to perfcrm all the required
exploratory work during the primary term of the lease would
result in the Government retaining the remaining portionm.
Specifications as to how and where the work must be performed to
be eligible for a refund could follow any number of directions,
but in fairness, should be restricted to high-risk ventures. The

percentage of the bonus to be deposited in the Work Refund Account
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could either be permanently fixed, or could vary from area to
area, or from sale to sale, according to the need to stimulate
exploration, the likelihood of success in the area, anticipated
costs of drilling, and other operations due to adverse weather,
water conditions, water depth, distance to shore, etc. The most
desirable utilization of the work refund would be for drilling
wildcats and conducting exploration on the OCS itself. This
would unquestionably generate a higher level of effort and aid
in a visible way the search for a broader OCS resource base for
the U.S.

A second approach would be to allow work refunds against
OCS bonus payments to be applied in onshore Federal areas, as well
as offshore. This is also very much in the public interest. An
argument can even be made that the public would be served by
allowing work credits anywhere onshore, in that the results of
all domestic exploration go into the supply base from which the
public is served. 1In a larger view of the energy crisis, it
would seem appropriate to permit credit for projects directed
toward effective and economical alternative energy recovery
techniques. Such work credits would insure a strong and
continuing commitment to this vital area against the day when
oil and gas resources may no longer be available to supply the

bulk of the nation's energy needs.
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As to royalty or net profits bidding, there are many
sound arguments advanced to indicate that these are not in the
public interest. Either of these plans encourages participation
by unqualified bidders as there is no significant front end
bonus, and they both encourage arbitrary bidding for speculative
purposes. No one profits from this. Secretary Morton confirmed
on March 14 that irresponsible royalty bidding did occur, and
pointed out that oil would have to sell at $30-40 per barrel to
allow a profit at the level of royalty bids submitted. Royalty
or net profits bidding also has a significantly adverse effect
on offshore economics so that any operator needs a larger reserve
base to justify going into production. This also leads to early
abandonment of wells. The inability of an operator to realize
a profit due to an excessive royalty or net profits burden only
delays production. To agree to reduce the royalty or net profits
bid by the operator is patently unfair to the other bidders and
destroys the integrity of the entire lease sale system.

In passing, I would like to note that Texaco feels the
Department of Interior has been receiving more than fair value
for the leases it has awarded in the past few years. Fair market
value is established by the bids received at a lease sale, which

in turn are based on the pre-drilling evaluation of recoverable
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reserves and the likely economic return. The current trend in
industry is apparently to bid as high as reason allows, consistent
with economic estimates. Unfortunately reserves found, rarely,

if ever, match those anticipated. As you well know, only one of

50 wildcats finds an accumulation that can be produced at a profit.
Obviously, enough profit must be guaranteed by these few discoveries
to cover the costs of the many failures.

The opinion has been expressed that fair market value
is not realized unless a large number of bids are received on
each tract. The significan; statistic is not bids per tract, but
the number of different companies or joint ventures that participate
in a sale. This is true because each bidder expresses a separate
and independent opinion as to the value of each tract offered.

Those tracts with no potential value to a bidder simply receive
no bids.

Cost is an aspect of offshore operations that cannot be
ignored. This is no place for limited funds, or limited expertise.
An excellent case in point is the British experience with the
North Sea. The U.K. Government awarded a series of North Sea
licenses to operators who were qualified by the government and who
offered an acceptable work program. Companies with limited experience
and financial backing were created to apply for licenses, and were
awarded a significant share of the tracts. Now, even after a number
of potentially significant discoveries, many of these North Sea

operators do not have the funds, nor can they find the outside
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financing, to drill the additional wells needed for reserve
delineation, conduct follow-up development drilling or pay for
production facilities. These companies are failing in spite of
success. How these problems in the North Sea will ultimately

be resolved is not certain, but there is an object lesson here.

It is not a question of size of the operator, but a matter of
finances. Awarding leases to operators or groups with limited
funds does not increase offshore competition. Only those with
experience and financial backing for the entire exploration-to-
production cycle, and the willingness to risk it, have the staying

power to be viable offshore operators.

SEPARATION OF EXPLORATION FROM PRODUCTION

The legislation which you are considering also contains
suggestions that exploration of the 0CS should be carried out
separately from production of discovered reserves. This would
somehow allow the potentially productive areas of the OCS to be
evaluated before development to assure Government against being
"ripped off."

In our opinion, this procedure not only would result in
further delays in the development of additional energy resources
our country so urgently needs now, but it also would destroy much
of the incentive which companies have today to bid and invest large

sums for exploration and production.

51-748 O - 75 - 16
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The right to produce any oil or gas found is the only
inducement a company lLas to explore, bid for acreage, and drill
wildcats anywhere. Changing this keystone provision of the
leasing program strikes at the entire exploration procedure, with
no compensating advantages that we can determine.

The American Petroleum Institute treated this problem
in a letter to the Council on Environmental Quality in November,
1973. A short quotation from that letter will sum up what makes
such a proposal impractical from an operating standpoint:

“"Any company or group of companies entering

a bid on an OCS tract necessarily will also have

first evaluated the financial impacts of its actions

both as to the amount of bonus to be offered and the
probable costs of the subsequent exploration and
development program that would result from the

award of a lease to it. Substantial banking

arrangements are often involved. Much of the

bid money is borrowed and financing would be

difficult, if not impossible to obtain, if

exploration and production were separated.
"If the initial award to the successful bidder
were to allow exploratory rights only, there would

be little incentive to make the large initial
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investment. This is because upon completion of

the exploratory effort, the owner of the lease would

have no vested contract rights and would face the

possibility that the development rights might

be awarded to others; Not only would this approach

result in the destruction of any incentive to invest

in offshore activity, it simply would be economically

impossible for any company or group of companies to

embark on such a perilous and unrewarding venture.

Therefore, under the separation approach, money

and manpower simply would not flow from the private

sector into OCS activities.'

The need for a post-discovery environmental study,
cited as one justification for separating explorétion from production,
does not really seem compelling. The pre-leasing environmental impact
studies required by existing law should certainly reveal any hazard
great enough to prohibit production. Any restrictions caused by
environmental or other considerations can easily be made public prior
to lease sales.

The need for coastal zone planning is certainly a proper
consideration in OCS leasing procedures, but this factor need not
lead to separate exploration and producing leases either. The
present system certainly provides ample time for developing coastal

zone plans while the operator is awaiting delivery of drilling and
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production platforms, and while the field is being developed prior

to the actual start of production.

OIL POLLUTION FUNDS

A provision common to S. 521 and S. 426 is the Offshore
0il Pollution Settlement Fund. This fund would be created to
spread the financial liability for damages resulting from discharge
of oil among the holders of 0OCS leases.

We agree that adequate provision needs to be made for
handling any envirommental accident which wight occur, and this
must be the responsibility of those doing the work. When you
analyze these proposals, however, you will see that the liability
is shifted to offshore producers, not leasees, in that the fund
would be supported by a fee imposed on each barrel of oil produced.
Translating this to the reality of today's offshore scene means that
operators with present oil production offshore Louisiana will bear
the entire financial burden until production is established elsewhere
in the 'frontier' areas. Considering the lead time between exploration
and production, it is apparent that the Louisiana producers would
carry this burden for a long time. We call your attention to this
discriminatory and unjust penalty which would be levied on those
corporations that moved offshore early and established production

as it now exists.
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We would suggest that if a pollution fund is to be
established, it should be financed by those creating the risk,
that is, those engaged in drilling. Alternatively, a fair and
reasonable liability limit should be established, and each bidder
should demonstrate his ability to meet this limit before he
receives a permit to operate on the 0CS.

Gentlemen, I thank you for this opportunity to review
with you some of Texaco's thoughts on this most important
legislation. I urge you not to act hastily and perhaps create
unnecessary delays and unworkable restrictions that would be
counterproductive to the objectives we all share.

Texaco has long supported the rights and interests of
all elements of our society impacted by offshore operations, and
can understand the concern felt by those coastal states unfamiliar
with exploration and production beyond their shores. We firmly
believe, however, that coastal zone management planning and
exploration drilling can be conducted concurrently. The goals of
Congress, the people and the oil industry to reduce our country's
dependence on foreign production, can be best achieved by recognizing

our common purpose and working together in the critical years ahead.
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Senator StonE. The next witness will be Mr. J. O. Carter, Vice
President for exploration, Gulf Oil Corp. Mr. Carter.

STATEMENT OF J. 0. CARTER, VICE PRESIDENT OF EXPLORATION,
GULF OIL CORP.

Mr. Carter. Good afternoon. My name is J. O. Carter and T am
Vice President of Gulf &1l Company, United States. In that capacity,
my responsibilities are for Gulf’s exploration in the United States
both onshore and offshore. T have listened to some of the testimony
this afternoon, and judging by the reaction of the members that
were here on the panel, with your permission I will dispense with
reading my prepared statement.

Senator Stoxe. Without objection, if you have any prepared text
it will be included in the record.

Mr. Carter. Yes, you have both my oral testimony and my written
testimony too.

Senator Stone. It will be in the record.

Mr. Carter. The written testimony goes into the bills before this
panel. T believe there are about eight or nine points that we raised,
upon which we comment. The oral testimony is a summary of that
and what T might say here for just a few minutes would be a sum-
mary of the oral testimony.

Essentially, Gulf’s views of these bills parallel the views of the
members of the industry who have come before this panel. We are
concerned primarily with two things. One, the question of whether
all of these resources in the so-called frontier areas actually exist.
In our opinion they exist only in the minds of men and have not been
brought to the surface yet. Our second concern is the element of time
in which these resources can be evaluated and hopefully turned into
production.

Now with the bills themselves: we are concerned with the intent
of these bills to cross-function. That is to say, to add, in addition
to its function as an administrative body the role of operations also.
This is to participate in the actual exploration and probably the
production of oil and natural gas. And in this respect, for example,
Senate bill S. 521 directs the Secretary of the Interior to conduct
a survey of the Outer Continental Shelf oil and gas resources to
provide a basis for developing and revising a lease program. Senate
bills 426 and 740, and to some extent S. 521, authorized the Secretary
to also drill exploratory wells. S. 426 authorizes Congress along with
all of its other activities in running the Government to have to pause,
from time to time, to make operating decisions, approving lease and
development plans.

The second point of concern to us is the matter of time, and in
that respect, Senate bills 81, 426, 470, and 521, would suspend OCS
leasing from 18 months to 3 years. Three of the bills would allow
the State governors to request postponment for up to 3 years. S. 521
and S. 426 provide the avenues for civil action by any person having
an interest which is adversely affected.

Now the words delay, sue, postpone and set aside reoccur more
than once.
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Finally, punitive aspects of the bills cannot go unnoticed. For
example, S. 426 addresses itself to automatic termination of existing
permits and leases which raises constitutional questions. And Senate
bills 426 and 521 apply onerous liability on leasees for oil spills.

Now, objectively, these comments would appear to suggest that
none of these bills represent the best efforts of the authors. This is
not true. We do believe these bills contain the seed of an energy
policy, but I fear they will fail to meet the test of time in their
present form. They do not recognize that the mechanism is at hand in
the industry to do the job of evaluating our energy resources. They
do not permit the Government to perform it’s historic role of ad-
ministration but inject the Government into the role of operations;
and they do not recognize the time factor necessary to develop these
resources, and I will say it again, if these resources exist at all.

So, with those rather brief comments, T will make myself available
]too] any questions that you might have that pertain to any of these

ills.

Senator StonE. I believe as Mr. Murphy does, if these bills or most
of them pass, it will delay the development and production by years
instead of weeks or months.

Mr. Cartrr. Yes, sir, I think that is a distinct possibility and the
reason I say that is from my experience; of course exploration is a
very complex business. It takes a highly technical staff to evaluate
and select the place to drill the wells, all of which would take time
if the Government injected itself into that end of the business. The
Government has agencies at it’s command, the USGS, the BLM,
and so on which retain personnel with great expertise in this area,
but since we are dealing with such a tremendous geographical area in
these frontier areas, I fear that they would not be able to give it
the time and the study that it requires. The 50 or 100 companies
that exist today can do it at this very time.

Senator Sroxe. What is your view on the leasing of entire struc-
tures as opposed to the individual tracts?

Mr. Carter. Well, I am happy to see some discussion on that,
because I think it was about a year ago that Gulf did suggest that
this might be of some help in accelerating offshore development. At
that time, and since then in testimony before various panels, we have
advocated large lease blocks in the frontier areas.

Senator Stone. What about the shortening of the nomination
period

Mr. Carrer. This of course would help. I think that the problems
that we have are mostly procedural.

Senator Stone. What other procedural problems do you think in
present processes can bhe either eliminated or changed to speed the
process up ?

Mr. Carrer. Well, judging from the sales of the past 2 years and
the procedures that have been followed, we have managed to go
through the process and have the sales.

Senator Stoxe. What would you change if you could?

Mr. Carrer. I do not know anything really needs to be changed
except perhaps try to do it in a shorter time period and of course
perhaps have more sales.
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Senator Stone. What about the concerns of coastal States? Would
their objections cause more delay even than these law changes?

Mr. CartEr. Yes sir. I think some of these bills direct their atten-
tion to this situation and there is no question in my mind that the
coastal States have the right to raise questions about the acceleration
of offshore leasing and the environmental impact that it would have
on them. T believe to some extent that this could be overcome by
simply understanding that oil exploration takes a period of time
from the grant of the lease, and certainly the period from the grant
of the lease to production. It covers several years. I think that is
ample time for the States to make their environmental studies. So
that it should not be necessary to go through that process before any
leases are granted. I do not see that that would help in any way at
all because if no oil is discovered, then all of that work would have
been wasted. As a matter of fact, from some of these bills T get the
Impression they are chipping away at the problems—that we are
really building something that does not even exist yet. And that our
first concern Is to find out if there are any resources.

Senator Stone. Do these bills break this process down in finding
out whether the resources are there?

Mr. Carter. I might add that there was another in fact, I think
one of these bills does touch on the idea of possibly enlarging the
blocks that might be offered in a frontier area, larger tracts. One of
the bills T believe it is 740 also, touches on the idea that some of the
bonuses or revenues that are derived from Federal oil and gas leases,
be reserved for exploration and production either in the form of
loans or in some manner. I think this perhaps is a move in the right
direction. Tt is something that I think was mentioned here just now.
This is an idea that was first put forth by Mr. Halbounty some years
ago, maybe 2 years ago, when he advocated that some system should
be worked out where the bonuses that were paid for these leases be
returned to exploration and production.

Senator Stone. Senator Hollings.

Senator Horrixes. Mr. Carter, the legislation, I take it you oppose,
is that right?

Mr. Carrer. Well, Senator, T do not just out and out oppose it.
As we said before you came in the room, I think there are some seeds
here that have some merit. They certainly do.

Senator Horrines. Would vou elaborate on those seeds of merit
for us please?

Mr. Carter. Well one of concerns in these bills, first of all is that
they address themselves mainly to oil and gas exploration and pro-
duction. In some instances they do touch on the development of
alternate forms of energy.

S. 740, for example, 1 had the opportunity to read the report of
the National Ocean Policy Study Group and I was concerned in that
report that a statement was made that it may be necessary to develop
alternate forms of energy. In my opinion, I think it is essential. I
think that study should be given to the problem of alternative forms
of energy simultaneously with the development of our oil and gas
resources. We are working in a time frame that is just disturbing.
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I see this country as being very vulnerable and in jeopardy for it’s
oil and gas resources, energy resources as a whole over the next 25
or 30 years. And understanding that the process is slow and laborious
in determining policy, I think beginning now they should certainly
adc(llress themselves to it and I assume that is what you are trying
to do.

Senator Horrings. On the offshore exploratory drilling, S. 426
and Senator Jackson’s bill, are there any seeds of merit in any of
those bills?

Mr. Carter. Well the question was raised here a minute ago about
the government possibly going offshore and drilling some so-called
stratigraphic tests, and the point was made that a couple of tests
of this nature were drilled recently by 30 or 35 companies which
participated and paid for it. It was done with the blessing of the
USGS and all the sites were approved by the USGS. The infor-
mation gained by those wells was very helpful to the industry in
preparing themselves for the recent offshore sale. I would advocate
that work of this type continue and some wells have been proposed
in the Atlantic seaboard and the Gulf of Alaska, for example.

Senator Horrr~es. Isn’t this generally a partnership arrangement,
as you say, that worked well, why could it not work with respect to
exploratory drilling of the wells? Bill 426 does not contemplate that
the government start a drilling program of it’s own, but with con-
junction of industry doing it like in the space program. The USGS
could have the drillers that T imagine you would contract. Gulf Oil
has independent drillers?

Mr, Carter. Yes, we do.

Senator HoLrings. What is wrong with the government contracting
also with independent drillers to do some exploratory work and find
out what it shows from that exploratory drilling and then have a
bid. Where is there a delay along that line and what is wrong? I am
trying to find out your objection. -

Let me fix it on S. 426. In the government exploratory drilling
proposal in the bill that we worked up with numerous Senators on
both sides of the isle and both ends of the political spectrum, we are
trying to find a solution to this problem, really trying not to delay
but expedite. We think that and you are trying to tell us we are
wrong. In what end are we wrong?

Mr. Carrer. I am not saying that you are wrong. It is perfectly
possible for the Government. They can hire contractors and geo-
physical personel to conduct the surveys.

Senator Horrines. You just finished describing one of the situa-
tions where they all worked together. Is that not what we con-
template ?

Mr. Carter. You contemplate the government funding these pro-
jects where the projects I referred to were funded by industry.

Senator Horrings. Is there any other difference other than the
funding aspects?

Mr, CartEr. These bills were designed primarily for the determina-
tion of reserve character. They were drilled off structures. They were
not drilled on structure. And that was one of the requirements for
the approval by the USGS. It was most helpful to industry.
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Senator HorLings. Are there any other differences other than the
f]lllndi;lg part now and the restrictions on structure that you described
there ¢

Mr. CartER. There were no other conditions put on the drilling of
the wells and they were drilled forthwith, and as I say, a couple
more are planned.

Senator Horrings. Under those, why cannot that same procedure,
approach, be applied to exploratory drilling so that we all know
what we are drilling upon ?

Mr. CarTer. What you are saying; instead of drilling off-structure
you are drilling on top of a structure to see if there is any oil and
¢as there?

Senator Horvines. That is right.

Mr. Carter. I have given thought to that and I have been con-
cerned, Senator, because no provision has been made to, say, guarantee
that industry would have the opportunity to lease following the
discovery of any oil or gas.

Senator Horrixgs. Your apprehension is that there would be no
guarantee so that industry would have a chance to lease it ?

Mr. CartEr. That is right, that is part of it.

Senator Hovrings. Well T imagine when there would be a govern-
ment policy, Secretary Morton and whoever the other secretary is
in charge of this particular drilling program, it would be in the
better interest of the government. I do not think we are drilling or
exploring or trying to determine what is there in order to submit it
to the industry itself to bid upon and bring in the guaranteed busi-
ness for industry. The shortage for business, the shortages of fuel
and energy and oil, and from certain surveys made by the National
Science Foundation there is quite a shortfall from what has hereto-
fore been projected. So under that particular factual situation, maybe
it is in the best interest that the government hold up and not expedite
selling all it has. It ought to have a conservation program even on
the leasing. T would not want to put in the measure and I do not
think the Congress would vote it, that once it is drilled and the find
was made you have to have a guarantee. I think that would be the
practice, however. We are not drilling just to get information. We are
trying to find out what is there, and at one point in time there should
be some leasing in circumstances that are favorable to the government
and favorable to industry. It has to be favorable to the industry to get
a competitive bid system.

Mr. Carter. There is another aspect to the thing and that is the
question who is best equipped with technology organization and skill
to carry on the operation like this. I am not talking about drilling
one well. T am talking about a program that would cover thousands
of wells and ultimately cost billions of dollars.

Senator Horrines. Would Gulf Oil have it in-house or would you
contract for this?

Mr. Carter. I do not think the public has adequate evidence that
the government can operate as efficiently as industry.

Senator Horiines. You are going off on that. But T would have to
generally agree with you. I do not advocate that the government get
in anything between you and me.
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Mr. Carter. I might say that my testimony here reflects the fact
that to remain as a company means that we are efficient for we could
not exist in the world of competition if we were not. And that is
why I say that in the last analysis, I believe that industry is better
equipped.

Senator Horrines. When T asked about the in-house capability you
said we did not have, T do not believe that you have it either. You
contract with independents?

Mr. Carrer. When I say in-house capability you do have in-house
capability.

Senator Horrings. We got quite a bit of it in the geological survey.

Mr. Carrer. Yes you do have some fine people.

Senator Horrings. Some of the best in the industry, public or
private that is. Well we hired from private industry.

Mr. Carrer. But, I wonder if you have enough?

Senator Horrinves. Well do you have enough? How many do you
have and how many do we have?

Mr. Carrer. We are selective and you have to look at the whole
thing.

Senator Horrings. You do not have enough. That is why you get
together with all of these others. There is very little bidding not done
on a joint bidding basis. Ficonomically, expertisewise the thing that
we are both discussing now in this question even the largest and the
best has to get together with Exxon, Shell, Texaco. You folks go into
joint ventures because you do not have either conjunctively the financ-
ing or risk that is involved in there, or the expertise in all this other
that is going into it. You almost are organized like a government.
Are you not ?

Mr. Carrer. No, sir. That is not true. No, sir. We do go together
because we do share the financial risk.

Senator HoLrings. It is very, very expensive?

Mr. Carrer. But we do not share our expertise.

Senator HorLrings. How much expertise do you have?

Mr. Canrer. We have 305 employees.

Senator HorLinas. So we could hire 305, and we would be just in
as good shape as Gulf Oil?

Mr. Carrer. Sir?

Senator HorLrings. We could hire 305 employees and we would be
in as good shape as Gulf Oil?

Mr. Carrer. No, sir, because there is a difference. A Government
exploration program would of course entail covering all the frontier
areas, right?

Senator Horrings. Right.

Mr. Carrer. This is one of the problems that we have, Senator,
with the discussion that goes around, about the evaluation that is put
on the blocks by the government. There is one distinction there. The
government must evaluate every block that goes up for sale. In the
case of one coming up here in May, there are some 630 blocks and
every one of those has been evaluated by the government in order to
determine what it thinks should be a fair bid. We as a member of
industry, as one company, we look at the 629 blocks, I think it is,
and we may only pick 15 or 20 of them that we zero in on because
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we think they might have good prospects. But the government still
has to look at every one of them because every one of them may have
a bid. But if we looked at every block in the sale of 6 or 700 blocks
as closely as we look at the 12 or 15 blocks, we ultimately bid on, we
would not have enough people. With 300 men now there is a dif-
ference.

Senator Horrrxes. Suppose you had the exploratory drilling prior
to the exploratory bid?

Mr. Carter. It would be of help. Tt would not answer all of the
questions. You are covering just a tremendous area.

Senator Horri~es. You think that if Gulf Oil had 10 million acres
and it was going to sell the 10 million acres to Exxon, would you sell
the 10 million acrres without knowing what you have under the 10
million acres?

Mr. Carrer. 1 do not believe we would.

Senator Horrings. You would want to know what you have and
determine what you have?

Mr. Carter. Frankly, I do not know how many employees there
are in the USGS that devote time to this.

Senator Horrings. That is right. Gulf Oil would not want to sell
10 acres or 10 million acres in the competitive free enterprize world
in which you live unless yvou find out what you are selling first?

Mr. CarrEr. We would have to have some idea.

Senator Horrives. Why can not the government get an idea in
bug hiatus? We are trying to employ everybody. We are putting up
billions of dollars for public service employment to get people off the
street and get them in here. It is not only people, I am not talking
about this just facitiously. I do not see why we can not inject or
interpose in the government the practices the same good practices
you would interpose if you were Secretary of the Interior. You arean
official of one of the finest oil companies in the country. You do it
one way and say you have to know what you are doing. If I made
vou Secretary of the Interior tomorrow you would say, “Do not get
involved, let them find out,” and only they will ever know and the
public will never know. Now that is a heck of a policy, is it not?

Mr. Carrer. I think Senator, you painted a rather bleak picture.

Senator Horrines. I paint the truth. Is that not what we have
been doing ?

Mr. Carter. No, sir. T do not think so.

Senator Horrings. What has been the case?

Mr. Carter. I think the case has been that industry has done a
very good job.

Senator Horrixes. They are doing and they continue doing a good
job. Tt is not a question of good or bad job, it is a question of whether
the government is getting a return and we have not had any surveys
that show that.

Mr. Carter. Return in what respect, Senator?

Senator Horrixgs. Return in active oil drilling, bringing it in and
everything else of that kind. We are completely at the mercy

Mr. Carter. The question answered earlier today, there is some
concern that the public is not being, let us say, paid for these public
lands. How much should they be paid?
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Senator Horrings. We do not know.

Mr. Carter. T do not know either. T think it is what the market
will bring.

Senator Horrings. Then the market too is another question. When
you get a market as big as 10 million acres on a crash basis we are
shown again, from the ocean policy study, you get only one or two
participating. Take the bidders from 1973 to 1974. Whereas in 1973
we had over two-thirds of the bidders participating in three or more
of the bids; but two-thirds of the tracts in 1974 had two or less
bidders. And the Department of the Interior said two or less was
not competitive. That is their finding.

Mr. Carrer. Here we have two forces at work. Heretofore the
Federal Government put up, let us say it was on the order of 500-
600,000 acres at the sale. Now they (the sales) are getting larger and
the price is coming down per acre.

Senator Horrings. I read that in the record. I agree, price has to
come down.

Mr. Carrer. Now, many claims are made that based on the number
of bids per tract, competition is decreasing. But I would maintain
that if the price was coming down, there is a bigger opportunity for
more companies to come in and this in itself creates competition. So
who is right? When putting up more acres, the price goes down.
That is true, but you also bring it within the realm of possibility for
smaller companies to buy and participate and this increases competi-
tion. So you see, I have problems tieing the conclusions of the NOPS
study to the idea of whether the situation is competitive or anti-
competitive.

Senator Horrines. Well the complications in the study show that
competition actually lessened.

Mr. Carter. I think they used the idea of the number of bids per
tract has decreased and there is only one winner for these leases, the
high bidder.

Senator Horrings. And they are in a risky business and T am just
trying to eliminate some of the risk so we will all know.

Mr. CartEr. Yes.
 Senator Horrixngs. Would that not be good?

Mr. Carrer. That would be wonderful.

Senator HorriNgs. Suppose you were the Secretary of the Interior.
Would you not like to see that done? You could whip these oil boys
into shape and in no time flat. You could say ; “the honeymoon is over,
we are going to work for our interest and the people’s interest”, and
the cards will be on the table and all the risk is going up and you
could find exactly what you are bidding for. It would be the market
price and we could all know what it is that would be a good program.

Mr. Carter. T am not here to ask. I am here to answer questions.
The one thing that goes through my mind where does the Federal
Government draw the line on it’s exploratory work. Now there is
plenty of evidence in the record that shows quite often it takes more
than one well to test a structure.

Senator HorLrings. Oh yes.

Mr. Carrer. On the structure.

Senator Horrings. Right.
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My, Carrer. In this NOPS study great weight was put on the fact
that on the average it takes so many wells per tract before the lease
is dropped by the company. It fails to take into account the fact
that there may be other companies with different ideas who may
come in an take the lease back again. Now the government comes in
and I am sure if it drilled wells it would probably drill first of all
on the most obvious structures. This is not unusual. I think even a
company would do this. It would drill the most obvious first. The
government might not find any oil or gas on it. It has happened
before. It happened to us. It happens to us all the time. We drill
what we think is the right place. In this case you drill where the
government thinks is the right place and they with their expertise,
the well turns out to be dry.

Senator HoLLixgs. But dry on one find.

Mr. Carter. That is the average, but that is not what I am refer-
ring to. I am talking about the number of wells an average of one
on each of these tracts. There is a difference. Then the government
gets discouraged and they have succeeded in damaging the prospect.
They say we do not want this anymore. We drilled one well. Let us
lease it to industry. The structure has been damaged so the price
would not be as high as if no well was drilled on it at all. No, I
think this is a consideration in terms of what is best for the public
interest in terms of revenue. In other words, where do you stop? Are
vou going to go and drill and drill. There is plenty of evidence that
10 and 12 dry holes have been drilled on a structure before anything
is found, by as many as 10 different companies, each with different
ideas. Now the government might have an idea that there will be oil
or gas under this structure, drills one well, then moves on somewhere
else. Then industry comes along and maybe they have another idea
and they lease from you. They can not give you as much money as if
no well was drilled at all.

Senator HorLings. It is your contention that if the government
were to find out what it has, it would damage the government?

Mr. CarTER. Would damage the public in the long run.

Senator Horrings. Damage the government in the long run, because
you like to take the risk and you do not want to see the government
take the risk?

Mr. CartErR. We are prepared to take the risk. Industry is made
up of 500 oil companies, each with its own staff and its own ideas
about a given province. So it is the constant mulling about among
the members of industry that finds the oil and gas. Not just simply
one company. Let us say that the government is going out there and
drill. It does not do the job. It takes more than that.

Senator HorLrLixgs. Well T know there is a basic apprehension about
the government going into business, Mr. Carter. I am trying my best
to head it off on the pass. You need to get some rationality in the
governmental programs which everyone can understand You first
admit that Gulf would not sell to Texaco or Exxon an acreage or
tract unless it knew what it was selling T want the government to
find it out. I might find out there is a dry well. Someone might have
a different idea. But how do I explain that logically to my con-
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stituency here in America. You come up and they say, “that crowd in
Washington is in the hands of the Philistines. We might as well
nationalize the oil companies and do it ourselves.” That would be the
worst thing that would happen. I do not want to get the government
in marketing, or the various proposals that the government do the
bidding with the Arab nations. I do not think it Swould work out. T
am tl_ym(r to keep the government out of this. If we try on a
marginal basis, learning what we have and eliminate that feature of
risk. You emphasize in yvour formal statement not to impose a
practice that you yourself would recommend; if you were running
the private company, owning the acreage yomse]f, and say not to
do it. I do not understand.

Mr. Carrer. One thing that would be helpful, I am not advocqtlng
a sale of 10 million acres, T would have a problem seeing industry
lease 10 million acres a year.

Senator Horrixes. How much do you think they could lease in the
next year ? :

Mr. Carrer. I would say, actually lease 1% to 2 million acres in a
year.

Senator Horrinas. That is what the American Petroleum Institute
said, 1.3 million, 1% million.

Mr. Carrer. That is something we could take on and I think it
could be ]uStlfled

Senator Horrings. But Texaco was on TV last night. Texaco said
they want to hurry up with the government’s stepped up program of
Jeasing. They endorse that. They are putting it on TV ads. So vou
are trying to polarize an aim. And would go around with you if you
had a logical factor. You tell me yourself you are running the govern-
ment, you want to know what you are selling.

Mr. Carrer. That is right.

Senator Horrings. That is all we are trying to do is find out what
we are selling.

Mr. Carrer. It highlights the complexity of the thing by leasing
somewhat more tlnn had been leased in the past. The price will
come down and this in itself will eliminate what seems to be one of
the problems, and that is the so-called companies joining together
into groups. The only reason they did it is because they knew the
competition, meaning the cost that was entailed, would be so high
no one company could handle it.

Senator Horrings. That is right. This would eliminate just that.

Mr. CarTer. More acreage leased, the price comes down, and we
are more apt to handle it on our own, and it would eliminate the
problem.

Senator Horrines. That is actual size of acreage we are talking
about, the actual oil being there. Many companies would drill and
br1n<r it in and that is America’s problem. That is what the Texaco
advertisement said. We are trying to bring it to you, Mr. and Mrs.
America. Senator Johnston and I could form an oil company if we
hire a few geologists. We have good credit, we could get a rig and
start right 1. You would not have to be mammouth. You would not
have to take all the risks and have all the geologists, and everything
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else. Some of the dry holes would bring the price down and the finds
would bring it up. We are not trying to guarantee the taxpayers the
maximum return. The fair return, the realistic thing.

Mr. Carter. You want a fair return and you also want evaluation
of your lease.

Senator Horrixgs. Exactly, and the evaluation of acreage would
come through a program that you and I would introduce.

Mr. Carrer. And I maintain, that the evaluation of the acres made
available would be taken care of because it will be cheaper and allow
more companies to come in, and there will be——

Senator Horrixes. And we got a shortage of rigs?

Mr. Carter. Yes sir, this is why the 10 million acres a year is
probably hopeless.

Senator Horrrxes. I heard testimony before in. these hearings
earlier that the acreage leased in 1973 and 1974, that it would be
vears before they can find additional rigs to go into additional
acreage even if it was leased this afternoon.

Mr. Carrer. That is quite likely.

Senator Horrings. Thank you lots.

Senator Jonnsrton. Mr. Carter, you were asked whether Gulf was
organized like the government. There are some important differences,
are there not?

Mr. Carter. Yes sir,

Senator JornstoX. You do not have civil service?

Mr. Carrer. No.

Senator Jouxsron. Your board of directors is paid more than
$42,500, are they not? You see what you get for $42,500.

Mr. Carter. No, I think as a matter of fact, our directors do not
even get that much. They get their expenses f01 attending a meeting.

Senator JomnsrtoN. Mr. C‘u'ter you said Gulf would not sell 10
million acres unless they knew w hat they had. Gulf farms acreage all
the time?

Mr. Carter. Yes sir.

Senator JorxsToN. Before you do the test runs?

Mr. Carter. Not always, sometimes. Sometimes we farm the acreage
without drilling the well.

Senator Jonnston. You farm?

Mr. Carter. Let us say it is 50-50. Sometimes we drill a well and
we farm it out. sometimes we do not. I do not know the proportion.

Senator JornxsTon. When you say, the question was asked to you
if you could sell the 10 million acres and you wanted to know what
was there, how many wells would it take you and how many dollars
do you think it would take to find out what is on 10 million acres?

Mr. Carregr. Well let me think about that just a second. I am going
to say it may take as many as a thousand wells, one well for every
10,000 acres. Even that is a rather thin density, light density and
those 1 ,000 wells may cost $800,000 to $1 million aplece depending on
where they are. You are looking at a lot of money and you are looking
at a lot of drilling and a lot of time.

Senator JounstoN. The Department of Interior eaid that the ex-
ploratory program on the OCS may cost up to $10 billion. Would
you say that is
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Mr. CarteRr. I would certainly start with that figure.

Senator Jorxston. At $1 million apiece and a thousand wells, that
is exactly $10 billion ?

Mr. Carrer. That is the drilling, not to mention all the geophysical
work that would have to be done in order to locate the wells. Geo-
physical work costs on the order of $300 to $500 a mile.

Senator JounsTon. You say a thousand wells and maybe $800,000
to $7 million apiece, about $10 billion which is about what Interior
said. And still you would not be able definitively to condemn or to
prove up on your structures out there, would you?

Mr. Carter. With a thousand wells?

Senator Jorxstox. The Gulf of Alaska, George’s Bank, Baltimore
Canyon? :

Mr. Carter. It would go a long way. It would go a long way.

Senator Jorunston. Toward proving it out and condemning ?

Mr. CarTER. Yes.

Senator JounsToN. And how much time would that take?

Mr. Carter. Taking them one at a time?

Senator Jounston. No, you could do more than one at a time.

Mr. Carter. Well, it depends on the number of rigs. If you want
to put a hundred rigs on it, ten wells per rig all working simul-
taneously, the job could be done in 3 years.

Senator Jornsron. That leads to my next question. We had testi-
mony here that the offshore industry can grow at only about a rate
of 20 percent per year. That is about the capacity of it’s shipyards,
et cetera, to build equipment. Is that a reasonable choice?

Mr. Carter. I am not really qualified to say that is in regard to
building rigs. I read the testimony in that regard and I am sure it is
accurate. I would have no reason to argue with it.

Senator Jomwnston. That seeems to be in accordance with your
experience ?

Mr. CarTER. Yes.

Senator Jornston. There is a shortage right now?

Mr. Carter. Of certain tpes of rigs.

Senator Jounston. In other words, you would be able to say if the
Government leased 10 millon acres, you just do not have the rigs and
he capacity to go explore that all at once. You would have to wait
for the rigs to be built, would you not ?

Mr. Carter. To do it all at once on the same probe.

Senator Jouxston. Do it in 3 years as you suggest ?

Mr. Carrer. Three years, very definitely.

Senator Jounstox. For example, the Gulf of Alaska, you have
very few rigs (for that area)?

Mr. CartEr. They could not even handle it.

Senator JounsToN. You would have to wait for them to be built?

Mr. Carter. They are being built, as a matter of fact. )

Senator Jornsron. If there has been, in effect, a shortage of rigs
in the sense that if we’re going to try to develop all of this on a quick
basis, explore it all on a fairly quick basis, there are just not enough
rigs to go around?

Mr. CarTer. T would say that would be a good general conclusion.

51-748 O - 75 - 17



M4

Senator Jounston. And you got increasing competition, for rigs,
" from the North Sea and Indonesia, and we used to have from South
Vietnam. But, the conclusion then is this: That if the (Government
got in the exploratory business they do not have their rigs. Now
would they not just be taking those rigs from private enterprise?

Mr. Carter. That is the only place they are available, yes, from
private industry, yes.

Senator Jounston. Now, we have heard Senator Hollings say that
there is evidence that we have not got enough, the Government has
not got enough return from QCS development and exploration. My
experience, or the facts I have been given, are that—in effect than—
the Gulf of Mexico, where some 90 percent or some 95 percent of the
exploration and development has taken place, has not been particu-
larly profitable for private oil companies. Is that not correct?

Mr. Carrer. That is correct.

Senator Jounsrton. What is Gulf’s experience out there?

Mr. Carrer. We were almost; this is on a dollar-for-dollar basis,
cash basis, cash in and cash out. We were almost even after almost 20
vears of experience in the offshore, when the moratorium ceased and
the sale was held in September of 1972. Since that time we have gone
back in the hole, on a dollar basis, probably to the tune of half a
billion dollars.

Senator JounsToN. You are hopeful of making some returns from
out there?

Mr. Carter. From what we have now, yes.

Senator Jounston. From that, as of right now you are half a bil-
lion dollars in the hole and as of September of 1972 you were about
even with the board for about 20 years of drilling activity ?

Mr. Carter. Yes sir, that is correct.

Senator Jom~ston. When you started in the Gulf of Mexico you
started in the most shallow and the easiest to find geologically out
there, right?

Mr. Carrer. That is correct.

Senator Jomxston. Ts that experience not reasonably typical in the
Gulf with Exxon and with Texaco and the other companies?

Mr. Carrer. It is reasonable in any exploration area, even a fron-
tier area. You begin with the known and project into the unknown.
Offshore Louisiana was merely an extension of onshore activity of
years ago.

Senator Jornston. But what I am talking about is your returns.
The Gulf of Mexico has not been a bonanza for anybody ?

Mr. Carter. No, it has not.

Senator JounsTon. You are hoping to come out on it?

Mr. Carrer. We think we will come out with what we have now.
We are willing to roll that money over as long as there are prospects
there to be drilled.

Senator Jounsrton., Mr. Carter, one final question. We had testi-
mony before this committee from people who actually knew the ex-
ploration out there, and one point that they made, 1 thought par-
ticularly appropriate, is when you are exploring you need to change
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decisions and make decisions quickly involving multithousands of
dollars; to move location or whatever and do that quickly, and you
cannot wait to put out bids and that sort of thing. Is that true in
your experience with Gulf?

Mr. Carrer. Yes sir. It happened just recently where we drilled a
well in the offshore and before they got out of the conductor pipe the
bottom gave way. After an expenditure of $500,000, we had to move
the rig over 150 feet and start over again and this decision was made
at the local level. Now our organization is such that our district
offices have the authority to make these decisions up to a certain
monetary amount, and it is easy to pick up the telephone and call
into headquarters. When we have this problem, we have no choice.
We can move over and start again. That is the way you do it.

Senator Jomxston. When you start out with a program of ex-
ploration or lease, do you follow the program right through or is it
frequently changed and modified as you go along?

Mr. Carrer. Our exploration program?

Senator JouNSTON. Yes.

Mr. Carter. Frequently it is changed. It is the sort of a business
where you have to stay flexible. Because of geological change, you
might have to change accordingly. You may waint to change the
depth or to stop where you are.

Senator Jor~sToN. You may want to drill more holes or less holes?

Mr. Carrer. That is right, definitely.

Senator JounstoN. And it is frequently done, is it not?

Mr. Carter. It is a part of the business and 1t is always there, the
possibility of having to make decisions like that.

Senator JornsroN. Would it be difficult for the Government to
have that kind of flexibility?

Mr. Carter. If it were organized on a similar basis, it should be
able to perform similarly. T thin kit is just a matter of organization,
whether you can do it or not.

Senator StoNe. Any further questions? Senator Hollings?

Senator Horrixgs. Mr. Carter, just as you leave, are there any
amendments to the Outer Continental Land Act that you can sug-
gest, I would appreciate it. We have got problems. Rather than take
a negative attitude or approach, by proposing these amendments the
industry can help us and say something that makes sense. We have
something that could meet the needs and be of benefit to the public
interest. We would feel better; if you would do this rather than for
you to make this assault across the front where you tell us to reject
all amendments, all suggestions and everything else; and say that,
“We like it the way it is.” And then offer many pages of testimony
about all the risks and everything. It must not be so risky, or costly,
or difficult, or so impossible. As the Senator from Louisiana pointed
out, the financial rate is right (at the top). Successfully you all have
got plenty of reserves and everything is working fine. So I mean on
balance, it is on both sides, and it is gainfully employed. We have
gotten from our experience that we learn from all of the people. We
know the government can get into it, it found petroleum reserve
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number four. It was working on petroleum reserve number five, which
was in Saudi Arabia. A lot of people do not realize this. That is
where it was in the Roosevelt era.

Mr. Carter. I did not know that.

Senator Horrings. That is where petroleum reserve number five
was planned for, Saudi Arabia. So it is risky. We have got to band
together. When you get as large as the government, you do not want
the government. You want your government, not our government.

Mr. CarrER. Let me say this. T think T understand your problem
and I could not agree with you more. When you asked for our
thoughts on the amendments or even new bills, it does seem like we
always come in here and say we do not like it and whatever you do
we do not like it.

Senator Horrines. That is right.

Mr. Carter. I think it typifies when there is something wrong with
the process. We do not act. We only react. You people write the
laws, or write the bills, and then ask us for an opinion, and of course
we react. There is no system, viable system to my knowledge, that
permits a lot of this work to be done with industry input to help
you in a manner in which I think you are asking. I may be mistaken,
but I think I see your point.

Senator Horrings. Anyway, you could help us and we would ap-
preciate it.

Mr. Carrer. We come here and testify for a few minutes, and all
we can say is, “We do not like what you have done.” In a way it is
like saying, “Go back and do it over again.” But that is no input
from us.

Senator HorLrinegs. We do not want to overreact like we have done
in some fields; like we have done with air and water and pollution
control systems and required the impossible. We have got to find
more energy and we need the help from industry, and we think we
got pretty good help from some of the studies we made and we find
business making a profit. And let us keep going, but, come here
and tell us something you know. Thank you sir.

Senator Jouxston. Mr. Carter I want to echo that sentiment, and
I think you have gotten the drift of some of the problems we want to
solve. We want to invite you to be continually involved if you can.
Go back to your drawing boards and tell us now we might first get
more capital out there on the Outer Continental Shelf through some
new bidding procedure. S. 3221, which was passed last year, pro-
vided for the alternative means of bidding. We got some discussion
on that today. You might give us further suggestions on that. You
might give us further suggestions that would assure the public that
we are not selling something we ought to know more about. In other
words, information gathering that would be consistent with your
ideas about it. We would appreciate that. I think the concept is not
bow out by fact. We are talking about prospects into the future,
not what is going in fact. So if you could give us that information
we would appreciate it.

Senator Stoxe. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Carter follows:]
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MR. CHAIRMAN AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS, BY NAME IS J. O. CARTER
AND I AM A VICE PRESIDENT OF GULF OIL COMPANY - U.S. IN THIS CAPACITY
1 HAVE THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR GULF'S EXPLORATION, BOTH ONSHORE AND
THE OFFSHORE AREAS OF THE UNITED STATES.

NINE BILLS ARE BEING CONSIDERED BY YOUR COMMITTEES RELATING
TO PETROLEUM EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT ON THE OUTER CONTINENTAL
SHELF. THE SIGNIFICANCE YOU HAVE PLACED ON THE SUBJECTS COVERED BY
THESE BILLS CLEARLY ESTABLISHES THAT THE POLITICAL AND BUSINESS
IMPLICATIONS OF A LONG. RANGE NATIONAL ENERGY POLICY ARE GOING TO BE
PROFQUND. THE FACT THAT HMEMBERS OF THE INDUSTRY AND TRADE ASSOCIATIGNS
COME IN NUMBERS DBEFORE YOU TO TESTIFY AS TO THE ADEQUACY OF THESE
SUBJECTS IS PROCF ENOUGH THAT THEY CONSIDER THEM OF THE UTMOST IMPOR-
TANCE. - THAT THIS COUNTRY IS NOW CONFRONTED WITH ECONOMIC AND ENERGY
PROBLEMS OF EXTRAORDINARY PROPORTIONS; MAKES CLEA§ THAT CONTROL OF
OUR CWN POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC DESTINY IS IN JEOPARDY, EXTERNAL
PRESSURES WILL CEASE ONLY IF Nﬁ MOVE IN THE RIGHT DIRECTION. I SUBMIT
THAT WE HAVE A’CdMMON INTEREST WITH YOU TO ACHIEVE A SbLUTION WITHIN
THE FRAMEWORK OF A LAW HAVING A HISTORICAL BASE IN THE AREA OF PUBLIC
INTEREST AND IN THE PRESERVATION OF TRADITIONAL ECONOMIC CONCEPTS.

THE OVER-RIDING AND fHE MOST CRUCIAL CONCLUSION TO MAKE IS TO DO
WHAT 1S RIGHT FOR ALL. ~THE OVER-RIDING AND MOST CRUCIAL CONDITION
TO MEET IS TO IMPLEMENT THE POLICIES FORMULATED WITHIN A VERY NARROW
. TIME-FRAME.

AS A SCIENTIST, AS AN ADMINISTRATOR, AND AS A MEMBER OF THE
BUSINESS COMMUNITY, 1 WOULD BE REMISS IF I DID NOT REFLECT ON WHAT I
BELIEVE TO BE TWO FUNDAMENTAL ISSUES THAT PROMPTED THE BILLS UNDER

CONSIDERATION, FIRST 1S THE EXTENT OF THE ENERGY RESOURCES
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OF THE UNITED STATES, AND SECOND, HOW BEST TO BRING THEM TO THE
ENJOYMENT AND PROSPERITY OF THE NATION.

ON THE FIRST POINT, I SUGGEST THAT THE CHALLENGE OF EXPLORING
FOR OIL AND GAS IS TECHNOLOGICALLY MORE COMPLEX THAN THE BILLS WOULD
IMPLY. 1 HAVE SEEN REPORTS, SCIENTIFIC FAPERS AND ARTICLES
METICULOUSLY COUNTING THE NUMBER OF BARRELS OF OIL AND CUBIC FEET
OF NATURAL GAS RESQURCES TO BE FOUND IN THE COUNTRY, PRINCIPALLY
OFFSHORE., OSTENSIBLY, THE BILLS SEEM TO SAY THAT ALL ONE NEEDS TO DC
IS SIMPLY DRAW OFF WHAT THE NATION MEEDS, WHEN IT NEEDS IT, IN A
PLANNED AND ORDERLY MANNER,

BUT JUST WHERE IS ALL OF THAT OIL AND NAUTRAL GAS? THE MOST
COMPETENT AUTHORS OF THESE REPORTS SAY THEY ARE IN THE FRONTIER
AREAS -~ CFFGHORE ATLANYIC SEABCARD, CALIFORNIA AWD ALASKA, WHEN IN

FACT AT THIS TIME THEY ARE ONLY IN CUR MINDS.

AS AN EXAMPLE, TAKE THE MAFLA FRONTIER AREA — THE OFFSHORE OF
MISSISSIPPI, ALABAMA AND FLORIDA IN THE EASTERN GULF OF MEXICO. PRIGR
70 THE DiCEMBER 20, 1973 LEASE SALE, THE INTERIOR DEPARTMENT HAD
ESTIMATED RECOVERABLE RESERVES OF ABOUT 2 BILLION BARRELS OF OTL AND

2 TRILLION CUBIC FEET OF GAS. DURING THE FIVE YEAR PCRIOD PRECEDING
THE SALE, INDUSTRY HAD SPENT IN EXCESS OF AN ESTIMATED $60 MILLION FOR
GEOLOGICAL AND GEOPHYSICAL EXPLORATION IN THE AREA. CASH TOTALING
$1.4 BILLION WAS PAID IM THE FORM OF BONUSES BY INDUSTRY TO THE
GOVERNMENT FOR TRACTS IN THIS “FRONTIER AREA”., SUBSEQUENTLY, INDUSTRY
HAS SPENT APPROXIMATELY $20 MILLION IN WILDCATTING ON WHAT THE
SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY WILL AGREL ARE THE MOST ATTRACTIVE PROSPECTS.
RESULTS TO DATE? HOT ONE BARREL OF NEW OIL OR ONE CUBIC FOOT OF GAS
HAS BEEN DISCOVERED., 1 WOULD INVITE MEMBERS OF THIS COMMITTEE TO

READ THE ARTICLE ENTITLED, “HOPES WANE FOR DIG NEW RESERVES IN EASTERN
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GULF,” APPEARING ON PAGE 21 oF THE MARcH 10, 1875_o11._AnD 6As

e

QURNAL,. THE POINT I MAKE 1S THAT NO ONE CAN DETERMINE WITH ANY
DEGREE OF ACCURACY IF OIL WILL BE FOUND UNTIL WELLS ARE DRILLED.

AmD HERE THE QUESTION 1S RAISED “WHO 1S BEST EQUIPPED WITH TECHNOLOGY, -

e

ORGAMIZATION AND HISTORICAL SKILL NOT ONHLY TO EXPLORE BUT TO PRO-~
FESSIOHALLY DEVELGP AMNY RESOURCES THAT MIGHT BF FOUND? THE GOVERN-

MENT OR INDUSTRY?” THE PRvSICAL ACT OF DRILLING CAN BE DOHE BY'EITHER=‘

i OME HAND CAN HIRE THE GEGPHYSIC/

2, THE RI6 TO DRILL THE WELL, AND THE NECESSARY

SHTIFIC PERS

. TO SUPERVISE THE OPERATION, SOME
OF THE RILLE DEFORE THIS PAHEL VCULD AUTHORIZE SUCH AN UNDERTANING,

HAMD ALREADY HAS THE TECHNCOLOGY, THE ORGANTIAT

INDUSTRY OGN THE OT

ARD THE HISTGH ELDED IRTO A CAPABILITY BEYORD REPROACH.

BUT WE ARE NOT TALKING ARGUY ONE WELL. WE ARE TALKIHG ABOUT A FAJOR
PROGRAM OF EXTLORATICH COVERING THOUSAKRDS OF MILES OF TERRITORY,

SPANNING YEARS OF TIHE G PERHAPS BILLIONS OF DULLARS. THE

CNT CCROINDUSTRY SHOULD

SINGULAR DI

PLAY THE ROLE OF EXPLORER ANMD/CH DEVELOPER, O THIS ORDER OF MAG
IS THE MATTER OF EFFICIENCY WMICH TRANSLATES INTO THE ULTIMATE COST 7O
THE PUBLIC, THE PUBLIC DOES MOT HAVE ADEQUATE DOCUMENTAVION THAT THE
GOVERNMENT CAN QPERATQ.AS EFFICIENTLY AS INDUSTRY ARD YOU SHOULL
SERIOUSLY CONSIDER THIS PCIHT FOR ITS ULT{MATE RAMIFICATIUNS IN THE

EVENT OF FAILURE,

You MAY ASK WHAT IS IMDUSTRY'S DOCUMEWTATION THAT IT HAS

ey - L Tatl -~ s
DEMONSTR ¥v? 1 wouLp A

EFFICIH

ER BY SAYING THAT COMPETITICH

WITHIN ARY COMPANY AT ANY LEVEL IN ANY INDUSTRY.

EFFiCIENCY 1S PARAMGUNT TO & COMPAMY'3 SURVIVAL. [N SHORT TwE

ATIOR OF 373 EFFICIENCY.

A COMPANY VIABLY EXIST
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) CAN GOVERNMENT AND INDUSTRY OPERATE IN BUSINESS SIDE BY SIDE,
THE ONE PROVIDING A STANDARD FOR THE OTHER? 1 SUBMIT THEY SHOULD NOT,
BECAUSE IT WOULD CROSS FUNCTIONS, THE GOVERMMENT ROLE IS TO SET
POLICY AND GUIDELINES WITHIN WHICH INDUSTRY CAN EFFICIENTLY CONDUCT
THE BUSINESS.,

TO ILLUSTRATE, LET ME GIVE YOU WHAT I THINK ARE THE MOST
IMPORTANT I1TEMS IN THE VARIOUS BILLS BEFORE YOU PERTAINING TO THIS
DESIRE TO CROSS FUNCTIONS:

1, 5. 5721 DIRECTS THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR TO

CONDUCT A SURVEY OF THE OUTER CONTINEWTAL SHELF
OIL AND GAS RESOURCES TO PROVIDE A BASIS FOR
DEVELOPING AND REVISING A LEASE PROGRAM,
2. s, U26, s, 740 AND TO SOME EXTENT S, 521 AUTHORIZE
THE SECRETARY TO ALSO DRILL EMPLORATORY WELLS,
3, s, 426 AUTHORIZES CONGRESS WITH ALL ITS OTHER ACTIVITIES
IN RUNNING THE COUNTRY TO HAVE TO PAUSE FRCM VINME TO TIRE
TO MAKE OPERATING DECISIONS, APPROVING LEASE AND DEVELOMHERT

PLANS,

THE SECORD ISSUE PROMPTING THESE BILLS AND OTHERS LIKE THEM;
IS HOW TO BRING THE RESOURCES TO THE ENJOYMENT AND PROSPERITY OF
THE NATION.

HERE IS WHERE THAT CRUCIAL CONDITION OF WORKING WITHIN A VCRY
NARROW TIME-FRAME COMES INTO PLAY., THINGS SEEM TO BE GOING WELL
AGAIN A YEAR AFTER THE ARAD EMBARGO., PETROLEUM SURPLUSES HAVE
EXISTED IN RECENT MGNTHS, BUT LET'S NOT FORGET THAT some A0% oF 17
IS BEING SUPPLIED FRCOM FOREIGN SOURCES. EVEN THOUGH INFLATION IS
STILL WITH US, A RECESSION 1S UPON US, AND ETGHT MILLION FEOPLE
ARE OUT OF WORK - SOMEHOW, EVEN WITH THESE CONTRADICTORY ECONOMIC
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CONDITIONS, WE SEEM TO ASSUME THAT THE PRICES ARE GOING TO COME DOWN
AND IF THEY DON'T WE WILL FORCE THEM DOWN SC THAT WHEN THAT HAPPENS

WE CAN ALL BREATHE A SIGH OF RELIEF THAT THE CRISIS IS PAST. 1 CAN
ONLY SAY TO YOU FROM MY POSITION IN THE INDUSTRY THAT THE CRISIS

IS NOT THE PRICE BUT THE QUANTITY OF THE RESOURCE. TO THOSE WHO SAY
THERE IS PLENTY OF TIME TO PLAN THE ORDERLY DEVELOPMENT AND PRODUCTION
OF OUR DOMESTIC ENERGY RESOURCES - I WILL REPLY.yTIME WHICH WE DO NOT
HAVE AND RESOURCES THAT DO NOT YET EXIST.”

I SUBMIT THAT WE WILL NOT HAVE SEEN THE END OF THE ENERGY
CRISIS BUT ONLY OF ITS BEGINNING.

PERTAINING TO TIME WHICH WE DO NOT HAVE:

1. SenATE BILLS 81, 476, 470 anp 521 woULD SUSPEND OCS
LEASING FROM 18 MONTHS TO THREE YEARS,

2, THREE OF THE BILLS WOULD ALLOW THE STATE GOVERNORS
TO REQUEST POSTPONEMENT FOR UP TO THREE YEARS,

3. S. 521 anp S. 426 PROVIDE AVENUES FOR CIVIL ACTION
BY ANY PERSON HAVING AN INTEREST WHICH IS ADVERSELY
"AFFECTED., .

THROUGHOUT, THE WORDS DELAY, SUE, POSTPONE AND SET ASIDE
RECUR MORE THAN ONCE.,

P

FinaLry, THE PUNITIVE. ASPECTS OF THE BILLS CANNOT GO UNNOTICED.
FOR EXAMPLE:

1. S,426 ADDRESSES ITSELF TO AUTOMATIC TERMINATION
OF EXISTING PERMITS AND LEASES WHICH RAISES CON-
STITUTIONAL QUESTIONS.
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2. S. 426 awp S, 521 APPLY ONEROUS LIABILITY ON LESSEES
FOR OIL SPILLS.

VIEWED OBJECTIVELY, MY COMMERNTS WILL APPEAR TO SUGGEST THAT
NONE OF THESE BILLS REPRESENT THE BEST EFFCRTS OF THE AUTHORS.
THAT WOULD BE A NARKOW PURVIEW AND AN UNJUST CCNCLUSIOH, THEY DO
CONVAIN THE SCED OF AN ENERGY POLICY BUT T FEAR THEY WILL FAIL TO
MEET THE TEST OF TIME IN THEIR PRESENT FORM. THEY DO NOT RECCGNIZE
THAT THE MCECHANISH IS AT HAKD IN THE IRDUSTRY TO DO THE JOB OF
EVALUATING OUR ENERCY RESOURCES; THEY DO NOT PERMIT THD GOVERIMI

TO PERFORM ITS HISTORIC ROLE CF ADMINISTRAYVICH BUT THEY IRJECT T

GOVERNMENT I1LT0 THL ROLE AU THEY L0 NCT RECOCNIZE
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THE TIME FACTOR MfCRESSARY TO DLVELCOP THESE RESOQURCES, anD 1 WILL SAY
IT AGATH, IF THEY EXIST AT ALL,

NOT ALl BUSINCGSS DECISIONS ARE GOCD OFES,  WHEN A PROJECT
GOES SCGUR IT CAN BE 5TCPF

ED, SOMETINMES AT A GREAT LOSS BUT RARELY
1S IT &0 LARGE THAT IT WOULD WAVL NATIONAL [MPACT AS WOULD BE THE

CASE [F GOVIIRNAINT WERD DIRSCTLY INVOLVED. YOU AKFN YGUR DISTINGUISHED
COLLEAGUES ARE IN PUBLIC OFFICE., MATTERS CF NATIOHAL POLICY ARZ YOUR
"BUSINESS", SINCE POLICY AFFECTS THE WHOLE NATION, WHAT YOU DO WUST
BE AS CLOSE TO RIGHT AS POSSIBLE. YOU CANNOT PASS A BILL INTO LAW

AND IF IT DOESN'T WORK MERELY PASS ANOTHER BILL INTO LAW THAT W/LL
REVERSE ITS EFFECTS. | DON'T ENVY YOUR POSITION BUT I WOULD BE REMISS
IF I DID NOT SPEAK OUT WITH EVERY VORD OF CAUTION AT MY COMMARD TO

BE CAREFUL WITH ENERGY ARD WITH THCSE WHO ARE ENCAGED IN SUPPLYING
IT., . YOUR GREATESY CAPACITY AS STATESHEN IS CALLEDR UPCN.

AT THIS POIRT 1 WOULD LIKE TO OFFER SUGGESTICONS WHICH MAY
ASSIST YOU IN YOUR ULTIMATE DLCISIONS. TIME DOES NOT PERMIT GOING
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INTO THEM IN DETAIL BUT I WILL REFER YOU TO OUR WRITTEN STATEMENT
WHICH SUPPLEMENTS MY TESTIMONY AND IS HEREWITH SUBMITTED FOR THE

RECORD,

1 HAVE SAID THAT EVEN THE BEST SCIENTIST CANNOT PREDICT THE
CERTATN OCCURREKRCE OF OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESOUKCES. BUT IN TERKNS
OF ENERGY FOLICY AND WUAT T DG KMNOW AND HAVE SEFN OF THIS COUNTRY'S

ENERGY SOURCES, WHAT YCU DO T® THIS THETAHCE MaY VERY WELL DE

IRREVERSIBLE, TIKHE I8 R ING AMD THIS 18 OUR LAST CHAE
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There is currently a real awareness of the significance
of the Outer Continental Shelf, which is the most promising
source of increased domestic supply of oil and gas, and of the
importance of the proposals that are the subjects of the joint
héarings before the Committee‘on Iﬁterior and Insular Affairs
and the Committee on Commerce of‘the United States Senate.

The U.S. and other western industrialized nations are
faced with the reality of their dependence on external energy
supplies. The American public is well informed now of the
inherent danger of this situation, particularly in the near
future. By the mid-1980's the free world's production of oil
will havé peaked and sufficient supplies may not bg available
at any price. This isa disastrous course from which there might
be no recovery. The Arab Embargo was a rude awakening, for
it clearly showed that we mpst»move»fofward with the deQelopment
of our domestic resources. During ;hat short-lived émbargo our
Gross National Product declined by some $20 billion, adding
méasurably to the rate of inflation felt by all Americans, and
leaving some 500,000 people without jobs.

Presently we'depend upon foreign ;ources for 35-40% of our
petroleum needs and indications are this reliance may only
increase. At the current rate at which we import petroleum,
over $24 billion annually is being paid to foreign suppliers, .
resulting in a deficit trade balance. It is projected that
this trend will continue at these levels for the next three
to five years. However, we must act now if we are to reverse

it in the future. For every million barrels a day of additional
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0il produced in the U.S., imports are reduced proportionately,
which means $4 billion annually can be kept at home. This money
would flow into our own channels of commerce, going for raw
materials, construction, wages and taxes, and would provide a
powerful and needed stimulus for the economy.

This country is confronted with a staggering rate of in-
flation which is combined with recession and energy problems
of extraordinary proportions. It therefore is clear that we
cannot long continue to rely heavily on energy controlled by
foreign suppliers. The frontier areas of the Outer Continental
Shelf have the greatest potential of undiscovered reserves of
oil and gas. The public well-being demands that these sources
be explored. If reserves are discovered, they should be
developed as rapidly as possible. At the same time new forms
of energy must be developed for the longer term. We cannot afford
the luxury of delay any longer. It should be recognized that
even after an OCS lease is issued there is a time lag up to
seven years from the time an exploratory well is drilled until
0il can be produced commercially.

Historians will some day point to a number of factors that
have led to the deterioration of our domestic energy supplies,
and contributed greatly to the problems we are faced with today.
Some of these began years ago but need mention to show how delays
and certain governmental actions had a causal relation to the
present situation.

In 1954 the U.S. Supreme Court upheld the authority of the

Federal Power Commission to regulate the price of natural gas



at the wellhead. That ruling kept the price of gas at about

1/5 the BTU cost of o0il, and thereby encouraged industrial and
residential consumers of energy to use this fuel at an unrealist-
ically controlled price. Conversely, the artifically low prices
discourage the search for new reserves. This contributed to

the lack of supplies of crude oil aﬁd coal.

In 1969 we saw thé reduction of percentage depletion which
removed about 1/2 billion dollars a year from exploration financing.
At that time development of the Santa Barbara Channel was halted '
due to the oil spill. Also in 1969 huge o0il deposits on Alaska's
North Slope were discovered but could not” be developed due to
protest against building a pipeline from the oil fiéldé to the
ports in southeyn Alaska. During that same year a legislatively
imposed moratorium was continued on the lz2asing of TFederal offshore
acreage for exploration of oil and gas. The record shows that
from May 1968 through September 1972 there was only one general
lease sale of promising geological dreas in the U.S.

Had both the Alaska and Santa Barbara oil reserves been
developed beginning in 1969, our dependence on foreiqn oil would
have been cut by 2% million barrels a day by 1974, thus saving
in the raﬁge of $10 billion a year in trade balance. It has
been estimated by some that reductioﬁ in the depletion allowance
resulted in some 2,000 0il and gas discoveries not being made in
the U.S. )

F~d -

These many delays in the exploration and development of our

domestic resources have led to our present dependence upon foreign

suppliers for a large part of our petroleum needs. We are ex-
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periencing the effects of external political and economic pressures
exerted by foreign suppliers, and how disruptive they can be to this
nation.

Within recent weeks tax legislation was passed by Congress eli-
minating the percentage depletion allowance, among other things, which
further affects the industry's ability to find and develop new energy
resources by removing badly needed funds. Capital requirements for
the domestic petroleum industry will be well over $20 billion a year
for the period 1975 through 1985. Loss of the depletion allowance
is "another straw" which will result in increased depcendence on foreign
crude oil. It is obvious that the proposals currently being considercd
at the joint hearings could accelerate this trend if they are not
corrected to permit us to move ahead in the development of the potential
reserves of this nation's Outer Coatinental Shelf.

The congressional intent as expressed in most of the bills before
the Scnate Committees is meritorious. The purpose of these bills is to
increase domestic production of oil and natural gas from the 0CS, to
achieve national economic goals and assure national sccurity, to reduce
dependence on unreliable foreign sources, and to maintain a favorable
balance of payment in world trade. However, the undeilying theme of
these proposals is not consistent with some of the provisions contained
in the bills themselves. There are many built-in delay factors which
would have an adverse effect on the stated purpose. Some of these delays
manifest themselves in such forms as a moratorium on OCS leasing, delays
which the coastal state governors may impose on the lease sales, and
the requirement that the Federal government perform exploratory work.

. With this background, we would like to discuss specific points
within the bills which we feel are particularly important.

1. Leasing Program. Gulf favors the concept contained in

51-748 O - 75 - 18
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S. 426 and S. 521 of advance planning in the establish-

ment 6f a ten-year leasing program designed to bring

about rapid and responsible dcvelopment of the 0OCS oil

and gas reserves. However, it is not clear in the Jackson
bill (S. 521) whether the Secretary, after approving the
leasing program, may issue leases within the two-year period
required for submitting it to Congress. This ambiguity
should he clarificd to provide that the program be approved
by the Secretary within six months after enactment, so that
he can igssue leases thercafter. The lessing program would

then he subject to periodic ugdating.

In conjuncticn with the developent of a leasing program,

as a Kational

S. 521 requires that arcec ba s:

Stratagic Encigy Reserve. Any siratcegic res
in the ofif{shore areas vould not he as militarily securc as
those onshore. We should like to point out that the pro-
vision in the bhill to establish a Wational Strategic
Petrolewn Reserves is premature in the light of similay
legislative proposals pending before the Senate. Other
bills now under consideration by other cummittees also
propose the establishment of civilian petrolcum strategic
storage onshore which will make oil readily available in
the event of an emergency, such as an embargo.

OCS Survey Program. Under the Jackson bill (S. 521)

the Secretary is directed to conduct a survey of OCS
0il and gas resources to provide a basis for develop-
ing and revising the leasing program. For this purpose
the Secretary may conduct his own exploratory

surveys and drilling, or purchase data from commercial
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sources. In addition, the Secretary may require any
person holding a lease under this act to furnish any
existing data about oil and gas resources in the
area covered by the lease. All proprietary data shall
remain confidential until such time as the Secretary
determines that public disclosure would not affect
competitive positions. This is different from other
provisions in the Jackson Bill which provide that
proprietary data is to remain confidential for a
period agreed to by the parties. We strongly urge
that proprietary data not be disclosed until both
the Secretary and the private party making such data
available agree to such disclosure, or that the
Secretary obtain confirmation from the lessee that
release of such data would not in any way damage the
competitive position of the }essee.

Federal Exploration Program. The Hollings Bill (S. 426)

directs the Secretary of the Interior to conduct a
government exploratory program, including drilling in
the OCS. This represents a radical shift from the
discretionary authority contained in the Jackson Bill
which permits the Secretary to conduct his own ex-
ploratory program only where the required information
is not available from commercial sources. Those who
desire direct federal involvement claim that a federal

exploratory and drilling program will benefit the
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American people by providing government with a

more accurate measure of the value of the oil and
gas reserves in the OCS tracts prior to leasing.
However, there is no reason to believe that a
government exploratory program would yield greater
revenues for the American people than the present
system of competitive bid@ing for leases.

It has been said by some that the pre-lease sale
values of OCS tracts have been grossly underesti-
mated by the Ilnterior Department. However, this

is only one side of the coin --let's look at the
other side --the MAFLA sale in "frontier areas",
off Mississippi, Alabama and Florida, in the
Northeast Gulf of Mexico.

Prior to the December 20, 1973 lease sale, Interior
had estimated recoverable reserves of about 2 billion
barrels of oil and 2 trillion cubic feet of gas.
During the five year period preceding the sale in-
“dustry had spent in excess of an estimated $60
million for geological and geophysical exploration
in the sale area. Cash bonuses and prepaid rentals
totaling $1.5 billion were paid to the government
at the sale for those tracts in "frontier areas".
Subsequently, our industry spent approximately $20
million in wildcatting on the more attractive

prospects. Results to date? Not one barrel of new
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reserves has been discovered. The Committee members
are invited to read the article entitled, "Hopes Wane
for Big New Reserves in Eastern Gulf", appearing on

Page 21 on the March 10, 1975 OIL AND GAS JOURNAL.

The point made is that no one can determine with a
high degree of accuracy if o0il will be found until
wells are drilled. We will be dealing with other
frontier areas which pose greater unéertainties than
the MAFLA leases. It is not reasonable to risk bil-
lions of dollars of taxpayers'money by having the

federal government enter the exploration business.

Another and ye£ more serious problem is that when
government makes mistakes, these mistakes will be
enormous ones. The problem is that the government
will have only one system evaluating exploratory
surveys, rather than the checks and balances found
in our competitive system, which provides multiple
‘exploration programs of a number of companies.
Additionally, the free market system reduces the
range of issues that must be decided through poli-
tical means, thereby minimizing the extent to which
government needs to participate directly in business.
Our ecenomic system and political freedoms must be
preserved by keeping political and economic con-~

siderations separated.



964

If the government undertook to explore for oil and
gas it would mean more years of delay. An effective
governmental exploration mechanism would require ex-~
pertise and trained and experienced personnel. It
takes a minimum of Zour years to educate engineers
and geologists and the government would need this
type of staffing. These people not only need to bé
educated, but must have exteﬂsive experience in order
to perform the tybe of analysis necessary to estimate
reserves and determine their values. There is no
question that it woula take too many years to wait
for the education and training of personnel to under-
take such a program as suégested by this proposal.
The American people do not have the time to wait

for these badly needed resources, nor can our economy
function adequately under thé depressed conditions

we have been experiencing lately.

For the reasons discussed, we are opposed to this
proposal and to S. 740 which provides for a National
Energy Production Board to carry out exploration

and production activities on' federal public lands.

Leasing and Development Plani The Hollings Bill (S. 426)
proposes that 90 dafs prior to inviting bids on gaéh
tract, the Secrefaff must transmit a leésing and
development plan go Congress, and thatvit would be
deemed approved if not acted upon by Congress within

the next 90 days. Also, the bill provides that no lease
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will be issued to a lessee if he does not submit his
"development plan" consistent with that filed by the
Secretary. Failure to comply with the development
plan terminates the lease. PFurther, a similar sub-
mission of a development plan is required for existing
permits and leases. Failure to submit a development
plan or comply with an approved plan terminates the

permit or lease.

Under provisions of the bill a lessee has no opportunity
to have any input into the development plan before it

is submitted to Congress. When he is issued a lease

he then must conform his development plan with the

plan previously developed by the Secretary. It would
seem to be in the government's best interest for industry
to be consulted while the Secretary is formulating his

development plans and before submitting them to Congress.

Additionally, where a lessee has failed to submit a
plan or comply with the approved development plan, his
lease will be terminated automatically. This provision
is unduly harsh. A lease should be terminated only
after the lessee has been notified and given an oppor-

tunity to comply with the plan and fails to'do so.

The provision terminating pre-existing permits, licenses
and leases unless a development plan is submitted to
the Secretary and, after approval, complied with by the

lessee is arbitrary and probably unconstitutional. In
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most instances the holders of previously granted
rights-of~way cr oil and gas leases have invested large
amounts of money and considerable time in obtaining and
paying for such permits, rights-of-way and leases and

in conducting operations such as laying pipelines or
exploring and drilling for oil and gas and, if successful,
in development and producing operations. To require a
new and perhaps onerous development plan for an existing
producing lease could be an abridgment of contract. In
addition, to cancel any existing lease without notice

or hearing is unconscionsable and amounts to an unlawful
taking of property without due process. The present OCS
Lands Act requires notige to the lessee of any alleged
violation or failure to comply, plus an opportunity to
cease or correct any act or failure to act before a
lease is cancelled. Further, cancellation of a non-
producing lease is subject to judicial review ana a
producing lease may be cancelled only by an appropriate
proceeding in the U.S. District Court. Gulf agrees with
the establishment of these basic safeguards to prevent
arbitrary and unjust action and urges that they be retained.

Delays in Leasing. Senate bills 81, 426, 470, and 521

would suspend leasing of OCS tracts from 18 months to
three years. Three of these bills permit a coastal state
governor to request postponement of the sale of any leése
for a pe;iod of up to three years if he determines that

the proposed sale has an adverse environmental: or
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economic impact on his state. We recognize that

the coastal states have a serious concern and legit-
imate interest in the development of the offshore areas
which will affect them, but it would be inappropriate
for any state to act as a deterrent to the development
of our national energy resources which are necessary
for the economic well-being of the nation and our
national security. Not only that, we cannot afford

to delay the development of our own resources. Con-
tinuing to depend heavily on costly foreign petroleum
causes a tremendous drain on this nation's financial

resources.

After the discovery of oil or gas on an OCS tract, up
to 7 years is required for production to be brought .
onstream. During this time frame we in industry could
ascertain the extent and amount of production and work
with the state and federal governments in resolving
the questions raised by the governors. We strongly
‘urge that the coastal states plan for the impact of
offshore 0il and gas development so as not to delay
offshore lease sales or exploratory and development
drilling. The time lag from discovery to production
will provide those states with the time they need to
formuléte and implement their coastal zone plans
without the necessity of holding up lease sales and

actual exploration drilling.
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Liability for 0il Spills. Both S. 521 and S. 426 provide

that lessees and a newly established "offshore fund" are
to be held strictly liable to all parties damaged from
OCS spills regardless. of fault. A lessee would be liaj
ble for the first $7 million of any one claim with the
fund paying the balance up to $100 million. Such strict
liability provisions would .place a potential financial
burden of great proportions on many offshore operators
with the result that it would discourage entry on the
part of smaller companies which have been more prominént
in the offshore bidding in recent years. We submit that
the $100 million "fund" should be the principal. source
available to satisfy all va;id claims attributed to a
specific o0il spill including both damages and clean-up
costs. The operators as a class will estéblish the fund,
and it should be made available for the purpose of an
immediate reéponse to containment, clean-up and damages
and tﬁereby.minimize the probably damage. The iease
operator by contributing to the fund on a barrel basis
is in effect buying insurancg: He ceases payment into
the fund once it reaches the $100 million and resumes
payrment to replenish améuAts>paid out in ciaims. This
system has built-in incentives to promote safeguards.
Citizen Suits. The Jackson and Hollings bills (S. 521
and S. 426) provide that any person having an interest

which is adversely affected may bring a civil action
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against an o0il company or the U.S. to enforce provisions
of these acts. We believe that governmental agencies
have demonstrated ample capacity to police the industry
and safeguard éhe public interest. The provisions in
these bills would generate a multiplicity of suits, con-
tinuous litigation, and harassment of the government and
industry, and would lead to serious delays in developing
the offshore resources. However, if these provisions

are to be adopted, we recommend that they prohibit an
action from being filed by any person if the Interior
Secretary is proceeding administratively or in the courts
to enforce compliance, and that as a condition precedent
to filing an action the person who is alleged to be in
violation of the statute be given notice and allcwed time
for corrective action.

Revised Bidding and Lease Terms. The Jackson and Hollings

bills (S. 521 and S. 426) set out a number of alternative
bidding systems. We view this as a step in the right
direction due to the enormous capital investment the
industry will have to make to find and produce the off-
shore resources. A major portion of this capital require-
ment goes toward lease bonuses under the present bidding
system. By testimony on May 10, 1974 Gulf proposed to

the Subcommittee on Minerals, Materials and Fuels of the
Senate Interior Committee, a type of work obligation
arrangement whereby a portion of the bonus could be used

in actual drilling and development. With some slight



970

modification this is basically an alternative bidding
system suggested by Mr. Michel T. Halbouty, an inde-
pendent oil operator of Houston, Texas. Gulf believes
that increasing the size of the 0CS blocks as proposed
in the Hollings bill will remove one of the chstacles

to efficient offshore exploration. This is especially
true in the frontier areas. Therefore, we suggest that
in these frontier areas the OCS lease tracts be increased
in size from the 5,760 acres in the present law to in-
crements of 20,000 to 100,000 acre blocks. This increase
in size would result in many high-risk areas being ex-
plored that probably would not be with the present block
size.v Thus, it is more likely that oil and gas would

be discovered quicker. A bidder would be afforded the
opportunity of investing'badly needed capital more
wisely in both exploration and field development, and
more effectively in terms of drilling rigs and tubular
goods. Subsequent sales in these areas could be held
using smaller tracts, scaling down the size of blocks
until the original 5,760 acre tracts are reached. This
would occur as the areas in gquestion became more mature
in both exploration and development, similar to the
situétion in offshore Louisiana today.

Assisting Coastal States. Several proposais being con-

sidered suggest differing means for assisting coastal
states impacted by development of the Outer Continental

Shelf. Coastal state and local governments are right-
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fully interested in the onshore implications resulting
from the OCS exploration and development activities

adjacent to their shores.

Under the Mineral Leasing Act of 1920, any state having
federal public lands within its boundaries receives a
share of the revenues paid to the federal government

from o0il and gas leases on such lands. We believe that
this general concept should carry over to oil and gas
leases in the OCS adjacent to coastal states. The lessee
would continue his payment of bonuses, rents and royalties
to the federal governmant and a procedure should be worked
out between the state and federal governments to allocate
a portion of the revenues to the states.

In conclusion we would like to comment on provisions relating
to safety inspections, research and development, and environmental
baseline studies, which are contained in S. 426. These would
require other federal agencies, such as the Coast Guard and the
National Oceanics and Atmospheric Administration, to conduct
and monitor these programs. This can only add to the confusion
of an already complex problem and we would advocate that the
agency presently responsible for these functions continue to
handle them.

We appreciate this opportunity to express Gulf's views on
the various bills being considered at the joint hearings con-
cerning exploration for and development of o0il and gas on the

Outer Continental Shelf of the United States.
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Senator Stone. Next we will hear from William Sessions, Vice
President for Energy Management, the American Can Company
testifying on behalf of the National Association of Manufacturers.

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM SESSIONS, VICE PRESIDENT FOR ENERGY
MANAGEMENT, AMERICAN CAN CO0, ON BEHALF OF THE
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MANUFACTURERS

Mr. Sesstons. Mr. Chairman, my name is William Sessions, vice
president for American Can and I am here to testify on behalf of
the National Association of Manufacturers, which has more than
13,000 members around the United States on the subject of Outer
Continental Shelf leasing. We are glad to have the opportunity to
contribute to the policy debate on the important issues raised by
the Administration’s program to accelerate offshore oil and gas pro-
duction.

The preamble to S. 521 states that it is “a bill to increase the
supply of energy in the United States from the Quter Continental
Shelf.” The NAM strongly supports this objective. We believe that
a program of expanded offshore drilling is now essential to ensure a
stronger domestic energy base and in particular to reduce our ex-
cessive dependence on imported oil and to mitigate our critical short-
age of natural gas. We are concerned however, that many of the
specific provisions in these various bills conflict with that stated
objective in S. 521 and would in fact retard rather than encourage
resource development on the Shelf.

Some of these provisions attempt to address legitimate and serious
concerns. However, we feel that these concerns are being generally
over-emphasized at the expense of our very real need for more energy
and more employment.

In the first part of our testimony, we will briefly outline why we
believe it is so important for industry and for the nation as a whole
to proceed with development on the Shelf. We will then go on to
analyze critically individual features of these bills and what we
judge as their impact.

The most important impact of expanded offshore drilling will be
to improve our national energy posture. A wide gap has opened
between the U.S. supply of and demand for energy which has been
filled by increased imports, not increased domestic production. As
long as we delay developing our own resources, we have little choice
but to pay the price exacted and to endure whatever uncertainties
accompany this growing dependence. Increasing domestic supplies
is essential to achieve diminished dependence on imports.

The U.S. demand for energy in 1985 will probably be at the very
least 100 to 105 quadrillion BTU’s. Meeting this demand at the same
time as lessening U.S. dependence on imports constitutes a massive
task. Energy conservation alone will simply not be enough.

The development and utilization of alternative energy sources will
be extremely costly and involve considerable lead times and environ-
mental uncertainties. Although in the future these other sources are
going to have to play a much greater role, the need to develop new
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oil and gas supplies is going to remain of central importance in the
near and medium terms.

The Alaskan North Slope and the Outer Continental Shelf are
the only areas which offer significant potential for increasing domes-
tic oil and gas production. The first sections of the Alaskan pipeline
are just being laid. The delays in its construction should provide an
object lesson. The years of delay did not significantly alter the final
balance between environmental and energy goals. Meanwhile our
energy position has worsened.

The other significant impacts will be regional. We feel that the
positive effects of offshore development on the energy balance of
individual regions have often been insufficiently stressed. Some part
of the country have a far greater imbalance between energy supply
and demand than the nation as a whole. New England is a notable
example. Offshore production can contribute significantly in redress-
ing these regional imbalances.

In an even wider sense expanded offshore production will have a
clear and beneficial impact on the economies of coastal states. Many
new jobs will be created. The refining, petrochemical and construction
sectors will be particularly stimulated. Service sector jobs will ex-
pand as will local manufacturing opportunities. Regional unemploy-
ment rates will decline and local wage rates will go up.

In short, there is a pressing national and regional need for expanded
offshore development. We feel this development can and should be
achieved in an environmentally responsible manner. Bearing these
perspectives in mind, we would now like to comment on some of the
details of these bills. We are concerned that many of their provisions
will impede development and that many of the suggested safeguards
are not in fact necessary.

Rather than examining provisions in isolation, bill by bill, our
comments will focus on the key issue areas addressed by these differ-
ent bills. Most of them relate to S. 521, S. 426, and S. 586, the bills
with the most sweeping scope. As we see them, these issues are the
following : a moratorium on leasing, the preparation of OCS develop-
ment plans, greater Federal involvement on the OCS, stronger en-
vironmental and safety standards, and increased coastal state par-
ticipation both in the decisionmaking process and in the fruits of
OCS development.

Some of the provisions in these bills would establish a moratorium
on leasing in frontier areas until either a specific date is reached
or a specific condition complied with. This is expressed in its most
far-reaching form in the section of S. 426 providing for a moratorium
on leasing 1n all “frontier” areas. This would call for a continuing
moratorium on leasing in a particular area until the following steps
are implemented: The government has completed a plan for a Fed-
eral oil and gas exploration program in that area, drawn up a leas-
ing and development plan, submitted it to coastal states (who could
then request—but not necessarily be granted—a three year delay)
and then transmitted it to Congress for Congressional approval or
disapproval. We oppose any such moratorium. There will be a very
considerable lead-time between leasing and ultimate production and
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the coastal states will have time to finalize their coastal zone man-
agement plans and to establish the balanced planning procedures
needed to meet the onshore impacts of production. A moratorium
such as that in S. 426 would result in years of unnecessary delay.

These bills also call for the preparation of OCS development plans.
We agree that offshore drilling must become an effective component
of a coherent national energy strategy but feel that a system calling
for detailed plans which would then have to undergo a complex
process of approval would not achieve this objectivé but would result
instead in slowness and rigidity. Lengthy delays in development
would ensue. This would be particularly the case with S. 426. Further-
more, future material constraints cannot before seen with confidence
nor, while the increasing magnitude of our energy crisis is apparent,
have we developed effective methodologies for predicting future
energy supply and demand. We need development but within the
context of a flexible regime.

A third thrust of these bills is closer Federal involvement in the
form of a Federal oil and gas exploration program. Much interest
has been expressed recently in the idea of separating exploration of
the Shelf from its development.

A Federal exploration program would be inefficient because it
would substitute a single exploration strategy for the variety of
strategies which would be adopted by private explorers. There are
any number of case histories of initial failures followed by subse-
quent and unexpected discoveries of hydrocarbons. Some of the salt
dome structures in the Gulf of Mexico were explored for years be-

. fore hydrocarbons were discovered. The North Sea was believed to
have widespread gas potential in its southern sector but the major
oil finds in its central and northern sectors were unexpectedly made
after 29 dry holes had been drilled and most groups had ceased drill-
ing. It is questionable whether a Federal exploration company would
persevere in this way without competitive incentives.

Second, a Federal oil and gas exploration company could not be
assembled from scratch in a short period of time. Its creation would
lead to a further lengthy period of uncertainty as to the potential of
our continental shelves and an effective moratorium on development.

The bills also contain a number of provisions attempting to
strengthen environmental and safety standards. The underlying ob-
jectives of these provisions are excellent. If accelerated development
1s to take place, there must be adequate environmental safeguards. We
question however, whether the complex series of safeguards provided
in these bills are all strictly necessary or whether they in fact repre-
sent overkill. Like any major enterprise, OCS development involves
risks but the nature of the risks may be overstressed. The evidence
indicates that it is environmentally safer than many other options,
including increased, massive importation of foreign oil. The tech-
nology is well established and careful evaluations have indicated that
physical technologies used on the OCS for discovery, development,
and transportation are generally safe and adequate. The present
system offers adequate safeguards and does not need the degree of
strengthening provided in these bills. The idea of an oil spill liability
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fund is a good one however, particularly if it is widened to include
spills from other sources such as tankers.

A further important thrust of these bills is increased coastal state
participation in the OCS planning process and an increased coastal
state share in the benefits. These are worthwhile objectives but only
if they are balanced with national goals.

There is understandable coastal state concern over the impacts of
offshore development on the coastal zone. Constructive participation
by the coastal states will be needed in the future. Yet while they
should be consulted and have a stronger say in management deci-
sions, we have serious reservations about the overall ramifications
of what might effectively amount to a veto over offshore development.

The Coastal Zone Management Act will clearly be the planning
mechanism which will be used to meet the impacts on the coastal
zone. Offshore development is closely related to the issue of planning
in the coastal zone and offshore developers will have to take this
into account. In certain areas, development may have to be concen-
trated in corridors or be located inland instead of on the coast.

In administering the Coastal Zone Management Act, however, the
“national interest” clause of the legislation should be weighed against
the “Federal consistency” clause so that the national interest will be
taken into account in the state planning process. In this way a bal-
ance can be struck between local objectives and the Nations wider
energy goals. The danger of some of these bills is that they are likely
to lead to the wrong balance being struck.

These bills and in particular S. 426 and S. 521 are so broad in
scope that we have only been able to address a number of their pro-
visions. We are concerned about a number of other provisions such
as those dealing with data sharing and those providing a wide scope
for citizen’s suits. The geological data disclosure authority granted
by S. 521 for instance is far too extensive and would tend to strongly
discourage private initiatives. Section 27 of S. 521 and section 25
of S. 4926, the citizen suit provisions in each bill actually permit
“any person having an interest which is or may be adversely af-
fected” to commence a civil action on his own behalf. These pro-
visions do not include the concept of injury and represent a carte
blanche invitation to would-be plaintiffs to challenge almost any
action made pursuant to these bills. This is objectionable in the ex-
treme and should be removed from the bill. Qur greatest concern
however, is over the cumulative impact of these bills which would
establish a too tightly circumsecribed regime. The likely result will
be a crippling of OCS development. We would urge you to look at
OCS development not in isolation but in relation to the wider energy
picture and to alternative energy strategies. Within this context the
signature of OCS development becomes compelling. These bills,
and in particular S. 426, have a misplaced emphasis. Measures should
be taken to encourage oil and gas production offshore, not to delay
it. Thank you.

Senator Hovrings [presiding]. Mr Sessions, I saw back in your
statement that we agree on many things. The citizens suits measure
that you describe, all apprehension and misgiving is in the Deep

51-748 O - 75 - 19
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Water Ports Act signed recently by the President of the United
States. Everybody thought it was good. You go then up to the top
of page 8, the right balances being struck. We hope there are some
suggestions about it rather than the apprehension about balancing
national interest in Federal consistence. We think we have struck it
in the legislation. Are you to say we might have not have done it.
You come now to the veto of offshore development that is not in any
of the bills. We come to the Coastal Zone Management Act. I am
checking paragraphs that go along. There is not any veto in any of
these bills, And the first important thrust is increased coastal, and
you and I agree on that. And we go right on up about the environ-
mental clause. You said we just do not have overkill which is fine.
Most of the time is spent about the moratorium. This was gone into
in detail with Secretary Morton at the time he testified before the
joint hearings. We had a chart and we asked him on numerous oc-
casions whether our particular approach constituted a delay and
whether he objected on the basis of delay and he could see no delay.
And T see you have taken the word moratorium and listed these
things as if they could be disregarded.

Let us look at the top of, for example, on page 2 is it, no it is
the top of one of these pages here, 4. As we see the issues are as
following. That is where you list them on the top of page 4. Well
certain things are being done, the time schedule is now where the
Secretary is going to have to wait. We have got environmental im-
pact statements and we have got experience in the Alaska pipeline
where we know environmentally different special interest groups,
environmental groups, citizens groups, and everything else there is
no law to prevent them. And the Congress is saying too well look, we
cannot bog down the public and there are no groundrules for these
different groups. Since in fact that they are going to be there. The
courts recognize them and they can delay anybody anywhere from
31, to 414 years. We cannot be doing that on every little drill
operation offshore. We have had the Coastal Zone Management Act.
So the Governors all come here and they charge the law says it and
everybody signed it. President Nixon on October 12 said it was one
of the finest developments. We had the Council of State Governors.
We had the Association of Mayors, Association of Port Authority,
we had all different groups in here saying this is what we really
need. Some comprehensive approach and try to leave the initiative
back at the State level with some Federal assistance and guidelines
and it is there. So now they are being told to get the coastal zone
management plan by the way the most important factor is the
impact sociologically, economically, industrially, highwaywise, and
schoolwise, and everythingwise on the drilling offshore there in New
Jersey. Now the Governor of New Jersey said get your plan, we are
not, going to tell you anything that is going to be in the proprietory
interest of the particular oil companies involved and you have got a
duty under the law and what are we going to do. Governor Brendon
Byrne from New Jersey and 18 Governors said hell no, we are not
going to stop we are not going to go take the responsibility of hav-
ing to do these things under the law and then not have the fact at
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hand. Of course Secretary Morton went down there to persuade him
and conjole him and he did not get anywhere.

They had a Governors conference there and still opposed it. They
have got the responsibility. So you have got the preparation of OCS
development plans that the American Can Co. was going to sell a
new line of products. That is the first thing you can do is get the
development plan. Greater Federal involvement on the OCS 1itself is
going to have Federal involvement, strong environmental safety
standards, increased coastal State participation and safety making.
Fruits of the OCS development we say all right, there is an impact
there and various things suggested. T thought it noteworthy that the
Governors said, no, we do not want a payoff. What we want is an
impact, take care of some of these impacts.

There have been complaints about revenue sharing and payoff,
different approaches. But when you come right down to it the Secre-
tary of Commerce, the National Association of Manufacturers found
this program outstanding. I will give you the document, instituted
an energy conservation program for industry, all members of the
NEA and you got a little movie and he runs around the country
showing the movie. Your organization, he probably showed it to the
American Can. The first thing they do is they get a development
plan, they get an inventory of what they are doing they bring in all
of the parties that are interested, get all the supervisors, and pro-
duction and delivery and everything else. They submit how they can
conserve. This is nothing in legislation. It 1s what industry does
every day. Industry does every day rather than just saying look, this
has been a sweetheart deal with the few fellows down in the De-
partment of Interior. Geological survey in big oil, big, big, oil, so
big all of them have been just joint ventures. Billions of dollars.
You could not bid American Can could not afford it. Say look, we
realize this—the vice president, you heard him testify, Mr. Carter
of Gulf Oil said he would not dare sell his property unless he knew
what he was selling. No. 1, we are going to find out what we are
selling while we are finding that out, we can do these things. Promul-
gate a general plan of the areas. In fact we can break down and take
further time because I understand before I arrived, I had to be at a
Budget hearing, that Senator Stone got on into the 5,000 acres
mythological approach rather than the entire geological look and
probably would make economically, less exploratory drills. It re-
quired for the 5,000 acre approach. And while that is being done,
you get the plan, you get the environmental impact, you bring in the
Government. There is not a veto, everybody has got a time period
and then you go down and then you lease and then as a multiple
and flexible leasing approach it gives the Government the best of
both worlds. If possible, that is the people’s interest. It makes it
economically sound and competitive for the industry to come and
drill. It has got to be that way, and otherwise it could expedite or
take into cognizance the fact that you do not have the drilling rig
and all of these many things. And I am trying to study your state-
ment, and you have got several apprehensions that we have, that we
think on balance, on environmental in here. We have got those
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various groups to come in and file at a certain time. We have gotten
the Governors to come in and study and bring it back to the Con-
gress. So everybody is taking, because this is the only part that is
really left, off the Atlantic and the frontier areas, off the Pacific and
the Gulf of Alaska And while we are doing it, we know Secretary
Morton sat in that same chair and said if we leased 10 million acres
this afternoon there would not be one quart of oil in less than 5
years. So I do not mean to sit around and wait for 5 years.

Incidentally, that was the administration’s position on the auto-
mobile on fuel economy. They said wait for 5 years and if it did not
work then come in 5 years later. Come January the President said
that I got a plan; where is yours, where is yours, where is yours?
As soon as we start a plan the administration came up from the De-
partment of Transportation and said wait 5 years. Rather than doing
the waiting the 5 years, let us give everybody a time frame and cut
up the appeals so you would not have an exploratory drilling for oil
because o1l company lawyers, they are bonanzas in these things. One
of the great things we got somehow limited to the congressional level.
These are lengthy type proceedings that handle on the drilling
things like the Alaska pipeline on one hand, and the matter of
natural gas regulations and everything else where it takes 18 years
for an area rig. That is just one big bureaucratic boondock. It is
unjustified and we are going to have to eliminate it.

We agree with most of your testimony here. We think we are
implementing good businesslike approaches like you do at American
Can.

Incidentally, how are you doing without all of the vice presidents
you gave us that are over at the Postal Department? Is American
Can making a profit this year?

Mr. Sessions. American Can made a profit last year. This year—

Senator Horrines. Yes sir, we have got a lot of them.

Mr. Sessions. May I make a comment?

Senator Horrings. Certainly.

Mr. Sesstons. First, with respect to energy conservation we are
not only familiar with the Department of Commerce program, we
would proudly be a part of it. We have an extremely active conser-
vation program and it has produced results. Unfortunately, our costs
of energy are nevertheless rising much faster than we can control.
They are up 42 percent last year and we are looking at a further in-
crease of close to 70 percent in 1975. Additionally, you mentioned
natural gas. This is becoming so critically short we are worried
about the integrity of some of our operations and this is partly what
is behind our intense interest to get on the offshore program. We
fully recognize that it is going to take years to bring this oil in if
is there. But any delays in trying to find it and implementing its de-
velopment, once found, we think is

Senator Horrines. Where is the delay once found? Now the delay,
the initial stages on the leasing and not exploratory drilling. We can
start exploratory drilling right away and we have talked to the
geological survey. We are ready to go in certain areas right now.
They are the one doing a lot of the drilling. I noticed in your testi-
mony you did change the word “ignorance” because the geological
survey is the only one informed.
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Mpr. Sessrons. Senator-—-

Senator Horrines. It is creation which would lead to a further
lengthy period of ignorance as to the potential of our continental
shelves and even that shocked you. I do not want to get the stenog-
rapher to go back but—-

Mr. Sessions. Senator, T hope we will have the chance to submit
an amended version. Ignorance might be in there.

Senator Horrixgs. That is I‘lO‘ht the geological survey, now there
it is. You see there is not a delay on the matter of drilling. There is
a delay on leasing until you first drill. But at least that is going on
ahead of time. We put the horse ahead of the cart for the first time.
Now while that is going on you are getting these plans and programs
and statements and environmental studies and everything else going
conjunctively. T should say concurrently, and once you find it, no
delay in here on the matter of leasing it. In fact, we can more intel-
ligently do it and probably take a large tract rather than a 5,000-
acre approach, and I understand that Senator Stone ran into that
with Mr. Carter and let all the oil companies come in. This would
expedite the matter. I would think that when you talk about the in-
creased cost of natural gas, I tell my industrial leaders, which inei-
dentally American Can is one, are you not all down in Arlington ¢

Mr. Sesstons. Yes, sir.

Senator HoLrixgs. And mostly the textile leaders, can they stand
running their rate arbitrarily? Do not talk about private free enter-
prise when the Arab shiek is the one setting it at $2. Can they stand
jumping from 35 cents under their contracts to five times that
amount in their cost to the manufacturer. What we are trying to do
is the Federal Energy Agency—FEA says all over 80 cents would
not bring additional NCS gas. We know that 80 cents or below is a
good competitive price.

I noticed when I got back from an NATO conference I was read-
ing one of the overseas bulletins that Standard Qil of Indiana in
about a year they had $9.3 billion gross sales and they made a profit
of over 10 percent, $970 million I should say, and his vice president
was up here too and said 70 percent Standard of Indiana had was
gas, not oil. You do not go broke in the gas business evidently. It
has grown to the ninth ]algest industry, or seventh it was in one
testlmony in the country.

Mr. Sksstons. If there is gas on the OCS, we certainly would like
to see it brought in.

Senator Horrixcs. And oil, one of the private companies went
out there and found nothing off the Atlantic. Suppose the Atlantic
oil companies went out there and found none?

Mr. Sessions. Senator, we are getting into an area beyond my
scope, but I believe it is a real possibility. But we will not know
until we go after it, will we?

Senatm Hor.Linas., We just have to use the experience like you say
up in the North Sea they are drilling still.

Mr. Sessions. Yes, sir.

Senator Horrings. That is another thing from the other witness.

I appreciate your testimony and I appreciate your apprehension
and your willingness at least to come and take a position. But let
me emphasize that your position and misgivings are almost the same
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as this committee. We think we have had it generally in these bills
before us and we think you cannot disregard the various elements of
society. We do not want to. We do not think this old time deal of
sitting there and moving them all up and getting the business leaders
to say do not delay, we have got to go, 1 need gas and everything
else Just like a college cheer. When you bring it all here and you
look at all the facts and figures if we leased it all this afternoon you
would not get any results until 5 years. Now having that time frame
within which to bring in that oil, why do we not do it as a private
free enterprise. We can find what we got where we have it and
break down the shipless of 5,000-acre areas having so many drills
in each one of them and rather drill an entire tract.It may go in one
area that is 2 acres instead of 5,000 and then a leasing program on
the entire amount and in the meantime it is an orderly way i which
interested parties are all brought into the decision and under that
decision we can go into 214 or 3 Years with actual drilling and bring
it in. And under the Secretary’s plan they could actually get the
leasing in a year by October, say next year. But under the general
practice is another 5 years before they begin bringing in any drilling,
that 1s 6 years. Now our plans we would hope to bri ing in some drill-
ing in 3 years and their’s is 6. So it is no use talking about mora-
torium and delay. We are the ones that are more concerned. Their
words got somehow emphasized in the headlines. We just had no,
no, you can not do it. And it was unfortunate because it is wrong.
We are interested in this committee and this group and this Congress
to expedite it. We have been trying to get an energy policy passed
in this U.S. Senate three times. It has been bogged down by oppo-
sition of the administration over in the House. We cannot get an
energy policy in this Government. And now the latest czar, I do not
know if you have ever met him or not, is the Under Secretary of
Commerce. We got another new czar.

Mr. Sessions, we appreciate very much, unless you want to add
something further. We both have woes and troubles.

Mr. Sesstons. I appreciate being here.

Senator Horrings. We appreciate your preparing this testimony.

Mr. Sessions. Thank you sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Sessions follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF WILLIAM SESSIONS, VICE PRESIDENT FOR AMERICAN CAN

My name is William Sessions, V.P. for American Can and I am here to
testify on behalf of the National Association of Manufacturers, which has more
than 13,000 members, on the subject of Outer Continental Shelf leasing. We are
glad to have the opportunity to contribute to the policy debate on the im-
portant issues raised by the Administration’s program to accelerate offshore
oil and gas production.

The preamble to S.521 states that it is ‘“a bill to increase the supply of
energy in the United States from the Outer Continental Shelf.” The NAM
strongly supports this objective. We believe that a program of expanded off-
shore drilling is now essential to ensure a stronger domestic energy base and
in particular to reduce our excessive dependence on imported oil and to mitigate
our critical shortage of natural gas. We are concerned however, that many of
the specific provisions in these various bills conflict with that stated objective
in 8.521 and would in fact retard rather than encourage resource development
on the Shelf.

Some of these provisions attempt to address very legitimate and serious
concerns. However, we feel that these concerns are, to a greater or lesser
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degree being generally overemphasized at the expense of our very real need for
more energy and more employment,

In the first part of our testimony, we will briefly outline why we believe
it is so important for industry and for the nation as a whole to proceed with
development of the Shelf. We will then go on to analyze critically individual
features of these bills and what we judge as their impact.

The most important impact of expanded offshore drilling will be to improve
our national energy posture. A wide gap has opened between the U.S. supply
of and demand for energy which has been filled by increased imports, not by
increasing domestic production. As long as we delay developing our own
resources, we have little choice but to pay the price exacted and to endure
whatever uncertainties accompany this growing dependence. Increasing domestic
supplies is essential to achieve diminished dependence on imports. :

The U.S. demand for energy in 1983 will probably be at the very least 100
to 105 quadrillion BTU’s' Meeting this demand at the same time as lessening
U.S. dependence on imports constitutes a massive task. Energy conservation
alone will simply not be enough.

The development and utilization of alternative energy sources will be ex-
tremely costly and involve considerable lead times and environmental uncer-
tainties so that, although in the future these other sources are going to have
to play a much greater role, the need to develop new oil and gas supplies is
going to remain of central importance in the near and medium terms.

The Alaskan North Slope and the Outer Continental Shelf are the only areas
which offer significant potential for increasing domestic oil and gas production.
The first sections of the Alaskan pipe-line are just being laid. The delays in its
construction should be an object lesson. The years of delay did not significantly
alter the final balance between environmental and energy goals. Meanwhile our
energy position has worsened.

The other significant impacts will be regional. We feel that the positive
effects of offshore development on the energy balance of individual regions
have often been insufficiently stressed. Some parts of the country have a far
greater imbalance between energy supply and demand than the nation as a
whole. New England is a notable example. Offshore production can contribute
significantly in redressing these regional imbalances.

In an even wider sense expanded offshore production will have a clear and
beneficial impact on the economies of central states. Many new jobs will be
created, a fact of special importance in the current economic climate. The
refining, petrochemical and construction sectors will be particularly stimulated.
Service sector jobs will expand as will local manufacturing opportunities.
Regional unemployment rates will decline and local wage rates will go up.

In short, there is a pressing national and regional need for expanded offshore
development and that this development can be achieved in an environmentally
responsible manner. Bearing these perspectives in mind we would now like
to comment on some of the details of these bills, We are concerned that many
of their provisions will impede development and that many of the suggested
safeguards are not in fact necessary.

Rather than examining provisions in isolation, bill by bill, our comments
will focus on the key issues addressed by these different bills. Most of them
relate to 8.521, 8.426, and S.586, the bills with the most sweeping scope. As we
see them, these issues are the following: a moratorium on leasing, the prepara-
tion of OCS development plans, greater federal involvement on the OCS,
stronger environmental and safety standards, and increased coastal state
participation both in the decision-making process and in the fruits of OCS
development.

Some of the provisions in these bills would establish a moratorium on leasing
in frontier areas® until either a specific date is reached or a specific condition
complied with. This is expressed in its most far-reaching form in the section
8.426 providing for a moratorium on leasing in all “frontier” areas. This would
call for a continuing moratorium on leasing in a particular area until the
following steps are implemented: The government has completed a plan for a

1E.g. Project Independence scenario-—103 quadrillion BTU’s at $11 a barrel world oil

prices—in the Executive Summary: Section on “Domestic Energy Through 1985: The
Base Case”.

9 8.426, 8.470, S.826.
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federal oil and gas exploration program in that area, drawn up a leasing and
development plan, submitted it to coastal states (who could then request—but
not necessarily be granted—a 3 year delay) and then transmitted to Congress
for Congressional approval or disapproval. We oppose any such moratorium.
There will be a very considerable lead-time between leasing and ultimate
production and the coastal states will have time to finalize their coastal zone
management plans and to establish the balanced planning procedures needed
to meet the onshore impacts of production. A moratorium such as that in 8.426
would result in years of unnecessary delay.

These bills also call for the preparation of OCS development plans.® We
agree that offshore drilling must become an effective component of a coherent
national energy strategy but feel that a system calling for detailed plans which
would then have to undergo a complex process of approval would not achieve
this objective but would result instead in slowness and rigidity. Lengthy
delays in development would ensue. This would be particularly the case with
8.426. Furthermore, future material constraints cannot be foreseen with
confidence nor, while the increasing magnitude of our energy crisis is apparent,
have we developed effective methodologies for predicting further energy supply
and demand. We need development but within the context of a flexible regime.

A third thrust of these bills is closer federal involvement in the form of a
federal oil and gas exploration program.' Much interest has been expressed
recently in the idea of separating exploration of the shelf from its development.
We believe this would be inefficient and would create a de facto moratorium on
development,

A federal exploration program would be ineflicient because it would substitute
a single exploration strategy for the variety of strategies which would be
adopted by private explorers. There are any number of case histories of initial
failures followed by subsequent and unexpected discoveries of hydrocarbons.
Some of the salt dome structures in the Gulf of Mexico were explored for
years before hydrocarbons were discovered. The North Sea was believed to
have widespread gas potential in its southern sector but the major oil finds
in its central and northern sectors were unexpectedly made after 29 dry holes
had been drilled and most groups had ceased drilling® It is questionable
whether a federal exploration company could persevere in this way without
competitive incentives.

Secondly, a federal oil and gas exploration company could not be assembled
from scratch in a short period of time. Its creation would lead to a further
lengthy period of ignorance as to the potential of our continental shelves and
an effective moratorium on development.

The bills also contain a number of provisions attempting to strengthen en-
vironmental and safety standards.® The underlying objectives of these provisions
are excellent. If accelerated development is to take place, there must be
adequate environmental safeguards. We question however, is whether the
complex series of safeguards provided in these bills are all strictly necessary
or whether they in fact represent overkill. Like any major enterprise, OCS
development involves risks but the nature of the risks may be overstressed. The
evidence available indicates that it is environmentally safer than many other
options, including the increased, massive importation of foreign oil. The
technology is well established and careful evaluations have indicated that
physical technologies used on the OCS for discovery, development and trans-
portation are generally safe and adequate.”® The present system offers adequate
safeguards and does not need the degree of strengthening provided in these
bills. The idea of an oil spill liability fund is a good one however, particularly
if it is widened to include spills from other sources such as tankers.

3 Most specifically in $.426 (Section 20) which provides for submission of each plan to
the governors of coastal states and then to Congress.

+In both 8.426 and 8.521. The provisions in §.426 (Section 19 are more detailed, call
for a greater role for the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and more
coordination with the provisions of the Coastal Zone Management Act. They also call for
a $200 million appropriation during fiscal years 1976 and 1977.

& Interior Department figures.

¢ Too many to cite. Provisions dealing with use of less available technology, inspection
and enforcement requirements, environmental impact statement guidelines, oil spill
liability, research into safety techniques and other studies.

7 University of Oklahoma Press: “Energy Under the Ocean: A Technology Assessment
of Quter Continental Shelf Operations’.

8 Council on Environmental Quality Report—“OCS O0il and Gas—An Environmental
Assessment.,
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A further important thrust of these bills is increased coastal state participa-
tion in the OCS planning process and an increased coastal state share in the
benefits.! These are worthwhile objectives but only if they are balanced with
national goals.

There is understandable coastal state concern over the impacts of offshore
development on the coastal zone and constructive participation by the coastal
states will be needed in the future. Yet while they should be consulted and
have a stronger say in management decisions, we have serious reservations
about the overall ramifications of an outright veto over offshore development.*

The Coastal Zone Management Act will clearly be the planning mechanism
which will be used to meet the impacts of the coastal zone. Offshore develop-
ment is closely related to the issue of planning in the coastal zone and offshore
developers will have to take this into account. In certain areas, development
may have to be concentrated in corridors or be located inland instead of on
the coast.

In administering the Coastal Zone Management Act however, the “National
Interest” clause of the legislation should be weighed against ‘“Federal con-
sistency” clause ' so that the national interest will be taken into account in the
state planning process. In this way a balance can be struck between local
objectives and the nation’s wider energy goals. The danger of some of these
bills is that they are likely to lead to the wrong balance being struck.

These bills and in particular $.426 and S.521 are so broad in scope that we
have only been able to address a number of their provisions. We are con-
cerned about a number of other provisions such as those dealing with data
sharing and those providing a wide scope for citizen’s suits. The geological data
disclosure authority granted by 8.521 for instance is far too extensive and
would tend to strongly discourage private initiatives. Section 27 of 8.521 and
section 25 of S.426, the citizen suit provisions in each bill actually permit
“any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected” to
commence a civil action on his own behalf. These provisions do not include
the concept of injury and represent a carte blanche invitation to would-be
plaintiffs to challenge almost any action made pursuant to these bills. This
is objectionable in the extreme and should be removed from the bill. Our
greatest concern however, is over the cumulative impact of these bills which
would establish a tightly circumscribed regime instead of the current regime
which is both flexible and provides for adequate safeguards. The likely result
will be a crippling of OCS development., We would urge you to look at OCS
development not in isolation but in relation to the wider energy picture and to
alternative energy strategies. Within this context the significance of OCS
development becomes apparent. These bills, and in particular S.426, have a
misplaced emphasis. Measures should be taken to encourage oil and gas
production offshore, not to delay it. Thank you.

Senator Horrings. The committees will be in recess until tomorrow
at 9:30 a.m.

[Whereupon at 4:45 p.m. the committees recessed, to reconvene
Wednesday, April 9, 1975, at 9:30 a.m.]

2 8.130 Revenue sharing with coastal states. S.825 Assistance to states to face up to
onshore impacts of offshore drilling. S.521 coastal state fund. S.426 constant emphasis on
coordination with coastal zone management plan. S.586 A complementary bill to S.426
whose whole thrust is assistance to coastal states.

108,81, S.426, 8.521—Delay mechanisms for governors of coastal states.

1! The federal consistency clause calls for federal actions to be consistent with a
federally approved state Coastal Zone Management Plan.






O0CS LANDS ACT AMENDMENTS AND COASTAL ZONE
MANAGEMENT ACT AMENDMENTS

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 9, 1975
U.S. Se~ate,

CodxMITTEE ON INTERIOR AND INSULAR AFFAIRS,
AND CoMMITTEE ON COMMERCE,
Washington, D.C.

The committees met, pursnant to notice, at 9:30 a.m., in room 3110,
Dirksen Office Building. Hon. John V. Tunney, presiding.

Present. Senators Tunney, Johnston, Hollings, and Roth.

Also present: Grenville Garside, special counsel and staff director,
and D. Michael Harvey, deputy chief counsel.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN V. TUNNEY, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Senator Tux~EY. The committees come to order. The OCS con-
tains much of our last remaining domestic supply of oil and gas. Few
would argue that we should leave these resources untapped.

I believe that we must develop these resources, but we must do so
within the framework of a comprehensive national energy program,
including development of alternative energy sources and a realistic
and effective energy conservation program; also with protection of
the rights of the consumer and the taxpayer, and with proper regard
to the protection of the environment, both onshore and offshore. To-
day’s hearing concludes the examination of current OCS energy
policy and various legislature alternatives to current policies. I
would like to welcome our first witnesses, Senator Alan Cranston,
and Rich Maullin, who is chairman of the California Energy Com-
mission.

Congressman Tom Rees was planning to be here, and maybe he
will be along. Senator Kennedy has a statement for the record.
Mayor Tom Bradley of I.os Angeles was to appear also but could
not be here today. He has asked me to include his statement in the
hearing record.

[The statements of Senator Kennedy and Mayor Bradley follow :]

STATEMENT oF Hox. Epwarp M. KENNEDY, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF
MASSACHUSETTS

I appreciate this opportunity to testify on the legislation pending before this
Committee to strengthen the ability of the federal government to regulate
activities on the outer continental shelf and to protect the public interest in
the development of the oil and gas which lies offshore.
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Governor Michael Dukakis, who will also be appearing before the Committee
this afternoon, has been working closely with local groups in Massachusetts,
with other governors of coastal and New England States and with the New
England Congressional delegation, in the effort to ensure that no one area has
to bear an unfair share of the risks, with no promise of any of the benefits,
of offshore development. He and members of his Administration have come -
to Washington on numerous occasions to press New England’s case before the
Interior Department. I am sure he will present to the Committee strong recom-
mendations in support of a clearly defined role for the states in offshore
development decisions, tull protection of coastal and marine resources, and an
equitable formula and procedure for the sharing of the revenue which offshore
leasing will generate.

I speak as a member of the National Qcean Policy Study, as Chairman of
the Senate Subcommittee on Administrative Practice and Procedure and as a
New Englander. I believe that the formulation of a national energy policy
which takes into account regional needs, alternative energy sources strict con-
servation measures, and carefully administered development of our remaining
domestic fossil fuel reserves, is one of the most important public policy issues
‘before the 94th Congress.

Hearings which have been held over the last year in Washington and in
the field have raised serious questions about the ability of the federal govern-
ment, under present law, to develop our offshore oil and gas reserves without
endangering the public interest. Joint hearings in Boston last year held by the
NOPS and the Administrative Practice Subcommittee, emphasized the magni-
tude of the problem. Witness after witness testified that their voices were not
being heard by policy makers in the Interior Department. State officials testified
that they were not able to open up lines of communication with federal officials
drafting plans for offshare oil and gas development. All expressed concern over
the lack of information about the extent, the location and the value of the
oil and gas which may lie beneath the OCS.

The legitimacy of these concerns now. has been documented.

At a hearing in Washington last October held by the Subcommittee on Ad-
ministrative Practice and Procedure, representatives of the Interior Depart-
ment and the FEA were unable to give the Congress any assurances that the
massive offshore leasing program they proposed had taken into account citizens’
concerns, state coastal zone planning efforts potential equipment and materials
bottlenecks, capital shortages, or the larger question of the need to develop
offshore leasing plans in the context of an overall national energy policy.

The GAO, in its report submitted to the Congress last month also documents
serious deficiencies in the Interior Department’s plan to initiate an accelerated
offshore leasing program covering 10 million acres. It found that the plan
was hastily conceived, based on overly optimistic assumptions and inadequate
data, was. developed and adopted without adequate consideration of environ-
mental impacts, national and regional supply and demand needs, or alternatives
to large scale expansion of offshore leasing.

The National Academy of Sciences has found that actual U.S. oil and gas
reserves may be less than half of the federal government’s own predictions.

Draft material prepared for the Office of Technology Assessment indicates
that it may not only be feasible, but desirable, for the federal government to
undertake exploration on the OCS prior to turning any tracts over to the
private oil companies for development.

The evidence that the federal government is not presently equipped to
conduct a carefully planned offshore development pregram is overwhelming.
This situation and the recent Supreme Court decision re-affirming the federal
government’s jurisdiction over oil and gas resources beyond the three mile
limit, have placed the burden on the Congress. We now must establish by law
mechanisms to regulate the development of offshore oil and gas. We must
establish by law that new production comes into the dowmestic pipeline at
reasonable prices. We must establish by law a system that will protect the
shorelines and marine reserves of adjacent states as we meet national energy
needs.

I commend the Congress for the high priority it has assigned to considera-
tion of amendments to the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act. Last year,
under the leadership of Senators Hollings and Jackson, the Senate passed
legislation which would have significantly improved offshore practices and
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procedures. It was overwhelmingly approved by the Senate, but not acted on
by the House.

Now we are moving again, and with the additional information which has
been developed in the intervening months, it is my conviction that the Congress
can send to the President a measure which is even more comprehensive and
far-reaching. We can ensure the effective utilization of our remaining domestic
oil and gas resources and we can provide for full participation by state and
local governments in the decision making process. We can write into the law
provisions guaranteeing that affected coastal states will share in the benefits
as well as the risks of offshore development. And, most importantly, we can act
to bring down the cost of oil—by placing a realistic ceiling on the price of the
energy we extract from publicly held offshore lands.

There are key provisions which must be included in any legislation which
this Committee sends to the Senate floor, provisions which have already been
exhaustively studied and many of which were approved by the Senate last
year. They include:

Separation of exploration from development on the OCS, with full public
disclosure to the government and to the public of resource information.

Strict environmental controls on all aspects of offshore oil and gas develop-
ment,

Immediate initiation of environmental baseline studies in all frontier OCS
areas.

Completion and implementation of coastal zone management plans, prior to
any development activities on the OCS.

Establishment of a Coastal Impact Fund to alleviate the adverse economic,
social and environmental impacts which can be expected to accompany offshore
development.

The designation of certain portions of the OCS to be developed by a public
entity as part of a national strategic energy reserve. An amendment I intro-
duced last year and which was adopted in large part would achieve that
purpose.

Assurance that federal leasing, development and production activities off-
shore are consistent with approved coastal Zone management plans.

All of these provisions are included in bills referred to this Committee. All
could be implemented promptly once the legislation is signed into law. None
would result in substantial delay in locating offshore reserves, determining
the size of those reserves, and bringing appropriate amounts of those reserves
into the domestic energy pipeline.

In addition, I feel it is now time for the Congress once again to make an
effort to bring down domestic oil prices. With the separation of exploration
from development a major portion of the cost to oil companies of bringing in
offshiore oil and gas will be absorbed by the federal government. More exact
information on how much oil we are turning over, where it is located, and
what it is worth will be in the hands of federal agencies. It is oil which lies
under land held by the federal government for the people of this nation.

I strongly urge the Committee to include in its recommendations the estab-
lishment of a ceiling on the price of this oil—a ceiling based on the $5.25 now
imposed on ‘old’ oil, with increases to take into account the increased cost of
production. As more and more of our domestic oil supply comes in from the
outer continental shelf, and as conservation reduces our dependence on imported
oil, such a provision could significantly reduce this nation's oil bill and would
be reflected in lower energy costs to the nation’s hardpressed business, in-
dustries and homeowners,

No area of the country is more aware of the need for new sources of oil and
gas than New England. We are more dependent on oil than any other region
of the country. We already suffer under the highest energy costs in this nation.
We stand to lose the most each time the price of oil goes up. We stand to lose
the most if there is another oil embargo. Our petroleum based economy is
endangered by dwindling domestic supplies and rising oil prices have been a
significant contributing factor to our more than 10 percent unemployment rate.

At present there is little incentive to a coastal state to permit offshore oil
and gas development to take place off its shores. The oil that becomes available
sells at premium prices. The onshore impact is not reimbursed. The negative
effect on other industries is not compensated.

In Massachusetts, where many of our communities are operating on a
marginal tax base, we will find it extremely difficult to build the schools,
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hospitals and other public facilities which will be required during an intensive
offshore development effort. We cannot afford a boom and bust economic cycle,
in which a community might gain jobs for a short period, only to be plunged
back into high unemployment one the rigs are in place. Our fishing industry, a
$40 million enterprise is too valuable to be pushed aside without more accurate
information on what the long term effects of offshore development will be on
commercial fishing stocks.

If offshore oil and gas development will help reduce energy costs, if it can
be done without jeopardizing our environment, if it can be done without dis-
torting our future coastal development, then there will be little significant
opposition to drilling.

We have been asking for the answers to these questions since 1971. We have
repeatedly called for legislation to protect coastal areas. We have sought for
years a comprehensive research program to access the impact of offshore
activities on our fisheries.

The Congress must act on these concerns before the federal government turns
any more offshore acreage over to the oil companies. We must seize this op-
portunity to make offshore development in frontier areas a model of how a
well-planned and carefully regulated national effort can contribute to increased
domestic oil supplies—at a price which will allow private industry a fair
return on its investment and which will bring consumers some relief from
skyrocketing oil prices and in a way that protects the legitimate interests of
coastal states.

STATEMENT OF HoN, Tom BRADLEY, MAYOR OF 1.08 ANGELES, CALIF.

One year ago your Subcommittee was holding hearings on the matter of
exploitation of the petroleum and natural gas resources of the Outer Continental
Shelf. I wrote to you at that time, expressing my concern with the apparent
haste with which the Department of the Interior was moving toward leasing
of tracts as part of an accelerated nationwide program. I pointed out, then,
that “To move so rapidly to exploit so great an area, with so little concrete
information concerning consequent environmental impacts, drilling technology
in relation to local circumstances, oil spill containment and clean-up technology,
relative priorities for the national OCS regions, federal and state coastal
management plans, and the appropriate institutions, guidelines and criteria
to provide such information and safeguards, would be to play fast and loose
with a natural resource of immense demonstrated value to all the people of this
nation.” T urge that you in the Congress take strong action to assure that any
further extraction from the OCS would be subject to new constraints in-
corporated in new legislation amending the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act
of 1953.

During the year that has passed since those hearings, the concerns I have
reiterated have been largely confirmed, and have been compounded by additional
questions as to the propriety of the proposed program in the light of a growing
list of glaring inadequacies of information, of safeguards, and of intergovern-
mental arrangements requisite to any such program.

The precipitous federal haste in pursuing this program and the apparent
disregard for state, regional or local interests, led to the formation, last
summer, of a coalition of local authorities. The experiences of the coalition in
the ensuing months demonstrate vividly the basis for our growing alarm. The
group, which we have named the Council of Local Officials Concerned with
Federal Proposals for Oil Development on the Outer Continental Shelf, repre-
sents an unusual experiment in “adhocracy”. It formed spontaneously, in
response to a visit to Southern California last July, by Mr. Jared Carter, then
Deputy Undersecretary of the Department of the Interior. Mr. Carter had come
to Los Angeles to brief us on Federal plans to open large portions of the Outer
Continental Shelf to lease bidding for oil development rights. That meeting
represented the first contact between policy-level federal officials and elected
representatives at the local level. Mr. Carter’s visit confirmed, in our minds, our
concern that the Department of the Interior had already decided on maximal
and hasty exploitation of Southern California O.C.S. oil deposits.

At that hearing, T offered my offices and facilities as a base for the many
clearly alarmed officials present, to come together and examine the implications
which the federal proposals held for our communities and citizens. Since that
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time, the Council has met regularly, probing these implications and ha_nqmermg
out an articulate response on behalf of local government. Forty-one (:1.t1es and
counties have participated. Meetings are conducted informally, questions are
resolved by exhaustive discussion, and common positions are derived by demo-
cratic consensus. )

At its first meeting, the group designated a working task force, which in _turn
developed a three-point resolution. This resolution has become the most widely
endorsed position on the matter throughout the state, and has generated con-
siderable interest in other parts of the nation. In brief, expressing deep concern
for the precipitous nature of the proposed federal program, and for its apparent
disregard for state and local considerations, the resolution calls for opposition
to the federal proposal, until:

1. A comprehensive national, as well as regional, energy policy has been
promulgated ;

2. The Department of the Interior has submitted its proposed Oil Develop-
ment Program to appropriate, affected state, regional, and local agencies for
review—particularly the California Coastal Zone Conservation Commission; and,

3. Congress has enacted new legislation strengthening existing laws relating
to oil development on the Outer Continental Shelf.

Adopted by the Council of Local Officials, this resolution has subsequently
been endorsed by the Southern California Association of Governments and the
State League of California Cities.

I want to be very clear that we do not necessarily oppose the concept of
development and use of the oil on the Outer Continental Shelf. We do oppose
the haste with which it is being undertaken, particularly with regard to the
lack of understanding of the true value of this resource—a value which can
be determined within the context of a comprehensive national energy policy.

The Council of Loeal Officials has mounted two additional efforts which we
feel will help safeguard the interests of all Americans, not only those who live
in our Southern California Communities:

First, in response to a request by Mr. Carter that we send local experts to
work with the local office of the Bureau of L.and Management in development
of the forthcoming regional site-specific environmental impact statement, we
were disturbed to realize that we in local government had mo such experts in
matters concerning either the Outer Continental Shelf or oil exploration and
development. We set out to develop a mutual fund to commission an objective,
unimpeachable critique of the regional document within the context of the
10,000,000 acre programmatic environmental impaect statement, and also, because
of the apparent need for a comprehensive national energy policy, in the context
of Project Independence Blueprint. In this respect, we have contacted the
National Academy of Sciences, as well as other distinguished authorities, to
discuss requirements for such a critique of the federal documents.

The Department of the Interior released the programmatic document late in
October, 1974, announcing a brief three-week period for review of the highly
technological 1,300 page draft. In response, our Los Angeles City Attorney
quickly brought together a group of City and County Legal Officers, and on
behalf of this group, Mr. Pines succeeded in gaining a 60-day delay in the
proposed hearing date, after discussing the matter with Secretary Morton, and
Senators Cranston and Tunney.

Even this 60-day extension left us little time to spare. The Council of Local
Officials quickly turned to scientists from Southern California for assistance
in performing expert analyses of the programmatic environmental impact state-
ment. Working with the staffs of the Los Angeles and San Diego City Attorneys,
Professors from several of our most prestigious universities prepared an ex-
haustive critique of the document.

I consider the total effort, conceived and ecarried out in a very limited period
of time, a new standard for local governmental contributions to the great
national debate we are now entering.

The product, a 470 page Analysis of Draft Environmental Impact Statement
Regarding “Proposed Increase in Acreage to be Offered for Oil and Gas Leasing
on the Outer Continental Shelf, finds the Department of the Interior severely
inadequate in many of the matters it includes, and yet more inadequate in
terms of matters which are not included. In the face of these inadequacies,
the federal program for leasing on the Outer Continental Shelf forges ahead
through ponderous procedures, compelling understaffed and underfunded local
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authorities to make superhuman efforts in response, even as it mocks substan-
tive issues of critical concern to the national public interest.

Subsequently, the Department of the Interior has issued a 2,000 page Draft
Environmental Impact Statement on the site-specific proposals for Southern
California, even before a final EIS for the national program has been filed. The
Department maintains that it is complying with procedures required under the
National Environmental PPolicy Act, but the practical effect of this overlapping
of logically sequential decision-making procedures is further to reduce the
process to a mockery.

We are now convinced that the issues of overriding importance will not be
addressed adequately, if at all, unless you in the Congress seize the responsi-
bility through the legislative process. A selection of substantive issues which
have not been resolved, follows:

Above all, there is need for a comprehensive national energy policy, as a basis
for judging all proposals such as the program environmental impact statement.
Only development of such a policy can satisfy the basic thrust of The National
Environmental Policy Act, bringing short- and long-term implications, and
consideration of alternatives, to bear on the judgment. How adequate can
Project Independence Blueprint be, for this purpose if it only poses options,
and does not supply answers? It isx neither a policy nor plan.

What are our priorities, for instance, for alternative energy source develop-
ment? There has been no careful consideration of a balanced mix of new sources
for exploitation which will benefit us most, at least cost to our people and our
quality of life.

Have existing oil reserves, public and private, been adequately considered
as full or partial alternatives? The Department of the Interior’s documents
give no consideration to developing Elk Hills and other military petroleum
reserves, The House Subcominittee on Regulatory Agencies, and a study by the
Brookings Institution, indicate that many shut-in wells could be producing
profitably today. Senator Tunney has requested an investigation by the General
Accounting Office on this matter. A specialist from our Scientific Advisory
Committee further points to the potential for enhanced recovery from known
reservoirs.

Protagonists of accelerated leasing say that “Congress will take twenty years
to develop a national energy policy”. In answer, we in local government do not
envision a policy which prescribes every action for the rest of this century,
but a plan for energy resource conservation and development which will be
reasonably comprehensive—a plan which will avoid the all-out exhaustion of a
single reserve in isolation from others and from alternative solutions to the
immediate, perceived need.

What are our priorities for exploitation of the Outer Continental Shelf,
itself, nationwide? No analysis of the relative environmental impact of drilling
the various areas has been performed, as was done in the partial assessment
performed by the Council on Environmental Quality last year.

What information do we have concerning the extent and value of the oil
reserves on the 0.C.8.7 The present bidding system makes that information the
proprietary right of the industry. What prudent businessman would sell his
property without first getting his own appraisal of the value? Shouldn’t the
American people—the present owners—enjoy information of equal quality and
adequacy, as that available to private industry? If our present bidding system
does not permit this, let us change it accordingly.

It is vital that exhaustive consideration be given to alternative leasing plans.
I am disturbed that once the leases are signed, the nation would have little
or no say as to where the oil is to go. and when. It has been noted that, under
present regulations, the Arab nations could bid on the leases, and sell the oil
produced wherever they wish.

This raises the question, “what is the adequacy of present federal legislation
covering O.C.S. exploration and development?”

Our local government task force specified updating of the Outer Continental
Shelf Lands Act of 1953 as a cornerstone of its resolution on the federal develop-
ment proposal. That law was written at a time when oil was widely regarded
as cheap and virtually unlimited. Enormous administrative power was centered
in one man-—The Secretary of the Interior—to maximize efficiency of resource
development. We have learned much since those days—much about our resource
limitations, much about shortage crises, much about what happens to prices at
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such times, and much about the concentration of administrative power. Revision
of the outdated act is essential. Legislation recently introduced by Senator
Hollings represents a good beginning in this direction. Some form of partnership
must be developed, so that we will retain enough control over allocation of
the oil to ensure its use in the public interest. This will be essential in building |
and implementing a national energy policy. And again, time s of the essence.
The scheduled date for lease sales in Southern California has slipped several
months, but remains very little time for congressional action on so critical
an issue.

Such legislation must also permit, and aid in timely completion of coastal
plans by those states which would experience coastal and onshore impacts.
There has been talk of participation by the states in sharing the revenues of
0.C.8. exploration, as an aid in mitigating such impacts. This remains specula-
tion, however, as the date for leasing approaches. It is not enough to say that
there is no threatened compromise of coastal plans since actual development
will not follow for several years. The major patterns and procedures which
will follow in the future, will be determined and sealed at the time of the
lease sale. Surely the Congress can prescribe appropriate measures, including
temporary suspension of leasing, if necessary, and increased federal assistance
for coastal plan preparation, to assure that future problems can be averted
rather than mitigated.

Finally, preoccupation with the specific action proposal for leasing for oil
and gas development on the Outer Continental Shelf appears to have resulted
in inadequate attention being given to large scale alternatives to the proposed
action. We in Los Angeles have watched with interest as the rest of the nation
has debated the efficacy of conservation. Various proposals have aimed at
savings generally averaging a million barrels a day. Our experience during the
Arab embargo indicates, however, that far greater savings could be realized,
without significant disruption to our social and economic systems. To our
surprise, we managed an 189, reduction Dbelow the previous year’s use of
electrical power, even as we were consuming up to 259% less gasoline. These
two energy sources combined represent the largest part of our overall energy
consumption in Southern California, yet no serious economic losses were re-
ported. In fact, considerable amounts of capital were freed for other uses.

From this actual experience, we feel that the nation could safely realize a
savings of 159, in energy consumption, without dampening the economy. This
savings could be realized almost immediately, rather than five years in the
future, and the increase in spendable income would go further to fight recession
than the recent tax cut. Additionally, the nation would reduce oil consumption
by 2% million barrels a day, and foreign imports by 409%.

In this light, the rush to exploit our oil and gas reserves on the Outer Con-
tinental Shelf must be seen as precipitous. Why all the rush, when we have
not even capatalized on actual experience? We have come full circle to the
most fundamental question: We will only derive appropriate answers to these
questions in the context of a comprehensive national energy policy. It would
be irresponsible to sell American’s publicly-owned oil resources without such
a policy.

Senator Tuxxey. I would like to weleome Senator Cranston and
Mr. Maullin. T think it is important that on the committee we have
reflected the views of the State of California, and we are most appre-
ciative to the Governor for having given you the opportunity to
testify, Mr. Maullin.

Senator Cranston, it is a real pleasure having you here. Knowing
your expertise in this hearing, I know you can contribute an awful
lot to the committee’s deliberations.

STATEMENT OF HON. ALAN CRANSTON, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Senator CranstoN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I appre-
ciate the opportunity you provided us to appear this morning to

51-748 O - 75 - 20
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discuss the impact of proposed Federal offshore oil drilling in our
California.

As you know so well, southern California’s offshore waters are
well along on the Department of Interior’s scheme which will culmi-
nate in a lease sale this September under their present plans.

Thus the questions under consideration by this committee relating
to proposed revisions of the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act and
general reform of offshore leasing and management practices are
questions of immediate concern to the citizens of our States.

On May 8, 1974, I testified before the Senate Interior Committee
and recommended that the proposed southern California lease sale,
then scheduled for May of 1975, be postponed until our offshore tech-
nology was improved and an energy policy for the Nation was
established.

Today, nearly a full year later, T am testifying before this com-
mittee for the same purpose. Today I urge that immediate considera-
tion be given to the imposition of a limited moratorium on offshore
oil and gas lease sales in new frontier areas.

It is essential that the southern California lease sale, now scheduled
for September, be postponed until the California Legislature adopts
its coastal plan or until December 31, 1976, whichever comes first.

I urge this limited moratorium for three basic reasons. First, 1
am convinced after long study of the problem that basic reform of
our current leasing arrangements for developing offshore oil and gas
will be necessary to assure the taxpayer a fair dollar return and
adequate environmental safeguards for the development of these
public-owned resources.

These basic reforms, which are now under consideration by the
Senate Interior Committee, must be implemented before major new
areas are committed for development.

Second, the administration’s proposed accelerated OCS leasing,
of which the southern California lease sale would be a part, is ill
conceived and unwise, particularly in the absence of a comprehensive
national energy policy.

Third, the California Coastal Commission is now in the process
of developing a coastal plan which must be submitted to the Cali-
fornia Legislature by December with final action by the legislature
slated to come before the end of 1976.

To go forward with a substantial lease sale before this coastal plan
is adopted denies the State its proper role in these energy decisions.

Mr. Chairman, two significant studies have been released in the
past year which bear on the need for this moratorium. The General
Accounting Office released a study last month entitled, “Outlook for
Federal Goals to Accelerate Leasing of Oil and Gas Resources on the
0Cs.”

This study describes the administration’s 10-million-acre plan as
unrealistic. GAO states that the 10-million-acre goal was “developed
and adopted without adequate consideration of environmental im-
pacts, national-regional supply and demand needs, or alternatives to
large-scale expansion of shelf leasing.”

The Department of Interior’s tract selection and valuation praec-
tices were judged to be inadequate even at the slower pace of leasing
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in 1974. Speeding up this process to accommodate the pressures of
leasing 10 million acres would only further jeopardize the validity of
lease valuation.

A second study which underscores the need for a lease sale mora-
torium was conducted by the National Oceans Policy Study, chaired
by Senator Ernest F. Hollings. This study, entitled, “OCS Oil and
Gas Development and the Coastal Zone” pointed out that an acceler-
ated leasing schedule will only exacerbate serious problems which
already exist in our current offshore leasing and management prac-
tices.

The study cites inadequate environmental and safety regulations,
the Federal Government’s lack of information about the true value
of its resources, and the muddled energy policy context in which OCS
development is going forward. The national ocean policy study
should be commanded for this thorough and thoughtful documenta-
tion of OCS problems and issues.

Mr. Chairman, I am not opposed to the eventual development of
California’s offshore resources. But I strongly object to this adminis-
tration’s decision to go forward with offshore o1 land gas develop-
ment in the absence of three essential conditions.

One, an assurance that the taxpayer will receive the full fair
market value for the public owned resources.

Two, a mechanism to provide the adjacent State with some voice
in the decisions that will surely impact on it; and, three, improved
environmental and safety regulations.

And T vigorously object to the full-scale pursuit of offshore oil
and gas unless it is done in the context of a sensible national energy
policy which weighs the benefits and risks, region by region, of
developing alternate sources of energy.

I believe that my fellow panel members agree that these three
components must be included in any OCS policy reform. I am a
cosponsor of S. 426, introduced by Senator Hollings, to reform our
management of the resources of the OCS.

The key feature of this bill is the clear separation made between
the exploration phase and the development phase of OCS develop-
ment.

S. 426 provides for Federal exploration of the OCS before any
decisions are made about whether development should proceed and
before any leases are sold.

Separating the exploration phase from the development phase of
offshore energy development is, in my opinion, the single most im-
portant policy change we can aim for. As it now stands, the Federal
Government relinquishes control over critical energy policy decisions
at the moment it accepts the high bid on a lease.

I have endorsed the concept of federally sponsored exploration
prior to leasing, but there may well be alternate ways to accomplish
the goal.

Furthermore, separating exploration from production will put an
end to the enormous front-end bonus bids and will give the Govern-
ment the vital information it needs to evaluate the full extent of the
resources available on the OCS.
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For example, the 1968 Texas sale of 110 offshore tracts resulted in
$594 million in bonus bids. However, 90 of these 110 tracts have
been relinquished or their leases have expired without production on
them.

Large front-end bonus bids in many cases are only serving to tie
up large amounts of capital which should be applied to other forms
of energy development. Permitting States to have a stronger voice
in Federal offshore development decisions is another 1mportant con-
cept.

Last vear the Senate adopted an amendment Senator Mathias and
T offered giving the States the right to request a postponement of a
a lease sale.

This will result in better State-Federal cooperation and minimize
adverse impact on the States. The establishment of OCS environ-
mental safeguards is also an essential aspect of any OCS reforms.

Although this point is discussed frequently, it cannot be overem-
phasized, pqrtlcularlv with regard to the seismically active southern
California area. As the GAO study indicated, an accelerated leasing
program has already placed severe restraints on the U.S. Geological
Survey’s ability to evaluate various aspects of the leasing bids.

One can only assume that it will be equally difficult to monitor
widespread OCS production performance. The infamous Santa Bar-
bara blowout was the result of a human error which would have been
avoided had proper safeguards been in effect.

Proper environmental safeguards will not be employed unless they
are mandated by new Federal legislation. California risks another
catastrophe if development is allowed to go forward without the
benefit of legislation such as S. 426.

Mr. Chfurm:m my message to this committee today is clear and
simple: We must place a limited moratorium on new offshore lease
sales so that basic reforms now under consideration in Congress can
be implemented before major new areas are leased.

T hope that this committee will concur. Unfortunately, I have to
attend a markup of the Budget Committee. T do want to say that 1
strongly share the view that you expressed this morning, when we
were together before the Los Angeles Chamber of Commelce, that
we have to consider not only the environmental aspects of this matter,
which is of particular interest to the people of California, but from
the point of view of the people of the Nation.

And of interest, certainly. to Senators who represent others else-
where than in California, is the question of economics. And the
question of whether under present economic circumstances in our
country and present leasing proposals, the people of our Nation who
own that oil and whom all of us together represent will get their
clear, full share of the value of that oil, unless we make changes
in the leasing program.

That is what we must consider doing. It is terribly important that
we do so. It is also obviously important that we develop this resource
in a way that insures its maximum availability to the people of all
of our country, during this time of dwindling oil resources, of van-
i1shing oil resources.
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We must make certain we develop this oil in a way that will serve
our Nation’s needs the best. T trust that you and other members of
this committee can help bring about that, and I thank you very
much.

Senator Tux~ry. Thank you, Senator Cranston. We know that
you have to go to the other committee. We really appreciate the points
that you have made, because I think in those very few sentences you
have hit the important issues.

And that is, first, the orderly development, from an environmental
point of view, and to give the State an opportunity to participate
in every detail of that planning process.

And, second, the economics of the development of the offshore oil
areas. T think you have expressed it beautifully, and T want to thank
you for coming and giving us the opportunity of

Senator Craxston, Thank you very much. I want to say to Dick
Maullin T am sorry that T can’t stay with him. I have great respect
for what he is doing in this field and what T know Gov. Jerry Brown
1s doing, and T look forward to working with you and the others in
the State of California.

Thank you very much.

Senator Tun~EY. Mr. Maullin, do you have an extra copy of your
statement ¢

Mr. Maurnin. Yes; I do, Senator.

STATEMENT OF HON. RICHARD MAULLIN, CHAIRMAN, CALIFORNIA
ENERGY COMMISSION

Mr. MavLrin. Senator, T appreciate very much the opportunity to
be here and be allowed to express the views of many people in Cali-
fornia. I have a statement I would like to make for the record.

The State of California has a unique interest in the discussion of
new legislative proposals for development of Outer Continental Shelf
resources. First and foremost, we are faced with an imminent lease
sale, which could take place as early as September of this year.

Petroleum-related development is not something new to California,
nor is offshore drilling. Oil accounts for over 50 percent of California
energy demand. About half of our needs are supplied from Cali-
fornia crude oil production.

For the remainder, California is heavily dependent on imports.
California has over 1,000 miles of irreplaceable coastal resources.
California’s coastal zone management plan is progressing according
to schedule.

The plan already exists in draft form, and the coastal zone con-
servation commission has explicitly considered many of the issues
related to offshore resource development and associated onshore im-
pacts.

Hearings on the draft plan will be held this spring. Under Cali-
fornia law, coastal zone management plan will be adopted before the
end of 1976. Last year California’s Legislature enacted a bill creating
the energy resources conservation and development commission, of
which T am chairman.
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Our agency has wide-reaching responsibilities, including the bal-
ancing of energy resource development with the need to conserve
these resources. In our view, there is an urgent need for prompt reso-
lution of the issues now being considered by this committee. )

Either the Congress should pass legislation to update the adminis-
tration of the OCS program, or it should immediately declare a
limited moratorium on further leasing activities in OCS frontier
areas, until such changes can be made.

If this is not done, the utility of these deliberations will be lost
as far as California is concerned. In my testimony today, I would
like to address what we consider to be five key points for change.

First, we support the position of the National Governors’ Confer-
ence regarding the separation of exploration from the decision to
permit commercial production on OCS tracts.

Second, present bidding procedures should be changed to permit
the separation of exploration programs from prxzduction while pre-
serving a realistic incentive for industry participation, an equitable
return to the public, and efficient management and development of
OCS resources.

This is distinet from a Government-sponsored and managed ex-
ploration program, which we oppose. Third, we need an effective
institutional mechanism for State participation in OCS resource man-
agement decisionmaking.

Fourth, we need to develop a framework within which affected
coastal States could generate revenues necessary to offset the real
costs and impacts of OCS development.

And finally, we need an equitable and objective means of ranking
the relative environmental risks of development of different areas of
the Outer Continental Shelf, and insuring the effective implementa-
tion of necessary environmental safeguards in areas where produc-
tion is permitted.

I would like to address myself to these five points in a little bit
more detail. Regarding separation of exploration from production,
as the recently released national ocean policy study demonstrated,
there is tremendous variation in the range of additional oil and gas
resources estimated to be available to the United States.

There is certainly a national interest in determining promptly the
extent of oil and gas resources on the Continental Shelf. There is a
need for prompt exploration to determine our real, as opposed to
conjectural, energy policy options.

We do not believe that this interest would be well served by halt-
ing further exploration activity until a Federal Government explora-
tion program could begin.

If there is to be private development of OCS resources, then ex-
ploration must be separated from production in order to sidestep the
impossible problem of guessing the value of the resources that are
being sold.

Given the uncertainties surrounding both the extent of these re-
sources, and their long-term prices. measurements of past returns to
the public cannot be extrapolated into the future.

The present system of leasing confronts decisionmakers with an
all-or-nothing dilemma, as any decision to lease is essentially an
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irreversible commitment to development. Important as the issue of
separation is, however, the problems that give rise to the need to
separate exploration from the decision to permit production do not
logically support the call for a Government-managed program.

This distinction must be recognized, and if Government explora-
tion is desired, then other compelling justification must be produced.

The only basis for a Government-managed program would be an
overriding desire to increase the Government’s role in all phases of
" resource management. But greater governmental involvement would
be unlikely to lead to the intended objectives of prompt exploration,
avoidance of the valuation dilemma, and assurance of a fair return
to the public.

The high risk nature of exploration, long leadtime, tremendous
costs, and the need for decentralized decisionmaking, all argue against
Government exploration.

Effective separation could be achieved without increasing the Gov-
ernment’s role. If private capital and industry expertise are to be
used, then separation of exploration from the decision to permit
production should be accompanied by revision of the bonus-royalty
relationship.

One example which has been evaluated within the Department of
Interior would be to raise the royalty to approximately 40 percent.
This would have several positive effects.

It would increase competition by lowering the financial barrier to
entry. It would reduce the capital strain on industry, freeing up
funds for exploration activities. It would increase the longrun return
to the public, and reduce the hazards of guesswork in presale tract
evaluation.

The major negative effect would be to reduce the immediate cash
flow to the Federal Treasury, as opposed to the present system with
its high front-end bonus bids. However, resource management policy
should not be made on the basis of cash flow considerations, even
under deficit budget conditions.

The Department of Interior has expressed its belief that such a
change in the bonus-royalty relationship is permissible under exist-
ing law. In this regard, the flexibility in selection of bidding systems,
as expressed in S. 426, is also welcome.

We should also note that Senate bill 426 has provided an excellent
form of discussion for changes in the system. Senator Hollings and
cosponsors from our view in California are certainly to be congratu-
lated for real thinking on changing what is now an outdated system.

I would like to address myself to the subject of the State perspec-
tive on separation of exploration from the decision to permit pro-
duction. To avoid any possible confusion, let us examine in some
detail how a system providing for separation of exploration from
production would work, and spacifically how the coastal States could
participate in the decision process.

OCS tracts would be offered for lease, with a fixed royalty of 40
percent, and a cash bonus as the bid variable. Winning bidders would
be permitted to conduct approved exploration programs on their
%racts, complying with applicable safety and environmental regu-
ations.
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The leases would contain specific stipulations to the effect that in
the event of any commercial finds, production would be permitted
only on the basis of a production permit.

Bidders would have to recognize the possibility that production
might not be permitted. They would discount their bids accordingly
to reflect the real costs of uncertainty. If production were permitted,
then the holders of the exploration permit would be the ones per-
mitted to produce.

The key question from the State’s point of view is the effectiveness
of the mechanism for State participation in the decision as to whether
or not, when, how, and where to permit production.

The rationale for State participation is simple. Coastal States have
the responsibility for planning and for coping with onshore and
coastal zone impacts associated with OCS development.

The States and localities would suffer the consequences of any
environmental damage. Most coastal States, except Alaska, will need
the resources or, if they will become net exporters, will have to cope
with the distribution and transportation requirements which would
follow large-scale oil and gas activities.

In California, for one, such development would be very close to
the 3-mile line, and the consequences of poorly planned development
and lax environmental protection would be immediately and ob-
noxiously evident to citizens of our coastal areas.

Finally, State energy planners have the responsibility for trying
to reduce consumption of, and dependence on, oil and gas. Once
initial exploration had taken place, and we recognize that to a cer-
tain extent exploration is an ongoing process, closely tied to develop-
ment, State representatives would be inh a position to evaluate three
key factors.

I am referring to the national need for the resource. The compati-
bility of proposed development with coastal zone and other land use
plans, and the adequacy of environmental safeguards.

The model provision of S. 426, whereby the Governor of the
coastal State could request a delay for a finite period, up to 3 years,
in our view makes sense. It would be difficult to justify giving the
Governor of a coastal State an absolute veto over an essentially
national decision affecting development of a national resource.

Moreover, we are confident that the Governors of the respective
coastal States would exercise their power responsibly. With explora-
tion separated from the production decision, the real issues would
be very clear.

The extent of the resources would be reasonably well known, the
implications of development would be reasonably well known, and
coordination with State coastal zone and energy planning policies
would be assured.

Decisionmaking, in fact, might even be speeded up. When produc-
tion was contraindicated. the costs. consequences, and future potential
would not be the subject of uninformed speculation.

On balance, consistency with the laws, goals, and policies of the
coastal States would be built into this process. A question has come
up as to the funding of State participation in OCS development to
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decisionmaking. As various proposals have been circulated for the
funding of State participation in the OCS program, we would like
to present some comments on the problem from the State’s point of
view.

Across-the-board revenue sharing, as recently proposed by Secre-
tary Morton, in our view is not realistic. It would probably be in-
equitable and ill-timed in relation to the occurrence of problems.

It would not buy a political solution to State resistance, and
would not assure affected States of adequate net compensation. A
formula adequate for California would fall far short of Alaska’s
needs, and would probably lag far behind the real impacts of OCS
development. ' )

Alternate forms of revenue sharing, tied to a congressional appro-
priation process, would provide a disincentive to proper planning
by penalizing States that dealt successfully with impacts.

What, then, is the answer? In California we are considering im-
position of a pipeline throughout charge on oil that crosses State
tidelands. There are several advantages to this approach.

Revenues would be commensurate with the State’s particular needs.
Funds would be under State control, and could be dedicated to rele-
vant needs. Oil and gas revenues from California’s State tidelands,
for example, are presently assigned to recreation and fish and wild-
life enhancement, and to capital outlay for higher education.

If each State were to set its own pipeline charges, the thorny prob-
lems of equity for all the States, and for producers and consumers,
would be simplified.

If appropriately formulated, we believe that such charges would

- withstand the inevitable court challenges, and would be found not
to represent a burden on interstate commerce. I should emphasize
that we are leaning toward this option for California, because we
cannot afford to wait much longer.

However, what is good for one State, in this regard, could lead to
chaos if each State does not consider the systemic effects in making
its own decisions.

Perhaps it would be appropriate for the Congress to address itself
to this issue—of the pipeline throughput charge. I would like to
turn to environmental issues.

I have reserved comment on environmental issues as the last item
in my testimony, even though they are usually the first concerns to
be raised by critics of OCS development.

In our view, regardless of the identity of the “lead agency” for the
purpose of complying with the requirements of the National Environ-
mental Policy Act of 1969, there are two overriding concerns.

First, the question of relative ranking with respect to environ-
mental risks versus economic benefits, has never been adequately
addressed. The best effort along these lines was certainly the Council
on Environmental Quality’s environmental assessment of OCS oil
and gas.

Regrettably, southern California was not considered a frontier
area for the purposes of that analysis, and we did not have the bene-
fit of any environmental ranking, high or low.
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Obviously, any future ranking exercise should include all prospec-
tive leasing areas. This may be a moot issue for California, but it is
an unfortunate oversight that should not be repeated.

As another example, the Office of Technology Assessment is cur-
rently supporting an excellent systems study of new use demands
for the coastal zone and offshore areas of New Jersey and Delaware
looking at the interrelated implications of offshore nuclear, offshore
oil and gas development, and deepwater superports.

We are much closer to a decision on leasing for southern California,
and we currently have proposals for deepwater ports, LNG termi-
nals, and other energy facilities, plus the prospect of increased
tanker traffic due to transport requirements for Alaskan and offshore
crude production.

Yet, we have not had an adequate examination of how these
projects all fit together. Regardless of which agency is responsible
for generating impact statements, we intend to take our responsibili-
ties very seriously in this area.

Both systems mteractions and highly localized impacts must be
considered as part of the NEPA process. Most importantly, the
States should have a continuing role in the implementation, moni-
toring, and review of environmental safeguards in Federal as well
as State waters.

Although such a role would be costly for the States, in the long
run it is probably the only way to fully satisfy the coastal States’
need for stringent enforcement of safety and environmental regu-
lations.

We are suggesting that the States should share responsibility for
monitoring and enforcement on an ongoing basis, not that they
should assume sole responsibility, which would be impractical and
undesirable.

In closing T would respectfully reemphasize the urgency of these
changes, and the need for prompt congressional action in view of
the imminent sale of Federal leases in the southern California off-
shore areas.

Thank you very much.

Senator Tuxxey. Mr. Maullin, T want to thank you for a very
thoughtful statement. T, perhaps. am being a bit chauvinistic when
I say that I think California has gone further than any other State
in developing a long-term planning mechanism for the purposes of
protecting not only our coastline but also for assessing our energy
resources and the conservation and development procedures that must
necessarily follow if we are going to be able to have energy to fuel
our civilization, fuel our society, and at the same time to protect it
from the worst forms of environmental depredation.

I think as the new chairman of this California Energy Commis-
sion, you have been able, in a very short period of time, to produce
an analysis of the situation that I think 1s really outstanding.

I want to congratulate you.

Mr. Mavuruiy. Thank you very much, Senator.

Senator Tunx~Ney. I have some questions. I know we don’t have
much time, but I would like to just hit a couple of areas. You talk



1001

about a throughput charge as being, perhaps, the most effective way
of giving the States the revenue that they need, rather than revenue
sharing.

Wouldn’t the throughput charge come too late to help deal with
the planning and public facility needs, before actual production?
And doesn’t that have the same problems associated with it, that
revenue sharing would ?

Mr. Mavruin. If we knew that there was going to be extensive
development, in effect, you could sort of plan for the revenues, and
you might be willing, on a State level. to expend some moneys from
the general fund in anticipation of the revenues that would come
from the throughput charge.

It might be an earlier investment out of one source of money that
would be compensated by another.

One of the advantages of the throughput charge, especially with
the large budget deficits, is that it really places the question of find-
ing the revenue to compensate for the problems outside the Federal
revenue cycle.

You won’t find an interior State, for example, complaining that
California, a relatively wealthy State, is subtracting from the Na-
tional Treasury to deal with a relatively localized problem, or at
least what someone would define as a localized problem, and as I
said in my statement, it allows us to calibrate the tax in effect to
deal with the specifics, rather than just on a general formula.

Senator Tow~EY. Isn’t the real answer that if you have a through-
put charge that is not controlled by the Federal Government. If you
have revenue sharing, it would be controlled by the Congress.

Mr. Mauruin. One possibility on a throughput charge, Senator,
is to have the Congress set a ceiling, in effect, on how much could
be assessed as a throughput charge, and, in effect, give a Federal bless-
ing and umbrella.

But we in the States have the responsibility of determining what
are the problems, and what level of charge they want to assess would
not exceed a national standard.

Senator Tux~ey. Would that all go to the State treasury? Or
would some of it go to the local treasuries as well ?

Mr. Mavruin. There is certainly a possibility for a State to have
its own form of revenue sharing by sharing the throughput return
with local entities.

In fact, the county of Orange. which is facing one of the areas
proposed leasing has made a request, both through the Federal Gov-
ernment and to us to examine that possibility.

Senator Tuxxey. What about a program of Federal loans to give
to the States the revenue they need to plan for OCS development
prior to the time that they have any revenue out of revenue sharing,
or from a throughput charge.

Mr. MavLLix. So long as we knew where the revenue was going
to come from to pay it back, it certainly is another possibility that
we would like to examine.

Senator Tuxxey. One of the things that you talk about in arguing
for a revision between exploration and production and saying that
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you do not favor a Federal exploration program, at least controlled
and financed by the Federal Government, you go on to say that on
page 5 of your statement:

Winning bidders would be permitted to conduct approved exploration pro-
grams on their tracts, complying with applicable safety and environmental
regulations. The leases would contain specific stipulations to the effect that in
the event of any commercial finds, production would be permitted only on the
basis of a production permit.

You suggest that the variable is to be a cash bonus in addition to
a fixed royalty of 40 percent.

Could you tell me how the Federal Government is going to be able
to prevent the development of a resource when the company has paid
a cash bonus to develop it ?

It is one thing to restrict royalty payments, but once the company
has put up a lot of money in cash bonuses. how can the Federal Gov-
nrement then say, “We are only going to allow you to produce x
number of barrels per day, assuming that you find o1l.”

Mr. Mavriry. The whole OCS exploration process under any
system is a risky business, as past history has shown. Many dry wells
are drilled after the payment of considerable bonuses to the Federal
Government, for lease rights.

This system would maintain some of that element of risk. How-
ever, what is to be contemplated is that the risk would be discounted
by the bidder. to take into account the actual risk that they may not
get a production permit.

Let me give you a specific example

Senator TU\\FY Let me just say this. T think that the great prob-
lem with that is that it would be a tremendous disincentive to the
industry. We have seen the same thing, in my view, in the natural
gas area, where we had FTC regulation.

Where we found in the interstate market that the number of wells
being drilled was way, way down, whereas the number of wells
being drilled for the intrastate market was going up, up, up because
there was not that kind of control. T think you mtl oduce a real wild

card when you say you can expect the oil companies to put up a lot
of money on a bonus bid basis, and yet you are not going to neces-

sarily give them permission to produce, assuming they should find
the oil.

Mr. Magrrrs. These systems are very difficult, T will grant you.
But let us identify what our real difficulties are.

First of all, we do not know what is really out anywhere. If you

talk to any 011 company geologist or executive, no matter how much

they say “We are pretty sure “about this lot because of preliminary
1ndlcat10ns,” it is a very risky business, and a lot of money has been
spent in sure areas that come up with zero.

The Government as well as the industry needs to know what there
is. In effect, we are lowering the price of finding out what is, and
under this kind of arrangement, both the owner of the resource, the
public, as well as through the Government, as well as the industry,
would have access to real knowledge at a lower price.

And T think that is an important consideration. Second, because
it is a public resource, and we are considering an expanded leasing
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program to meet a national policy objective, that is, to get oil to
replace imports, and we are not doing it to just provide a new lucra-
tive economic situation for companies that are doing quite well
under other circumstances, we then have, T think, as a nation, the
right to control the pace at which this resource is attracted.

This is a nonrenewable resource, as we all know. Once you pull
that oil out of the ground in southern California, there is no more.
I think we have a very distinct responsibility as a nation, Govern-
ment jurisdictions, to institute some kind of better control process
over the rate of production.

And also the effects that that production would have. That is why
the separation of exploration from development. If you institute
some sort, of permit process that is based not simply on the leasing
of a good, but also an analytical process that looks at the question,
“Do you really need it at this point in time, and at what rate. and
what are going to be the other costs to the citizens of the State and
the country ?”

That is another key consideration. You might ask, “Why would
any oil company want to get involved in a situation where they
could not be absolutely sure that that bid they put out is going to
lead to a permit?”

I can only say we need the oil, so there is going to be some devel-
opment, one way or another. We are going to define the rules of the
ball game, and if those rules are the only rules, my guess is that be-
cause of the very lucrative nature of exploring this resource, that
you will get participation, even though it may not be participation
under a system which is even more lucrative.

Senator Tuxxey. Mr. Maullin, why not have the Federal Govern-
ment hire the exploratory drilling companies to do the drilling, and
gnd out what the resource is, the same way that major oil companies

0.

Then, once they learn what the resource is, then sell it, and sell
it—sell only those areas that they feel ought to be produced, and
not put those shackles on the company that would result from the
plan that you suggest, where you ask them to bid on a project when
they really don’t know whether they are going to be permitted to
produce it once they have found it.

Mr. MaoLnin. One argument for the system that T am proposing,
and an argument against Government exploration is the following:
The exploration process is a very risky process.

It costs a lot of money, T can foresee a situation where, if we
really need the production of oil to offset costly imports from areas
that frankly we don’t wish to transfer a great deal of our wealth to,
there is a question of how much burden do you want to place on the
Federal Treasury for that risky exploration process.

It could be $200, $300 million a year to follow an accelerated de-
velopment schedule. That is money out of the Treasury. You could
argue that the money is coming back in through higher bonus bids,
but still there is a cash flow situation, that every year somebody
from the Interior Department is going to be up here asking for a
couple of hundred million dollars to pursue a government-financed
exploration program.
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The likelihood that it is going to be done well or not well is quite
problematical. On the other hand you have an oil industry which
at least right now is quite flush with a lot of money that could be
channeled towards exploration under this kind of program that
I am suggesting.

It seems senstble to me, since what we really want to do is control
production for national purposes, to try to capture the financial re-
sources of the oil industry, and orient them towards an exploratory
process.

I think we can do it through this system. If the government goes
into it, then you will have to raise the money for the oil companies
through some sort of taxation scheme. It is very indirect, and very
chancy.

Whereas if you continue to have the industry in the exploratory
process through this two-ticred system we are suggesting, vou im-
mediately tap the money that they would naturally use to continue
their business.

Senator Tun~ey. What about a refinement of what vou are sug-
gesting? What about letting the oil companies apply their bonuses
to exploration costs.

Mr. Mavrriy, That is a variant that is similar to what we are
suggesting here. That is certainly a worthwhile and interesting idea.
\Vhat you are doing is essentially looking into their capital posmon
and identifying an “amount of money which the public would like—
the government for the public would like to dedicate to the explora-
tion of our resources, so that evervbody knows what we have.

That seems to be a perfectly reasonable way of approaching this,
as I think the one we are suggesting is also reasonable.

Senator Tuxxyey. In the absence of a government exploration
program, how could we get around the llldHStI) s insistence upon
keeping exploratory data secret?

Mr. Maurrin. Under the conditions of an exploratory permit.
Again, it is a question of the Congress, through amending the Outer
Continental Shelf Lands Act and other relevant legislation, setting
the terms of this program.

Senator Tonwey. Congressman Rees is here. Congressman Rees,
do you want to come forward and testify? I know you must have
other committee responsibilities in the House.

Congressman Rers. Yes. T am supposed to be in the Banking and
Currency Committee.

Senator Tuxxey. Why don’t you come on up? You know Mr.
Maulhn. )

Congressman Rers. We are having a delightful time on variable
interest mortgages. Have you heard about those?

Senator TuxxEey. Yes, I have.

STATEMENT OF HON. THOMAS REED, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Congressman Rees. I appreciate the opportunity of testifying.
Last year I was chairman of a rather esoteric ad hoc commlttee,
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called the ad hoc committee on the Domestic and International
Monetary Effect of Energy and other Natural Resource Pricing.

The only way to beat the seniority system is to think up an
esoteric title like this for chairman of the subcommittee. This year
T am now chairman of the Banking and Currency Committee on
International Trade Investment and Monetary Policy, and much of
the work we are doing in that subcommittee ties into the work of
the ad hoc committee.

I am also a member of a very powerful Presidential Commission
on supplies and shortages, where we serve together which has yet
to have its first meeting. And T hope we will be looking at the long-
term energy prospects for the United States.

We became very much interested in the OCS Leasing Act of 1953,
because in our analysis of energy pricing we had to make an analysis
of what energy development was in the United States, and our
ability to produce our Quter Continental Shelf and the various
problems in dealing with this resource that we have.

We went basically into the economics of the situation. We did not
get near the environmental aspect, because I think that is being dealt
with by other committees and other groups. Since the inception of
the Outer Continental Shelf Leasing Act in 1953 we have leased out
nearly 10 million acres.

We have quite a few leases off the southern California coast. I
remember about 5 years ago you visited the Union Oil rig that blew,
and I would say off the Pacific coast, off the Santa Barbara Channel
there are about 9 billion barrels of reserves that are under bid.

They have already been bid by the companies, this was about 6
years ago. They are only waiting for their environmental impact
statement, so there is active drilling going on now off the coast of
California.

I find, in looking at the whole concept of leasing the Outer Conti-
nental Shelf, there seems to be no concept by Interior as to why
they are coming up with a program. They come up and they say,
“This year we are going to lease 10 million acres.”

It has taken them 21 years to lease about 914 million acres, so why
do they have to lease 10 million acres this year?

They don’t. It is the most uneconomical thing they could do be-
cause they will be putting 10 million acres of good OCS tract on the
market, and you are going to have a glut of leases coming onto the
market.

If they keep working on a bonus bid, they will take every nickel
that every oil company has for exploration merely because we have
a cash flow problem in the U.S. Treasury.

I think that is the main motivation behind Interior’s plans. It is
the same motivation that caused the administration several years
ago to start selling off our strategic stockpile, because it was felt we
could use 2 or 3 extra billion dollars to cover up the Federal deficit.

T contend that this matter of QOuter Continental Shelf drilling is
just too darned important to be done the way it is being done now.
For example, and I will give you this report.

We made an analysis of shut-in capacity. In 1973 we had 3,814
active oil wells and we also had 3,054 shut-in wells. Part of these



1006

r
are depleted wells, but many of them are just waiting for develop-
ment.

But we don’t have the onshore facilities. Let me give you an ex-
ample in souhtern California. We have to use very low sulfur oil.
The Southern California Edison Co., for example, has long-term
contracts.

Not, short-term but long-term contracts, and 50 percent of their
imported oil is from Saudi Arabia. Tt is a very sweect oil, a very low
sulfur oil. We have the situation on the Pacific coast., also, that in
about 2 years the petroleum will be coming down in tankers from
Valdes, from the Alaskan pipeline.

Where is it going to go? Where is the 9 million barrels that is
already under lease in the Santa Barbara Channel going to go? We
have refineries in California, but they are up to capacity.

Much of that capacity is that low sulfur sweet that we must have
by law in the southern California Basin, and also in the San Fran-
cisco Basin and the San Diego Basin. T would say in 2 or 3 years we
are going to have a substantial oil glut in the Pacific coast, without
any refining capacity to take care of that glut.

We also have another situation that has not been looked at. Where
the oil shortage is not in the Pacific coast or the Gulf coast, it is in
the Middle West. The Alaskan pipeline probably should have come
through Canada, because it is the Middle West that is receiving
fewer and fewer oil supplies from Canada, because ("anada is now
starting to conserve more of their petroleum resources.

But there is no plan that T know of for an east-west pipeline
across the United States to take the petroleum as it comes down,
about a million barrels a day, and ship it into the Middle West.

I have not heard of a plan. T have not heard Interior talk about a
plan. Even if we leased off every bit of acreage that we now have in
the Outer Continental Shelf. it would be impossible to find the ex-
ploratory equivalent, to find the crews, to find the various rigs that
have to be used to develop the pipeline, to settle the legal problems
under the commerce clause of the Constitution—is what rights does
the Federal Government have on that 3-mile State title area in terms
of access of pipelines?

Already T think the State of California has disallowed an appli-
cation for a pipeline to go across from the Federal title area across
the State to the onshore facility. This is going to be a very difficult
problem, trying to interpret the commerce clause, vis-a-vis access to
the State title area.

I am just very disturbed about the approach that is being taken.
T think 1f we are going to look at a policy saying, “What is the pur-
pose of the OCS?” Well, the purpose 1s to get more oil and gas.
What clse?

What else is if we can structure our leasing procedure and our
exploratory procedure in the correct way, we can develop good
competition in the petroleum industry. Right now an independent
cannot bid.

An independent cannot pay that bonus because the bonus takes all
the money they need to explore and develop the tract. Therefore, the
only bidders are the majors. Of course if 10 million acres go on the
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market today they will be the only ones who can bid, and since you
will have a glut of oil leases the bonus bids will wet less and less
and less money for the taxpayer.

I think we ought to structure this, for example, so that the Fed-
eral Govelnment and the State might go into a ]omt venture with
an independent. In California the Tar (fest oil field in the lower 48 is
the Wilmington field that is owned b\ the State of California.

The city of Long Beach is the trustee, and they operate the Wil-
mington field. Undm the contract with the majors, Texaco, Humble,
\Iobll, and Socal, they produced the field.

And T think that they received 5 percent—it is a cost plus, and
they also got a guarantee of 5 percent of oil in kind. They also have
another contract with the State where they can purchase the oil that
they develop.

Now no one called this socialism, when T was in the State Senate,
and we worked on this. It was just a fine arrangement, where the
state owned it and there was a cost-plus contract with this group to
develop the oil.

I think we can be looking at a lot of alternate concepts and really
creating good healthy competltlon within the industry. There 1s
alwa\s the problem of vertical integration. How do you compete
against a vertically integrated company2

“Because they can ﬂct vou on each level of production, because
they can cut their costs and put it on another level. Tf they want to
cut the costs on crude, they can do that, but they can make it up by
charging heavy fees on pipelines, because they control most of the
p1pchnos But if you could develop a program whereby a joint ven-
ture between a company and the IFederal Government, and then the
Federal Government takes 50 percent of the petroleum in kind and
auctions it off at a weekly aunction, this would mean that you would
have more independent refiners.

You would have more independent pipeline companies. You would
have more independent retailers, because they would have this inde-
pendent source of petroleum, which in many cases they don’t have
now.

The specter of competition is something that we really have not
had in the petroleum industry. There are fewer and fewer inde-
pendents In this report, and T will make a copy available to your
subcommittee, we have a chapter on the problem of competition and
what has lmppened in the last 20 or 30 years in the industry.

Again, I would like to caution against the use of bonus bidding,
because there is just not that much money available with the oil
companies. The majors have already lost their depletion allowance.

They still have tangible drilling costs and other benefits. But we

cannot take all of their out front money and put it into the U.S.
Treasury. These are funds which should be used for energy pro-
duction.

T looked at a prediction by Chase Manhattan projecting oil prices
to 1985, and I think they came up with a price of about $21 to $23
a bar rel. They came to that price by taking the capitalized value of
that in terms of what the development costs must be to develop
petroleum.

51-748 O - 75 - 21
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There 1s going to be billions of dollars of production costs and
they won’t develop if we keep running bonus bids. They did that
last year in shale. The best shale land in this country was leased off
on bonus.

And now the companies that own the shale leases cannot develop
them because they spent all of their out-front development money
and gave it to the U.S. Treasury. Already Atlantic Richfield finds
that it had to pull out of the Tar Sands Project in Canada. and it
1s not developing shale because it had to spend every nickel it has
on the Alaskan Pipeline.

But this is the situation we are getting in. with the policy of In-
terior, it will exacerbate the whole situation of reasonable energy
development in this country. T would ask the subcommittee in deal-
ing with the legislation, the one important thing vou can do is to
not lease for about a year or two.

Frankly there is enough stuff out there that it will take 5 to 10
years to develop. You don’t need any new leases. And in the vear
period we completely reevaluate the OCS. the purpose and what we
‘an do to develop competition in the oil industry to give the people
a cheaper source of energy, and come up with something that we
don’t have, which is a rational, coordinated program.

That is my basic thought.

Senator Tux~ry. Thank you very much, Congressman. What you
are suggesting is that the Federal Government ought to be involved
n sponsoring the exploration in the offshore area, rather than giving
that responsibility to the companies on their own after they have
purchased those lands or leased those lands through whatever mecha-
nism is used, whether it is bonus bidding, royalty or some other
mechanism.

Congressman Rrrs. Yes, Senator. We have figures in this report
that Interior consistently underestimates the reserves of every parcel
they have put out to lease. Some of these underestimations are by
several hundred percent.

This is also true of the companies, once they lease the tract. They
underestimate the reserves in the tract. Then they are amazed when
they finally develop to find out, “Oh, my gosh, they’ve got all this
oil and gas and they never knew it was here”.

In the OCS Act it says that all of these leases have to be looked
at every 5 vears to make sure they are being developed. If they are
not being developed, Interior can take back the lease.

In 21 years they have never taken back a lease.

Senator Tunw~ry. That is right. Senator Johnston.

Senator Jonnsrox. Congressman, I enjoyed your testimony. So
much of it T agree with so very strongly. A couple of items, though,
that T wanted to talk about. Did T understand you to say that the
Federal Government should sponsor the offshore exploration on a
50-50 basis with private enterprise?

Congressman Rekrs. Senator, that is merely one proposal. If one
was to—in California, we auction off at regular intervals, like a
week, our take-out oil, so that this provides a source for the inde-
pendent refineries.
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They can bid on the State oil. T think that if we went into a joint
venture with private companies, it would help the private com-
panies because we would be putting up some of the up-front cash
for the venture.

This means that some of your medium-sized companies that are
priced out of OCS development might actually go into a joint ven-
ture with the Federal Government.

Senator Jouxsro~. In other words, the Federal Government would
put up half of the capital for the OCS exploration ?

Congressman Reks. Yes, sir.

Senator JorNsTON. Would the Federal Government jointly par-
ticipate in decisions as to whether to drill or not to drill and how
much money to spend and that sort of thing?

Congressman Regs. T think this would have to be negotiated. The
Federal Government could do scveral things. For e,\‘nnp]e if we do
drill Elk Hills, and if we start opening up the Naval Reserve, which
is In Alaska, it means that we drilling petroleum which for years
has been set aside for a national emergency.

I think a national emergency could either be one affecting our
national defense, or it could be an economic emergency, for example,
with a boycott of Arab oil, for example. T think the Federal Govern-
ment could enter into an agreement where they checkerboard the
lease, and then some of the arcas, once they have been proven, can
be tapped and kept for national defense purposes or economic de-
fense purposes.

There are so many things that could be done on the Outer Conti-
nental Shelf that would tie in with overall energy policy in this
country. Unfortunately, Interior, T don’t think has analyzed what
could be done.

Senator Jonxsrox. But you are not suggesting for the Federal
Government to actually go in the explor ation busmess, but rather to
participate more or less as an investor, so as to encourage the inde-
pendent of whom we have too few, or which we have too few.

Congressman Rers. No, T am not for a Federal oil corporation. I
don’t want the Federal Government to become a developer of oil. T
see no reason why they can’t become a participant in the joint venture,
with all of the work really being done by the independents or the
Integrated company, whoever is dealm«r with the Federal Govern-
ment

In California, the State is in the oil business. But all of the explora-
tion, all of the drilling and much of the selling and processing of the
oil is done by private companies.

Again, these are the largest companies in the country, if not the
world. No one seems to complain about it. As 1 say, it is the largest
oil field in the lower 48,

Senator Jorxsron. Congressman, off the coast of Louisiana, which
has about 90 percent or so of the offshore production in this country,
I think the figures would show that the majors who drill and de-
veloped that over the last 25 years have not made a bonanza out there.

As a matter of fact, the testimony we heard yesterday from Gulf I
believe it was, indicated that prior to the 1972 lease sale they had
just about w ashed out even with the gulf for the last 25 years.
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Whereas since that time have gone half a million dollars into the
red again. I think that is fairly typical in the gulf. They have spent
a great deal more money than they thought they would.

The cost of lifting a barrel of oil out there is actually more than
the North Sea. While it is more expensive to drill in the North Sea,
reserves there on the average have been larger than in the gulf.

Has that same sort of thing been true in California? Or has it
been a great bonanza for the o1l companies?

Congressman Rres. T think they are doing pretty well in Cali-
fornia, because T don’t think we have any rigs more than 5 or 6 miles
offshore. It is very accessible, and the onshore refining facilities are
very extensive in the Los Angeles area.

I would suggest that the reason they have not been doing well on
the Outer Continental Shelf is they were drilling $3.50 oil. Now they
are drilling $11 and $12 oil. I do not forsee the price of petroleum
going lower than $8 a barrel.

This was our long term projection of OPEC pricing, and looking
at the capital that is needed to develop new energy sources, of course
I would think that the historical pattern would be for petroleum to
reach the $20 level in another 10 years.

So this will make our Continental Shelf drilling feasible if the
Federal Government leases any of these companies any money so
they can actually drill their lease.

Senator Jorxsron. We have been wrestling here with various pro-
posals to try to cure the very ill you were talking about, and that
is all the front end money for bonus bidding.

We have got to get around that. I think you are dead right on that,
and we are trying out various ideas, royalty bidding, net profit bid-
ding, deferral of bonus, forgiveness of bonus, various proposals.

Each one that we consider somebody points out an objection as I
guess they always will. But T think we can come up with a proposal
that will ‘cure this problem of using all our capital in the front end
in the Treasury rather than using it for development and exploration.

Thank you very much, Congressman Rees. Mr. Chairman—Con-
gressman Rees has to go to a meeting and I want to finish questioning,
then I have a few questions for Mr. Maullin.

Senator Horrixegs [presiding]. Thank you very, very much for
vour interest and leadership in this field.

Congressman Rees. Thank vou very much. Senator, and T will
leave a copy of the subcommittee report on the Outer Continental
Shelf development.

Senator Horrinas. Thank you, sir.

Senator Jomunsron. Mr. Maullin, T am trying to understand your
proposal in separating the exploration from production. How would
that work ¢ How would you make the decision as to production ?

Mr. Mauruiny. On the production side? It is our view that the
decision to produce, since we are trying to augment national oil sup-
pliers, our basic public objective ought to be one based on a very
careful analysis of the need for the resource nationally, and also in
relation to regional markets, the capacity of our oil trends for intra-
structure to take the resource and put it somewhere.
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Senator Jomwston. Can’t we make that decision before explora-
tion ¢

Mr. MavLuin. Under the current system, when a lease is let for a
5-year period, there is not very much control when in that 5-year
period you are actually going to get production.

It is mainly a function of the companies to have it. Their own
facilities, as they have it set up-—

Senator Jounsrox. It seems to me very wasteful to spend millions
of dollars to go find if there is oil there and go drill for it and use
essential equipment that is needed elsewhere, to find the oil, and
youw've got it in place and you can’t produce it and you say “No, we
don’t need it”.

Mr. Mavrnin. I am not proposing that we do this capriciously,
saying, “Let’s find out where it is” and then as a second step say,
“No, we are not going to let you do it”.

If the Federal Government decides to lease areas it ought to be
with the good prospect that the resource is needed and there is a
good likelihood that it is there.

We have to recognize it is a very risky business. One of the purposes
of separating exploration from production is to ascertain the extent
of the resource, how much do you have, and what its real value is.

That is a necessary step. That is part of gathering the information
which T am sure you have had testimony on quite a bit. It is a critical
element of using the offshore resources intelligently.

But there are other considerations before you actually go to full-
blow production. Tf, for example, in southern California you rushed
into production in the next 2 years, there are severe questions of
where the oil is going to go, how you are going to get it from the
West to the Rast.

As the Congressman pointed out, we have only the vaguest indica-
tions of the oil transport system.

Senator Jomxsron. Would your proposal delay the eventual pro-
duction ?

Mr. Maurnin. There is the possibility of delay in that procedure.
It may be because of the absence of a sufficient transportation system,
because of unresolved environmental risks that must be dealt with.

Because of the fact, just to take southern California as an example
again, there may be a momentary glut of oil on the west coast because
of the Alaska shipping. You may decide that now that we know
what we have let’s say in Santa Monica Bay and eventually we are
going to produce it.

In a given time period we may not want to produce it right then
and there. It may be 4 years from now. It makes sense, under some
scheme of a national supply policy. What I am trying to suggest
here, I am not trying to give you the absolute definite answer.

I am trying to suggest a mechanism by which the Federal Govern-
ment, and I am suggesting the States participate in this analysis
and decision, can make a determination of when you need it and
how much you are going to get and at what rate.

I see that the only way to get that is by separating the exploratory
prices from the actual production process. 1 think what we have to
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do, we have to come to grips with what we have now, and that is
once that lease is gone, there is virtually no control. The controls
are minimal in terms of safety and conservation requirements through
the OCS regulations that are administered by the U.S. Geological
Survey.

We in California have had a very sad experience depending on
that process. We had a rig on Federal lease which was not adequately
policed and it caused the most severe oil spill.

And that spill was not only environmentally damaging. but if that
is the kind of practice we can expect from an accelerated leasing
program, we are going to lose a Jot of oil. That is an economic de-
privation.

Let me go back to a simpler point. This is a very complicated area.
There are intelligent reforms referred to by S. 426. There is discussion
within the Interior Department, amongst the economists and planners
that they employ, to figure out a better way of doing this.

What we are faced with in southern California is the real im-
minency of a lease sale under the old system, which essentially says
that’s it for 1.6 million acres, more than one-tenth of what is proposed
this year,

Tt is certainly one of the richest potential resources, it will go under
an old scheme which, in our view, is not applicable for the current
situation, which is one of trying to maximize production, guarantee
fair return to the public, and mitigate considerable environmental
risks.

If T might add one final sentence, Senator, it is for that reason
particularly that we are calling for a limited moratorium. When I
said limited, we feel more time should be taken by all the interested
parties.

By the Congress, by the Interior Department, States and industry,
to think through the best system. T talked to members of the staff,
and T think there arc fascinating and useful proposals being dis-
cussed here.

We cannot work towards the best solution when there is, effectively
a gun to onr head. In southern California there is a gun to our head.

Senator Jouxsrox. I was suggesting, Mr. Maullin, that there is
a gun to the head of the nation. You should have heard the testimony
of the labor leader with oil, chemical and atomic workers yvesterday
from New Jersey.

He was saying, in effect, that their people want to get on with
leasing. They are out of work and they need the oil and the industry
is crying out for it. He said, “We can’t understand why Congress
doesn’t proceed. All we get is delay, delay, delay.”

Somewhere between that sentiment and your sentiment we have
to effect an intelligent policy that doesn’t say, “Let’s delay some
more”, but “Let’s make haste with a reasonable policy”.

We can talk here in this policy for years trying to put together
a policy. It has been 2 years almost since the embargo, or a year
and a half, yet we haven’t gotten a policy yet.

Mr. Maourui~. Senator, T share your sentiments completely. It is a
seeming paradox when one says delay to speed up.



1013

Senator Jouxsrox. The problem is, this delay will lead maybe not
to the avoidance of the evil, such as drilling on the Santa Barbara
Channel, but may lead to bur ning coal in the Los Angeles basin, or
unemp]m ment, one of the two.

Either one of which is a very unacceptable thing.

Mr. MauLLix. T certainly share your sense of urgency. When I say
“delay” a limited moratorium, it is not so that we can go back to the
beach on Santa Monica. Tt is beautiful, but that’s not the purpose.

It is so that we can really crunch down and get the work done.
I will give you my personal experience, as part “of a new adminis-
tration in California. When we first learned of the extent of the
Interior Department’s program, there was virtually no consultation
with the State administration, past or present.

It was “Here is the way we are going to do it; don’t bother us with
any details”. Tt took a couple of months of Lnockmc on the door
before anyone would even discuss some of the alternatives we are
discussing here.

One of the reasons you get a call for delay is that there has not
been a concerted effort on the part of the Interior Department, es-
pecially, to really get down to work and figure out what the best
alternative is.

There is bureaucratic inertia, which we sense. It says we have done
it for the last 20 years, since 1953, this way and that is the only way.
I think it is the responsibility of all of us who are concerned with this
to work hard in a reasonable period of time to come up with the best
program.

That is why T say a limited moratorium. We have a California
Coastal Zone Act or Plan which would be adopted by the State
legislature no later than December 1976, Tt seems to me that within
that time period, a little over a year, we could come up with the best
program possible.

That is a delay to work hard, not a delay to go to the beach.

Senator Jorrnstox. Thank you very much, Mr. Maullin.

Senator Horrixgs. Mr. Maullin, one subject of this delay seems to
highlight this entire story. Perhaps it would be out of fault in the
wor dmo or language of some of these proposals.

Speclﬁcallv W hemn do you find the dalay or halting further
exploration activity as you outline on Page 37 We do not believe
that this interest would be well served by lm]tmor further exploration
activity until the Federal Government explor ation program—I want
vou to elaborate some.

Earlier in your statement you sayv, “This is distinct from a govern-
ment- SpO]lSOICd and managed exploration program, which we op-
pose.” In that context, you think : actually the government exploration
program is a delay?

Mr. Mavrrin. No, sir; T am sorry if there is confusion in the under-
standing of my stqtement One, T am not suggesting that the govern-
ment program has anything to do with delay

The question of a delay is only related to going ahead with the
current plan that the Interior Department has.

Senator Horrrnags. On leasing.

Mr. MavLrin. On leasing.
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Senator Horrixegs. We intentionally delay leasing, so we can plan
and explore ahead and know what we are leasing. That is intended.
But we start from the word “go”, and all the competent witnesses,
all the witnesses almost that have appemed and testified on this par-
ticular score have sat at that table and said:

. Look, Senator, if you leased it all this afternoon you are not going to bring
in whatever is leased, an extra quart of oil to the market before 1980.

Any way you look at it, and then it could be later, because where
leasing procedures and actual leases could be consummated by In-
terior under the present 1953 law, by, say, October 1976, there is no
guarantee.

If they take, as they have customarily, to develop what they have
already purchased, some 5 years, it is 1981. Then you take in the
physical shortage of drilling equipment, the physical fact of restric-
tions theleupon on the deve]opment of those tracts leased in 1973 and
1974.

They said it would keep all the drill rigs possibly on the sites, and
to bring in on an emergency basis, if we had this emergency produc-
tion boom and ordered them in, 1t would still take the next 3 or 4
vears to develop what was leased in 1973 and 1974.

Then you look back over at the Alaska Pipeline, and you look at
the environmental groups and you look at the Coastal Zone Manage-
ment Act and you look at anxious governors who are charged with
planning and development of their coastal areas.

You are saying:

Well, let's try to narrow these problems and solutions and work them out
together in a coherent fashion without delay.

As a result. we charted in drafting these bills working very care-
fully a flow chart, which Secretary Morton was asked on numerous
occasions—he said, “No, delay is not my apprehension here. It is
capability, monitoring”, he went into several other things.

I noted an intransigence, as you have, to just go ahead and do it
the same old way. We have been talking with those in the Inferior
Department, with the Geological Survey, with independent drillers
as to what is realistic, with bw oil who will have the responsibility
and wherewithal to carry it out because we are not trying to get a
government program.

We are trying our best to get a government exploration to do just

as vice president Carter of Gulf Oil in that chair yesterday afternoon
said :

If they had ten million acres and they wanted to sell that ten million in the
Gulf to Texaco, you would have exploratory drilling and find out what you had
and find out what you are selling, and determine in the first instance what was
a fair return to the Gulf stockholders.

Why can’t we in government do the same thing and find out what
is a fair return to the taxpayers and citizens? One more time, when
we find out that we can have exploratory drilling, we do have to
plan it.

And where they could start the leasing, say, in October 1976, we
could start exploratory drilling. After a yezu of this planning and

taking areas and everything else. But once taken, an entire tract,
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rather than 5,000 acres—those in the field with the talent tell us this
1s the sort of arbitrary way you have to drill so many holes in each
one—why not take an entire tract?

Lease that entire tract. Let all the companies participate and enter
percentagewise on their bids and develop it, which 1s a far more
practical approach to it, and that could expedite it.

We could have drilled after all these elements, during this 4- or 5-
year period, where governors could come in and the Coastal Zone
people, environmental groups and everything else.

We could actually start drilling, rather than the 4 or 5 years, in
the most about 3 years. We know then we would have leases and
drilling in the best interest of all concerned.

Now, do we see that—are you looking at this legislation from your
vantage point? And you have tremendous experience out there in
California. If we worded it wrongly, then let’s reword this thing.

And I would like you to comment.

Mr. MaurLix. As I talked to members of Congress and the staff in
working on these bills, principally S. 426, it seems to me that we are
pretty much on the verge of working out a better system than what
we have today.

Let me restate again what I mean by these words, “Limited mora-
torium delay”.

Senator Horrixes. I think “moratorum” is an unfortunate word.
Every headline says “moratorium”. Immediately people in America
polarize between those that can do and those that cannot do.

Environmentalists have been depicted as those that can’t do. When
in doubt, do nothing, stay in doubt all the time—you have everybody
hollering “No”, and everybody with energy like the Senator from
Louisiana referring to that person who had a boss with the union,
plus he is on the wrong track.

If we leased at all it wouldn’t get additional work for him. He has
to work on the leases of 1973 and 1974. His appearance in Congress,
where we are jobless and can’t get any work and everything else, that
is not the problem in front of us today.

This is not an employment problem, this is an energy problem.

Mr. Mavrrin. That 1s quite right, Senator. T think you very ac-
curately pointed out one of the characteristics of this whole business
is not going to bring jobs immediately. Tt will bring jobs in large
numbers when it does happen, except in very localized circumstances.

But for certain, if we lease 20 million acres tomorrow we are not
going to get anything going at any accelerated pace as regards jobs.
But one thing we are going to do 1s if we lease the 1.6 million acres
in Southern California, come July or September, if we do it without
a reform of the current program, I feel that we are going to give
away in effect a resource owned by the people of the United States
under the least favorable circumstances.

The reforms mentioned in S. 426 and other related proposals are
needed. Let me clarify again what I mean by these unfortunate
words, “delay” and “moratorium”.

T realize they are buzz words. People say that is an obstructionist
tactic. We don’t want to obstruct the development of a necessary re-
source. We agree that 35 percent of our oil needs coming from im-
portant sources is bad for the United States.
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And we want to cut down those imports. But we have to do it in
an intelligent way, where we don’t give away the family treasure
pursuing some goal of independence. When I say “delay” and “mora-
torium” I am saying for a very particular purpose.

And that is to give us the time to conclude these reforms which are
so interestingly discussed in S. 426. We have the particular problem
in southern California.

If I were in the position of a representative of an eastern seaboard
state, I would not be here saying “delay” and “moratorium”.

From the point of my state on the east coast, I am sure that the
considerations would be finished long before there would be a lease
sale that affects my coastal zone. But in Southern California we are
in a very, very different and unique situation.

That 1s the Interior Department is going to go ahead with this
lease sale in a very short period of time, and possibly before the reform
proposals are completely worked out.

My call for a delay and moratorium is to give us the time at the
national level to work out the appropriate program and also to give
us time at the State level to conclude something which is called for
in Federal legislation.

That is the completion of an intelligent coastal zone plan. We in
California

Senator Horrines. S. 426 and the other bills would allow for that?

Mr. Mavrrin. That’s right.

Senator Horrines. We ought to be expediting the enactment of
these particular proposals whenever we can agree upon them.

Mr. Mavorux. I thoroughly agree with that.

Senator Horrixas. We hope to do that by the end of June. That
is why we have been working and analizing these hearings and work-
ing together, Interior, Commerce, Oceans and Policy Study, and
working together,

You see Senators coming in and trying to get into other budget
hearings and so on, and trying to get ahead with this hearing. The
urgency is there and we ave not trying to delay.

Mr. Maovoniy. T can guarantee that those of us in the State ad-
ministration of California, we are ready to offer the best of our
thinking and experience to bring to resolution this reform procedure
which we all agree is necessary. '

For some reason or other, if we get slowed down or whatever, 1
think we do need a continuation of a deliberation process, so that we
can complete consideration of the reform, and certainly give us a
ch(simce to adopt the Coastal Zone Plan which we have completed in
a draft.

It is before the State legislature. There is a finite time when i
will be or not be. So we are not talking about indefinite time periods.

Senator Horrixes. One final question. When you say “the govern-
ment-sponsored and managed exploration program, which we op-
pose”—why do you oppose that? If you do oppose it, who will con-
duct the exploration program, if you can separate it?

Mr. Mavruin. I believe in the leasing procedures, through a sep-
aration process, an exploration permit after a bid
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Senator Horrines. You would still have the lease consummated
before exploration ?

Mr. Mavrrx. Yes, T would.

Senator Horrrxas. You would lose all the advantage of knowing
exactly what you are leasing.

Mr. MavLirs. But there is a production permit concept in my
scheme.

Senator Horrixes. Which rather than 5 years—describe that for
me.

Mr. MavruiN. If a company or group of companies bid on a field
or tract or some unit of exploration, they would have a first right
to exploration and to production.

Senator Horrines. They’ve got that now. They have the first right
to exploration and production, so there is no change.

Mr. Mavrrin. T would separate the two processes by interposing
another decision process by a competent Federal—I would suggest
State participatory board, to go ahead on actual permit to produce
the point there being

Senator Horrixes, Do that slowly. You would have a Federal
State board authorize actual production.

Mr. Mavrnix. Yes, sir.

Senator Horrixgs. After exploration?

Mr. Mavrnix. After exploration.

Senator Horrixes. T ought to come to your hearings and say that
would constitute delay. We ought to turn this thing around. T think
that is when you 10&11\ would ]nve delay. and 111de01s1on

I am speaking candidly and vespectfully, but let’s look at that
closely.

Mr. MavurLin. There is a possibility that it might not work, but
there is also a possibility that it would.

Senator Horrixes. Right.

Mr. Mavrrix. If the law said you had to make up your mind within
a given period of time, once findings were made to the board, that
board has to do it.

Senator Horrixas. What would be the period of time? Say you
leased to @ Company 5,000 acres in June of this year, and they have
now got what we call a master switch. We have turned the switch,
and 1t is now transferred from government to private 0wne1sh1p
provided, however, you are still going to retain some public decision.

How do you retain it? They have how much time to explore?

Mr. Mavruiy. We have not in our proposal worked out specific
times, but let’s just assume that you have

Senator Horrixes. You could not work that out in legislation be-
cause you don’t know what exploration would bring. You could run
around and drill all the dry holes like they were talking to another
witness about yesterday down in the Gulf by Florida and find nothing
where large finds had been predicted.

Or up in the North Sea, where large finds had been predicted, and
still dry holes. You could not legislatively say there shall be a find
from an exploration.

Mr. Maurwiy. But under the current law you could lease for a 5-
vear period.
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Senator Horrixgs. So you would have 5 years to explore and find
something ?

Mr. Maurin. No. If we are going for increased production and
ascertain what we having and getting it going, and not delaying
production, which is our ultimate goal, we might work, say, a 2-year
period.

Since we have heard much discussion of the fact that leasing a lot
of acres is not going to lead to production, any predictable rate of
production, the decision to actually lease a given unit for explora-
tion, to lease it for exploration. might come after a consideration
of the capability of the bidders to actually get the work done in a
2-vear period.

Tt might be part of the bidding process, to make a declaration
under some restriction that you are going to get the work done in
2 vears or vou lose yvour rights.

Senator Horranags. That would be awfully restrictive if you are
saying in 2 yvears you have to by exploration make a find.

Mr. Mavrirx. Right now it is 5 years. basically, so since we are
trving to speed up in effect the process of exploration and ascertain-
ing what our resources are, and hopefully speeding up the pro-
duction of resources that we need for a national supply situation,
why is it not reasonable to speed up this whole exploratory phase
and give to the public jurisdiction, the Interior Department, if that
is the case, the information that we are looking for, how much do we
have?

If T can go on to the production phase of it and try to answer
vour question more fully——

Senator Horrinas. Please.

Mr. Mavrriy. We have some understanding of what our resource
is, and a company or bidding group has something they want to go
to production phase on, by having another permit process.

You can restrict it. the consideration time. You can describe how
long that consideration can go on. The elements that would come
in there would be the analytical elements. How much are we going
to get out of that unit?

How does it fit in with the supply and distribution system that
we have nationally? How does it fit in with our other o1l resources,
for example, the Alaska oil resources that are also coming onstream
at the same time.

What is the availability of rigs for production? What are the
environmental safeguards that need to be written particularly for
that particular prodution unit?

Can the company or the group that is bid actually guarantee or
show good evidence that they can utilize the technology or whatever
restrictions you want to impose for environmental reasons on the
actual production of that unit?

Those are the considerations which are now virtually absent in
the Interior Department’s program. It is a landlord business. If T
have an apartment, T want to lease it to some guy who wants to live
in there.

That is not the point of this program. We are trying to get oil
reserves from the United States to serve a national purpose, and not
simply act as a landlord.
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I am not going to argue, Senator, that we have thought out com-
pletely the entire solution. But I threw out this idea of the separa-
tion and joint Federal-State permit procedure as one mechanism
that will serve the national interest a lot more than what we have
now.,

I threw it out to discuss it.

Senator Horuixas. Very good. It is a very valuable contribution
to our proceedings, and we appreciate it very much. Thank you
very much. We are getting a Tittle behind here with some of these
other witnesses.

My. MavrLuiy. Thank you very much. I appreciate the oppor-
tunity.

Senator Hovrings. Dr. Hargis.

STATEMENT OF DR. WILLIAM HARGIS, CHAIRMAN, NATIONAL
ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON OCEANS AND ATMOSPHERE

Dr. Hargis. Mr. Chairman, it is a pleasure to appear before you
on behalf of the National Advisory Committee for Oceans and
Atmosphere.

As you recall, NACOA has been asked to respond on this issue,
on several aspects of this issue, to the National Ocean Policy Study
Group. And we have been asked specifically today to consider cer-
tain aspects of the nine bills that are under consideration by the
committee.

The National Advisory Committee on Oceans and Atmosphere as
vou know is a legislatively established Presidentially appointed com-
mittee of 25 nongovernmental representatives, representing a broad
segment of oceanic and atmospheric affairs, science and industry,
engineering, and other aspects.

In response to the request of the committee, we have reviewed the
questions and the testimony that has been prepared as a result of the
review has been distributed to the committee.

It is in two parts. That is, the basic textual material and then
appended materials, in which we address the various isues, bill by
bill. With the committee’s permission, and in order to save time, we
will offer the testimony for the record, and I will attempt to para-
phrase it.

T am speaking to you as chairman of the National Advisory Com-
mittee on Oceans and Atmosphere. As a result of not only the con-
sideration that the National Ocean Policy Group has asked us to
undertake and the questions that are before the committee at this
time, but also with the background of about 3 years of deliberation
of energy needs of the country as they relate to oceanic affairs and
ocean resources and atmospheric problems.

Over the last 3 years of considering the energy needs and strategies
and possibilities of developing energy from the sea, we have come to
the conclusion that the need for additional sources of oil and gas 1s
clear.

And the Outer Continental Shelf appears to us to offer the best
alternative at the present time, to develop resources to meet the
interim or near-term and short-term, mid-term energy needs of the
country.
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The legislation you are considering, taken collectivelv, has these
same objectives in mind. Perhaps NACOA’s views and suggestions
can be helpful to you.

The broad range and diverse scope of the nine bills you are con-
sidering reflects the magnitude of the promise and the problems
implied by oil and gas development in the frontier areas of the Quter
Continental Shelf, compared to the familiar circumstances that have
surrounded the offshore oil and gas development in currently active
lease areas. i

We are well aware that moving into frontier areas will present
adjacent States, it will present the environment in the vicinity with
the possibility of rapid development of problems that have begun
very slowly on the gulf and the California coast, and have addressed
this problem specifically.

The issnes identified in the chairman’s letter, that is the chairman
of the committee, Senator Jackson, are as follows:

(1) Improved coordination of Federal OCS programs with the
States. (2) Increasing the role of the States in the decisionmaking
process. (3) Methods of separating OCS oil and gas exploration
activities from decisions to develop and produce the oil and gas.

(4) Alternative leasing systems or other methods of allowing pri-
vate industry to develop OCS oil and gas. (5) Improvements in the
planning and execution of environmental baseline studies, monitor-
ing studies, and preparation of environmental impact statements.

(6) Tmprovements in regulation and enforcement of OCS oper-
ating practices for safety and environmental protection. and (7),
the need for an appropriate form of Federal assistance to affected
coastal States.

These are the seven issues that the chairman of the full committee
identified in his letter. We would like to address the issues together,
issues one and two together, because they are closely linked aspects
of a larger problem which NACOA has considered.

That is the role of the states and state coastal zone management
programs in the development of the oil and gas resources of the
Outer Continental Shelf, By the way, I would interject here that
we have considered six of these seven issues.

We have no position we can offer on the alternative leasing sys-
tems. We did not go carefully into that, and, therefore, cannot testify
on that point. :

We took the problem of the role of the states in OCS development
in response to an invitation from youn, Senator Hollings, in con-
nection with the NOPS study, and have already communicated our
recommendations to you.

T believe you have received the initial letter and the follow-up
letter and clarification. Briefly, NACOA believes that the provisions
and concepts of the Coastal Zone Management Act furnishes a means
through which states can play an effective role in decisions affecting
coastal zone uses.

The problem is that most coastal states have not yet had time to
prepare their management plans and obtain the necessary Federal
approval.



1021

This seems to us in some cases, very probably it is going to require
a fairly long period of time, and, therefore, some interim protection
is required, pending the completion of acceptable plans, coastal zone
management plans,

We believe that some of the legislation under consideration ad-
dresses his problem in a manner that we can support. Specifically,
Senate 586.

The next issue that we were asked to address concerns the de-
sirability of separating Quter Continental Shelf oil and gas explora-
tion activities from decisions to develop and produce the oil and gas
discovered.

NACOA has favored such a separation, but there are many subt-
leties involved. NACOA’s position is that there is a point at which
re-evaluation or a pause can be made in the continuum of one, ex-
ploration, and, two, development.

We feel that exploration can proceed under adequate regulation,
under careful regulation, and that conditions can be written either
into regulation or legislation, and we feel legislation is necessary,
which will permit consideration of public interest.

Senator Horrinags. Who would conduct that exploration?

Dr. Hargrs. At the present time, NACOA’s position is that in-
dustry is the best position to move ahead rapidly with exploration,
and which we fecl needs to go ahead rapidly.

Senator Horrixes. So it would be a totally industry controlled
type of operation?

Dr. Harcis. Tt would be a situation in which industry would be
allowed to do the exploration phases under conditions that the gov-
ernment can, on receipt of not only the data for exploration, but
also the analysis of those data from the oil companies, or from the
geophysical companies, can insert conditions which would then pro-
tect the public’s interest, both short-term and long-term.

Senator Horrings. Tt would be, then, a government-supervised ex-
ploratory program carried on by private, independent drillers, in a
general sense?

Dr. Harais. We think it could be done by industry under control,
and adequate conditions

Senator Horrings. Under government control?

Dr. Haras. Yes, under government control in the sense

Senator Horrixas. I am not playing on words—of a government
exploratory program. That is what is contemplated in S. 4926. Not
that we would go down to Interior and they would go out and buy a
bunch of rigs and set up a Department of Exploration and go and
hire everybody like we said in the space program.

A government-supervised program where private industry was
producing the component parts, and everything else, and generally
coordinated in a comprehensive government-type approach to it.

If Gulf Oil, for example, who testified yesterday, Dr. Hargis, can
hire the independent drillers, why can’t the Geological Survey do the
same type of hiring?

Dr. Harcis. The Geological Survey, of course, could do the same
type of hiring. It is a fact, of course, that not all of the work is done
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by private organizations. We feel the essential aspects are that the
public interest, both long and short-term, be protected.

We also feel that it is possible to do this without actually setting
up a government exploration program. In fact. we feel it is possible
to set conditions upan an exploratory lease, which conld be awarded
on a competitive basis to industry. which would give industry some
preferential vights to development. but which would also allow the
government to require full disclosure of data and analysis.

And it would also allow government to interject controls for the
exploration phase.

Senator Horrixes. T am glad vou got that down in the record.
That is exactly what we hope to do.

Dr. Harats. In other words. what we see is that industry could be
allowed to go ahead. leases could be given for exploration. But the
coupling, there should be a de-coupling between the exploration and
development phase to such an extent that the government could then
decide whether it will or will not allow development of a field with
some possibility of compensation if it can’t.

And to decide also the conditions of development.

Senator Horrxas. Where do we interpose the word “leases” for
exploration? Why not contracts for exploration? Tt is still the gov-
ernment land. Why put in a transfer of ownership until after ex-
ploration has been had? And we know exactly what we are leasing.

Tt interests me that vou have slipped that word in. “leases” for
exploration and “leases” for production. Why not “contracts” with
independent drillers and otherwise to go ahead and explore. and
then we will know what we are leasing?

Dr. Harets. We have considered primarily the lease approach.

Senator Horrings. Why ?

Dr. Harars. With some preferential consideration.

Senator Horrixas. Why the preferential? Who are you trying to
prefer? We are tryving to prefer the people of America. The Vice
President of Gulf said he would not sell until they found out—the
stockholders of Gulf. and T am getting back to the point. why not the
taxpavers of America?

Are there oil members of your particnlar NACOA that demand
that particular kind of testimony ?

Dr. Harats. No, sir.

Senator Horrixes. Where is the interest of the public served to
have leases and preferences when we are looking for energy? The
best thing to do is to look. as you say, with independent drillers.

Not bringing on a big Government corporation, but let the inde-
pendent drillers, on contract, find what we have and then move to the
plateau of leasing, without any preferences and any leases in the first
Instances.

Why do you attach that to exploration, Dr. Hargis?

Dr. Harérs. Based upon the deliberations of the full committee, we
have concluded that it is possible, that it is necessary to proceed and
is possible to proceed with the leasing arrangement and that the pub-
lic’s interest, both short and long-term. can be protected. if there are
adequate provisions in regulation and in law which would allow, in
a position of Government controls, whose the resources are known.
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It is the committee’s position that if industry is encouraged and
allowed to undertake exploration under some lease arrangements, then
the incentive will be stronger for them to do this.

Senator HorLrixgs. In other words, you get competent and respon-
sive exploration, once you have transferred ownership to them, that
cannot be obtained if you fail to transfer that ownership.

If you retain the ownership within the people of the United States,
then you are saying you cannot get good and prompt and expeditious
type of exploration; is that right?

Dr. Hargis. No. sir. What we are saying is that it appears to us
that the best strategy for rapid development of knowledge of the
reserves on the Outer Continental Shelf is to encourage industry to
take part in the exploration phaze, but to do it

Senator Horrixes. How does that do it? What does that get us?
If you were the Secretary of Interior, and we had Secretary Hargis,
say. go out to the competent drillers, because they have many organ-
zations. T talked to one the other day and I will talk to another one
next week.

They find good, independent, private, free enterprise drillers, and
they will contract with Gulf, they will contract with Sun Oil or the
U.S. Government, and they will do a competent job.

We have some of that expertise in the U.S. Geological Survey.
What is the matter with Secretary Hargis going in, that we made
these preliminary surveys, at the geological survey level, that is who
has really made them.

What is the matter with Secretary Hargis going into a particular
tract and doing the exploratory drilling under contract and turn
that information over? What advantage is gained by first leasing
it to oil companies?

I am trying to get that block out of my mind, and understand your
commission’s position.

Dr. Haraers. The advantage that the committee perceives is that
industry will be encouraged to proceed with the exploration phase,
invest more money in it, and proceed more swiftly, if there is an
incentive for the industry itself to get an advantage

Senator Horrixes. We have an advantage at one level, and that
is reelection. We have the money. The Oklahoma study said for the
past 10 years all the exploratory drilling in trying to make out a
budget, we put in $200 million.

We don’t have a shortage of money. Even President Ford says in
the energy field we will adopt those new types of programs. So we
can get the money. We can borrow just as much as industry can, so
there is no shortage of money. We can borrow just as much as in-
dustry can, so there is no shortage of money and there is no shortage
of incentive or inducement.

And I don’t see where industry all of a sudden moves faster by
this transfer of ownership. I am very bothered, as you can see, by
my questioning about this master switch taking place, where the
big pressure is on by the administration, by the Department of
Interior.

Now you come in here as a representative of this particular com-
mission and the first quid pro quo you are attesting to, bang, you

51-748 O - 75 - 22
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transfer ownership. You say Government exploratory drilling, Gov-
ernment controls, Government supervised, the information would
go public, but please transfer the ownership of it by a lease before
you do anything else.

How, why?

Dr. Harers. I think it would be unfortunate if we got bogged
down in permits, lease. or contracts.

Senator Horrrxes, It is not bogged down in my mind. Why do
you insist on leasing to companies before we know? Specifically, let
us put it in reverse. We have already done that in 1973 and 1974 and
they haven’t brought in anything yet from those leases.

Their own witnesses have attested that it takes 2 or 3 years to
work them out. And the fellow who comes up here for a job, all T
have to say is, the profits have been overssas greater than in land.

If T am president of a corporation, I am representing stockholders
trying to make a profit. Why have they not gone ahead? Under your
analogy, since they have already leased them and not just have them
for exploration, they have the lease for the entire production.

They have leased those millions of acres, and presently they are
in the ownership of the major oil companies, and yet have not been
developed or even explored. Under what you are attesting to, why
hasn’t that occurred in the 1973 and 1974 leases?

Dr. Harcrs. I cannot answer that question, specifically, Senator
Hollings, because, of course, I have not had the benefit of listening
to prior testimony.

In the last analysis, the committee’s opinion and position is as
follows. One, exploration in the frontier areas ought to go ahead as
rapidly as possible. We do not advocate a moratorium. We advocate
an immediate move. It seemed to us that because there is a mech-
anism now for leasing and there is a Government arrangement now
for leasing and there is a Government arrangement now for leasing,
that this offered—and because it does seem to us that adequate con-
trols are now being developed as a result of all of the public inter-
action and legislative pressure and legislative action.

It seems to us that it is possible to write conditions in a lease or a
permit which would, on the one hand encourage development, that is,
encourage exploration so that we would be able to bracket the re-
sources, and which would also require disclosure of information,
data and information analysis and which would then allow the
agency responsible, when the time comes to go from the exploration
phase, whether it be by lease or by permit or by contract.

If, in fact, the legislative process would decide that that is the
best way to go, that it is possible to—that the arrangements should
be made so that conditions for exploration can be interjected after
the data are known.

We feel that we have talked with the Interior people several times
at several stages, and we feel that Interior, the Interior agencies are
showing a greater awareness of various problems that have come up
before the committee.

Now, in the consideration of the separation from the exploration,
decoupling from exploration and development phases, we have rec-
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ommended that field development plan approval, by whatever agency
is responsible, BLM or Department of Interior, be accompanied by
full and complete environmental impact statements, which meet
NEPA requirements.

We do not advocate turning over the entire exploratory job to the
Federal Government. Consequently, we would recommend against
passage of section 209 of S. 426, which would establish an explora-
tion program within the Department of Interior, to prove the pres-
ence of oil and gas prior to leasing.

Section 202 of S. 740 also establishes a Federal oil and gas ex-
ploration program which we feel we cannot support. NACOA stands
firm in its conviction that managing and financing OCS exploratory
drilling and production can and should be done by industry, with
appropriate Government control.

Turning now to Issue Number 5, the need for improvements in
the planning and execution of environmental baseline studies moni-
toring studies, and the preparation of environmental impact state-
ment, my own experience as director of a coastal research, engineer-
ing and advisory service institute has led me to endorse most heartily
NACOA’s position as stated in our Third Annual Report of last June
that the data base in these areas is inadequate.

We urge that this inadequacy be eliminated. Briefly, the existing
progress address longer term problems and do not fully meet the
needs of coastal zone managers for quick response studies tied directly
to pending decision dilemmas. Coastal zone decisionmakers have needs
for access on a relevant. timely. and useful basis for scientific data,
knowledge and competence, adequate engineering knowledge and
data, technical services and continuing technical advice.

In testimony before the National QOcean Policy Study, approxi-
mately a year ago in April 1974, T stressed that there were gaps In our
knowledge regarding offshore oil and gas impacts that should be
filled before the onset of large-scale development.

I feel, and the committee feels. that while the exploration phase is
going forward, as we have urged. that the development of baseline
mnformation, adequate baseline studies be going forward.

But we do not believe that the exploration phase has to be delayed
while this is going on. We sce it possible for them to go along simul-
taneously.

Senator Horrrxes. We do, too, under that legislation, Doctor.

Dr. Hareis. T think it is well to point out again that the research
studies, the studies of the coastal and offshore acquisitions that will
produce data and information upon which sound environmental im-
pacts statements must be based, need not and should not be delayed.

We believe that NOAA should have the lead role in developing the
environmental baseline data upon which impact statements for all
continental shelf development, including oil and gas development,
must rest.

We see a number of activities that are closely related to Outer
Continental Shelf oil and gas development. For example, deepwater
ports, offshore fishing, international control problems, which could
stand considerably more scientific data.



1026

And we believe that NOAA, given the charge to go forward, con-
sidering the needs of all of the Federal agencies involved.

T would like to address for a moment the question or statement:
Tmprovements in regulation and enforcement of Outer Continental
Shelf operating practices for safety and environmental protection.

Several aspects are of concern. First., the actual development of the
marine engineering and safety standards which would need enforce-
ment.

Second, the development of operating regulations and constraints
and their enforcement. And finally, a word about the current organi-
zation structure which handles regulation and enforcement of Outer
Continental Shelf activities.

In a special report for the Secretary of Commerce. titled, “Engi-
neering in the Ocean.” dated November 15. 1974, a copy of which
is provided for the record, NACOA recommended the establisment of
an Institute for Engineering Research in the Oceans reporting to
the Administrator of NOAA and which would be a focal point for
the development of ocean engineering and technology required to
improve both the safety and economy of Outer Continental Shelf
operations and would take the lead in developing standards for struc-
tures and engineering operations in the ocean environment.

We feel that were such an institute in being, it would be—we would
be in a better position to establish regulations relating to structures
and operations of structures offshore.

And we believe the development of such an institute for such a
program ought to also go forward while exploration is going forward.

Senator Horrrvas. Dr. Hargis, you have been very helpful to
this committee and all of our committees. We have this famous Gov-
ernor from New Hampshire. and we are trying to move along.

We have been studying this statement. and there are a lot of ques-
tions we wanted to ask. We do not want to be short with you, but we
will have to try to fit in some time so that the Governor can also be
heard.

Dr. Harcrs. Yes, sir. T have just a few more

Senator Hollings. Your entire statement will be included in the
record. Thank you very much. T can do this to you because you and
I are good friends.

Dr. Harcrs. Do you want me to summarize now?

Senator Hovrrrxas. Yes. If you can summarize the remainder of
that. I want to fit in some time for Governor Thompson.

Dr. Harais. Yes. sir. The last question was the need for Federal
assistance to impacted coastal States. We recognize this need and in
our letter to you, Senator Hollings. of February 11, we recommended
that some means be set up for compensating impacted States for
damages and for repair.

Also, for the cost of providing shoreside services to support off-
shore activities. We think that some of the legislation that you have
under consideration. for example. S. 426 and S. 586 will help assure
that there is an adequate role for the States in decisions.

And that there is also in some of the provisions of these bills means
for accomplishment of the objective of helping impacted coastal
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States, both with front-end money, as well as with funds which will
help them deal with the day-to-day problems of coping with Outer
Continental Shelf development.

Senator Horrixes. Do you still feel as you did earlier in a letter
to us that exploration is what we must get on with now? This buys
the time to learn what we must, before actual production starts.

Dr. Hareis. Yes, sir.

Senator Horrrnas. That is still a fundamental promise with which
I think we can all agree. T tried to emphasize that, rather than the
word “delay”. The two can 0o along at the same time.

The other is just a speeded-up mechanism to transfer ownership.
Not to produce. Not to explore. Not to do anything. Yet it is touted
everywhere, even in the ads now, to come on 1n the evening after the
Walter Cronkite show on Channel 9 at 7:30, I can give you the
hour, and the time, Texaco puts on an ad and they say, “We want to
go forward with Government leasing and cut out the delays”.

But what is the fact? That is an expedition and a facilitating and
speeding-up of ownership. going from public to private lands. Where
does that bring us in an extra quart of oil ¢

That is what bothers me.

Dr. Harais. T think, Senator Hollings, NACOA would obviously
have to leave it to this committee and the Senate and Congress to
decide whether or not it is possible under the mechanisms now avail-
able to write adequate regulations which would protect the public
interest.

We concur, of course, with the Senate and with this committee,
that the resources belong to the people. They belong to posterity. The
primary purpose is to make the best use of those resources for the
needs of the nation, and of posterity.

We do recommend. how ever, that exploration go ahead, and that
the committee take whatever steps it feels necessary to see that it
does go ahead. We think that exploration can be decoupled.

We think the controls ean be imposed, and we think that the energy
can be made available without undue delay, but with reasonable con-
sideration of public needs, and the committee, we realize that there
is considerable that it has not been possible to discuss because of
time.

If we can consider with this committee any details that we might
not have been able to today, we would be pleased to do that.

Senator Horrrves. Abundant credit has been distributed for the
enactment of the Coastal Zone Management Act, which is really
the only land use act we have on the statute books in this country,
and a goodly portion is due to you.

I know wor king for 3 years under your leadership in the Marine
Institute, that if we had not had your leadership we would not have
that statute on the books today, and we appreciate the leadership you
have continued to give on this Advisory Commission.

Dr. Harars. Thank you very much, sir.

Senator Horrixgs. Thank you very much, Dr. Hargis.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Hargis and the 1ep01t “Engineer-
ing in the Ocean” follows:]
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Chairman Jackson and Chairman Magnuson and Members of the Committees:
I am William J. Hargis, Director of the Virginia Institute of Marine
Science and Chairman of the National Advisory Committee on Oceans and

Atmosphere, It is in the latter capacity that I speak to you today.

I welcome this opportunity to appear before you because, as you know, in
the three and a half-years since Congress establish NACOA to advise the
President and the Congress on these matters, we have placed great emphasis
in our reports on the importance of moving ahead with the development of
0CS oil and gas and at the same time providing for the protection of the

environment and the coastal zone. The need for additional sources of oil

and pas is clear and alternatives to the OCS are, by themselves, inade-

quate., The legislation you are considering taken colléctively has these
same objectives in mind. Perhaps our views and suggestions can be helpful

to you.

The broad range and diverse scope of the nine bills you are considering
reflects the magnitude of the promise and the problems implied by oil and
gas deveiopment in the frontier areas of the Outer Continental Shelf,
compared to the familiar circumstances that have surrounded the offshore
oil and gas development in currently active lease areas. Rather than the
gradual growth of an oil and gas ind;stry along the coast, as has occurred
in the Gulf States, we now appear to be facéd with the prospects of an
almost explosive growth induced by OCS oil and gas development in coastal
areas which may be relatively unprepared to handle the social, environ-

mental and economic impacts.
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I would like to proceed by addressing each of the specific issues identi-
fied in the letter inviting me to testify at these hearings. At the same
time, I will comment briefly on how our positions on these issues apply

to the bills under consideration.

The issues identified in your letter are as follows:
1) improved coordination of Federal OCS programs with the States;

2) increasing the role of the States in the decision-making
process;

3) methods of separating OCS oil and gas exploration activities
from decisions to develop and produce the oil and gas;

4) alternative leasing systems or other methods of allowing
private industry to develop OCS oil and gas;

5) improvements in the plamning and execution of environmental
baseline studies, monitoring studies, and preparation of

environmental impact statements;

6) improvements in regulation and enforcement of OCS operating
practices for safety and environmental protection; and

7) the need for an appropriate form of Federal assistance to
affected coastal States.

They cover the scope of NACOA's work in the area very well except that
NACOA has not yet taken a position on the many details involved in number

4, the matter of alternative leasing systems.

I would like to start by addressing issues one and two together as closely
linked aspects of a larger issue which NACOA has considered at some length:

this is, the role of the States and State coastal zone management programs

in the development of the o0il and gas resources of the Quter Continental
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Shelf., We took this on in response to an invitation from Senator Hollings
in connection with the Senate's National Ocean Policy Study and have
already communicated our recommendations to him. Briefly NACOA believes
that the provisions and concepts of the Coastal Zone Management Act
furnish a means through which States can play an effective role in decisions
affecting coastal zone uses., The problem is that most coastal States have
not yet had time to prepare their management plans and obtain the neces-
sary Federal approval. Interim protection is required, pending their
completion. Strengthening and clarifying the 'Federal consistency' pro-
visions of the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972 will help serve to
assure the compatibility of Federal programs with State coastal zoné
management plans., 5,586 addresses this issue directly in a manner that

we support; by requiring certification that a proposed Federal activity
complies with, and will be conducted in a manner consistent Qith the
developing State coastal zone management programs and in accordance with
procedures for assuring the consistency of Federal activities with those
developing management programs. There 'are complementary provisions in
$.426 which we support requiring that OCS development plans be coordi-
nated with State and local governments and that production plans are

consistent with State coastal zone management plans.

The next issue concerns the desirability of separating Outer Continental

Shelf o0il and gas exploration activities from decisions to develop and

produce the oil and gas discovered. NACOA has favored such a separationm,

but there are many subtleties involved. One problem is, what kind of a
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separation are we talking about? Industry representatives, testifying at
the NACOA meeting in February 1975, pointe& out that exploratory drilling
in a leased site must continue, long after development drilling and other
production operations have begun. In fact, Allen J, Laborde, Past Presi-
dent of International Association of Drilling Contractors testifying
before you last month stated that the only difference between exploratory
drilling and production drilling was the result and that '"oil and gas
exploration activities are inseparable from those of development and pro-
duction.”" Our position is that the point at which a reevaluation, a
pause, or a separation should be made is subsequent to the first discovery
of oil and gas in sufficient quantities to justify production development
but before production begins. Industry is currently required to prepare
both exploratory drilling plans and field development plans. We believe
that the review process associated with the approval of a field develop-
ment plan could become a sufficient separation mechanism as well as
assuring State input and for insuring compliance of the development with
State coastal zone management plans, The field development plan is really
a production plan for the leased area and it contains proposed locations
for production platforms, pipelines leading to shore and the location of
required onshore facilities. The plan also includes features pertaining
to pollution prevention and control and structural interpretations based
on available geological and geophysical data. NACOA has also recommended
that the field development plan approval process be accompanied by a full

and complete environmental impact statement under NEPA, We do not
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advocate turning over the entire exploratory job to the Federal government,
consequently we would recommend against passage of Section 209 of S.426
which would establish an exploration program within the Department of the
Interior to prove the presence of 0il and gas prior to leasing. Section
202 of S.740 also establishes a Federal oil and gas exploration program
which we feel that we cannot support, NACOA stands firm in its conviction
that managing and financing OCS exploratory drilling and production can

and should be done by industry.

Turning now to issue number 5, the need for improvements in the planning

and_execution of environmental baseline studies, monitoring studies, and

the preparation of environmental impact statement, my own experience as

Director of a coastal research, engineering and advisory service institute
has led me to endorse most heartily NACOA's position as stated in our
Third Annual Report of last June that the data base in these areas is
inadequate. In that report we urged that the Coastal Zone Management Act
of 1972 be amended to provide authority and resources for the support of
research and development and advisory services for the States. In his
response to this suggestion, the Secretary of Commerce pointed out that
there is extensive research activity focussed on the problems of the
coastal zone most notably through the Sea Grant Program of the National
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration in the Department of Commerce but
also through other efforts. He therefore asked us to develop our assess-

ment of the national need in more detail. We are now in the process of
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doing so. Briefly, existing programs address longer term problems and do
not fully meet the needs of coastal zone managers for quick response
studies tied directly to pending decision dilemmas. Coastal zone decision-
makers have needs for access on a relevant, timely and useful basis for:
(a) scientific data, knowledge and competence; (b) adequate engineering
knowledge and data; (c) technical services; and (d) continuing technical
advice. in testimony before the National Ocean Policy Study, approximately
a year ago in April 1974, I stressed that there were gaps in our knowledge
regarding offshore oil and gas impacts that should be filled before the
onset of large scale development. I pointed out three major concerns

regarding offshore oil and gas impacts,

1. Current knowledge of Continental Shelf and slope circulation
is inadequate. This is the singlemost important parameter
involved because circulation determines the extent and
direction of spills - that is, the extent of spread and
direction of spread of spills and is critical to both
complete geological assessment and physical assessment of
damage.

2. Secondly of concern - relates to the point that if pipelines
are to be laid across the Continental Shelf we must examine
carefully the regions through which pipelines must pass. We
find a serious data gap with regard to the bottom characteristics
in certain areas. We do not know the depths of sediments or
the depths to which bottom waves or sand waves on the bottom
would impinge upon pipeline construction and operation.

3, Furthermore, there are biological resources which are
used and yet unused or unexploited in the deeper portions
of the Continental Shelf and on the continental slopes.
The extent of these resources must be understood before an
adequate assessment can be made.
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I think it well to point out again that the research studies, the studies
of the coastal and offshore ecosystems which will produce data and infor-
mation upon which sound environmental impact statements must be based,

need not ard should not be delayed.

For example detailed shelf circulation models probably cannot be developed
within a time frame necessary for immediate OCS development decision=~
making. Interim surface trajectory models can be developed which will

however, enable impact assessment in the near time frame while the more

sophisticated overall circulation models are being developed.

Of greatexr significance, we believe that NOAA should have the lead role in
developing the environmental baseline data upon which impact statements
‘for all Continental Shelf development including oil and gas development

must rest,

While each individual development a#d management agency - in this case

BIM, has specific data needs, the negd for 0CS environmental baseline

data is more universal, Muéh.of the same data required for BLM's assess~
ment will be needed by EPA for ocean dumping activities, Department of
Transportation for peep Water Ports, Federal Energy Administration (FEA) and

Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) for offshore nuclear power plants.

The present piecemeal policy of having each development agency gather or
‘ contract for its own envirommental baseline data results in a concentration

of effort on the specific data needs of that agency with lesser attention

paid to general data needs.
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Coordination of these many environmental baseline data efforts by NOAA
should provide significant cost efficiencies with regard to environ-
mental baseline data efforts, funds which are badly needed for funda-

mental studies to better understand the OCS ocean system,

I will speak now about, "improvements in regulation and enforcement of

Quter Continental Shelf operating practices for safety and environmental

protection." Several aspects of this issue will be treated, first, the
actual development of the marine engineering and safety standards which
would need enforcement; second, the development of operating regulations
and constraints and their enforcement; and finally a word about the current
organization structure which handles regulation and enforcement of Outer

Continental Shelf activities.

In a special report for the Secretary of Commerce, titled, "Engineering in
the Ocean' dated 15 November 1974, (a copy of which is provided for the
record) NACOA recommended the establishment of an Institute for Engineering
Research in the Oceans reporting to the Administrator of NOAA and which
would be a focal point for the development of ocean engineering and tech-
nology required to improve both tﬁe safety and economy of Outer Continental
Shelf operations and would take the lead in developing standards for
structureé and engineering operations in the ocean enviromment. It is well
known that the availability of standards for engineering in the oceans lags
far behind the availability of standards in other engineering fields.

There is no set of standard engineering specifications to which one can
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turn when he is faced for example with the problem of designing an ocean
platform or rig to operate in a given set of ocean environmental condi-
tions such as the magnitude of the ocean currents, the nature of the
bottom sediments, etc. Two things could happen, neither of which is
desirable; the system may be overdesigned which is costly and inefficient
or the system turns out to be inadequately .designed and fails. An
Institute for Engineering Research in the Oceans would set the stage for
remedying such situations. It would be an organization whose function

it would be to provide technology-gathering and technology transfer, to
stimulate industrial efficiency and development in the oceans, to get an
early start on ocean engineering problems before the problems become
critical and to set standards for and back-up the regulators and the
issuers of permits and safety certification in the oceans. This proposal
is under active consideration within the Executive Branch, we feel that
favorable action would directly serve the purpose of improving the ocean
operations with which we are dealing today as well as others which will

soon be upon us.

The responsibility for both the development of Outer Continental Shelf oil
and gas resources as well as their regulation currently rests within the
Department of the Interior. However, there are many other actors in the
drama. Among them are the U.S, Coast Guard and the Office of Pipeline
Safety in the Department of Transportation, the Army Corps of Engineers

in the Department of Defense, NOAA in the Department of Commerce, the
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Environmental Protection Agency, the Federal Power Commission who all have
roles to play. Recognizing that this fragmentation could lead to conflict
and inéfficiency, NACOA recommended in its Second Anﬂual Report that
marine affairs be given a single focus in the Federal government and com-
bined in a single Department. We recommended that the U.S. Coast Guard
become the enforcement arm of ‘that restructured Department. NACOA believes
that the Coast Guard should have a stronger role in the enforcement of
safety and environmentaf protection regulations for OCS oil and gas opera-

tions but that the promulgation of the regulations should remain with the

Department of the Interior.

The need for Federal assistance to impacted coastal States is the last of

the issues on which you invited comment. NACOA recognizes this need and
in our letter to Senator Hollings on February 11, 1975, we recommended
that some means be set up for compensating impacted States for damages and
repairs, and also for the ocst of providing shore-side services to support
offshore agfivity. The first of these, compensating individuals and groups
that suffer damage due to oil spills, leaks, and other accidents, is
relatively non-controversial. Compensating States for other onshore
.impacts induced by Outer Continental Shelf oil and gas developmenf is more
compleg because it is interwoven with the social and economic fabric of

the States and has both positive and negative aspects difficult to assess.

Our guess is that some form of revenue sharing is likely to be simplest.
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In summary, I would like to éay that we have been in communication with
officials of the Department of the Interior, some of them briéfed us
duiing our meeting in February of this year. We find that théy are
making progress under existing statutes and regulations, apparently they
now have the will and are getting the means to improve the entire OCS oil

and gas leasing and development process.

However, NACOA is convinced that legislation is necessary to assure an
adequate role for the States in decisions regarding the development of oil
and gas in the Outer Continental Shelf and that this is best provided for
in the provisions of $.426 and $.586 that I have discussed. For example
legislation will probably be useful in assuring a proper pause between

the discovery of oil and gas in a '‘frontier' area and the decision to pro-
duce from that discovery. None of the bills under consideration provide
specific provisions for this approach but we feel that you should look

into the matter.

NACOA is convinced that the provisions of $.586 which establish support for
research, development and advisory service programs will result in improve-
ments in environmental baseline studies and the environmental impact

statements upon which they will be based.

NACOA is convinced that additional legislation is necessary to assure
improvements in the regulation and enforcement of OCS operating practices.

We think that the establishment of an Institute for Engineering Research

51-748 O - 75 - 23
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in the Oceans would help provide the technical back-up.

W{ACOA is convinced of the need for some form of Federal assistance to
impacted coastal States, but does not have a position on how this should

be accomplished.

In order to comply fuily with your request, we have prepared a more
detailed commentary on each of the pieces of proposed legislation before the
joint committees. NACOA's positions on the issues involved are presented
in this commentary. Since the comments are detailed and rather lengthy
they have not been presented verbally, but are included as an appendix for

the record,

Thank you, I will be happy to try to answer any questions that you may

have.
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APPENDIX

NACOA Comments on Some Provisions of the 0CS
and Coastal Zone Bills Under Consideration

$.81

5.81 provides for a dclay of up to three years in a proposed lease sale
at the request of 2 poveruor, NACOA does not believe that such a delay
is necessary to protcct the intercests of the states, nor does NACOA

believe that such a delay is in the national interest, We believe that

the national interests may be best served if leasing and exploratory

drilling in the frontier areas proceeds without delay so that it can

be determined if and where offshore o0il and gas deposits are present in
commercial quantities and if associated environmental conditions are
suitable for development of the fields. Only after oil and gas deposits
in commercial quantities are located can onshore impacts be assessed and
meaningful reconcilation with state coastal zone management programs take

place.

5.81 establishes a National Coastal Appeals Board which would mediate
possible disputes between Governors of coastal states and the Secretary
of the Interior. It seems to us that the provisions of the Coa;tal Zone
Management Act with respect to the development of state coastal zone
management programs could be of assistance in the settlement of such

disputes so that such an Appeals Board would be unnecessary.
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§.130

S$.130 would distribute revenues derived from leases on the Outer Conti-
nental Shelf, 25% to the adjacent state, 25% to each of the several states
and 50% to the Federal treasury. NACOA supports the concept that finan-
cial assistance should be provided to the coastal states to enable them

to prepare for and handle the onshore impact of the offshore operations,
but we are not ready to insist that a fixed fraction of OCS revenues
represents the best approach, We agree that some equitable method must

be found to reimburse those coastal states which are adversely impacted by
the development of the Federal oil and gas fields which may be found off

their shores.

5.426

S.426, entitled Outer Continental Shelf Land Act Amendments of 1975 would
make major revisions in policy for the management of the oil and gas
resources of the Outer Continental Shelf. I will comment only on those
major provisions of the bill that NACOA has addressed. Section 19 of the
bill would separate exploration for oil and gas on the OCS from develop-

ment and production of those resources by directing the Secretary of the

Interior to _conduct by government contract a comprehensive program of

exploration on_ the OCS to determine the existence, extent and location of

oil and gas in commercial quantities. This is one of the more important

provisions of the bill and is an issue that NACOA has addressed during

recent meetings. NACOA remains firm in its conviction that managing and
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financing OCS exploratory drilling and production camn and should be done
by the petroleum industry and the associated industries with which it
works. It will be necessary for the Govermnment to establish regulations
that will provide protection for the ocean environment and for the com-
patibility of OCS o0il and gas operations with other activities within
the coastal zone, This we think can be accomplished without requiring
that the Government actually manage and direct and finance exploratory

drilling,

We believe that NOAA should have the lead role in developing the environ-
mental baseline data upon which impact statements for all Continental
Shelf development, including oil and gas development, must rest, . However,
it should remain the responsibility of the development or management
agency for the preparation of the actual environmental impact statement
which is associated with each proposed development. The Environmental
Impact Statement is a document which not only sets forth the environ-
mental assessment but also alternative courses of action. We do not
believe that such alternative courses of action can be effectively

formulated by other than the Action Agency.

We have indicated that we support a stronger role for the U.S. Coast
Guard in the enforcement of safety and environmental protection regu-
lations for oil and gas operations in the Outer Continental Shelf. The
Coast Guard is well suited for such responmsibility and in this manner
the regulatory responsibility can be somewhat separated from the

development responsibility.
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We support the recognition in the bill of the onshore impacts that may
be induced by the activity in the Outer Continental Shelf and the
recognition of the role of coastal zone management programs as a mechan-

ism to properly plan for and absorb such impacts.

We oppose a moratorium on leasing in the frontier areas because we feel
that procedures can be developed so that leasing can be accomplished in
a manner that will protect both the national interests and the interests

of the coastal States.

5,470

S.,470 would prohibit leases for exploration and development of OCS oil
and gas deposits before an adjoining State has an approved coastal zomne
management program Or June 30, 1976. NACOA believes that we should pro~
ceed immediately with leasing so that the exploratory drilling which will
follow is not delayed. Exploratory drilling is necessary to determine if
o0il and gas deposits in commercial quantities do in fact exist and where
the deposits are located. Coastal zone .management programs and environ-
mental impact statements need the information that will result from the

exploratory programs in the OCS.

5.521

$.521, Many of our views on S.426 apply to $.521 as well, One feature of
interest to NACOA is the proposal for a Coastal States Fund to assist

/
States impacted by offshore oil and gas production. The funds would be
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used for planning purposes and for construction of needed public faci-
lities, We believe that some form of Federal assistance is necessary
but that this assistance might best be channelled through the apparatus

of the Coastal Zone Management Act.

We strongly support the provision for Fede;ally sponsored research and
development to improve technology related to development of the oil and
gas resources of the Outer Continental Shelf. However, I invite your
attention to the NACOA proposal for the establishment of an Institute for
Engineering Research in the Oceans, under which not only could research
and development related to ocean oil an&\gas development be pursued but
also research and development related to such other ocean oriented
activities as offshore parts and floating po&br plant facilities., Our
comments made on $.8l regarding a National Coastal Resources Appeals

Board are applicable here. We feel that such is not necessary and would

urge dependence upon coastal zone management mechanisms.

5.586

$.586, the Coastal Zone Environment Act of 1975, proposes a series of
amendments to the Coastal Zone Management Act; which wou;d in our view
significantly improve the functioning of the Act. 1In our view 5,586 has
been structured with the intent to strengthen and Fhen utilize the

coastal zone management mechanism to provide for the rational and orderly
C6operation of the coastal States in the planning and execution of Federal

activities that impact the coastal zones. We applaud this approach.
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The provision in the bill for a Coastal Impact Fund, to be managed by the
Secretary of Commerce to provide assistance to the States, represents a
sound option and should be able to solve the problem of the "front end"”
costs that state and local governments will face. The provision making
explicit the application of the Coastal Zone Manageﬁent Act's "inter-
agency cooxdination" section to 0CS-related activities, is importamt to
clarify the intent of the Congress. The interstate coordination grants
authorized in Section 309 as redesignated would provide an important
addition to the coastal zone program, We have already commented and indi-

cated our support for the research assistance provisions of the bill.

$.740

S.740, the National Energy Production Board Act of 1975 represents a bold
imaginative approach for mobilizing both industry and government to help
solve the energy problem. Unfortunately, NACOA has not yet had an oppor-

tunity to consider this important legislation.

$.825

S.825 would amend the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act to provide for
strict 1iabi1ity in the case of damage caused by oil spills and would
establish an Outer Continental Shelf Research Fund to be jointly
administered by the Secretaries of Interior, Commerce and Transportation,
NACOA supports the purposes and intentions of this bill but will not
comment on the specific provisions such as the source and amount of the

Outer Continental Shelf Liability Fund.
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$.826

5§.826 would amend the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972, In S.826 we
have the same objection mentioned earlier that the provisions of the
measure could unnecessarily delay leasing in frontier areaé. It seems

to us that the purposes of this bill, which inclu&e increasing protection
for the coastal States could better be achieved through the approach taken
in $.586. $5.826 proposes segmenting coastal zone management plans
according to the activity involved, this in our view could lead to an

unmanageable situation.
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NATIONAL AD\IIgﬂRY COMMITTEE

OCEANS AND ATMOSPHERE
Washington, D.C. 20230

15 November 1974

HoNORABLE FREDERICK B. DENT
Secretary of Commerce
Washington, D.C. 20230

Dear Mr. Secretary:

In your letter of August 21, 1973, you asked NACOA to define the
national need in civilian ocean engineering, and to discuss who ought to
be responsible, as between the private sector and the government, for
meeting particular portions of it.

Our reply has been longer in coming than we had intended.
There turned out to be no obvious consensus in the answers to the
questions you have asked. Reasonable suggestions for improving the
national effort have been made by many—in studies over the last
decade and in the interviews staff conducted during the last year.
There were persuasive arguments for developing various aspects of
engineering in the oceans. But no specific applications of ocean engineer-
ing to civilian needs swept the field as critical, urgent, national in scope,
yet neglected.

The panel we appointed to look into this matter consisted of
Dr. Donald B. Rice, Chairman, Mr. Charles F. Baird, Dr. Dayton H.
Clewell, and Mr. Elmer P. Wheaton. It reports that it found itself in a
position of concluding that the paramount national civilian ocean
engineering need is not a specific number of projects in ocean engineer-
ing, but rather a modest organization whose function it would be to:

a) work on and develop standards which presently, in ocean
engineering, lag other engineering;

b) fund good ideas in meeting basic engineering needs to the
point where they could generate support on their merit or
fade away on their lack of it; and

¢) animate technical transfer and professional communications.

The basic needs would be concerned not so much with systems as
with special materials, techniques, and engineering characteristics re-
quired for many different kinds of marine operation.
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The panel came to the conclusion somewhat unwillingly that an
organization rather than a specific program was needed. Its expectation
had been that at least several agreed-upon ocean engineering tasks
would emerge as outstanding and essential to the civilian sector. It was
aware of extensive Navy work in many of the areas of interest. The
panel was prepared to find that if no agreement on particular civilian
applications emerged as especially significant there was no real need,
national in scope, for a civilian ocean engineering program.

But that did not settle the matter. Despite the fact that no “winners”
emerged, the panel also became convinced that we would all be the
losers if things were allowed to drift in ocean engineering as they have
over the last decade. There is need for technical alternatives to be on
hand when decisions are made so as not to be trapped into expedient,
possibly environmentally detrimental, actions. There are simply too
many things that should be done to avoid being caught by surprise in
our expanding and conflicting uses of the oceans offshore, in the
coastal zone, in the depth and the breadth of the sea.

None of the needs developing from this increased activity, by
themselves, make for a national program. But together they seem to
require a stimulus to progress because they fall into the gap which lies
between short- and long-term programs and between the responsibilities
of the private and governmental sectors. The gap lies between the
immediately-targeted projects of the private sector in getting on with its
operations (during which engineering problems are solved as part of .
the project) and the lower-keyed longer-range targeting of the govern-
ment sector in laying in a broad fund of knowledge upon which we
can all draw as time goes on. The former is quite specific, the latter
quite general. The question of the relative roles of government and of
industry is involved because each, to some extent, looks to the other to
cover the inbetween area. The panel speaks of this grey aréa in more
detail in its memorandum report which I forward with this letter.

Ocean engineering is more expensive than engineering on land, the
panel noted, and the benefits are often harder to assess than the costs.
This open-ended uncertainty is one reason recommendations in the
past to start broad programs in ocean engineering have been unper-
suasive. But the panel felt it a mistake to take an all-or-nothing attitude
about supporting and funding this work, especially since one
reason ocean engineering is expensive is that its development is so
uncoordinated.

While there are a number of ways in which this situation could
be ameliorated, and it is disappointing that it has not proved practical
to take full advantage for civilian purposes of the Navy's work in
ocean engineering, NACOA proposes that an Institute for Engineering
Research in the Oceans, with a strength of about 150 professionals,



1055

be established as the effective way of organizing ocean engineering
development without incurring large down-stream costs. To encourage
the formation of a focus for marine affairs in NOAA, we believe this
Institute should report to the Administrator of NOAA, who would
maintain it as a distinct entity with appropriate bonds to other
government agencies who have engineering tasks to perform in the
oceans such as the Department of Interior, the Navy, the Coast Guard,
etc. The Institute should be authorized startup funding of $5, $15,
and $25 million for three successive years with a mandatory reexamina-
tion and re-evaluation of the effort starting two years after day one
and a major reassessment five years later. The task of this Institute
would be to stimulate and support engineering research (advanced
development) in the oceans to meet civilian needs by using seed money
to get good work started but not supported indefinitely. The essential
task of the Institute would be to range the field rather than get bogged
down in expensive demonstration programs. It would be to support
work and act as a catalyst in new areas of special materials and tech-
niques which would serve a multiplicity of marine activities. It would
have a central responsibility for improving professional communica-
tions and encouraging the development of standards.

To do this job the Institute would have to have the in-house
technical capacity to be stimulated by technical problems, to help
prevent falling behind in ocean technology, and to monitor the
technical quality of contracts. It would need a Board of Governors
representative of industry, the universities, and government to exert
the pressure to keep the Institute technically competitive. It would
be desirable to have a mix in funding with a major portion of the
disbursed funds being used for direct out-of-house support and for
fund-matching with outside sources as an earnest of effort and as
a check on judgement. Thirty to forty percent should be reserved for
in-house efforts or centralized facilities.

Det Norske Veritas, the highly regarded technical research and
standards-setting agency in Norway which uses a mix of government,
private, academic, and professional expertise on marine and offshore
problems is an example of the organizational status we have in mind.

One of the National Institutes of Health with a touch of the
National Bureau of Standards would be a closer analogy amongst U.S.
institutions in organizational structure—more so, for example, than the
Office of Naval Research or the Institutes which grew up around the
Department of Defense in the fifries and sixties. The reason is that
the mission of the Institute for Engineering Research in the Oceans
would be to catalyze activity for many users who are dispersed
throughout the nation rather than to stimulate technical activity by
many suppliers for a centralized, government user. In any event we

51-748 O - 75 - 24
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do not propose in this writing the details of this organization. This
Institute would best be formulated, NACOA believes, through the
legislative process.

In brief: finding that the national purpose would be served by
the establishment of a modest organization to stimulate more fore-
sighted development of ocean technology than now occurs despite
accelerating national activity in the oceans, we recommend there be
established an Institute for Engineering Research in the Oceans

Whose function it would be to:

® Develop standards which presently, in ocean engineering, lag
other fields.

® Fund good ideas in meeting basic engineering needs to the
point where they could generate support on their merit or
fade away on their lack of it.

® Improve technical transfer and professional communications
in ocean engineering.

® Oversee the no-man’s land between performing in the oceans
and trying to describe and understand it.

® Provide seed money to develop good ideas (but not demon-
stration projects) before a certain market exists.

We suggest a size of:
® About 150 professionals with the technical competence to
follow as well as lead, perform as well as monitor.

And a budget of:

@ About 35, $15, and $25 million per year (at full strength),
more than half of which would be for outside grants and
contracts.

Reporting to:

® The Administrator of NOAA as focal agent for marine
affairs and Federal Coordinator for Marine Sciences and
Technology.

This proposal is a step deeper into commitment to ocean engineer-
ing than was recommended in our Second Annual Report where it was
suggested that a Federal Coordinator of Marine Technology Develop-
ment be appointed who would at least assist in the transfer of informa-
tion from the Navy into the civilian sector. Having looked into the
matter with some care, the panel feels that minimum step would be
insufficient even though beneficial. Another alternative—to await the
effects of the stronger focus for marine affairs to be achieved by govern-
ment reorganization as NACOA recommended in its Annual Report—
would simply delay things, for ocean engineering efforts would have to
be concentrated even there in some similar fashion.
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What we propose here is not a general solution for marine affairs,
but a specific one for ocean engineering. The exact form which it
takes is less essential than that it pioneer in ocean engineering and
scout out approaches to the civilian engineering problems which we
will face tomorrow.

The memorandum we forward expresses those views in somewhat
more detail and gives the general argument by which they were
reached. The memorandum has been considered by the National
Advisory Committee on Oceans and Atmosphere in full and approved
by them, It is with pleasure that I forward it.

Sincerely,
/s{William A. Nierenberg

WIiLLIAM A. NIERENBERG
Chairman
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Memorandum Report
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Ocean Engineering Panel
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Engineering
in the Ocean

INTRODUCTION

Modern technology is creating a dilemma for engineering by
imposing on it precise demands for information on, and understanding
of, complicated physical characteristics without relaxing the practical
constraints of economics, schedule, and purpose. This dilemma poses
especially difficult choices in the oceans where a harsh environment
offers severe technical and economic limitations to gaining this techno-
logical information.

The civilian effort in ocean engineering both public and private
appears to be undersupported in view of the rapid expansion of
activities in the ocean and little or no reserve of technology to provide
the technical alternatives to meet the requirements which thus develop.
Use of the oceans is expanding faster than is the knowledge being
provided to support it. While the difference in rates of growth may be
temporary, it exists now, and creates a gap. That is why the lack of
a conscious effort to do something about it on a national scale is
troublesome.

Recognition of this gap is not new, of course, as many previous
studies have testified, but almost all these reports suffered from a
skeptical reception because the ocean engineering needs were defined
so broadly they promised to be costly without promising any obvious
results. The panel determined to avoid the general and Jook for the
specific.

It is our purpose in this brief memorandum report to state the
task as we saw it, describe our approacli, recount what we found, and
recommend a course of action we propose be followed.

THE TASK FROM THE SECRETARY

The task suggested by the Secretary of Commerce * was to survey
the national civilian needs in ocean engineering, define the specific
applications which should be undertaken, suggest the relative roles
of industry and government, and recommend how government effort
might be applied if other than is now the case.

* See Attachment A, Letter to Chairman, NACOA, from the Secretary of Commerce,
21 Aug "73.
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THE APPROACH BY THE PANEL

Studies already undertaken were reviewed. Staff interviewed many
active practitioners in marine affairs in government, in industry, in
the oceanographic research community, and at universities, and re-
ported to the panel on what they had been told. This memorandum
has been prepared on the basis of what was learned.

FINDINGS: Introduction

The panel learned that there are many specific tasks necessary to
the development of ocean engineering which need doing but no general
agreement exists as to what, specifically, ought to be done first. No
area of ocean technology stands out as critical yet totally neglected.

This could be interpreted as reassuring evidence of normal progress.
But the panel feels there is a contributory cause to this drift which
is not normal. The contributory cause is the expense of working in
the ocean which occurs partly because of the nature of ocean engineer-
ing, partly because of the way we go about doing it. The inherent
reasons are straightforward but worth noting. You can’t leave something
on the ocean’s surface without mooring it; then, how long it remains
there is uncertain. You can't put something on the bottom and find
it easily when you come back. It is difficult in the ocean to see and
touch what you work with. In addition to the extremes of weather over
water, the physical, chemical, and biological effects of water on mate-
rials, instruments, and constructions are in general so much more
extreme than they are on land, it costs extra even for impermanence.
Furthermore gear can’t exist except as part of a “system” which means
that every upward adjustment in requirements balloons through a
whole chain of inter-connected parts. Fighting cost, reliability, and
weight at the same time means something has to give. It is usually all
three. To top off the expensiveness brought on by the nature of the
work, we characteristically add expense unnecessarily by a cut-and-try
approach to complex system development in which we fail to work on
components separately in advance and suffer further disadvantage in
the use of otherwise suitable materials because of marine fouling, stress
corrosion, etc.

This matter of cost has a major influence on what can or cannot
get done. Further, it involves the important side effect of making it
tempting to let someone else do it—or at least pay for it. Working out
all the details in advance is expensive and time consuming and so
rather more risk is accepted in groping forward. Or one looks to some-
one else to work things out. In any event many things which people or
organizations would normally do for themselves are put on a wish
list instead.
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The panel’s hope was to find a consensus on several critical needs,
that is, several items on everybody’s wish list, the lack of whose fulfill-
ment was choking progress, and then ascertain whether government
support had a role to play and suggest how it might be done.

FINDINGS: Sector Viewpoints

We had expected that government, industry, and the research
community would exhibit needs common to their own sector but
reflect separate sector interests, and their viewpoints would therefore be
somewhat different. They are, and we will attempt to describe them
briefly (despite the obvious danger of generalizing about specifics)
because these viewpoints illuminate differing approaches to the specific
tasks mentioned.

(a) Government tasks are so endless, the requirements for program
and budget justification so detailed, it was not surprising that
ready-made plans exist to take ocean engineering one more
step in about any direction named. The price however is a
somewhat sluggish responsiveness to new problems and there
seems not yet to have emerged forward-looking definition of
what needs to be done, in the offshore zone in particular, with
regard to ocean engineering aspects of multiple use, regula-
tion, safety, environmental protection, and the like.

(b) Industry exhibited a wider range and greater diversity of
approaches on what needed doing than did the other sectors.
This was reflected especially in the differences of opinion on
what industry would like government to do, and what it
wishes to reserve to itself. The oil industry has the incentive
and the wherewithal to tackle brute-force almost any ocean
problem it runs into, but it needs better environmental data.
People who build submersibles, on the other hand, would
like to see Government programs which use submersibles,
even if the direct results are somewhat intangible. Govern-
ment responsibility is apt to be defined broadly by most as
the need for a technological basis—materials research, for
example, or general investigations in soil mechanics, or struc-
ture loading, or sub-surface nuclear power, or in waste-
management in coastal areas. But the economics of it look
somewhat different from different vantage points.

(c) The research sector, to lump the oceanographic and university
ocean engineering communities, are more of one mind. With
only minor variations they stress the theme of continuity,
facility support, and receptiveness to a longer view than
immediate applicability.

11
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What is common to all sectors then is the judgement that not
enough ocean technology is on the shelf, that learning as you go may be
the only way to get things done now, but that it is not the best way
because it means re-inventing the wheel or basing decisions on expedi-
ency which comes back to haunt you later. A little foresight would
help a lot in many areas.

FINDINGS: Civilian Ocean Engineering Needs

We did not cover the entire field of ocean engineering in detail for
we had neither the resources nor the desire to make a complete survey.
We did not seck to find out why U.S. fishing vessels buy Swedish sonars,
or why Japanese build bigger tankers. We accepted the judgment that
Amecican oil technology is the reserve on which all the world draws,
that the U.S. Navy deep submergence capability is unparalled, and
that this won’t keep on forever if we simply rest on our laurels. We
felt that if we sought specifics where we could find them, a strong
common trend would probably show up even in a partial sample if it
existed.*

Attachment B samples the extensive collections of specifics collected
by others. We did not try to compete with these studies. The specifics we
did find independently were, in general, not very different from the
rather more thorough surveys sampled in the attachment. As with these
studies, we found no consensus or major imperatives. Unwillingness to
invest effort in anything unless it is immediately needed—at which point
it is often too late—seemed to be a root cause of many of the problems
but that isn’t new. Systems failed because the components had not been
thoroughly tested. There was no time—or taste—for a disciplined
engineering approach.

Engineering needs exist in such areas as offshore pipelaying,
underwater storage tanks, mooring systems, oil spill prevention, dredg-
ing, resource recovery, environmental studies, and adequate component
testing of occan engineering systems before deployment to lower the
failure rate, which is high.

For specific applications the panel’s attention was drawn to the
need for reliable underwater connectors, subsurface bench marks, non-
fouling transducers, and meso-scale current measurements.

* Special thanks are duc 1o the Sca Floor Fngincering Committee of the Marine
Board of the National Academy of Engincering for its courtesy in welcoming staff to
its deliberations. They are still in progress, in the course of a two-year effort sup-
ported by the National Science Foundation, to define the precision with which char-
acteristics of the sea floor and structures within and upon it are known, and the
precision with which they should be known. This cffort differs from being mercly
another tabulation in that it is more quantitative and is a step in the direction of
standardization.
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In all instances, the panel pressed for priority. “What would you do
first?” In response to this, specific goals (not specific ocean engineering
applications) were usually offered: The panel was offered not priorities,
but selection schemes to find them. Criteria such as urgency, responsi-
bility, return vs cost, multiplier effect, and impact were suggested.
The relation to energy was offered as a selection device which would
imply emphasis on exploration, surveying, offshore federal expertise
in drilling and harvesting, information to get offshore plants on line
faster, power-plant siting, subsurface soil mechanics, loading factors on
structures from wind, wave, and current, and energy sources (oil, wind,
wave, current) . .

Instrumentation was another area to draw attention, in particular
monitoring gear, satisfactory subsurface instrumentation, instruments
for tidal measurements, wave heights, and surveys. Suggestions were
made that user needs would indicate priority, such as those for shipping,
petroleum, minerals, construction, recreation, national security, and
ocean sciences. Bold pilot projects in energy discovery were suggested
from which ocean engineering priorities would develop—and so forth.

A persuasive case was made for the critical importance of materials
research, especially as materials are affected by fatigue under cyclical
loading, and in stress corrosion where the chemical action of seawater
affects materials in an unusual way.

Nevertheless, the common trend did not turn out to be a specific
high priority application. Instead it was the apparent inability to
choose what ought to be done first. Despite an almost universal if
poorly defined distress at not doing things that ought to be done there
was instead a helterskelter looking in all different directions and
reaching for schemes to pick winners. Specific application of ocean
engineering to civilian needs appeared trivial as candidates for a na-
tional effort, yet the more general suggestions for enhancement of
ocean engineering capability sounded poorly thought out, open-ended
in cost, and groping for support.

It was also evident that there is no natural government sponsor
for the general support of civilian ocean engineering needs. Of the
government agencies with direct interest in the oceans, only the Navy
has responsibility for pursuing advanced technology directly; other
agencies, such as the Department of Interior, NOAA, the Coast Guard,
etc. relate the ocean engineering needs to their service requirements
and so no one has a broad oversight.

FINDINGS: Summary

The marine implications of the over-riding need for the U.S. to
decrease its dependence on other nations for what is critical to its own
existence are too important for the United States to let drift.
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There is an “ocean ecngineering problem”—it won’t go away
even though general goals are unconvincing because their costs are
too open-ended and separate specific goals don’t win enough votes.

Complaints from those with whom the panel made contact proved
to be less along the line of specific technological deficiencies than they
were organizational in nature. There was concern for the lack of
understanding of the need for ocean engineering until it proved late
and expensive to correct what foresight might have prevented. There
was concern for the lack of continuity in ocean engineering development
which meant inefficient, stop-start investigations. There was concern
for the lack of meso-scale activity mid-range in size, mid-range in time,
and mid-range in money. There was concern about the lack of timely
communication of data that did exist.

The panel’s findings were:

® The ground has been well-ploughed.

® There is no question but that there are things to do in ocean
engineering but too many to do all at once.

® There is no general agreement on what projects or programs
ought to be done first.

® This may be because no one thing ought to be worked on first
and many ought to be worked on simultaneously.

e Drifting along until we hit a snag seems hardly the useful
way to go.

On the relative roles of government and industry in ocean engineer-
ing—there seems to be agreement in principle. It is: The cost of ocean- -
engineering research and development is to be borne by those who
would benefit from it. If the development is for a specific operation
with specific users, the costs should be assumed by the operator and
reflected in the price of the product or charge for service, or, if there
are many and disparate operations by whose use the public is generally
benefited, the cost should be borne by the general taxpayer and requests
for funding must compete with other and unrelated demands.

The hitch comes in deciding whether a particular development fits
one definition or the other. The ambiguities seem to arise in three
ways: (1) when the direct benefits are hard to figure, (2) when the
benefits are twice-removed, i.e., when the direct results might stimu-
late benefits but their nature is not directly foreseeable, and (3) when
differing conception of the detail, the risks, and the time-to-payoft
raises the argument of who should pay for the middle stages. This is
especially complex because the expenditure of government funds in
the early high-risk stages of development leads to a government interest
in later stages where industry would otherwise prefer to go it alone. It is
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the implication of continued government involvement (in addition to
the normal divergence of opinion on regulation and monitoring)
which leads to such differences of opinion by industry on government’s
role in a new field. It seems to depend a lot on how much is available to
be put at risk in the early stages.

The panel sees no way out except by deciding each case on its own
merits, for industry is not uniform in its attitudes and its needs; its
relationships with government vary.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Short-range ocean engineering problems and applications are being
attacked and solved by industry if they otherwise would block operations,
but the solutions are often expedient and expensive in the long run
because they have been worked out in a hurry. A long-range program
for supplying background information on the oceans exists in NOAA,
though it is bound to fall short of satisfying everybody's requirements
because it is expensive in the detail and the precise characteristics
sufficient to keep everybody happy.

But the extensive lists of engineering to be done in the oceans
include whole classes of problems in materials, techniques, engineering
characteristics, and instrumentation whose solutions, if anticipated,
could save time, and money, and possible environmental strain, if
tackled now. They seem ripe for government encouragement if only of a
limited sort. Since the candidates for support are so numerous, as are
the selection schemes themselves, the panel came to the conclusion that
what is needed is wide-ranging stimulation of the field to provide
technical alternatives, with demonstration technology left to others
once particular ideas prove out.

This conclusion was not independent or isolated. Two organiza-
tional examples of what kind of organization people in ocean engineer-
ing would like to see active kept cropping up: (1) the Office of Naval
Research through its twenty-five years history and the role it has played
in providing continuity to the support of basic research and in paving
the way for the National Science Foundation, and (2) the National
Advisory Committee on Aeronautics and the role it played in welding
research, industrial, and governmental efforts in aeronautical engineer-
ing. Both were outstanding in stimulating progress in highly technical
areas—the one in basic and the other in applied science. The heart of
the matter is that support was offered for good ideas, not for predict-
able results.

However, neither the ONR nor the NACA concepts apply to ocean
engineering today. ONR was launched to preserve the Navy-University
relationship at the end of the vigorous fastmoving and successful
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cooperation in research for weapon systems induced by World War II.
And money was available. The NACA helped bring on the age of the
airplane, it was an integrating device to harness what otherwise was
scattered or partial. The conditions which made these agencies so
singularly appropriate do not exist for ocean engineering today. A
relationship has to be established outside of the Navy, not preserved.
The analogy between the atmosphere’s heights and the ocean’s depths
for those to whom ocean program seemed as impelling as a space
program has been spectacularly unconvincing. And no war-end millions
(with which ONR was launched) are there to be used.

But, if a catalyst to stimulate engineering in the oceans is needed
since a programmatic solution does not seem sensible, there is no good
reason why results similar to those produced by ONR and NACA could
not be achieved, albeit in a somewhat different way. An -organization
is therefore proposed whose function it would be to provide technology-
gathering and technology transfer, to stimulate industrial efficiency and
development in the oceans, to work on the ocean’s problems a few
years ahead, to back good people and good ideas, and to set standards
for and back-up the regulators and the issuers of permits and safety
certifications in the oceans.

The panel therefore recommends an Institute for Engineering
Research in the Oceans reporting to the Administrator of NOAA as
the proper focus for marine affairs, but independent of the mainline
components in that agency as too limiting, too confining for an orga-
nization which is to serve users in a broad range of government, indus-
try, and research.

Thére are a number of government agencies whose need for ocean
engineering expertise make them possible hosts for such an Institute
such as the Department of Interior, the Navy, the Coast Guard, EPA,
the National Scicence Foundation, the National Bureau of Standards,
NASA, etc. But as we stated earlier, none of the civilian agencies
presently has a responsibility for general oversight of national ocean
engineering needs. NOAA, as the focus for marine affairs, is the most
appropriate agency to hold in trust, so to speak, an Institute which
would be geared to encourage needed progress in ocean engineering
activities.

This Institute could not easily be part of the Sea Grant Program
for it is essential that this Institute work with all types of organiza-
tions and individual practitioners and that it conduct its own in-house
research. It must also be in a position to develep the special relationship
with the Navy which would facilitate transfer of what can and should
be transferred to the civilian sector from the Navy's extensive store of
ocean engineering expertise. An organization close in its management
of research in support of standard-setting functions in ocean engineering
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to that suggested for the Institute is Det Norske Veritas, a Norwegian
entity that certifies shipping (and offshore platforms) and is most highly
regarded for its professional competence and the manner in which its
setting of standards is backed by research. This organization is funded
by those whom it services.

An Institute similar to one of the National Institutes of Health
would be a closer U.S. analogy in its manner of operations to what the
panel has in mind than the organization which grew up to serve the
Department of Defense in the fifties and sixties. the DOD institutes
gathered technical expertise from all over the country to assist one or
two government-agency users. The Institute of Engineering Research
in the Ocean would have the purpose of stimulating and contributing
to activity in ocean engineering of interest to users dispersed throughout
the nation—industry, federal, state, and local government, research
institutions, etc. The customer is he who must work in the ocean, not
a government agency.

The goal of the Institute would be to stimulate useful activities of
others, which means it must possess the competence to judge what seems
right for the field and have the dollars to back its judgement. Tt must
have a necessary technical competence of its own, and be in a position
to offer support directly or use matching funds to take advantage of
local judgement on priority of importance. Some form of recovery of
portions of the matching funds, on the basis of performance, or of
results, could be offered as incentive (similar to the practice of the
Defense Department in stimulating independent R&D along lines of
DOD interest). The form and nature of the arrangement would clearly
have to be worked out carefully with the utmost regard for keeping the
Institute responsive, catalytic, technically aggressive. but reasonably
controlled in the amount and the support it can offer. An essential
function would be to improve timely technical publications and com-
munication which is distressingly poor in ocean engineering today. A
Board of Governors, representative of industry, the universities, and
government is necessary to oversee the general course taken by the
Institute and to provide a powerful means for keeping the Institute
sensitive to changing national requirements and for keeping it tech-
nically competitive. ‘

The panel estimates that for such an Institute to develop recognized
technical excellence in ocean engineering, it must grow to about 150
professionals. To develop input from the nation at large and impact on
the field it should disburse out-of-house at least one and a half times
the funds it uses itself. This implies a start-up schedule for funding the
first three years of 35 and $15 million to level off at $25 million per
annum although the nature of the facilities which would be required
or used would have significant bearing on the rate of growth.
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The panel is under the impression that the creation of such an
Institute could best be accomplished by the legislative process during
which the details of its composition, procedure for operation, and
immediate tasks would be worked out in detail as a result of the
broadest possible input from interested parties. It believes that the
legislation should provide for an early review starting two years after
startup to monitor the course the Institute is taking and a major review
in five years to ascertain the Institute’s contribution and the value of
continuing it. The panel sees no conflict between its requirement for
excellence and its suggestion that it come up to speed in a few years.
"Five years is a long time in which to make a case.

Recapitulation

To the Secretary’s Question: What specific civilian ocean engineer-
ing applications to meet national requirements are not now being
pursued? No major area scems to be without some attention, but it is
less a question of specifics than of sluggishness in response to a whole
category of mid-range problems in materials, techniques, and engineer-
ing characteristics, many having to do with responding forcefully to
questions regarding environmental factors.

To the Secretary’s Question: What are the relative roles of govern-
ment and industry? Broad stimulation of the field by the former and
specific development by the latter. If, as a nation, our development of
technology in the oceans seems to be lagging (for which there is evi-
dence, it is said, in the more rapid progress being made by other
nations), it is not unreasonable to charge the Federal Government with
trying to do something about it.

To the Secretary’s Question: What do you recommend be done
about it? We recommend the establishment of an Institute for Engineer-
ing Research in the Oceans, to report to the Administrator of NOAA,
whose mission it would be to catalyze activity in the mid-range term
3 to 5 years ahead. This is not the only beneficial step which might be
taken, but we believe it to be that most promising in effectiveness.

An Institute for Engineering Rescarch with modest funds to expend
in- and out-of-house should prove its own usefulness in about five years
or rightfully sink out of sight. It would not be a sluice for funds nor
would it have to wait on agreement on stated national goals and objec-
tives—it would take off on those implicitly agreed to.

18
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Attachment A

THE SECRETARY OF COMMERCE
Washington, D.C. 20230

August 21, 1973

Dr. WiLL1AM A. NIERENBERG ‘
Chairman, National Advisory Committee

on Oceans and Atmosphere
Washington, D:C. 20230

Dear Dr. Nierenberg:

The National Advisory Committee on Oceans and Atmosphere
(NACOA) has commented extensively on the Nation’s civil ocean
engineering program in its second annual report. It has made recom-
mendations for improved coordination of the Nation's ocean engineer-
ing activities and has suggested a number of areas for emphasis. .

1 believe that ocean engineering is one of the important elements
in the Nation’s future posture in ocean affairs. What is needed is an
analysis and documentation of the requirements for an ocean engineer-
ing effort by the civil agencies of the Federal Government. There are
many key questions about a civil ocean engineering program that need
answers, such as:

(a) What specific ocean engineering applications should be ad-

dressed by a Federal program'to meet national requirements
and what are these requirements?

(b) What are the benefits that can be expected from Federal
investments in specific types of ocean engineering?

(c) To what extent should the Federal Government engage in
and support civil ocean engineering activities?

(d) How should such support be provided in those instances
where Federal Government effort is clearly warranted?

(¢) What should be the relative roles of private industry and the
Federal Government in fostering ocean engineering?

21
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The above are all key questions, answers to which would be valu-
able in planning a civil ocean engineering effort.

The National Advisory Committee on Oceans and Atmosphere
could be of great help to the Federal Government in organizing and
carrying out an analysis directed at answering the types of questions
that I have listed above. These questions should not be regarded as the

only ones thit are pertinent but only typical of .those' that require
answers. .

Accordingly, I am requesting that the National Advisory Com-
mittee on Oceans and Atmosphere undertake such a study and report
to me on its results.

Sincerely,
/s/Frederick B. Dent

FrepERICK B. DENT
Secretary of Commerce

22
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Attachment B

A Sampling of Civilian

Ocean Engineering Needs

The Ocean Engineering panel was well aware that it was not the
first group to take on an evaluation of national civilian ocean engineer-
ing needs and instructed staff to seek out previous studies with bearing
on the task before it. A number of these previous studies turned out to
be surprisingly explicit. A sampling from four reports covering a span
of seven years is included in this attachment to demonstrate the care
and detail with which ocean engineering needs have been specified.
Excerpts from the Stratton Commission Report are not included partly
because it is so well known, and partly because it generalized these needs
into targets of national capability so that the underpinning specifics are
not otherwise easily summarized.

It was the existence of reports such as these from which the attached
concepts have been made which brought the panel to the early conclu-
sion that it would not suit its own purpose to provide another set of
what it would be nice to know about ocean engineering. Rather it
needed to know what it would be good to do first of that which was
already known.

23
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Example I
1967

Excerpted from

“Underwater Technology Requirements for Non-
Military Ocean Missions” prepared for National
Council on Marine Resources and Engineering Devel-
opment by Southwest Research Institute, 1967.

The manner in which this 1967 report classified the areas of under-
water technology and related basic engineering, engineering com-
ponents, to general systems, and operations to ocean missions is shown
in Table 3.1 and Figures 3.2, and 3.3 immediately following.

Priorities and the relative roles of industry and government were
also treated in Table 9.1, also attached.
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Table 3.1
Areas of Underwater Technology

Basic Engineering

Coastal and Oceanic Hydrodynamlcs
Wave motion, force, spectra
Tides, seiches, surges, tsunamis
Reflection, refraction, diffraction
Currents. Turbulence and diffusion
Sediment erosion, transport, deposition

Underwater Soil Mechanics
Physical properties; in situ and laboratory
Sampling. Testing. Site surveys v
Bearing capacity. Foundation settlement.
Anchoring. Breakout. Penetration
Scour. Stabilization. Slope stability

Materials Engineering

Structural Mechanics

Mechanical and Electrical Sciences .

Naval Architecture and Marine Engineering

Engineering Components
Instrumentation Systems
Navigation, positioning, communications
Observations, recording, measurements, sampling
Power Sources
Batteries. Fuel cells
Radioisotope. Nuclear
Chemical dynamic. Closed cycle diesel
Equipment, Tools, Devices :
Motors, pumps, propulsion units, controls
Fittings, connectors, penetrations, seals
Tools: cutting, hammering, torquing, welding
Manipulators. Remote control systems
Life Support Systems
Submersibles, habitats, divers

General Systems and Operations (multimission appllcatlons)
Submersible Vehicles
Manned and unmanned
Tethered, untethered, towed
Bottom crawlers '
Mooring Systems
Anchor and cable
Dynamic anchoring
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Underwater Structures and Installations
Platforms
Petroleum production installations
Habitats, observatories, laboratories
Power generating and processing plants
Man-in-the-Sea Operations
Free and hard hat diving
Saturation diving systems
Working and living underwater
Underwater Construction Methods and Equipment
Dredging. Trenching
Piles. Caissons
Underwater fabrication, maintenance, inspection
Pipelines
Subaqueous tunnels

Mission-Oriented Technological Areas

Fisheries Technology
Support of marine biology research
Location, tracking, identification
Concentration, control, harvesting
Modification of environment
Support of mariculture

Petroleum Drilling and Production
Drilling platforms. Mobile rigs
Blow-out preventers. Marine conductors. Casing strings
Production platforms. Subsea completion systems
Underwater storage tanks. Gathering lines

Ocean Mining
Exploration and evaluation
Extraction, processing, transportation

Shoreline Modification and Island Bu